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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE "STOCK
EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate companies to which a higher
investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make
the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration. The greater risk profile and other
characteristics of GEM mean that it is a market more suited to professional and other sophisticated
investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM
may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this
report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever
for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors of China Eco-Farming Limited (the “Company”) (the “Director(s)”) collectively
and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving
information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the
best of their knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material
respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would make any
statement herein or this report misleading.

This report will remain on the Company’s website at http.//www.aplushk.com/clients/8166chinaeco-farming/
index.html and the “Latest Company Announcements” page of the GEM website for at least 7 days from the date
of its posting.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. So David Tat Man (“Mr. So”) (BREZEX%4%), aged
35, is an executive Director. Mr. So holds a bachelor degree
in surveying from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University and
is @ member of The Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors
and The Hong Kong Institute of Directors. Mr. So started his
career in the investment department of Savills (Hong Kong)
Limited and then worked in a company that specialized in
China property investment prior to joining the Company. He
has extensive experience in investment in China and Hong
Kong. Mr. So was a non-executive director of Chinese Food
and Beverage Group Limited (stock code: 8272), a company
listed on the GEM on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the "Stock Exchange”) from 1 April 2014 to 31
December 2016. Mr. So joined the Group in January 2014.

Mr. Ng Cheuk Fan, Keith (“Mr. Ng”) (RE AL %4 ) , aged
58, is an executive Director and Company Secretary of the
Company. Mr. Ng graduated from the University of Alberta,
Canada, with a Bachelor’'s degree in Commerce, majoring
in Accounting. He also obtained a Master of Commerce
degree in Professional Accounting from the University of New
South Wales, Australia and is a Certified Public Accountant
in Australia and a member of The Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Ng has over 20 years of
management and accounting experience.

Mr. Ng was an executive director of U-RIGHT International
Holdings Limited (“U-RIGHT") from July 2011 to December
2017 (stock code: 627), a company listed on the Stock
Exchange, which received petitions from the Hong Kong
Court against the company and its wholly owned subsidiary,
Uni-Capital Limited filed by Detusche Bank A.G., Hong
Kong Branch on 6 October 2008, before Mr. Ng's tenure
of office. The winding-up petition against U-RIGHT was
subsequently dismissed pursuant to the order of the Hong
Kong Court dated 16 September 2013. Mr. Ng was also an
executive director of China Fortune Financial Group Limited
(stock code: 290), a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange from December 2007 to July 2016. Mr.
Ng was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
in September 2014 redesignated as an executive Director in
September 2016 and was appointed as Company Secretary in
March 2018.
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PROFILE OF THE DIRECTORS
EEREE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yick Ting Fai, Jeffrey (“Mr. Yick”) (5 EREE4%),
aged 35, is an independent non-executive Director. Mr. Yick
is also the chairman of the remuneration committee and
members of the audit committee and nomination committee
of the Company. Mr. Yick graduated from The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University with a Bachelor of Science degree. He
subsequently obtained the Juris Doctor degree as well as the
Postgraduate Certificate in Laws (PCLL) from The Chinese
University of Hong Kong. Mr. Yick was admitted to practice
law as a solicitor in Hong Kong in 2012. He has been a
member of The Law Society of Hong Kong since then. Mr.
Yick worked in both international and reputable local law
firms and is currently working as a solicitor with emphasis
on corporate finance practice at a local law firm. Mr. Yick
principally engages in Hong Kong listing projects and assists
in legal compliance of Hong Kong listed companies.

Mr. Yick was an independent non-executive director of
Mengke Holdings Limited (stock code: 1629), a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange from
November 2016 to December 2018. Mr. Yick joined the
Group in September 2014.

Mr. Zhang Min (“Mr. Zhang”) (IR %4 ) , aged 62, is an
independent non-executive Director. He is also the chairman
of the nomination committee, members of the audit
committee and remuneration committee of the Company.
Mr. Zhang holds a Bachelor of Philosophy Degree from the
Beijing Normal College and a Master of Laws Degree from
the Renmin University of China.

Mr. Zhang was an executive director of Value Convergence
Holdings Limited (Stock code: 821), a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange from June 2018 to
December 2019.

Mr. Zhang was the chief executive officer and an executive
director of Junefield Department Store Group Limited (stock
code: 758), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange from June 2016 to August 2018.

Mr. Zhang possesses over 20 years' experience in the banking
industry through his work with the China Construction Bank
Corporation Group. Mr. Zhang joined the Group in March
2015.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)
Ms. Yuen Wai Man (“Ms. Yuen”) (RE#8 & +), aged
48, is appointed as an independent non-executive Director.
Ms. Yuen is also the chairman of the audit committee and
members of the nomination committee and remuneration
committee. Ms. Yuen graduated from The University of
Hong Kong with a degree in Business Administration in
1994. She is the fellow member of The Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants, fellow member of The
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
overseas member of The Chinese Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Ms. Yuen has worked in accounting
and auditing area for over 24 years. Ms. Yuen is currently
an independent non-executive director of Chinese Strategic
Holdings Limited (stock code: 8089), a company listed on
the GEM of the Stock Exchange. Ms. Yuen was also an
independent non-executive director of The Hong Kong
Building and Loan Agency Limited (stock code: 145), a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
from November 2011 to November 2017. Ms Yuen joined the
Group in September 2016.

PROFILE OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEE

BYFHITEE (H)

REBLT ([R&x)) 485 XTI A
VR TEF - RETNABREZESEIEU
kiR2ZEghFMHEESEKE - TRXTR
—NWNNFEENRBEERE THEIEHER
BB - HRBSFARETMAGER
28 AALHMASERSENFEGEMRE
AR EENEE RALTER B S REX
TEEI24F - RETIHABEARBIZERERA
&) (R : 8089 » — IR B X FTGEM ETh
ZAR)ZEBNIMITEZE AT ——F+—
AEZZT—tF+—A ELINABBEE
BERAERAE (BRHORSE 145 - —ERBFT
FIREMZRARD ZBYIRITES R
RZE—RNFENLAMALER-

China Eco-Farming Limited FEIBE L REFR AT
Annual Report 2019 == — AL FF iR



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) was principally
engaged in the business of one-stop value chain services,
property investment, trading of grocery food products,
trading of consumables and agricultural products, provision
of money lending services and provision of financial services.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group
recorded revenue of approximately HK$31,836,000 (2018:
HK$51,417,000), representing a decrease of approximately
38.1% as compared to that of last year. Loss for the year
attributable to owners of the Company amounted to
approximately HK$99,411,000 (2018: HK$68,428,000).
The basic loss per share of the Company was approximately
HK12.37 cents (2018: HK9.63 cents).

Property Investment

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the property
investment segment reported revenue of approximately
HK$3,222,000 (2018: HK$5,153,000), representing an
decrease of approximately 37.5%, as compared to the last
year. At 31 December 2019, the Group held properties in
the People’s Republic of China (PRC), Taiwan and Hong
Kong for investment purpose amounted to approximately
HK$136,793,000 (2018: HK$169,800,000). The portfolio’s
rental yield was shown in the table below.

Key performance - data of property investment
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= %15 M&z #731,836,0008 70 (=T — N\ F :
51,417,000 70 ) * RMEF R 4I38.1% AR
BB AFEMR AR F E B 18 4799,411,0007% 7T
— T — )\ 4 :68,428,000/8 7T) - AR B EFK
AREBEAOR1237TEW(ZZT—/\F:9.63%
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2019 2018
—E-hF —E-NF

Average occupancy level 115 A K 56.3% 66.6%
Average monthly rental income BEFK(FFKIM

per square metre (sg.m) A RA HK$897% 7t HK$1297% 7T
Definition and calculation: Average occupancy level, being ~ E& KR E : FHEAKFEABEFMERAER

percentage of floor area occupied by tenant. Average
monthly rental income per sq.m. being average rental income
charged to tenant per sq.m. of floor area leased.

China Eco-Farming Limited FEIB ¥ £ REFRA 7
Annual Report 2019 == — AL FF R

E%E’\]EE Lo BF T AN ABHEES WA B
FPokbEREmERES WERNFHEE
WA e



—_— e

||- L3 _52‘ -
%‘? )’i I“iﬂb_'

BUSINESS OVERVIEW (continued)

One-stop Value Chain Services

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the one-
stop value chain services segment reported a revenue of
approximately HK$7,282,000 (2018: HK$28,880,000),
representing an decrease of approximately 74.8%, as
compared to the last year. The significant decrease was due
to decrease in purchase orders from customers and some
purchase orders were not accepted by suppliers.

Key performance - data of one-stop value chain
services

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWRE DM

ERHE (&)

— R EEERY

HE-_ZT—NWF+-A=+—HLFE —U

B E AR 5 8 2 # Uk %5 497,282,000 7T
—Z— )\%:28,880,000/8 1) W EF

#74.8% - KR TR KRB B HERERT

BRAOREEH T EXE LB E -

g7 % — — W A EE BRI B 15

2019 2018
—E-hE —T-NF
Gross profit margin EVUES 0.9% 0.9%

Definition and calculation: Gross profit margin, being
percentage of gross profit to segment turnover.

Trading of Consumables and Agricultural Products
During the year ended 31 December 2019, this
business segment reported a revenue of approximately
HK$11,674,000 (2018: HK$6,045,000), representing an
increase of approximately 93.1%, as compared to the last
year. This business segment is mainly composed of re-usable
bags trading business and bulk commodities trading in resin
plastics (ABS) and polyethylene (PE) which commenced this
year.

Key performance - data of trading of consumables and
agricultural products
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X BEIERERRREFIEBRAFER
1A B 15T A 28 KHABS) R B2 2, 1% %8 KHPE) K 5= 78 fh
Z5e

FBREE - HHEmREERESHE

2019 2018
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Gross profit margin eV 15.4% 27.6%

Definition and calculation: Gross profit margin, being
percentage of gross profit to segment turnover.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW (continued)

Trading of Grocery Food Products

The Group’s trading of grocery food products segment
consists of distribution (i) in the catering channel in Hong
Kong for “Mengniu” liquid milk and pasteurized dairy
products, under the “Mengniu” brand; and (ii) in peanut
oil, corn oil and canola oil under the “Jinlongyu” brand via
supermarkets, convenience stores and small-scale stores
in Hong Kong. In addition, the Group is also the sole and
exclusive distributor for the sale and distribution of ramen
and udon products under the brand of “Nittin”( BT ) in
Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan. During the year ended
31 December 2019, this segment reported a revenue of
approximately HK$5,182,000 (2018: HK$5,769,000).

Key performance - data of trading of grocery food
products

ERBE (&)

BHEmRES

AEBNRHRREZ NI BRONEEE
RRESHE ZFEIREDEEF ] RET
WEKNEER: R(VEBRESMBRTS -

EAEMNEBEEEIHE SRR METH
A BB RINIEH BN L REE TR
ATBT ] (Nittin)@RENE—RBRDHEE R
BEERMRAEHERDHENERSLME
BeBE_Z-NE+-_A=+t—HBIEE" &
o E 2RI EE 495,182,000 L (- T — )\ F:

5,769,000/ 7T ) °

BRXE - AR DESEE

2019 2018
—E-nEFE —ZT-N\F
Gross profit margin EFE 31.6% 30.6%

Definition and calculation: Gross profit margin, being
percentage of gross profit to segment turnover.

Performance guarantee - Mengniu and Jinlongyu
Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement dated 28
October 2015 entered into between Hexin Limited (“Hexin"),
Fantastic Alliance Investments Limited and the Company,
Hexin will be entitled to obtain 118,320,000 new shares to
be issued by the Company if YIHE Enterprise Holding Limited
("YIHE") successfully meet the target profit of HK$7,000,000
for the year ended 31 December 2018. Since YIHE recorded
a loss of approximately HK$146,000 instead, no shares of
the Company will be issued to Hexin. Goodwill arising from
acquisition of YIHE was fully impaired whereas contingent
consideration was written back to the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in previous
financial years.

China Eco-Farming Limited FEIB ¥ £ REFRA 7
Annual Report 2019 == — AL FF R

EEMAE EMNR[EMNEDHEXENT
Do

KBRE-FRERZEA

BIEER (FE)BRAF ([EK]) Fantastic
Alliance Investments Limited£2 2 2 &1 5] 37 H £f
AB-E—RAF+A-+t N NBEHNEEHZE M
BEErEZERERAFG([EE])REBEZS
—N\F+ZA=+—HLEFEKRDEREZ&H
#7,000,000& 7T * & KB RS A AR EHT
118,320,0008% ¥ % 15 - B H & $%15 47146,000
BITHEE RARRBITIERITRN TEM.
BWEEAELENEEEERE  MIARE
ERBEFRFEROGEERREMEEI



—_— e

||- L3 _52‘ -
%‘? )’i I“iﬂb_'

BUSINESS OVERVIEW (continued)

Trading of Grocery Food Products (continued)
Performance guarantee — Mengniu and Jinlongyu
(continued)

After a series of discussion and careful consideration, the
Group decided to not to renew the sole distributorship
agreements with respective principals of Mengniu and
Jinlongyu products. The Group is unable to come up with
a satisfactory turnaround plan with the management of
Huge Famous Corporation Limited due to the tough trading
environment resulting in the products’ low gross margin. The
Group will focus on Nittin brand of ramen and udon products
within this segment.

Provision of money lending services

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group's
money lending services segment reported a revenue of
approximately HK$1,280,000 (2018: HK$1,568,000). With
majority of the loans secured by properties or company
shares, the Group will continue to maintain sound credit
policy to balance the finance income against credit risk from
respective borrowers.

Key performance - loan interest data

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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2019 2018
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Interest rate earned B BELF B 11.7% 9.8%

Definition and calculation: Interest rate earned, being
percentage of interest income divided by loan amount.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW (continued)

Provision of financial services

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group
has two licensed operating subsidiaries, China AF Asset
Management Limited, a company holding Type 4 (advising
on securities) and Type 9 (asset management) licence under
Securities and Futures Commission (the “SFC”), and China
AF Corporate Finance Limited, a company holding Type 6
(advising on corporate finance) licence under the SFC. The
Group also provides financial consultancy services. This
segment reported a revenue for the year ended 31 December
of 2019 of HK$3,196,000 (2018: HK$4,002,000). The
decrease was mainly due to the corporate finance division
was only working on existing mandates. No new mandate
can be entered into due to the lack of sufficient responsible
officer. Due to current market conditions, China AF Corporate
Finance Limited has made an application to SFC to revoke its
licence in September 2019.

Securities investments

The Group had equity instruments at fair value through
other comprehensive income and financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss in aggregate of approximately
HK$17,256,000 as at 31 December 2019, representing
approximately 4.86% of the Company’s total assets (31
December 2018: approximately HK$52,346,000, representing
approximately 11.65% of the Company's total assets).

The Company’s investment strategy is to invest in securities
that have growth potential, with the aims to capture capital
appreciation and diversify the Company’s investment
portfolio (as detailed below) in order to reduce concentration
of investment risks in one industry and maximise value
for the Shareholders. The composition of the investment
portfolio may change from time to time during the coming
year. In order to mitigate the possible financial risks related
to the equities, the investment portfolio will be monitored
regularly and appropriate actions would be taken whenever
necessary in a prudent manner in response to changes in
market situation. Below is additional information in relation
to the significant investments with market value exceeding
HK$10,000,000 as at 31 December 2019 and 31 December
2018:
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWR DM

BUSINESS OVERVIEW (continued)

Securities investments (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 and year ended
31 December 2018 (continued)

Notes:

These are all listed companies on the Stock Exchange
for the year ended 31 December 2019, together with
their subsidiaries are mainly engaged in sales of alcoholic
beverages, the provision of financial services, the provision
of blockchain services and cryptocurrency mining business,
the provision of auction of alcoholic beverages business,
provision of QR codes on product packaging and solutions
and online advertising display services, the manufacture and
sale of packaging products, trading in securities and money
lending, properties investments, loan financing, trading
business and advising on securities, asset management and
futures and options broking.

China Industrial Securities International Financial Group
Limited, a company listed on the GEM of the Stock
Exchange, together with its subsidiaries are principally
engaged in the provision of brokerage services, loans
and financing services, investment banking services,
asset management services and financial products and
investments.

Anhui Damingyuan Tourism Development Company
Limited* ( ZH KB E iRk 228 B D EBRAF]) , a company
listed on Shanghai Equity Exchange in the PRC until 28
February 2018, which is principally engaged in development
of tourism resources business. For details, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 19 July 2016 and 31
August 2016.

This is another listed company on Shanghai Equity Exchange
in the PRC which is principally engaged in selling comfort
shoes and insoles, as well as foot related products.

*  For identification purposes only
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW (continued)

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Board admits the responsibility to environmental
protection. Over the years, the Group has committed to
reduce waste and pollution with a view of effective and
efficient resources utilisation in the office spaces. Staff are
reminded from time to time the Group's direction in this
respect.

Compliance with the Relevant Laws and Regulations
The Group's main business and operation work within
common trade practice environment and the Group
endeavours to comply with all legal and regulatory
requirements. In relation to the human resources, the
Group is committed to comply with the requirements of the
applicable laws and regulations, such as the Employment
Ordinance, ordinances in relation to discrimination, the
Privacy Ordinance and the Minimum Wage Ordinance.
The Group also values good conduct of the employees
and has set out clear guidelines to prevent bribery and to
regulate the acceptance of benefits by the employees. On
the corporate level, the Group continuously complies with
the requirements under the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the GEM (“GEM Listing Rules”) of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”)
and the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO"), such as
disclosure of interests, corporate governance, Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of the Listed Issuers
and “Inside Information” disclosure. The Group employs legal
and financial advisers when undergoing acquisitions or other
corporate exercises. During the year ended 31 December
2019, there was no material breach of or non-compliance
with the applicable laws and rules by the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWmE DM

BUSINESS OVERVIEW (continued)

Relationships with Employees, Customers and Suppliers
The Group recognises importance of retaining talents to
ensure the ongoing execution of business plans. The Group
has established all-rounded staff policy and guidelines for
staff welfare, provide a safe workplace, and support the
development of talent. The Group provides incentives to
its employees based on their performance. The Group
encouraged employees to update their work-related
knowledge, skill by providing training offered by external
organisations. During the year ended 31 December 2019,
the employee voluntary turnover rate of the Group was kept
at a low level. During the year, no violation of labour law
was recorded. The key customers of the Group include the
long term trading customers and tenants of the investment
properties. The key suppliers of the Group are the suppliers
of the trading business. The Group has established long
term and solid business relationship with the suppliers which
ensures stable supply and quality products which meet
customers’ demand. During the year, there was no material
dispute between the Group and the customers/suppliers.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group recorded
a revenue of approximately HK$31,836,000 (2018:
HK$51,417,000), representing a decrease of approximately
38.1% as compared to that of last year.

Cost of sales for the year under review was approximately
HK$20,658,000 (2018: HK$37,798,000), representing a
decrease of approximately 45.3% as compared to that of last
year. The decrease of cost of sales was in line with the drop
in revenue. The decrease in absolute amount of gross profit
was due to decrease interest income from provision of money
lending services.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Administrative expenses for the year under review was
approximately HK$47,968,000 (2018: HK$62,311,000),
representing a decrease of approximately 23.0% as
compared to that of last year. The decrease was mainly
attributable to decrease in written off the other receivables of
approximately HK$13,290,000.

Finance costs for the year under review was approximately
HK$11,945,000 (2018: HK$9,251,000), representing a
increase of approximately 29.1% as compared to that of
last year. The increase was mainly due to in interest on
balance payment for DHL Acquisition of approximately
HK$2,692,000.

The Group recorded a loss for the year attributable to
owners of the Company in the amount of approximately
HK$99,411,000 (2018: HK$68,428,000). Basic loss per share
of the Company increase from HK9.63 cents for the year
ended 31 December 2018 to HK12.37 cents for the year
ended 31 December 2019.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group financed its business operations mainly with its
internally generated resources and borrowings during the
year under review. At 31 December 2019, the bank balances
and cash of the Group was approximately HK$2,416,000
(2018: HK$17,870,000).

At 31 December 2019, the net assets of the Group was
approximately HK$222,591,000 (2018: HK$336,973,000)
and the net current assets was approximately HK$70,757,000
(2018: HK$38,100,000).

Gearing Ratio

At 31 December 2019, the total liabilities of the Group
amounted to approximately HK$132,273,000 (2018:
HK$112,446,000), which mainly comprised of trade and
other payables, contract liabilities, borrowings, margin
loans payables, lease liabilities, financial guarantee contract,
amount due to non-controlling interests, income tax payable
and deferred tax liabilities. These liabilities are denominated
in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi and New Taiwan Dollars.

At 31 December 2019, the Group had total assets of
approximately HK$354,864,000 (2018: HK$449,419,000).
The gearing ratio of the Group, expressed as the ratio of total
liabilities to total assets, turned to 0.37 as at 31 December
2019 (2018: 0.25).

Segmental Information

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year ended
31 December 2019 by business segment is set out in note 7
to the consolidated financial statements.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Employees and Remuneration Policies

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had 47 (2018: 45)
total number of full-time employees. Staff costs, including
directors’ emoluments of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2019 were approximately HK$17,293,000 in
total (2018: HK$19,622,000). The Group determines the
remuneration and compensation payable to its staff based
on individual performance and expertise. Apart from basic
remuneration, share options may be granted to eligible
employees by reference to the Group’s performance as well
as individual contribution.

Capital Structure

As at 31 December 2019, the Company’s issued ordinary
share capital was HK$9,325,524.30 divided into 932,552,430
shares of HK$0.01 each (“Shares”) (2018: HK$7,771,324.30
divided into 777,132,430 shares of HK$0.01 each).

Fund Raising Activities

Placing of new shares

On 20 February 2018, the Company entered into the placing
agreement with a placing agent, it is propose that the
placing agent would propose to offer for subscription of
1,200,000,000 placing shares at HK$0.08334 per placing
shares (“Placing 1”), and the placing agent has agreed to
procure subscriptions for the placing shares. The maximum
gross proceeds from the Placing | will be approximately
HK$100,008,000. Details are set out in the announcement
issued by the Company dated 20 February 2018.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Fund Raising Activities (continued)

Placing of new shares (continued)

On 9 March 2018, the Company announced to terminate
Placing | and will be replaced by a new placing agreement
with a placing agent. It is proposed that the placing agent
would propose to offer for subscription of 1,200,000,000
placing shares at the placing price of HK$0.083 per placing
share. The maximum gross proceeds from the placing
were approximately HK$99,600,000 and the net proceeds
after deducting the placing commission and other relevant
expenses were approximately HK$96,900,000. Further details
of the placing are set out in the announcements of the
Company dated 9 March 2018 and 29 March 2018. The net
proceeds from placing were used as follows:
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Fund Raising Activities (continued)

Placing of new shares (continued)

On 20 September 2019, the Company entered into the
placing agreement with a placing agent who would place
on a best effort basis of a maximum of 155,426,486 placing
shares under general mandate of the Company at HK$0.055
per placing shares. The placing was completed on 31 October
2019. Net proceeds from the placing are expected to be
approximately HK$8.4 million and will be used as general
working capital and for repayment of loans. Details are set
out in the announcements issued by the Company on 20
September 2019 and 31 October 2019.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Fund Raising Activities (continued)

Issue of Convertible Bond Ill & Convertible Bond IV as a
consideration of an acquisition

On 28 May 2015, Skyline Top Limited and Yardley Wealth
Management Limited (“Yardley”) became shareholders
(the "JV Partners”) of Delightful Hope Limited (the “JV
Company"”) for the purpose of the proposed acquisition. The
JV Company is owned as to 50% by each of the JV Partners.
The directors of the Company considered the JV Company is
the subsidiary of the Company in accordance with HKFRS10
Consolidated Financial Statement.

Upon formation of JV Company, the JV Partners have agreed
to make provision for the management and administration
of the JV Company’s affairs, and set out their respective
obligations and rights on the terms and conditions set in the
shareholders’ agreement (the “Shareholders’ Agreement”).

On 29 May 2015, the Company, the JV Company, Yardley
and Rich Best Asia Limited (the “Vendor”) entered into
the sale and purchase agreement (the “Sale and Purchase
Agreement”) pursuant to which (i) the Vendor has agreed
to sell and the JV Company has agreed to purchase entire
equity interest in China Smart Asia Limited, a subsidiary of
Chinese Strategic Holdings Limited (“Chinese Strategic”),
which the shares of Chinese Strategic are listed on the
GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8089); and (ii)
the Vendor has agreed to assign the JV Company, and the
JV Company has agreed to accept the assignment of sale
loan at an aggregate consideration of HK$93,000,000,
which shall be settled and discharged by the JV Company
in accordance with the time, mode and manner set out
under the Sale and Purchase Agreement: (i) forthwith upon
the execution of the Sale and Purchase Agreement, the
JV Company and Yardley shall jointly and severally pay the
sum of HK$20,000,000 either in cash or by cashier order
to Chinese Strategic for and on behalf of the Vendor as
deposit (the “Deposit”), and the Deposit shall be applied for
partial payment of the consideration at completion; (i) the JV
Company and Yardley shall jointly and severally pay a further
sum of HK$26,500,000 either in cash or by cashier order to
Chinese Strategic for and on behalf of the Vendor for partial
payment of the balance of the consideration at completion;
and (iii) the remaining balance of the consideration in the
sum of HK$46,500,000 shall be settled and discharged by
the Company's issuance to the Vendor (or any nominee of
the Vendor) (i) the convertible bonds (“Convertible Bond-
") in the principal amount of HK$23,000,000; and (ii) the
convertible bonds (“Convertible Bond-IV") in the principal
amount of HK$23,500,000 at completion.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Fund Raising Activities (continued)

Issue of Convertible Bond Ill & Convertible Bond IV as a
consideration of an acquisition (continued)

Upon exercise of conversion rights attaching to the
Convertible Bond-Ill & Convertible Bond-IV, 186,000,000 new
shares shall be issued.

The completion of the acquisition involving the issue of
Convertible Bond-Ill & Convertible Bond-IV as a part of the
consideration took place on 20 August 2015.

Further details of the issue of convertible bonds as
a consideration of an acquisition are set out in the
announcements of the Company dated 29 May 2015, 20
August 2015 and the circular of the Company dated 27 July
2015.

Convertible Bond Il expired on 31 March 2017 and
subsequently the Company received a redemption notice
from the Convertible Bond Ill holder for the principal amount
of HK$23,000,000. The Company had agreed with the
Convertible Bond Il holder to pay an interest of 5% per
annum from 1 April 2017 up to the date of settlement. The
amount was fully settled with interest on 29 March 2018.
Convertible Bond IV expired on 30 September 2018 and the
Company received a redemption notice from the Convertible
Bond IV holder for the principal amount of HK$23,500,000
as at the date of this report HK$3,500,000 remained
outstanding.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Significant Investments, Acquisitions and Disposal
Disposal of an investment property

On 29 October 2019, the vendor, an indirect non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into the Sale
and Purchase Agreement with the Purchaser pursuant to
which the vendor has agreed to sell, and the purchaser has
agreed to purchase, the properties located in Shenzhen
City, Guangdong Province, the PRC, at the consideration
of RMB69,449,988 (equivalent to approximately
HK$77,325,617 based on the exchange rate of RMB1 to
HK$1.1134 quoted on 31 January 2020).

Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated
29 October 2019, 19 November 2019, 19 December 2019,
17 January 2020, 12 February 2020, 24 February 2020,
25 February 2020 and 10 March 2020 and circular of the
Company dated 23 March 2020.

The Disposal constitutes a very substantial disposal of the
Company under the GEM Listing Rules. A special general
meeting was held on 9 April 2020, the Disposal was duly
passed by the Shareholders by way of poll.

On 30 August 2019 and 3 September 2019, the Group
entered into and signed seven sale and purchase agreements
with independent third parties to dispose seven of the
investment properties held by the Group which are
all located in the PRC with fair value of approximately
RMB2,304,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$2,623,000)
as at 31 December 2018. Such properties were classified
as Investment Properties in the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2018. The transactions
were completed on 30 August and 3 September 2019 with a
net decrease in fair value of approximately HK$879,000.

On 10 August 2018 and 26 October 2018, the Group
entered into and signed two sale and purchase agreements
with an independent third party to dispose of three of the
investment properties held by the Group which are all located
in the PRC with fair value of approximately RMB9,330,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$11,186,000) as at 31
December 2017. Such property was classified as investment
properties in the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2017. The transaction was completed
on 30 September 2018 and 31 October 2018 with a loss
of disposal between the sale proceed over the cost of
acquisition of approximately HK$3,177,000.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Significant Investments, Acquisitions and Disposal
(continued)

Acquisition of Shunxin Holdings Limited and placing of
convertible bonds

(a)

The acquisition of Shunxin Holdings Limited (the
“Acquisition”)

On 29 May 2017, Cosmic Bliss Limited as the vendor
(the “Vendor”), Champion Front Limited as the
purchaser (the “Purchaser”) and the Company entered
into a sale and purchase agreement (the “Sale and
Purchase Agreement”), pursuant to which the Vendor
has agreed to sell to the Purchaser, and the Purchaser
has agreed to purchase from the Vendor, the entire
issued share capital of Shunxin Holdings Limited, the
target company, at the maximum consideration of
HK$120,000,000, which shall be settled by the issue of
the consideration CBs (the “Consideration CBs").

Pursuant to the Sale and Purchase Agreement, the
Vendor has agreed to sell to the Purchaser, and the
Purchaser has agreed to purchase from the Vendor, the
outstanding shareholder loan due to the Vendor at the
consideration of HK$1, which shall be settled by cash at
completion.

The Consideration CBs are convertible at the conversion
price of HK$0.06 per consideration conversion share.
Assuming the Consideration CBs in the principal amount
of HK$120,000,000 are fully converted at the initial
conversion price of HK$0.06, 2,000,000,000 new shares
will be allotted and issued by the Company under
specific mandate to authorise the Directors to allot and
issue the conversion shares under conversion of the
Consideration CBs.

Upon completion of the Acquisition, the target
company and its subsidiaries will become wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Company and accordingly, their
financial results will be consolidated into the accounts of
the Company.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Significant Investments, Acquisitions and Disposal

(continued)

Acquisition of Shunxin Holdings Limited and placing of

convertible bonds (continued)

(b) Placing of convertible bonds (the “Placing”)
On 29 May 2017, Kingston Securities Limited (the
“Placing Agent”) and the Company entered into a
placing agreement (the “Placing Agreement”) pursuant
to which the Company has agreed to appoint the
Placing Agent as the placing agent and the Placing
Agent has agreed to procure subscribers to subscribe
for the placing CBs (the “Placing CBs"”) in the aggregate
principal amount of HK$360,000,000, on a best effort
basis, on the terms and conditions set out in the Placing
Agreement.

Completion of the Placing shall be conditional upon,
among other things, the completion of the Acquisition.
Assuming the Placing CBs in the principal amount
of HK$360,000,000 are fully converted at the initial
conversion price of HK$0.06, 6,000,000,000 new shares
will be allotted and issued by the Company under the
specific mandate to authorise the Directors to allot and
issue the conversion shares under conversion of the
Placing CBs.

On 2 January 2018, the Company announced that
the Acquisition was terminated as certain conditions
precedent of the Sale and Purchase have not fulfilled or
waived by the long stop date. As a result, the Company
also announced that the Placing was terminated
accordingly.

Acquisition of interest in certain properties in
Shenzhen, the PRC

On 17 July 2017, Yardley Wealth Management Limited
("YWML") and Skyline Top Limited (“STL"), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into an agreement (the
“Agreement”) pursuant to which the YWML has agreed to
sell and the STL has agreed to purchase the sale shares (the
“Sale Shares”), representing 50% of the issued share capital
of Delightful Hope Limited (the “Target Company”) for cash
consideration of HK$55,000,000. The Target Company is a
non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company and is owned
as to 50% by each of YWML and STL. Following completion,
the Target Company will be wholly owned by the STL and will
become an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Significant Investments, Acquisitions and Disposal
(continued)

Acquisition of interest in certain properties in
Shenzhen, the PRC (continued)

The principal assets of the Target Company consist of
properties comprise 8 commercial units of a total gross
floor area of approximately 1,690 sgq.m. in Shenzhen City,
Guangdong Province, the PRC, and a residential house in
Shenzhen City, Guangdong Province, the PRC of a total
gross floor area of approximately 315.23 sg.m. According
to the audited consolidated account of the Target Company,
the book value of the properties was approximately
HK$110,236,000 as at 31 December 2016.

The consideration payable by the STL to the YWML for the
Sale Shares is HK$55,000,000 and shall be satisfied by the
STL's payment in cash to the YWML or its nominee in the
following manner: (a) as to the part payment in the sum
of HK$20,000,000, within 14 days after the date of the
Agreement; (b) as to the balance of HK$35,000,000, upon
completion.

On 31 July 2017, a supplemental agreement was entered
into between the parties that the part payment in the sum
of HK$20,000,000 shall be paid on or before 28 August
2017 or such later date as the parties may agree in writing.
HK$20,000,000 of the above part payment has been paid.

On 17 January 2018, the parties had entered into a second
supplemental agreement whereas the timing of payment
of the balance of HK$35,000,000 was extended from 17
January 2018 to 17 January 2019. On 19 March 2019, the
parties had entered into a third supplemental agreement
whereas the Long Stop Date has been extended from
17 January 2019 to 31 March 2020 and payment of the
remaining balance shall be paid by one or several instalments
on or before the Date of Completion. On 31 March 2020, the
parties had entered into a fourth supplemental agreement
whereas the Long Stop Date and deadline of Completion
have extended from 31 March 2020 to 30 September 2020.
As at the date of this report, the amount of approximately
HK$12,442,000, accrued interest included,
outstanding.

remained
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Significant Investments, Acquisitions and Disposal
(continued)

Acquisition of Max Joint Asia Pacific (China) Limited

On 27 August 2018, Guo Weifu as the Vendor, King Noble
Holdings Limited as the Purchaser, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company and the Company entered into
the sale and purchase agreement. Under and pursuant to the
terms and conditions of the sale and purchase agreement,
the Vendor has agreed to sell to the Purchaser, and the
Purchaser has agreed to purchase from the Vendor, the entire
issued capital of Max Joint Asia Pacific (China) Limited, at the
Consideration of HK$46,500,000.

Upon Completion and subject to audit, the Target Company
and its wholly-owned subsidiaries are expected to be
accounted for as indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of
the Company, and Higreen Agricultural and its subsidiary
are expected to be accounted for as investments to the
Company.

At Completion, the Company shall, and the Purchaser shall
procure the Company to, allot and issue 465,000,000 new
Shares at the Issue Price out of the General Mandate and
free from any encumbrance whatsoever to and in favour of
the Vendor for full and final settlement and discharge of the
Consideration.

The Target Company is an investment holding company
incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability, which
holds 15% equity interest in Higreen Agricultural Product
Logistics Company Limited (“Higreen Agricultural”) Higreen
Agricultural is established in PRC with limited liability. It
operates a large-scale agricultural products logistics center in
Bengbu of Anhui Province, PRC for wholesale of agricultural
products, which also handles processing, packaging, storage,
direct selling, delivery, auction, e-commerce, food safety
testing and central settlement. Upon Completion, Higreen
Agricultural shall be held as to 15% indirectly by the
Company.

The acquisition has been completed on 25 October 2018. An
aggregate of 465,000,000 consideration share were allotted
and issued at the issue price of HK$0.10 each.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Significant Investments, Acquisitions and Disposal
(continued)

Disposal of Shenzhen City Jintaiyuan Investment
Development Company Limited

On 29 November 2018, Shenzhen City Chengi Enterprise
Consultancy Management Company Limited (“Chengi”),
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and
the transferee, an independent third party, entered into the
equity transfer agreement pursuant to which the Chenqi
has agreed to sell, and the Transferee has agreed to acquire,
the entire equity interest in Shenzhen City Jintaiyuan
Investment Development Company Limited (“Jintaiyuan”) at
the consideration of RMB21,000,000 (being approximately
HK$23,635,500).

Jintaiyuan is an investment holding company incorporated in
the PRC with limited liability, which holds 15% equity interest
in Bengbu Higreen Agricultural Product Logistics Company
Limited* (RS FERERYWRBR 2 F) ("Higreen
Agricultural”).

On 14 December 2018, the Transferee and the Chengi
entered into a memorandum in relation to the disposal.
According to the Equity Transfer Agreement, the Transferee
is obligated to pay a total consideration of RMB21,000,000
upon the completion date. As at the date of this report
the Transferee has already paid the Chengi a total of
RMB14,000,000. The final payment of RMB7,000,000 was to
be paid on the equity change registration completion date.
The equity change registration completion date took place
on 11 December 2018. At the request of the Transferee and
after arm’s length negotiations between the Parties, the
Parties have entered into the memorandum to extend the
final payment of RMB7,000,000 to be paid within six months
upon the signing of the memorandum. The final payment
was subsequently settled.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Charges on Group'’s Assets

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had charges on one
of its investment properties to obtain a mortgage financing
from a bank in Taiwan of approximately HK$7,608,000
(2018: HK$8,230,000). Investments held for trading have
been pledged to brokers’ account to obtain a margin
loan financing of approximately HK$6,012,000 (2018:
HK$18,199,000). Further, the Group had charges on
certain investment properties in the PRC and Hong Kong
to obtain term loans from money lender in Hong Kong and
bank in the PRC of approximately HK$21,158,000 (2018:
HK$17,386,000). Furthermore, the Group had charges on
certain investment properties in the PRC of approximately
HK$6,683,000 (2018: Nil) as securities for a term loan
granted to an associate company.

Contingent Liabilities and Guarantee

At 31 December 2019, the Group has provided financial
guarantee to Gold Wide Holdings Limited, which is classified
as an interest in associate in the consolidated financial
statements of the Group, for a term loan with a principal
amount of RMB13 million, bearing interest of 8% per annum
for a period of three years up to 14 January 2022. (2018: Nil).

Capital Commitments

At 31 December 2019, the Group had capital commitment
amounting to approximately HK$10,000,000 (2018:
HK$20,000,000).

Exposure to Fluctuation in Exchange Rates

All of the Group's assets, liabilities and transactions are
mainly denominated either in Hong Kong dollars or Renminbi
or New Taiwan dollars. The Directors do not consider that the
Group is exposed to any material foreign currency exchange
risk. Therefore, no hedging devices or other alternative have
been implemented.

Events after the Reporting Period
Details are set out in note 55 to the consolidated financial
statements.

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS

Looking ahead, the global economic activities will continue
being affected by the COVID-19 pandemic for some time.
Apart from that, local economy is also being affected by
regional social unrest, the Sino-US trade negotiations and
fluctuation in oil price. However, the Group will continue
allocating its resources carefully in different segments as to
optimize its investment returns.
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OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS (continued)

One-stop value chain services

During the year, the Group noticed that the performance of
this segment has dropped significantly as compared to last
year. Revenue from this segment took a turn for the better in
the last quarter of 2019. The Group will continue to operate
this segment cautiously. When opportunities arise, the Group
will consider diversifying the business of this segment into
other related fields.

Property investment

During the year under review, the Group has disposed certain
commercial properties in Quanzhou City, Fujian Province, in
the PRC.

In view of the current market environment and business
prospects of the property market in the PRC, and having
regard to the uncertain business operation environment of
the property leasing market in the PRC, the Group is looking
at disposing certain investment properties in the PRC.

The Group will continue monitor its property investment
portfolio and grasp the opportunity to be benefited from the
potential capital gain of the assets together but also balance
with enhanced rental yields.

Trading of consumables and agricultural products

The business segment for trading of consumables and
agricultural products was mainly consisted of re-usable
bags trading business and bulk commodities trading in resin
plastics (ABS) and polyethylene (PE). The business segment
demonstrates growth potential and the Group is optimistic
about its future contribution.

Trading of grocery food products
The Group will focus its resources on Nittin brand of ramen
and udon products in this segment.

Provision of money lending services

The Group’s money lending service segment continue to
make contribution to the Group’s revenue. The Group will
re-visit its credit control policy and look to further expand
this business segment if and when financial resources are
available.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEFWE DM

RERp= (&)

— X EEERE
RER NEBDEE RN BRIV EF AR
T D HHRER T NFHRE—EF

ERMFE REBERKEEEZIEEFL Y-
=B IR - AR B E BRI o BRE T
Z =R AR -

NERE
REEFE AEEHETURTEBEZE R
MHMETERDE-

ERFENENHNERMISRE N EBGA
2 REEITEMEEEN SO NEE RS
SERR ARELAEZEHEMNTENSE
TREME-

AEBEBFEERAMEREASYINERS
BEEBEMERBm T Xat B FEE
He e e

HERKRBRERES

BHEMEREEMESEBDBEERIERERR
Z 5 % 75 KA AR 2B BHABS) M B 2 1% ¥8 KHPE)AY
ARERE S WEBH BB RIERE N RAK
SEHAERRNEMRREE -

BHERES
AREBBEEIMEERRBA LD ZBHBET &
H@?.Lﬁ_&% %@E an °

RERERE

AEBENRERE D BHEHSARBEERK
/W$$l%§ﬁ@ﬁﬁf%%%ﬁﬁlﬂM
BRI RO B E RS RFO - T ERILEED
#Be

China Eco-Farming Limited FEIBE L REFR AT
Annual Report 2019 == — AL FF iR

31



32

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS (continued)

Provision of financial services

The Group has 2 licensed subsidiaries providing advising on
securities and asset management services, and advising on
corporate finance services. Due to current market situation,
the Group has ceased the operation of advising on corporate
finance services. However, the Group is hoping that advising
on securities and asset management services and financial
consultancy services will make positive contribution to the
Group's revenue and profit.

Other Developing Business

The Group has conducted the business of bulk commodities
trading in the first half of 2019, and the products are
mainly resin plastics (ABS) and polyethylene plastics (PE). The
management of the Company considered that under the
current uncertain economic environment, conducting the
new business of bulk commodities trading can disperse risks
and diversify the businesses of the Group. At the same time,
the management of the Company also actively identifies
plastic related business opportunities to create value for the
shareholders and ensure the maximization of the interests of
the shareholders.
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The Directors present the annual report and audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 1 to
the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2019 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income on page 95 of this
annual report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

Discussion and analysis of the principal activities of the Group
as required by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance can be found in the Management Discussion and
Analysis set out on pages 8 to 32 of this annual report. These
discussions form part of this Directors’ Report.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page
302 of this annual report.

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in plant and equipment of the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2019 are set out in Note
17 to the consolidated financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The five largest customers accounted for approximately
41.1% (2018: 68.2%) of the Group’s turnover, and the five
largest suppliers accounted for approximately 86.7% (2018:
94.5%) of the Group's cost of sales, for the year ended 31
December 2019. To the best knowledge of the Directors,
at no time during the year ended 31 December 2019, any
Director or his associates or any shareholder (who owned
more than 5% of the Company's issued share capital) has
any interest in the above-mentioned customers or suppliers.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the year ended 31 December
2019 in the share capital of the Company are set out in Note
39 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group are
presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
on page 99 to 100 of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2019, the Company did not have any
reserves available for cash/in specie dividend distribution to
shareholders of the Company.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For ascertaining shareholders’ right to attend and
vote at the forthcoming annual general meeting (the
“"AGM")

Latest time to lodge transfers 4:00 p.m.

on 1 June 2020 (Monday)

2 June 2020 (Tuesday)
To 5 June 2020 (Friday)
(both dates inclusive)

Book close date

Record date 5 June 2020 (Friday)

AGM date 5 June 2020 (Friday)

In order to qualify for the right to attend and vote at the
AGM, all transfers accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’'s Hong Kong
branch share registrar and transfer office, Union Registrars
Limited, at Suites 3301-04, 33/F, Two Chinachem Exchange
Square, 338 King's Road, North Point, Hong Kong before the
above latest time to lodge transfers.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME
The Company has adopted a new share option scheme on 6
May 2011 (the “Share Option Scheme”).
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of
10 years from 6 May 2011 to 5 May 2021, unless terminated
otherwise as in accordance with the provisions of the Share
Option Scheme. The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is
to enable the Group to grant options to eligible participants
the Directors may at its absolute discretion select as incentives
or rewards for their contribution to the Group. Eligible
participants include any employee (whether full-time or part-
time, including executive directors, non-executive directors
and independent non-executive directors), shareholder,
customer, supplier of the Company, any of its subsidiaries or
any entity (“Invested Entity”) in which the Group holds an
equity interest; any person or entity that provides research,
development or other technological support, any adviser
(professional or otherwise) or consultant to any area of
business or business development of the Group or any
Invested Entity; and any other group or classes of participants
who have contributed or may contribute by way of joint
venture, business alliance or other business arrangement to
the development and growth of the Group.

The total number of shares issued and which may fall to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of the
Group (including both exercised or outstanding options) to
each participant in any 12-month period shall not exceed
1% of the issued share capital of the Company for the time
being (the “Individual Limit”). Any further grant of options
in excess of the Individual Limit in any 12-month period
up to and including the date of such further grant shall be
subject to the Shareholders’ approval in general meeting of
the Company. Where any grant of options to a substantial
Shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the
Company or any of their respective associates, would result
in the shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all
options already granted and to be granted (including options
exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such person in the
12-month period up to and including the date of such grant:
(i) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the shares in issue;
and (ii) having an aggregate value, based on the closing price
of the shares at the date of each grant, in excess of HK$5
million; such further grant of options must be approved by
the Shareholders in general meeting.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

An option may be exercised at any time during a period to
be determined and notified by the Directors to each grantee,
which period may commence on the date upon which the
offer for the grant of options is made but shall end in any
event not later than 10 years from the date of grant of
the option subject to the provisions for early termination
as set out in the Share Option Scheme. Unless otherwise
determined by the Directors and stated in the offer of the
grant of options to a grantee, there is no minimum period
required under the Share Option Scheme for the holding of
an option before it can be exercised.

A nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance
of the grant of an option. The subscription price for shares
under the Share Option Scheme will be a price determined by
the Directors, but shall not be less than the higher of (i) the
closing price of shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily
guotations sheet on the date of the offer of grant, which
must be a business day; (ii) the average closing price of shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations for the five
trading days immediately preceding the date of the offer of
grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the shares.

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 6
May 2011, the Company was also authorised to issue up to
242,459,969 shares (i.e. 121,229,984 consolidated shares
upon the share consolidation effective on 11 October 2013)
upon exercise of all options (excluding, for this purpose,
options which have lapsed in accordance with the terms
of the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
scheme of the Group) to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Group,
being 10% of the shares in issue on 6 May 2011 (the
“General Scheme Limit”). The Company may seek separate
Shareholders’ approval in general meeting to grant options
beyond the General Scheme Limit to participants specifically
identified by the Company before such approval is sought.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the maximum number of
shares to be issued upon the exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of the
Group must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the issued share
capital of the Company from time to time.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
During the year ended 31 December 2019, no option was
granted under the Share Option Scheme.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, 30,325,000
shares options were lapsed.

As at 31 December 2019, the number of Shares in respect of
which options had been granted and accepted and remained
outstanding under the Share Option Scheme was nil (2018:
303,325,000), representing approximately 0.00% (2018:
3.90%) of the Company’s issued share capital as at that date.

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
The Directors who held office during the year ended 31
December 2019 and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. So David Tat Man
Mr. Ng Cheuk Fan, Keith

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Yick Ting Fai, Jeffrey

Mr. Zhang Min

Ms. Yuen Wai Man

Each independent non-executive Director has signed an
appointment letter with the Company for a fixed term of two
years and may be terminated by not less than three months
prior notice in writing served by either party to the other
in accordance with the provisions set out in the respective
appointment letter.
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
(continued)

Each executive Director has entered into a service agreement
with the Company for an initial fixed term of two years
and will continue thereafter until terminated by not less
than six months’ notice in writing served by either party to
the other in accordance with the provisions set out in the
respective service agreement. Each of the executive Directors
may receive a discretionary bonus, the amount of which
will be determined by the Board at its absolute discretion
having regard to the operation results of the Company and
performance of the Directors.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at
the AGM has a service contract with the Company, which
is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation other than statutory
compensation.

INDEPENDENCE CONFIRMATION

The Company has received, from each of the independent
non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Yick Ting Fai, Jeffrey, Mr.
Zhang Min and Ms. Yuen Wai Man, an annual confirmation
of their independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the
GEM Listing Rules and the Company considers all of the
independent non-executive Directors are independent.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

There was no contract of significance to which the Company
or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted during or at the end of the year ended 31
December 2019.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS, CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors, chief executive
and the five highest paid individuals of the Group are set out
in Notes 13 and 14 to the consolidated financial statements,
respectively.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS OR
SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2019, the interests and short positions
of the Directors or the chief executive of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Future Ordinance (the “SFO")) which
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which they have taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or
which were required to be entered in the register maintained
by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or which
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules relating to securities transactions by the Directors, were
as follows:

Long position in the underlying shares in respect of the share
options of the Company (which were regarded as unlisted
physically settled equity derivatives) granted under the Share
Option Scheme adopted by the Company on 6 May 2011:
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Name grant per Share  Exercisable period 2019 the year the year the year 2019
(HKS)
R=2-n% R=2-n%
BRER -A-8 tZA=t-8
i3] RHAH ke &S WA ERRH ERfR ERER HRTR
(B7)
So David Tat Man 12 September 2016 110 13 September 2016 - 1,560,000 - - (1,560,000) -
BEX “5-~"¥NATZH 12 September 2019
“E-ENATZRE
“E-AENATZA
13 September 2017 - 1,560,000 - - (1,560,000) -
12 September 2019
2 t¥NAT=ZRE
ZE-NEAATZH
13 September 2018 - 2,080,000 - - (2,080,000) -

12 September 2019
ZE-\ENAT=HE
“3-hERATR
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS OR
SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING

SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY

ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS (continued)

Name

#é

Date of Exercise price
grant per Share

(HKS)

BRER
T8
(B7)

RAAH

Exercisable period

T8

EERBETHRAEBRAQAHE[HE
BEEzRG HERORES 2ERS
KA ()

Outstanding
as at

1 January
2019

RZB-hE

—A-H
HATE

Granted
during
the year

AR

Exercised
during
the year

FATE

Lapsed
during
the year

FREM

Outstanding
asat
31 December
2019

RZB-hE

tZA=1-H
HATTE

Ng Cheuk Fan, Keith
REN

Yick Ting Fai, Jeffrey
HEB

Zhang Min
R

Yuen Wai Man

REH

12 September 2016 1.10
“E-REAATZA

12 September 2016 1.10
“E-R"ENATZA

12 September 2016 1.10
- REAATZR

12 September 2016 1.10
“F-R"ENATZA

13 September 2016 -

12 September 2019
“Z-R"ENAT=RE

ZE-NEAATZH
13 September 2017 -

12 September 2019
“T-tENAT=RE

“Z-NEAATZH
13 September 2018 -

12 September 2019
“E-\EAAT=RE

ZZ-NENATZH

13 September 2016 -

12 September 2019
“E-RENATZRE

ZZ-NEAATZH
13 September 2017 -

12 September 2019
“Z-tENAT=RE

ZE-NEAATZA
13 September 2018 -

12 September 2019
“T-/\ENAT=ZHE

“F-hERATR

13 September 2016 -

12 September 2019
“Z-R"ENAT=RE

“E-AFAATCR
13 September 2017 -

12 September 2019
“E-rENATZRE

“E-NFAATZR
13 September 2018 -

12 September 2019
“Z-\ENATZHE

ZE-NEAATZA

13 September 2016 -

12 September 2019
“E-RENATZRE

ZZ-NEAATZH
13 September 2017 -

12 September 2019
“EtENATZRE

ZE-NEAATZH
13 September 2018 -

12 September 2019
ZZ-\ENAT=RZE

“Z-NEAATZH
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1,200,000

1,200,000

1,600,000

150,000

150,000

200,000

150,000

150,000

200,000

150,000

150,000

200,000

(1,200,000)

(1,200,000)

(1600,000)

(150,000)

(150,000)

(200,000)

(150,000)

(150,000)

(200,000)

(150,000

(150,000)

(200,000)



—_— e

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S RIGHTS TO
ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBT SECURITIES

Save as disclosed under the section “"DIRECTORS’ AND
CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE
COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS” above,
at no time during the Reporting Period, there subsisted
arrangements to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
is a party, being arrangements whose subjects are, or one
of whose objects is, to enable any of the directors or the
chief executive of the Company to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in, or debt securities (including
debentures) of the Company or any other body corporate,
and none of the directors of the Company, their spouse or
their children under the age of 18, had any right to subscribe
for the securities of the Company during the year ended 31
December 2019.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

So far as the Directors are aware of and having made due
enquiries, as at 31 December 2019, the following parties,
other than the Directors or the chief executive of the
Company, had interests or short positions directly or indirectly
in the shares and underlying shares of the Company disclosed
to the Company under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO or recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEHE

EERFRTRAEREROHELR
SRR

B EX TEFERETETBABERARARSHAEM
FREE R B 2 B A7 ~ BRI S (B 55 2 # s 3K
B —EEREEIN RS AR AT AR

BMERRAREEAMBRRZEFTIHNE
o MmZELHNEER (LEFLHNE T
Z—R)BEARABEFHEBTHRABRERBA
AR R SATEMEA BB HEHE S
(BRES) MERNEG  BARBEMES-

BENEBARERAM T RN TFEREE=
E-NFTZA=T—RIFEMREERERN
RBBEARRAIHRES

FERR

REFMALEFELEESH R_F—hLF
TZA=T—H U TAL(KARAEFHE
ZITHA BERIN RA R BB K AR R B 10 Bk
BUATAREEZ M E R FEXVEEFH2K3
72 EMEX A AR AR R SRR SR AN R BIRIEE
F R ERDIEIBCHRFEZELMOERE K
BZERIORR
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (continued) FERE(F)

Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of RAQXNTREOEHEBERAG ZHFA

the Company:

Number of Number of
shares of shares of Number of Approximate
the Company the Company underlying percentage of
(Personal (Corporate shares of the issued
Name of shareholders Interests) Interests) the Company Total share capital
XARRGBEE XRATRHEE EUN EEBRITRAEAH
RREM (fEA#ER) (ARIfER) HERGHA By BREDLL
(Note 1)
(MEE)

Ng Wai Kwok 99,980,000 - - 99,980,000 10.72%

Tin Yuen Sin Carol 54,540,000 - - 54,540,000 5.85%

&

So Chin Ming (Note 2) 48,316,000 - - 48,316,000 5.18%

So Chin Ming ( Fi#5F2)

Notes: P&

1. As at 31 December 2019, the Company’s issued 1. RZZE—-—hF+ZRA=+—HB K27 E
ordinary share capital was HK$9,325,524.30 divided into BT EBRARA /9,325,524 308 7T 0 B
932,552,430 Shares of HK$0.01 each. 932,552,430/ & A I {H0.01/8 7T 2 B 5 ©

2. So Chin Ming is uncle of So David Tat Man, an executive 2. So Chin Ming/ 78 2 RI#11T T S &k 3% X AR
director of the Company. o
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EEEHE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (continued) FTERSE (@)

Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of RAEATROREERD ZHE: ()

the Company: (continued)

Save as disclosed above, the Company is not aware of any B ENEEEIN R_E—hE+_A=+—
other person, other than a director or the chief executive B AARWAMEEEREMALT (BAA
of the Company, who held interests or short positions in FEENTHRAEHRIN) RARD TR, R EE R
the shares and underlying shares of the Company as at 31 DHEERIEE S LRI EED E3361F2 8N
December 2019 as recorded in the register required to be AAGIFEZELMANEZRIAE -

kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

REPURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED o BofHE LtmHES

SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2019, neither the REE-_ZE—NE+_A=+—BLEE &K
Company, nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, NI EEEHB AT W EES B E

redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities. RANTEM FTHEE

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS BERXS

1. Continuing Connected Transactions — sale and 1. BERESS - HERSHEEHRER
distribution of grocery food products
On 4 February 2016, Chan Kee and Right Ocean R-ZT—RE_AMNA R EE 55
entered into the Sole Distributorship Agreement B —SEERE RREREEEE
whereas Chan Kee has agreed to appoint Right BEAEE—LRBROMEE NEE R
Ocean as its sole and exclusive distributor for sale PN & [E HE o tezEEm ([
and distribution of the Products within the territories EZTG]) e

of Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan (the “Sale
Transactions”).

Right Ocean is indirectly held as to 51% by the BSEANARIBERES % NEaI LT
Company and 49% by Ms. Yoo, Chan Kee (90% BEA9% o BIEGEM 38 B 520%E -
held by Mr. Chan, the spouse of Ms. Yoo) is therefore BREC (FRET T 2 BLMBPREAEFF B 90% )
connected person at subsidiary level of the Company AmMAKNATINIE AT EmZEiEA
under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules and T RE—DEEEIE N RET e
the Sale Transactions contemplated under the Sole TEERANT ZEERERS AT
Distributorship Agreement constitute continuing AGEMLETIRBIF20EEBEH - N
connected transactions on the part of the Company LREEERIRT

subject to reporting, announcement and annual
review requirements of Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing
Rules.

China Eco-Farming Limited FEIBE L REFR AT 43
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued) BEXS (F)

1. Continuing Connected Transactions — sale and 1. BERERS - HERSHEEHRER
distribution of grocery food products (continued) (&)

TEGS

B~ E

The Master Agreement
The Sole Distributorship Agreement

Date: 25 March 2019
HEHE: —E-NF=A=-+HH
Parties: (i) Chan Kee
HESWE (i) PR AT
(i) Right Ocean
iy BB
Duration: Commencing from 4 February 2019 and continue for a period of 3 years

FRERFAD

B-ZE-NF-ANBHRG HER/Y3F

Subject matter: The Sale Transactions

FEFE: HER S
Annual Caps: The Sale Transactions will be subject to the following annual caps:
FEER: HERXZHHAMNA TIFELR:

The aggregate amounts payable by Right Ocean to Chan Kee for the Sale
Transactions shall not exceed HK$12 million, HK$15 million and HK$18 million
for the years ending 31 December 2019, 31 December 2020 and 31 December
2021, respectively.

BHE_ZE-NF+_A=+—RB 2E_TF+_A=+—BRZT_—
TZA=Z+T-HLEFE BERBHEXFIERNTRINELHE  DAITF
HBiB1I2EEEBIT 15EEBTMNIBAEETT

44

Transaction amount:

For the year ended 31 December 2019: approximately HK$3.2 million

RHTH: RBZE_Z-NFT_A=+t—BILFE: L3288
Terms: On normal commercial terms and at rates no less favourable from independent
iRk third parties in respect of the transactions similar to the Sale Transactions.

Details were set out in the Company’s announcement
dated 25 March 2019.

Detailed payment terms are specified in individual contracts governing
particular transactions.
BR—BRBEARERMBTIERNBLE=TTRHER
MERREBRERZOER S KT ETE -

BRI EE A

HBHRARREHR -_T-NF=A
il o N S OMN
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

1.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEHE

BEXS (&)

Continuing Connected Transactions — sale and 1. BERERS - HERSHEHEHRER

distribution of grocery food products (continued) (&)

Definitions B

“Chan Kee” Chan Kee Holdings Limited

[FRAC 5 GERE LRSI YNC]

“Products” various products being packaged ramen and udon noodles
sold by Chan Kee and purchased by and to be distributed by
Right Ocean

[ZEEMm] ¥ HARCSHERHEEBERDENSESRNARSLME
an

“Right Ocean” Right Ocean Asia Limited

[ B ¥ BUBEMARRAR]

“Sole Distributorship Agreement”

[ — 0 g = B

the agreement entered into between Chan Kee and
Right Ocean dated 25 March 2019 in respect of the Sale
Transactions

Rl EREEX IR ARS T NAF=A-1THAF]

ST

The above transactions have complied with the
requirements for continuing connected transactions
under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Directors are of the opinion that the above
transactions were conducted in the ordinary course of
business of the Group.

Pursuant to the Listing Rules, the Independent Non-
executive Directors have reviewed the continuing
connected transactions set out above and have
confirmed that these continuing connected
transactions were entered into (i) in the ordinary and
usual course of business of the Group; (ii) on normal
commercial terms or on terms no less favourable
to the Group than terms available to or from
independent third parties; (iii) in accordance with the
relevant agreements governing them on terms that
are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Company and its Shareholders as a whole; and (iv)
have not exceeded the relevant maximum amount
capped in accordance with the announcements of the
Company dated 25 March 2019.

Lt 5ERKAGEM ETARAIE208 18
THRERERZHHER-

RIELEHRA BUIFATEFECEH
FRBERER S N ERREHEYW
BRXGHORNARELEERAEERBA
BAFIAL: (NEEFBRERITER
AEBGETBEIE =R BILE=T
R ZAEIRETL: (iNRIBEREZER S
ZHEBHENREATFEERTEALNT
K E 2 BBR M 2 RRET L R (VAR
BARRRAHA-—T-NF=ZA-tH
By BB HAERS LR -
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

1. Continuing Connected Transactions — sale and

distribution of grocery food products (continued)
Definitions (continued)
Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited, the Company’s
auditors, were engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with
Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 (Revised)"Assurance Engagements Other Than
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information”
and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under
the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Asian
Alliance (HK) CPA Limited have issued their unqualified
letter containing their findings and conclusions in
with respect of the continuing connected transactions
disclosed above by the Group in accordance with
the GEM Listing Rule 20.54. A copy of the auditors’
letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock
Exchange.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions during the year
ended 31 December 2019 are set out in Note 49 to the
consolidated financial statements.

COMPETING INTERESTS

None of the Directors or controlling shareholders of the
Company or any of their respective associates (as defined
in the GEM Listing Rules) had any business or interest that
compete with the business of the Group or has or may have
any other conflict of interest with the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2019.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES
Details of the retirement benefits schemes are set out in Note
44 to the consolidated financial statements.

China Eco-Farming Limited FEIB ¥ £ REFRA 7
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company's Bye-laws although there is no restriction against
such under the laws in Bermuda.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Company's corporate governance practices are
set out in the “Corporate Governance Report” section of this
report.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE

Details of the Company’s environmental, social and
governance practices are set out in the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Report” section of this report.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees and senior
management of the Group is set up by the remuneration
committee of the Company on the basis of their merit,
qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the
remuneration committee of the Company, having regard
to market competitiveness, individual performance and
achievement.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an
incentive to Directors and eligible employees, details of the
scheme is set out under the section headed “Share Option
Scheme” above and also in Note 43 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the
Company has maintained a sufficient public float as required
under the GEM Listing Rules during the year ended 31
December 2019 and up to the date of this report.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEHE

BrRBEEHE
BEAREAVABEHEELEEE LIRS
HEZR R A] 2 2 ) 40 Bl R 4B A ] 12 5T R B A 1
o
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BRARRIEREBFRIFRIANARE

[EERERRE] —&he

RE HERER
BRAARRARE H@RERERNFFIRN
AmERE -G hEAHRE] -

I BUR
AR EIEE RS REREOHIEE AR
ABHEARREARE AERENTY -

SEENFNEARRIFHEZEENEERITS
B EARREKERETE -

ARPDRMBRETE ERYEZERAE
REEHRE BT EIMFBEN EXX T8
Pergrt &) —E0 KRR B R AR M E43 o

RHANBRERE
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee (the "Audit
Committee”) on 31 July 2001 with written terms of reference
in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules. The primary
duties of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise
the financial reporting process and internal control and risk
management systems of the Group. The Audit Committee
currently comprises three independent non-executive
Directors; namely Ms. Yuen Wai Man (Chairman), Mr. Yick
Ting Fai, Jeffrey and Mr. Zhang Min.

The audited financial results of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2019 have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee.

AUDITOR

Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited (”“Asian Alliance”) was
appointed as auditor of the Company on 30 November 2018
and subsequently re-appointed at the last general meeting
held on 23 May 2019. The consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2019 by Asian Alliance. A
resolution for the re-appointment of Asian Alliance as auditor
of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

By Order of the Board
So David Tat Man
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 11 May 2020
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INTRODUCTION

The board of Directors (the “Board”) and the management
of the Company are committed to the maintenance of good
corporate governance practices and procedures.

The corporate governance principles of the Company
emphasise a quality Board, sound internal controls,
transparency and accountability to all shareholders of the
Company.

The Company has complied with the applicable code
provisions on Corporate Governance Code and Corporate
Governance Report (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix
15 to the GEM Listing Rules throughout the year under
review except for the following deviation:

The code provision A.2.1 of the Code provides, among
others, the roles of chairman and chief executive should
be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. Throughout the year ended 31 December 2019,
the Company did not appoint a chairman. The Board will
keep reviewing the structure of the Board from time to time.
If candidate with suitable knowledge, skills and experience
is identified, the Company will make appointment to fill the
post of chairman as appropriate.

Under code provision A.2.7 of the Code, the chairman of
board should at least annually hold meetings with the non-
executive directors (including independent non-executive
directors) without the executive directors present. As the
Company does not have the Chairman, no such meeting was
held in this regard for the year ended 31 December 2019.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the rules set out in Rules 5.48
to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules as its code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by Directors. Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors, the Company was not aware
of any non-compliance with the required standard as set out
in such code of conduct regarding securities transactions by
the Directors throughout the year ended 31 December 2019.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

AN S
ERERRE

5IE
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ARRZ bEERRAZESEENESTE
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FTEEFE ARBUERETEIFE -EFSH
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TR ZTFAHEXFEA2TERTE EFEER
BHEATESTRENBERLN RO SFEIFNR
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KM BESIELHARENCE BARTM
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
CREARE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board currently comprises five Directors, two are
executive Directors and three are independent non-executive
Directors.

The Board members for the year ended 31 December 2019
and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. So David Tat Man
Mr. Ng Cheuk Fan, Keith

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Yick Ting Fai, Jeffrey

Mr. Zhang Min

Ms. Yuen Wai Man

The Directors’ biographical information are set out on pages
5 to 7 in this report. All executive Directors have given
sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Group.
Each executive Director has sufficient experience to hold the
position so as to carry out his duties effectively and efficiently.
There is no relationship among the members of the Board.

The Company is committed to having a diversity of the
Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy. The
Company considers that having a Board with diverse culture
would assure Directors that their views are heard, their
concerns are attended to and they serve in an environment
where bias, discrimination and harassment on any matter
are not tolerated. The Board has adopted a board diversity
policy which sets out the approach to achieve diversity
on the Board. Board appointments are based on merit
and candidates are considered against objective criteria,
having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board
including, but not limited to, gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2019, the Board
consisted of three independent non-executive Directors who
have appropriate and sufficient experience and qualification
to carry out their duties so as to protect the interests of the
shareholders of the Company. One of the independent non-
executive Directors has appropriate professional qualification
or accounting or related financial management expertise
as required by Rule 5.05(2) of the GEM Listing Rules.
Each independent non-executive Director has signed an
appointment letter with the Company for an initial fixed
term of two years and may be terminated by not less than
three months prior notice in writing served by either party to
the other or in accordance with the provisions set out in the
respective appointment letter.

The Board considers that all of the independent non-
executive Directors are independent and have received from
each of them the annual confirmation of independence
required by Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Board is responsible for approving and monitoring of
the Group's overall strategies and policies; approving of
business plans; evaluating the performance of the Group and
overseeing the management. The Board focuses on overall
strategies and policies with particular attention paid to the
growth and financial performance of the Group.

The Board delegates day-to-day operations of the Group
to the executive Directors and senior management, while
reserving certain key matters for its approval. Decisions of
the Board are communicated to the management through
executive Directors who have attended Board meetings.

The Company has arranged insurance coverage on Directors’
and officers’ liabilities in respect of any legal actions which
may be taken against its Directors and officers in the
execution and discharge of their duties or in relation thereto.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

AN S
ERERRE

EE2 (F)
REBE-_Z-NAE+-_A=1+—RHI-BEAF
B EEeh-RBUIFRITETER FF
HEABEBERKRTREBRARITER - LUR
BANGRENS HA— BB IERITES
EHGEM E R AIE5.05Q)EMRENAEER
XERASHNAANBEREE XN - 558
VHRITEEEDHBARARRE—MNEEIE ¥
FEFEABRAME MEF—FARAES—FH%
HARVPR=ZEAR 2 ELEABNIBEBERES
BEEEHE 2 G T UKL

EEeRAEMBBIUFNTESTHABILA
1 WANGEM L T R Bl 5550914 FT 4R 7 £ J&
BERAZBIMFEERE -

EEREMAENERAEE 2 BBRIE LK
RHERBE BRI AKEZRRLEE
ERE-EFEEEERRMABE K
EREEZBER LT HERIR -

EXEeRBITEERLASAEEEBETASE
ZEEgE BEREETEEEH TESSH
K -BEEEEBLFEFTSTRINTES
BEBEFEIRETERE-

ARBEREFRTRABBEEERFRR &
ERERBETERE AR EER A e 2 AR
MR AR E -

China Eco-Farming Limited FEIBE L REFR AT
Annual Report 2019 == — AL FF iR

51



52

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
CREARE

BOARD MEETINGS AND DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE
The Board meets regularly at least four times a year to review
the financial and operating performance of the Group.

Details of the attendance record of each Director at the
meetings of the Board and general meetings of the Company
are as follows:

EEESEREBHER
ESEEOEEEHRTNAEH UEHA
SEHBREERSR

BEEFNARREFTEERMBERRG 2LE
RCERINT

Attendance of

HE
Board General
Meetings Meetings
Exged RRRE
Executive Directors BITES

Mr. So David Tat Man FRIEXSEE 9/9 171
Mr. Ng Cheuk Fan, Keith RENLEAE 9/9 11

Independent Non-executive Directors BYEHITES
Mr. Yick Ting Fai, Jeffrey SREB St 9/9 11
Mr. Zhang Min wRELHE 9/9 11
Ms. Yuen Wai Man rREFRL 9/9 171

BOARD PRACTICES

Apart from the four regular Board meetings of the year
ended 31 December 2019, the Board met on other occasions
when a board-level decision on a particular matter was
required. The Directors received detailed agenda and
documents prior to the meetings of the Board to ensure that
the Directors were able to make informed decisions regarding
the matters discussed in the meetings. All Directors may
access the advice, regulatory updates on governance and
regulatory matters from professional parties if necessary.

The Company Secretary and the company secretarial team are
responsible to take and keep minutes of all Board meetings
and committee meetings and ensure compliance with the
procedures of the Board meetings and general meetings
of the Company. Draft minutes are normally circulated
to Directors for comment within a reasonable time after
each meeting and the final version is open for Directors’
inspection.
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TRAINING FOR DIRECTORS

Each newly appointed Director is provided with necessary
induction and information to ensure that he/she has a proper
understanding of the Company’s operations and businesses
as well as his/her responsibilities under the relevant statutes,
laws, rules and regulations.

The Company provides regular updates and presentations
on changes and developments relating to the Group's
business and the legislative and regulatory environments to
the Directors at the Board meetings. Trainings conducted by
professional service provider regarding Listing Rules’ updates
on corporate governance have been provided to the Directors
to ensure a high standard of corporate governance is upheld
and that the Directors possess up-to-date information to
discharge their duties.

The Directors are committed to complying with Code
Provision A.6.5 of the CG Code on Directors’ training.
All Directors have participated in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills and provided a record of training they received for the
year ended 31 December 2019 to the Company.

All of the Directors have either attended seminars organised
by external professionals relevant to the business or directors’
duties or read professional materials publicated by regulators
or professional bodies for the year ended 31 December 2019.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

The positions and roles of chairman of the Board and chief
executive of the Company should be held and performed
separately by two individuals to ensure their respective
independence, accountability and responsibility. During
the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company did not
appoint a chairman or a chief executive.

The Board will keep reviewing the current structure from
time to time. If candidate with suitable knowledge, skills and
experience is identified, the Company will make appointment
to fill the posts as appropriate.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS

The remuneration committee of the Company (the
“Remuneration Committee”) had been formed in 2005
pursuant to a resolution passed by the Board. Following the
re-domicile of the Company from the Cayman Islands into
Bermuda in October 2007, it was re-established pursuant
to a resolution passed by the Board on 15 February 2008
and specific terms of reference were adopted. As at the
date of this report, the Remuneration Committee comprises
three members, all are independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Yick Ting Fai, Jeffrey, Ms. Yuen Wai Man and Mr.
Zhang Min. Mr. Yick Ting Fai, Jeffrey is the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee.

The role and function written in the terms of reference of
the Remuneration Committee are no less exacting terms
than the Code. The Remuneration Committee makes
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure for all remuneration of the Directors and senior
management and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy.
The Remuneration Committee also reviews and recommends
the Board on its proposals relating to the remuneration
of the executive Directors with reference to the Board's
corporate goal and objectives. No Directors or any of his/
her associates can be involved in deciding his/her own
remuneration. Factors such as salaries paid by comparable
companies, time commitment and responsibilities of the
Directors, employment conditions elsewhere in the Group
and desirability of performance-based remuneration are
considered by the Remuneration Committee to determine
the remuneration package of individual executive Directors
including benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation
payments including any compensation payable for loss or
termination of their office or appointment; or relating to
dismissal or removal for misconduct to ensure that it is
consistent with contractual terms and is otherwise fair, not
excessive, reasonable and appropriate.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Frequency of Meetings and Attendance

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Remuneration
Committee of the Company held one meeting to review
the remuneration packages of all Directors and senior
management and to advise on remuneration packages of
newly appointed Directors. Details of the attendance of the
meeting are as follows:
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Attendance
Name of members REER IR
Mr. Yick Ting Fai, Jeffrey (Chairman) SREBSE (F/E) 1”1
Ms. Yuen Wai Man REHLL 171
Mr. Zhang Min wRELHE 11

NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS

The nomination committee of the Company (the
“Nomination Committee”) had been formed in 2005
pursuant to a resolution passed by the Board. Following
the re-domicile of the Company from the Cayman Islands
into Bermuda in October 2007, the Nomination Committee
was re-established pursuant to a resolution passed by the
Board on 15 February 2008 and specific terms of reference
were adopted. As at the date of this report, the Nomination
Committee comprises three members, of which all of them
are independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Yick
Ting Fai, Jeffrey, Mr. Zhang Min and Ms. Yuen Wai Man. Mr.
Zhang Min is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The functions of the Nomination Committee are reviewing
and supervising the structure, size and composition of the
Board, identifying qualified individuals to become members
of the Board, assessing the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors and making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors
and senior management.

Where vacancies on the Board exist, the Nomination
Committee will carry out the selection process by making
reference to the skills, experience, professional knowledge,
personal integrity and time commitments of the proposed
candidates, including the independence status in the case of
an independent non-executive Director, the Company’s needs
and other relevant statutory requirements and regulations.
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NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS (continued)

The Board has also adopted a board diversity policy which
sets out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board.
Accordingly, selection of candidates to the Board is based
on a range of measurable objectives, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience and qualifications, skills, knowledge
and length of service, having due regard to the Company’s
own business model and specific needs from time to time.
With the existing Board members coming from a variety
of business and professional background, the Company
considers that the Board possesses a balance of skills,
experience, expertise and diversity of perspectives appropriate
to the requirements of the Company’s business.

Frequency of Meetings and Attendance

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Nomination
Committee held one meeting to review the composition,
size and structure of the Board, to assess the independence
of the independent non-executive Directors and to make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment of
Directors. Details of the attendance of the meetings are as
follows:

EEZRA (#)
EXENCEMEFTEXNBZTENBR &
TEAEEREEFEXNB L TTIEM TR - FHit
EBEESFEKE 2REAR S AZHA G
EERAEE BREEMENMER - Fi&k Xt
FEEER BEEBRNER K2 MBLR
BEH ARERBARAARGNEHEA LT
ROABFE - ENRBEEERERETF
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Bz iEe K BEREAZ TR UEAXR
NCIE SV
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ZHFEFBWT

Attendance
Name of members REEE IR
Mr. Zhang Min (Chairman) RERLE(FE) 11
Ms. Yuen Wai Man REH L 1/1
Mr. Yick Ting Fai, Jeffrey SREE 1”1

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”) on 31 July 2001 with written terms of reference
in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules. The primary duties
of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise the
financial reporting process and risk management and internal
control systems of the Group. As at the date of this report,
the Audit Committee comprises three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Ms. Yuen Wai Man, Mr. Yick Ting
Fai, Jeffrey and Mr. Zhang Min. Ms. Yuen Wai Man is the
chairman of the Audit Committee.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)

The responsibilities of the Audit Committee include making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of the external auditors and
to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement
of the external auditors, and any questions of resignation
or dismissal of such auditors; reviewing the quarterly,
interim and annual reports and accounts of the Group; and
supervising the financial reporting process and effectiveness
of risk management and internal control systems of the
Group. The Audit Committee had during the year performed
such functions and reviewed the unaudited quarterly and
interim results and audited annual results for the year ended
31 December 2019.

Frequency of Meetings and Attendance

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Audit Committee
of the Company held four meetings to review and supervise
the financial reporting process, and corporate governance
and internal control review and make recommendation to the
Board on reappointment of the external auditor. They had,
in conjunction with the external auditor of the Company,
reviewed the annual results of the Group and recommended
to the Board for their consideration and approval. The Audit
Committee of the Company was of the opinion that the
preparation of such results complied with the applicable
accounting standards and requirements and that adequate
disclosures have been made.

Details of the attendance of the Company’s Audit Committee
meetings are as follows:
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Attendance
Name of members REARR HERE
Ms. Yuen Wai Man (Chairman) rREGRL(E£E) 5/5
Mr. Yick Ting Fai, Jeffrey SNBSS AE 5/5
Mr. Zhang Min REESE 4/5
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is also responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties with its written terms of reference as set
out below:

a) to develop and review the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance;

b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

Q) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to
employees and Directors; and

e) to review the Company’'s compliance with the
corporate governance code and disclosure in the
Corporate Governance Report.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

An amount of approximately HK$1,034,000 (2018:
approximately HK$925,000) was charged to the Group's
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December
2019. Remuneration to the auditors of the Company, Asian
Alliance (HK) CPA Limited, amounted to HK$700,000 for
the provision of annual audit services for the year ended 31
December 2019. A resolution for re-appointment of Asian
Alliance (HK) CPA Limited as auditors of the Company will
be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
The Board concurs with the views of the Audit Committee in
determining the re-appointment of auditors of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to prepare the
Group's account for each financial period to give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the results
and cash flows for that period. In preparing the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2019, the Board has selected suitable accounting
policies and applied them consistently; made judgments and
estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable. The Directors
are responsible for taking all reasonable and necessary steps
to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and
detect fraud and other irregularities.

The auditors of the Company acknowledge their
responsibilities in the independent auditor’s report on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2019.

COMPANY SECRETARY

For the year ended 31 December 2019, Mr. Ng Cheuk Fan,
Keith was the Company Secretary. Pursuant to Rule 5.15
of the GEM Listing Rules, Mr. Ng has taken no less than 15
hours of relevant professional training during the year ended
31 December 2019.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Right to convene special general meeting

The Directors, on the requisition of shareholder(s) of the
Company holding at the date of the deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the
Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company shall at all times have the rights, by written
requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary, to require
a special general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition.

The requisition must state the purposes of the meeting, and
must be signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the
registered office of the Company in Bermuda and its principal
place of business in Hong Kong for the attention of the
Company Secretary.
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If the Directors do not within 21 days from the date of the NEEAEESHELEFHE2IARRELER
deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene a meeting, EZHes lZEERATATERHSS 6
the requisitionists, may themselves convene a meeting, R EHE ez SN Ll BEREETRE B &
but any meeting so convened shall not be held after the B ERTT o

expiration of two months from the said date.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (continued)

Right to put enquiries to the Board

Shareholders have the right to put enquiries to the Board.
All enquiries shall be in writing and sent by post to the head
office of the Company in Hong Kong or the registered office
in Bermuda, or by e-mail to info@chinaeco-farming.com for
the attention of the Company Secretary.

Right to put forward proposals at general meetings

On the requisition in writing of either (i) any number
of shareholder(s) of the Company representing not less
than one-twentieth of the total voting rights of all the
shareholders having at the date of the requisition a right to
vote at the meeting to which the requisition relates; or (ii)
not less than 100 shareholders, the Company shall, at the
expense of the requisitionists: (a) to give to shareholders of
the Company entitled to receive notice of the next annual
general meeting notice of any resolution which may properly
be moved and is intended to be moved at that meeting; (b)
to circulate to shareholders entitled to have notice of any
general meeting sent to them any statement of not more
than one thousand words with respect to the matter referred
to in any proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with
at that meeting.

The requisition must be signed by the requisitionists and
deposited at the head office and principal place of business
in Hong Kong of the Company for the attention of the
Company Secretary.
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INVESTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS RELATIONS

The Board recognises the importance of maintaining clear,
timely and effective communication with the shareholders
of the Company and investors. The Company has disclosed
all necessary information to its shareholders and investors
in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules. Moreover, the
Board maintains close communications with the shareholders
and investors of the Company through a number of formal
communication channels which include (i) the publication of
the Company’'s latest business developments and financial
performance through its annual, interim and quarterly
reports, notices, announcements and circulars; (ii) the general
meetings providing an opportunity for the shareholders of the
Company to raise comments and exchanging views with the
Board; and (iii) the Company’s website provides an effective
communication platform between the Company and its
investors.

During the year of 2019, there has been no significant
changes in the Company’s constitutional documents.

POLICY ON PAYMENT OF DIVIDENDS

The Company has adopted a policy on payment of dividends
(“Dividend Policy”) on 30 November 2018 pursuant to
E.1.5 in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules’ Corporate
Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report with
effective from 1 January 2019.

The Policy sets out principles to determine the amount that
can be distributed to the Shareholders as dividend. The Policy
and the declaration and/or payment of future dividends
under the Policy are subject to the final determination
of the Board that the Policy and the declaration and/or
payment of dividends would be in the best interests of the
Shareholders and the Company. The Board will use their best
endeavours to maintain a balance between the Shareholders’
expectations and prudent capital management with a
sustainable dividend policy.
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POLICY ON PAYMENT OF DIVIDENDS (continued)

The Company has always strived to enhance the
Shareholders’ value. The Directors believe that distributing
dividends to the Shareholders is an important method to
create value for them.

The Policy includes the following parameters/factors to be
considered by the Board for declaration of dividend from time
to time:

Circumstances under which the Shareholders may or
may not expect dividend

Il. Financial parameters/factors that shall be considered
for declaration of dividend

Il Internal and external factors that shall be considered
for declaration of dividend

IV. Utilisation of retained earnings
V. Multiple classes of Shares

The Board will review the Policy from time to time and may
exercise its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend
and/or modify the Policy at any time as it deems fit and
necessary. There is no assurance that dividends will be paid in
any particular amount for any given period.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

Goals and objectives

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the risk
management and internal control systems and reviewing
Such risk
management and internal control systems are designed for
managing risks rather than eliminating the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable
and not absolute assurance against material misstatement
or loss.

their effectiveness on an ongoing basis.

Risk management policy has been established to formalize
the risk management of the Group, to build up a standard
and effective risk management system, improve the
ability of risk prevention, so as to ensure the Group is
operating in a safety and steady environment, the operation
management level could be increased and the Group's
operational strategy and target could be achieved. The
current practices will be reviewed and updated regularly to
follow the latest practices in corporate governance.

Main features of the risk management and internal
control systems

The Board resolved to delegate its responsibilities (with
relevant authorities) of risk management and internal
control to the Audit Committee. Terms of reference of
the Audit Committee included the followings: (i) review
the Group’s financial controls, internal control and risk
management systems; (ii) discuss the risk management
system and internal control systems with management to
ensure that management has performed its duty to have an
effective internal control systems; and (iii) to consider major
investigation findings on risk management and internal
control matters as delegated by the Board or on its own
initiative and management'’s response to these findings.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

Main features of the risk management and internal
control systems (continued)

The Audit Committee (on behalf of the Board) oversees
management in the design, implementation and monitoring
of the risk management and internal control systems for the
year ended 31 December 2019.

To ensure the efficient and effective operation of the
business and operations, relevant internal control policies
and procedures have been set up for safeguarding assets
against unauthorized use or disposition, controlling over
capital expenditure, maintaining proper accounting records
and ensuring the reliability of financial information used for
business and publication. These policies and procedures are
monitored and reviewed from time to time and updated
where necessary. All employees are made aware of the
policies and procedures in place, with understanding
enhanced by staff communications and training.

The Board has reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems,
at least quarterly, through the Audit Committee.

Process Used to Identify, Evaluate and Manage
Significant Risks

As a routine procedure and part of the risk management
and internal control systems, executive Directors and
management would meet on monthly basis to review the
financial and operating performance of each department.
The management of the key operating subsidiaries is
also required to keep executive Directors updated of
material development of the department’s business and
implementation of the strategies and policies set by the
Board on regular basis.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

Process Used to Identify, Evaluate and Manage
Significant Risks (continued)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
CREARE

R EERAEE (&)

Al REREARBRRAANER ()

The processes used to identify, evaluate and manage REBEER - TEREBEANRRFFANRBIE
significant risks by the Group are summarised as follows: BEat a0

Risk Identification

a8 5 I B

o Identifies risks that may potentially affect the key o PR AR EEER LKL TE R

processes of the Group's business and operations. BAEBEZEZMRER -
Risk Assessment AL/ B

° Assesses the risks identified by using the assessment ° F B E R 2 s R B s R

criteria developed by the management; and

[+ &

° Considers the impact on the business and the ° EEWEBNTE L HIR BT ZEH ]

likelihood of their occurrence.

Risk Response

BElE

] fE L

° Prioritizes the risks by comparing the results of the ° FRANRERE G SR ASRE B E

risk assessment; and TR Rk

o Determines the risk management strategies and o ErEREREEREE R ASEEEIEE A
internal control processes to prevent, avoid or TERT - @ SO B 2 E m R
mitigate the risks.
Risk Monitoring and Reporting B E R

o Performs ongoing and periodic monitoring of the o BELTHREREREG  WEFRCDEEE
risk and ensures that appropriate internal control FEHY R ZRES A RE

processes are in place;

° Revises the risk management strategies and internal . RIE R HIB{E A & A& BEET R
control processes in case of any significant change of EEER NN S AmTE &

situation; and

o Report the results of risk monitoring to the o THREEEMNES2ERERELHD

management and the Board regularly.

CER
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

Process Used to Identify, Evaluate and Manage
Significant Risks (continued)

The Board has in place an internal audit function within
the Group as required under code provision C.2.5 of the
Corporate Governance Code. The Group has engaged an
independent professional adviser (the “Internal Control
Adviser”) to conduct the annual review of the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems for
the year ended 31 December 2019. The scope of review
included revenue and receipt cycle, expenditure cycle, cash
management and treasury cycle, and financial reporting
cycle for the Company and two of our operating subsidiary.
Internal Control Adviser has reported major findings
and areas for improvement to the Audit Committee. All
recommendations from Internal Control Adviser would be
followed up closely to ensure that they are implemented
within a reasonable period of time. The Group therefore
considered that the Group's risk management and internal
control processes are adequate to meet the needs of the
Company in its current business environment and that
nothing has come to its attention to cause the Board to
believe the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems are inadequate.

Inside Information Disclosure Policy

An inside information disclosure policy is in place to
ensure potential inside information being captured and
confidentiality of such information being maintained until
consistent and timely disclosure are made in accordance
with the GEM Listing Rules.

On behalf of the Board
So David Tat Man
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 11 May 2020
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G A ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

3

ABOUT THIS REPORT

The purpose of this Environmental, Social and Governance
Report (the "ESG Report’) is not only to communicate
the sustainability strategies, management approaches
and performances of China Eco-Farming Limited and its
subsidiaries (collectively known as the “Group” or “we")
with the stakeholders, but also strengthen the Group’s
understanding towards their ongoing activities in sustainable
development of the society and the environment as a whole.
This ESG Report summarizes the efforts and achievements
made by the Group in corporate social responsibility and
sustainable development.

Sustainability Approach

We embed sustainability into the Group’s core principles
by operating with transparency and integrity, fostering our
Group's culture, building a resilient business, operating
responsibly and creating shared value with our stakeholders.

Across the Group, we work proactively and diligently to
monitor and reduce our environmental footprint, to ensure
effective and ethical governance and to invest in ways that
promote sustainable economic growth. Being a responsible
corporate citizen, we strictly comply with all applicable laws,
take into account the environmental, social and governance
factors and risk management strategies in our operations and
fulfill our social responsibilities with good practical deeds.

Scope of the ESG Report

Unless otherwise stated, this ESG Report covers our Hong
Kong business of trading of grocery food products, trading of
consumables and agricultural products, property investment,
provision of money lending services, one-stop value chain
services and provision of financial services for the period
from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019 (the “Reporting
Period”).
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RE HEREBHRS

ABOUT THIS REPORT (continued)

Reporting Standard

This ESG Report is prepared in compliance with the
“Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide”
set out in Appendix 20 to the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “GEM Listing Rules”).
The four reporting principles, namely materiality, quantitative,
balance and consistency, form the backbone of this ESG

Report.

For further information regarding our corporate governance,
please refer to the section of
Report” in this Annual Report.

“Corporate Governance

Feedback

We will continue to improve and refine the content and
format of our ESG Report. We welcome your feedback and
suggestion. Please send your feedback to us via post at Room
2002, 20/F, Overseas Trust Bank Building, No.160 Gloucester
Road, Hong Kong.
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COMMUNICATION WITH STAKEHOLDERS

We believe understanding the views and opinion of our
stakeholders is of paramount importance to the long-term
success and growth of the Group. Sustainable development
embraces not only our own ESG performance but also our
relationship with stakeholders. As such, we are devoted to
maintaining close and harmonious relationships with our
stakeholders.

It is crucial to maintain communication with our stakeholders
and obtain valuable advice. We continue to adopt the
following communication channels with stakeholders to
ensure we learn their opinions and suggestions timely
and accurately, so that our business could be improved
and developed in a continuous manner. Stakeholders
communications and expectations can be summarized as
follows:

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RE HEREBRS

BEQENBE

BFIEE EREFOHENBHLRER HRA
SENRHKNENREFEZ - AIRFEER
NMEBRFERMBE FOESGKRE N EHEHME
R &R &R Wi HAIBKERPOF D
ERFEZBMABHRER

HENERFEBYNSEESRENER-
BAVEEIA T EFNENBBRBARRN
R EEWERES KN ENE R BEE AR
ERPINEB U BCERER - FHEBEN
AR IR R BT

Stakeholders Communication channels Expectations and concerns
BoE BEAR HERBEISEE
Employees e Internal meetings e Employees’ compensation and benefits
(== NEB & % fE BB KAz T
e Performance assessment e Health and safety working environment
B BT Ao BEERZE2HIIERE
e Company activities e Career development opportunities
NAEEH BERERKSE
e Training
3l
Customers e Business communication e High quality product and service
BF R3] B E m MR
e Customer service hotline e Protect the rights of customers
PRI AR REZFER
e Email
R
Suppliers e Business communication e Fair and open procurement
HEm BB N RFEREE
e \Visits e Win-win cooperation
S gHaE
e Email
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RE - HERERRS

COMMUNICATION WITH STAKEHOLDERS (continued)

Stakeholders
BFoE

Communication channels

BEARX

BEQENBE (&)

Expectations and concerns
HMERRIER

Shareholders

R

Community

ANy ==:]

L\ AR

Government and
regulatory bodies

U & B R

e Shareholders” meetings
BREAE

e Regular reports and announcements
EHwE LR

e Official website
B 77 A8k

e Official website
B 7 A8k

e Charitable activities
B 7 48k

e Information submission
R A
e Email

FE
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e Return on investments
& B

¢ Information disclosure and
transparency
BRI R REAE

e Protection of interests and fair
treatment of shareholders

RIBRR R RN T T

e Involvement in communities
RS

e Business compliance
BEAHR

e Environmental protection awareness

RIRE M

e Compliance with laws and regulations
B TARRNER

® Promote regional economic
development and employment

(R R A R ML R
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT EEMIMG

To better understand stakeholders’ opinions and expectations BT ENH TRISHEHAREFSGERENE
on the Group's ESG performance, the Group engaged its BRHE  REFEESEFNEET—HEER
stakeholders to conduct a materiality assessment survey. AT AEFEUBOEERNEFNSEL
Both internal and external stakeholders were selected based RFBIZE B ETE - PRIE H N EB R INER 1D & i
on their influence and dependence on the Group. The TEEUTI AT EENEHERBE -
selected stakeholders were invited to express their views and R O EEUERENEEREEAL
concerns on a list of sustainability issues via an online survey. BB T B AEEBEZHATER TS
As a result, the Group was able to prioritise the issues for BlEstwm - EEM HFAETE RO TNE MR
discussion. The result from the materiality assessment survey

has been mapped and presented as below.

Materiality Assessment

BEEMF

9.50 g ‘
3
9.00 ®
4 6
o o
8.50 2219 21 1
g 00 o
) 9 10 8 20
S 8.00 00 °
S I 12 1 15 14 17 24
W ([ N o000
gﬁ 7.50
8
§§§ 13 5 16 2
P 7.00 o o
o
S
E 650
6.00
5
o
5.50
5.50 6.00 6.50 7.00 7.50 8.00 8.50 9.00
Significance to business
HEKNEEM
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT (continued) BEEMITME (E)

NUMBER LIST OF MATERIAL TOPICS

£ BEERERE

1 Employee diversity and equal opportunities
BEZTIERTERSE

2 Turnover rate
MR =

3 Occupational health and safety
BERRRARZE

4 Training and development
Aol M B R

5 Child labour and forced labour
ETRBAST

6 Employment relationship and communication
BIBRAERKLEB

7 Employee remuneration and benefits
1’ B MmBM K4 7

8 Sewage disposal
TEIKER IR

9 Greenhouse gas emissions
RERBHW

10 Air emissions
& SR HE R

11 Treatment of hazardous and non-hazardous wastes
REAENREZTEREY

12 Energy and water conservation
B BE A K

13 Natural resources (includes water and energy)
BABR (BEKKEEIR)

14 Supplier environmental and social assessment

HEERE Mt g FHE
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RE - HERERRS

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT (continued) BEEMFME (E)

NUMBER LIST OF MATERIAL TOPICS

iR BEERERE

15 Carbon trading system
gz 3 EX

16 Supplier selection process

HERAERE

17 Anti-fraud and corruption
2 B EE K e X

18 Business continuity plan
LEREE

19 Product and service quality
EmMRBESE

20 Complaints handling
1R BRI

21 Intellectual property
B ENE

22 Customer privacy
BEELE

23 Research and development
it 2%

24 Community participation

[R5

25 Donations
B

The Group built a two-dimensional materiality analysis matrix =~ AEBEEY T _#ESZ M oNEMEE - WAHE
and prioritised the 25 issues accordingly. With respect to this b 32 5& & R& 1E 1 S & BE 7 5L ARESGHR &
ESG Report, the Group identified quality of work environment & * AEBE#AI TEREE S ME G MREE
and product and service responsibility as issues of the highest ER¥FNENAEEMERAEENSEHE-
importance to its stakeholders and the Group. This review has X @ EAE BB HEN A FEEERE
helped the Group to prioritise its corresponding sustainability — #/TEEBEFRBEZ RIEEER S EZR -
issues and highlight the material and relevant aspects so asto ~ LAER#F D& M EIBR¥F — -

align them with stakeholders’ expectations.
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RE HEREBHRS

CARING FOR ENVIRONMENT

As a responsible corporation, we are aware of the shared
responsibility to protect and preserve our planet. We
endeavor to comply with laws and regulations regarding
environmental protection and adopts effective measures to
achieve efficient use of resources, energy saving and waste
reduction. Due to our business nature, apart from emissions
and use of resources for electricity and water, our operation
does not have other significant impact on the environment.

Emission Management

Our greenhouse gas (“GHG") emissions primarily stem
from petrol consumption from the use of vehicles (Scope
1), indirect emissions produced by externally-purchased
electricity consumed in offices (Scope 2), and indirect
emissions produced by business travels (Scope 3). We have
implemented various initiatives to reduce the amount of GHG
emissions, as further explained in the subsection headed
"Energy Management” of this ESG Report.

EERER

ER—FKARETNRR HPIAMERED IR
AREE-RMEHETERRBERENZ
RAM WEREUA RIE e A BR B IRE A XA
A~ B K BE TR BB D BEZE ) o A RPN R 75
HWEEA BREREERED RKERIN R
M EEHRRTIBEMEATE -

BEMER

BANEERE(BEEREDEREERR
FME R B TSR R REFE (BEN) - A
ZRISNEE N (EE2) AR IS HRITIER A
BEHEm (EE3) - BB B HE 2 B LUK
BERBHNRE & — PHFBHNAESGHRE
[GERETIR | DEN-

Air emissions 2019 2018 Unit
0,88 BE R —E-NE —E—)N\F B
Nitrogen Oxides (“NOx") A& (INOx ) 4.9 3.6 kg T%
Sulphur Oxides (“SOx") w4 e ([Sox ) 0.2 0.1 kg T72
Particulate Matter (“PM") rsE ([PM 1) 0.4 0.3 kg T%
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CARING FOR ENVIRONMENT (continued)

- ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RE HEREBRS

EERE (&)

Emission Management (continued) B EE (&)
GHG emission' 2019 2018 Unit
BEREHER —E-hF —E-N\F By
Total GHG emissions BERBHNES 63.3 59.3 Tonnes of COze
(Scope 1, 2 and 3) (@1 -2&3) —&afeiEE (1)
Direct emission (Scope 1) BEEER(HEBE) 28.6 25.7 Tonnes of COze
—&ixgE (M)
Indirect emission (Scope 2) B HEAR (EE2) 27.6 28.9 Tonnes of COze
“atmEE (H)
Other indirect emission fin 2= iR A2 /O L A T 2 7.1 4.7 Tonnes of COze
from air travel? (Scope 3) PR (#E3) —afbixgE (W)
Intensity of total GHG emissions ~ JEEREHNEE 0.1 0.1 kg of CO2e/m?
(W8, FF75K)

Energy Management EREE

The energy consumption information is shown as follow:

BERERIIRT

Energy consumption 2019 2018 Unit
BEFE —EB-NF —E-N\F B
Total energy consumption HBREFE 127,641.9 125,623.8 kwh
TR

Intensity of total energy consumption#2 AEFE 34 £ 259.1 161.2 kWh/m?
(per floor area) (FEE@EE) ¥ FARTRE
Electricity consumption? EEE3 31,249.0 37,768.0 kwh
TR

Petrol b 96,212.9 87,855.8 kwh
TR

Note 1:  As the scope of total electricity consumption excluded MizX1: MACESEEETOEBELHEWELR

Note 2:

Note 3:

those usage in shared office rented by few subsidiaries,
which the electricity consumption data were included
in the management fee paid and unable to be obtained
for the occupied areas, the GHG emission data has not
included the electricity used by those shared office.

GHG calculation for air travel were made reference to the
International Civil Aviation Organization Carbon Emissions
Calculator.

The scope of total electricity consumption excluded those
usage in shared office rented by few subsidiaries, which
the electricity consumption data were included in the
management fee paid and unable to be obtained for the
occupied areas.

HANAPLAERERE  ERESHIE
BEWAENERE B e h Bz EE
5 WMERERBHRBEEBETESZEHR

izt : MERTHAEERBFEL2ZEERM
MBIt B s -

fis3: RREEBETEELEMBARERN
HANAEREE HREERBEMA
ENEEEATRNMEAREER-
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RE HEREBHRS

CARING FOR ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Emission Management (continued)

As GHG emissions are positively correlated to electricity
and energy consumption, the Group tries to reduce the
consumption of both aspects in its daily operation through
the following specific measures:

o Adopt natural lighting where possible, while energy-
efficient light bulbs are used to reduce electricity
consumption

o Modify the set temperature of air conditioners in the
offices based on the season

o Consider with higher grading of energy efficiency
when selecting electronic devices

o Encourage our employees to switch off idle equipment
(such as computers and lighting equipment) when the
equipment is not in use or employees are getting off

work

o Office copy machines will be automatically switched to
energy saving mode when left idle for a set period of
time

o Encourage our employees to replace business travels

with telephone conference or video conference when
appropriate to reduce related GHG emissions caused
by the transportation required for business travels

o Encourage employees to schedule visits or offsite
meetings within one trip to reduce the frequency of
travel
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CARING FOR ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Water Use and Sewage Discharge

Due to our business nature, we do not consume a large
amount of water resources or generate a large amount of
sewage in our operation. Sewage produced by the Group is
mainly generated from the daily water usage from its staffs
during working hours in office, which is further discharged
to the municipal wastewater treatment plant through the
sewage pipe work. We encourage our employees to build
up the habit of saving water through the following specific
measures:

° Post notice in office pantries and washrooms to
encourage water conservation

o Remind employees to turn off water taps when they
are not in use

o Any leakage or dripping found in office should also
be reported promptly to prevent unnecessary water
consumption

As we operated in leased office premises in Hong Kong
of which both the water supply and discharge were solely
controlled by the respective building management. Hence,
the water usage data was unable to be obtained by us as an
individual occupant. As our business is located in Hong Kong,
there is no issue in sourcing water.
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CARING FOR ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Waste Management

The Group adheres to the waste management principles and
strives to properly manage and dispose wastes produced
by our business activities. Our waste management practice
has been compiled with laws and regulations relating to
environmental protection. Due to the business nature, our
operations do not directly generate hazardous waste. The
non-hazardous wastes generated by the Group’s operations
are mainly consist of paper and domestic garbage generated
in office. The wastes were collected and handled by building
management. The total paper waste generated during the
Reporting Period was 1.2 tonnes (2018: 1.45 tonnes) with
an intensity of 2.4 kg (2018: 1.86 kg) per square meter.
We seek opportunities to reduce resource consumption and
waste generation, reuse and recycle materials in an aim of
minimizing overall quantities of waste. As paper is mainly
consumed by the Group in its offices, the Group has adopted
the following practices to reduce the consumption:

o Encourage both-side printing and the use of recycled
paper for printing and copying

° Disseminate information by electronic means (i.e. via
email) as much as possible

o Provide bins and trays in offices to collect waste paper
for further recycling

o Encourage staff to reduce paper consumption and to
share tips and information on how to adopt a more
environmentally-responsible lifestyle

The Group strongly advocates green office, strengthens
daily operation and management, integrates low-carbon
environmental protection concepts into the daily work of
employees by implementing energy-saving office environment
reforms, promoting paperless office management, raises
employees’ awareness of energy conservation, and
cultivates the environmental habits of employees. With the
implementation of the measures above, we believe the
objectives of saving energy, reducing waste and preserving
the environment can be achieved.
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CARING FOR ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Packaging Material Use

Due to the business nature, the Group does not produce any
finished product and does not have any industrial facilities. As
the suppliers would arrange delivery to our customers directly
for the trading business, we do not consume a significant
amount of packaging materials in our daily operations.

Compliance

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of
any incidents of non-compliance with Air Pollution Control
Ordinance (Chapter 311 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Water
Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 358 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), Waste Disposal Ordinance (Chapter 354 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) and other relevant laws and regulations
related to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into
water and land, generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
waste. The Group did not have any significant impact on the
environment and natural resources.

CARING FOR EMPLOYEES

Our dedicated and skilled workforce is our biggest asset. We
are committed to providing training, equal and development
opportunities for our people to enable them to reach
their potential in a healthy, safe and respectful working
environment.

Equal Opportunities

The Group believes that it is important to provide employees
with equal opportunities based on the principles of fairness
and fairness. We provide fair opportunities for recruitment,
compensation, training, transfer and promotion to our
employees regardless of their gender, ethnic, background,
religion, colour, age, marital status, family status, retirement,
disability or pregnancy.

In addition, the Group adopts a zero-tolerance attitude
towards gender, ethnicity, disability discrimination, and
workplace harassment. We respect human rights and
prohibits discrimination, harassment, child labor and forced
labor in the workplace.
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CARING FOR EMPLOYEES (continued)

Equal Opportunities (continued)

We have established whistleblowing policy, which provides
our staff a private channel to voice out any concerns
about possible discrimination or harassment. We keep the
whistleblowers and their report contents confidential, and
protect the legitimate rights and interests of whistleblowers,
thereby encouraging employees to report violation and create
a good business environment.

Employee Remuneration and Benefits

We offer a comprehensive and competitive remuneration
package to enhance our staff morale and satisfaction. In
addition, the Group conducts staff performance assessments
regularly in accordance to changes in macroeconomic factors
(e.g. national policies and price levels), market trend and the
overall effectiveness of the Group, and makes corresponding
adjustments to staff remuneration. Outstanding employees
will get promotion as reward and recognition. Apart from
competitive remuneration packages, we also grant share
options and special bonuses to eligible personnel, depending
on their performances and our financial conditions, in
order to attract and retain the most talented people. Our
employees also enjoy the statutory holidays, annual leaves,
maternity leaves and compassionate leaves regarding to
the relevant laws and regulations. Our employee handbook
outlines the standard working hours, paid leaves, rest periods
and dismissal policy in protection of the rights of our staff.
We disseminate the handbook to all our staff to keep them
well informed of our principles and policies.
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CARING FOR EMPLOYEES (continued)

Recruitment and Dismissal

To attract high-calibre candidates, the Group offers fair
remuneration and benefits based on the individuals’ past
performance, personal attributes, job experiences and career
aspiration. We follow the principles of fairness, equality,
competitive and non-discrimination to hire outstanding
talents, and devote to protect human right and privacy
of employees. We recruit employees based on a number
of factors, such as professional experience, educational
background and capabilities, and they are not discriminated
against because of their age, sex, sexual orientation, race,
disability, marital status, pregnancy, religion, political factions
and referrals, so as to maintain employment equality.

All employees of the Group have entered into written
employment contracts Please confirm and such contracts
include dismissal term where the Company has the right
to terminate such contract with an employee who willfully
violates local laws and regulations and the Group’s policy.

Promotion of work-life balance

We believe a culture of healthy work-life balance supports
us to build an energetic and more collaborative team. By
providing five-day working week and organizing a wide
variety of recreational activities for our staff, we believe it can
uphold the excellent work performance of employees and
benefit the growth of the Group.

Training and Development

We believe our sustainable growth is largely derived from
the continuous development of our staff. We place a great
emphasis on career development of talents and are dedicated
to providing our employees with abundant opportunities for
career development.

We provide and encourage employees at all levels to
participate in various internal and external courses, including
technical and vocational training seminars, forums, on-job
and continuing training courses. We also offer educational
subsidies to our employees to attend academic and
commercial course. These not only enhance their job-
related skills and knowledge, but also provide them equal
opportunities for learning, training and promotion.
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CARING FOR EMPLOYEES (continued)

Compliance

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware
of any incidents of non-compliance with the Employment
Ordinance (Cap. 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Minimum
Wage Ordinance (Cap. 608 of the laws of Hong Kong) and
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Cap. 485
of the laws of Hong Kong) and other relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the Group
relating to compensation and dismissal,
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunities,
diversity, anti-discrimination and other benefits and welfare.

recruitment and

OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY

The Group pays great attention to the physical,
and occupational health of its employees. We aim to offer
and maintain a safe and healthy working environment for
employees to protect them from work-related accidents or
injuries.

mental

We are committed to achieving this goal by implementing the
measures including but not limited to:

Provide personal medical insurance and business travel
insurance for all employees

o Provide sufficient first-aid kits and personal protective
equipment at workplaces

o Prohibit smoking in all enclosed areas within our
offices without exception

o Perform regular checking and maintenance of
machines, equipment and fire extinguishers

Compliance

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of
any incidents of non-compliance with The Occupational
Safety and Health Ordinance (Chapter 509 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) and other relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the Group relating to providing
a safe working environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards. We also did not receive any reports
on work-related injuries or causalities during the Reporting
Period.
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LABOUR STANDARD

In strict accordance with applicable local laws and
regulations, we adopt a zero-tolerance approach to unethical
labour practice including but not limited to child labor and
forced labor. Once any breach of regulations is discovered,
the labour relationship will be terminated immediately. All
recruitment procedure and promotion are managed by the
Human Resource Department to ensure no child labour or
forced labour is employed.

Compliance

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of
any incidents of non-compliance with the Employment of
Children Regulations made under the Employment Ordinance
(Cap. 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong) or other relevant laws
and regulations on preventing child or forced labour.

CARING FOR CUSTOMER

The Group attaches importance to quality, safety and
environment, and endeavors to fulfill social responsibilities
and facilitate sustainable development of the food industry.

Product Responsibility

As one of our principal business is trading of grocery food
products, we have always endeavored to provide safety
food products to our customers. We have registered as
food importer and food distributor under the Food Safety
Ordinance (Chapter 612 of the Laws of Hong Kong). We
have registered as a food importers/food distributors under
the Food Safety Ordinance. In order to demonstrate that
we are committed to selecting cooking oil suppliers with
adequate and appropriate records, we have registered
as registered supplier to the Hong Kong Cooking Oil
Registration Scheme under Hong Kong Quality Assurance
Agency (“HKQAA") on voluntary basis. Regarding to
product recall, we attach great importance to the food alerts
issued by Centre for Food Safety as well as related market
information. Once we noticed our product is involved with
quality and safety issues and necessary to be revoked, we
will fully collaborate with related regulatory authorities and
recall the relevant products as required. Recall arrangement
will be announced and the recalled products will be handled
appropriately. During the Reporting Period, no product recall
has been incurred.
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CARING FOR CUSTOMER (continued)

Personal data privacy

In accordance with the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance
(Cap. 486 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Group handles the
personal data of our customers carefully by collecting only
necessary personal data and ensures that the information
obtained is protected from unauthorised or accidental access.
Our employees are constantly reminded the importance of
respecting the privacy of personal and business data.

Compliance

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with the Consumer Goods Safety
Ordinance (Chapter 456 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Food
Safety Ordinance (Chapter 612 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
Food and Drugs (Composition and Labelling) Regulations
(Chapter 132W of the Laws of Hong Kong), Personal Data
(Privacy) Ordinance (Cap. 486 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
and other relevant laws and regulations that constitutes a
significant impact on the Group in relation to health and
safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters.

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

We value mutually beneficial and longstanding relationships
with our suppliers. Our major suppliers are suppliers of
grocery food products, consumables and agricultural
products, external business consultants and general office
supply. The selection of suppliers is based on criteria
such as quality, cost, business scale and reputation, with
preference given to potential suppliers that demonstrate their
commitment to the environment. Full compliance with all
applicable laws and regulations is a must for our suppliers.
When a supplier is found to be inconsistent with our policy
or contractual requirements, we will terminate future
cooperation until the situation got improved.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware that
any key suppliers had any significant actual and potential
negative impact on business ethics, environmental protection,
human rights and labour practices, nor any of them had any
non-compliance incident in respect of human rights issues.
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CARING FOR SOCIETY

We are committed to participating in community events and
the improvement of community wellbeing and social services.
We support and encourage staff to actively participate in a
wide range of charitable events outside working hours, raise
awareness and concern for the community, last but not least,
inspire more people to take part in serving the community.

During the Reporting Period, the Group made contributions
to various charitable organization, such as Tw Sfxs Foundation
Fund Limited, MF Music & Art Promotional Association,
Médecins Sans Frontiéres and F#WA D% with
approximately of HK$23,000 (2018: HK$922,700).

Anti-corruption

We regard honesty, integrity and fair play as core values that
must be upheld by all directors and staff at all times. The
Group strictly complies with applicable laws and regulations
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud or anti-money laundering.
Any misconduct related to bribery, extortion, fraud or anti-
money laundering are strictly prohibited within the Group.

We have established reporting channels where employees can
report illegal and non-compliance conducts that they have
noticed by in-person, phone, email or letter. The reporting
content will be confidential and never be exposed to third

party.

Compliance

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of
any material non-compliance with the Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance (Cap. 201 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and other
relevant laws and regulations and there was no legal cases
concerned with corrupt practices were brought against the
Group or Directors or employees.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B 2B ®E

TO THE MEMBERS OF CHINA ECO-FARMING LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued into
Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of China Eco-Farming Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set
out on pages 95 to 301, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2019, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the “Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with
the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING CONCERN
We draw attention to Note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group reported loss attributable to the
owners of the Company of approximately HK$99,411,000
and had approximately HK$26,112,000 net cash used in
operating activities for the year ended 31 December 2019.
These conditions, along with other matters as set forth in
Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, indicate the
existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. In addition to the matter described
in the “Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern”
section, we have determined the matters described below to
be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report.

ARBFEKENERTREM

EHEEERFAVBmENTE BT BE5EH
E-T-NFE+-_A=+—HIEFEEHKRSES =&
NEIHE ANEAGEEZ99,411,0008 7T A K
R E)EE R AR & F884£926,112,000
BT -ZEBERN ERERE M RERM 20T
BMEMEBRRETFEERTEEE A8k
¥ BEEEEERELEZRNENERR
Mo HZM T ERHUBRERBER -

BRREITEE
FRETFRISREBERMNEXALE Ao
ARG AV BRROBAREBZNEH -G
FHEERERMEABRGAMBHRRALLAE
REETREMN HMT e ELFRERE
BOER R ARNFELENEATHEE ]
—EPTAL R FIRSN ARG T XAt E IR
RENARE T ABBNBERESAFE-
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT
BUZEEBRE
KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

HMEEtER

BRFEIEE (H)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

RANETNAHBEREASHEETER

Impairment assessment on loan and interest receivables

ER K BRI 2 AR E R

As disclosed in Note 25 to the consolidated financial
statements, as at 31 December 2019, the Group’s gross
loan and interests receivables amounted to approximately
HK$28,137,000, and an allowance for credit losses of loan
and interests receivables of approximately HK$6,989,000
were included in the Group’s consolidated statement of
financial position.

B EMBERRWE25MBEE R - NF+=
A=+—HB E5BENERKEWRNEHLTFOR
28,137,000 T ERRERFENEEBEEHED
6,989,000/ L2t A EEEMNGREMBIRREK -

The net reversal of impairment loss on loan and interest
receivables included in the Group’s consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the
year ended 31 December 2019 amounted to approximately
HK$4,049,000.

BT e R MR B B el S 4 1B () F RE 494,049,000/ 7T »
A BEEERE-_ZT-AFTRA=1+—HILEFENE
ERRRLEMEERER -

The allowance for credit loss of loan and interest
receivables represents the management’s best estimates at
the end of the reporting period of expected credit losses
under Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard 9: Financial
Instruments’s expected credit losses models.
ERLERMENEEBIREEREREEERESE
BB HREERZGY @ T ABMEEEEEN HIEH
EEBRRREHRNORKEMRET-

Management assesses whether the credit risk of loan and
interest receivables have increased significantly since their
initial recognition, and apply a three-stage impairment
model to calculate their expected credit losses.

EREMEERNERNENEERR B HE LRI
KEABEN LB =-ERRERAFAELRAREEE

1B
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Our audit procedures in relation to
management’s assessment on allowance for
credit loss of loan and interest receivables
included:

BHERERLERN ENEEBBRREENE
BENAZEZREFBE:

- understood and tested the key control
procedures performed by management,
including its procedures on periodic
review on overdue receivables and the
assessment of expected credit losses
allowance on the loan and interest
receivables;

— BREAAREEEETHEEZEHIRE
Fr - B35 H %58 B FE WO IE 89 E HA & B
MAHEER R ERT B EEEEEE
BEZIRF

- understood and evaluated the modelling
methodologies for expected credit
losses measurement, assessed the
reasonableness of the model selection
and key measurement parameters
determination;

-  BEREEEEEEEEAENERT
FEoAEEARERFEGEREETE
E R
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued) FRETEE (F)
Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BRENBR BMNEFNAEERENBSRETREE

Impairment assessment on loan and interest receivables (continued)

ERREWF S AR ER L (&)

The measurement models of expected credit losses involves - for the historical information, discussed
significant management judgement and assumptions, with management to understand
primarily including the following: the management’s identification of
EHEEFENGTEREASREREBEEHEH MERE = significant increase in credit risk, defaults
ERFELNTRAE: and credit-impaired loans, corroborated
management’s explanation with
- selection of appropriate model and determination supporting evidence;
of relevant key measurement parameters, including —  BELERMES  HEEIEEmUER
probability of default, loss given default and EREEHNEERBARBIEM ELHR
exposure at default; EERBEER EEEMNHRERER
- WEBEERALETHBEIZAEZ2Z BREED FESTEE

AIREME B A T ER MR AR R B O

- for forward-looking measurement,

- criteria for determining whether or not there was a we assessed the reasonableness of
significant increase in credit risk or a default; and economic indicator selection, economic
- EBEEERBBLTABENXEEENNEZE: & scenarios and weightings application,
assessed the reasonableness of the
- economic indicator for forward-looking estimation by comparing with industry
measurement, and the application of economic data; and
scenarios and weightings. - BAEUEFEmS BMAFELEE
— HIRUFENRERSUREEBSILREZMHE FHRENSEL KEBARERLRE
e A BB BT EBUR R A AT A8
" R
We consider impairment assessment on loan and interest
receivables as a key audit matter because of its significance - checked major data inputs used in the
to the consolidated financial statements and the significant expected credit losses models on sample
estimates and judgement involved in determining the basis to the Group's record.
expected credit losses allowance on the loan and interest —  HR ESEEGHEREEREEE
receivables. BRAMANEEH AR -

e A B3R T R MO BT £ 4 & L S SR T 5
2 BEEEERRELHEEHERFRRRSEA
fi st BB - B A B B MR R P4 s B
BHEE-
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT
BUZEEBRE
KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

HMEEtER

BRRFEIEE (H)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

RANETNAHBEREASHEETER

Valuation of investment properties

REMENMGE

As disclosed in Note 19 to the consolidated financial
statements, the management has estimated the fair value
of the Group’s investment properties to be approximately
HK$59,183,000 as at 31 December 2019 with a net
revaluation loss for the year ended 31 December 2019
recorded in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income of approximately
HK$29,207,000. The management has engaged
professional valuers to perform valuation of the entire
portfolio in order to support management’s estimates.
BN E B MM EE RZE—LF+H
=+—R BEEMR BEEEREVMEZATENR
59,183,000 L EHE T - AF+-A=+—HIt
FERGERERA MM EENARREGEELERFED
29,207,000/ - EIREE ZIE B X (L ERVE BEAMES #
TEEAEREEBNMGTIRESZE -

We consider valuation of investment properties as a key
audit matter because of its significance to the consolidated
financial statements and the valuations are dependent
on certain key assumptions that require significant
management judgment on the prevailing unit rate.

HRREMENLEHGEMBRRNEBESZ  BhE
ARERENEAEUERETEREEEAHENE T
BERR BASREDENEERT RBAREAFR
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Our audit procedures in relation to
management’s valuation of investment
properties included:
BPAREEEHREMELENEZETFE
3

- evaluated the competence, capabilities
and objectivity of the valuers;

— FHMAERKERNA - ENMEFEML:

- assessed the valuation methodologies
used and the appropriateness of the key
assumptions based on our knowledge of
the property industry; and

- ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%%%ﬁ%%?ﬁ ﬁﬁ%ﬁ
AHHETERERERENES L &

- checked, on a sample basis, the accuracy
and relevance of the input data used.

= B E R ER P A A A B
REVEREE AR -
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on
the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED
WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors of the Company determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the
Group'’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the
Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for
overseeing the Group'’s financial reporting process.

BY B RS

HifE 8
BERRESTHHEMEEAR -EMEEERE

/N
TERFRANES BT BREEEVBERE
KR FIAZ BN RS o

BHHEEMBREANELL TMREREME
B BANM T HZEEMESBEREMPAN

frxbs

EREs

ko

HBARMEGAMBERROBT  RANEE
HEEMER FIBET EEEMES
EREP BRI I MEFA BT T N
BERAFHEERBBREUTFFEENHERRL
FIE M e ERHFID ATTH TR MR
REMESFEERHERRL RAFTEHRS
ZEE-EETH PR AEMRS -

ESRAEERGESUBRRAREN

BfE

BERRBEFARARERASGTHASHEMT
BEMBRE LY REER RPN ERE
REBEEEMTENSEMBHRE UHERD
RERA M B RROEBE T FERRREFEE
RIMEHHEANERBOLAFNAMEZEE
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’'s report that includes our
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section
90 of the Bermuda Companies Act, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors of the
Company.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group'’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion
on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BY B RS

BB ESGEMBRRARNEE
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
We also provide those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants (Practising)
Cheng Ting Chiu

Practising Certificate Number: P06598

8/F Catic Plaza

8 Causeway Road
Causeway Bay
Hong Kong

11 May 2020
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; GONSOUDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
' mEeEBEBEREMEZEKERE

g

For the year ended 31 December 2019

HE-_T-hF+-_A=1+—BIFE
2019 2018
—E-hEF =—\F
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt TET FHEIT
Revenue Wz
Goods and services 7 M AR T 6 27,334 44,696
Leases HE 3,222 5,153
Interest under effective interest LB %Uf/i CR:Y)
method i) 8 1,280 1,568
Total revenue Pl g 31,836 51,417
Cost of sales 85 65 B A (20,658) (37,798)
Gross profit EM 11,178 13,619
Other gains or losses H 1t 4y &5 5% 5 18 8 3,159 7,587
Impairment losses under expected BHREEBEEENXIE TN
credit loss model, net of reversal REEE (FIkREEE ) 10 3,536 (1,315)
(Loss) gain from changes in fair value of &% & ¥ ZE M A FEESH)
investment properties, net (B8 W= 58 19 (29,207) 16,249
Loss from changes in fair value of BATEFABRZ
financial assets at fair value through TRMEEAFESE
profit or loss 518 27 (10,077) (20,486)
Impairment loss on goodwill HEREEE 20 (3,547) -
Impairment loss on interests in associates 7 B & X 7] 6942 25 A0 R (E
518 21 (2,619) -
Selling and distribution expenses HE kD HMAX (1,394) (1,232)
Administrative expenses THRAX (47,968) (62,311)
Share of results of associates DILEE N T EE 21 (17,263) (2,382)
Finance costs RN 9 (11,945) (9,251)
Loss before tax Ff%ﬁ B &5 18 (106,147) (59,522)
Income tax credit (expense) FTSfiEe () 11 6,669 (984)
Loss for the year REEEE 12 (99,478) (60,506)
Other comprehensive expense: HM2HEMAX:
Item that will not be reclassified to T EE IR B
profit or loss: EHH
Fair value loss on investments in equity MAFEFAEMEE
instruments at fair value through Rz EZTAEKEN
other comprehensive income NEEFEE (15,410) (12,288)
Item that may be reclassified HEAJET D HE B o
subsequently to profit or loss: HH :
Exchange differences arising on BREBINEBEEZ
translation of foreign operations PE i, = %8 (7,957) (11,973)
Other comprehensive expense Kifﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬂﬁ :
for the year, net of income tax R PSR (23,367) (24,261)
Total comprehensive expense REELHEMZLE
for the year (122,845) (84,767)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

e RHEMEERER
For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z—NF+-_A=1+—HLEFE

2019 2018
—EBE-RAE —ZE—N\F
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5% FExT FAETT
Loss (profit) for the year attributable to: (S A EER (&) -
Owners of the Company ViN/NEI =N (99,411) (68,428)
Non-controlling interests FEVERR IR R AE 2 (67) 7,922
(99,478) (60,506)
Total comprehensive (expense) income E{EARFEZ2®E (FX)
for the year attributable to: O R
Owners of the Company IN/NEIETZ N (122,721) (86,113)
Non-controlling interests FEVERR IR R AE 2 (124) 1,346
(122,845) (84,767)
LOSS PER SHARE BkEE
Basic and diluted (HK cents) EARREE (BW) 16 (12.37) (9.63)
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) Lo CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

meBRRE
At 31 December 2019
RZE—NF+=-A=+—H

2019 2018
—E-hE —Z—N\F
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
BT FHET FHE T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Plant and equipment B B 5% A 17 2,948 6,158
Right-of-use assets EAEEE 18 3,550 -
Investment properties B 19 59,183 169,800
Goodwill GRS 20 725 4,272
Interests in associates R E N E) 2w 21 53,549 73,431
Equity instruments at fair value AT EFAHM
through other comprehensive FHRGZZEZTAR
income 22 9,571 31,984
Deposits paid EfiZE 23 59,768 35,250
189,294 320,895
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories, finished goods FE- RS 908 921
Trade and other receivables JE S BR 5% K2 L Atb i LUk
IA 24 24,244 27,292
Loan and interest receivables BEREEWF S 25 21,148 34,215
Loans to associates mEEERNBELER 26 31,559 27,864
Financial assets at fair value through BATEFABREZ
profit or loss TREE 27 7,685 20,362
Bank balances and cash RITEBREIR S 28 2,416 17,870
87,960 128,524
Assets classified as held for sale DERFHIEHEEE 29 77,610 -
165,570 128,524
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Trade and other payables JE A~F B SRR % L b FE AN
FIE 30 40,362 31,051
Contract liabilities EHEaE 31 = 1,940
Amounts due to non-controlling JE 1~ FE 12 IR AR B M 2
interests TRIE 32 2,995 2,995
Borrowings & 33 43,366 35,616
Margin loans payables ERESER 34 6,012 18,199
Lease liabilities HEAEG 35 1,107 =
Financial guarantee contract WBEREH 36 727 -
Income tax payable FERTFTIS AL 244 623
94,813 90,424
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e EIRRE
At 31 December 2019
RZE—hF+=-A=+—H

2019 2018
—E-hF —T\F
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
B FE FExT FET
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFERE 70,757 38,100
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT WEERABDAER
LIABILITIES 260,051 358,995
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kREBERE
Borrowings B 33 19,612 -
Lease liabilities HEAE 35 2,636 -
Deferred tax liabilities FEEFEEE 38 15,212 22,022
37,460 22,022
NET ASSETS BEEFHE 222,591 336,973
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXR#E
Share capital N 39 9,325 7,771
Reserves H 176,792 292,586
Equity attributable to owners of RARHEE NEIEER
the Company 186,117 300,357
Non-controlling interests JEVE AR RS B A 2 36,474 36,616
TOTAL EQUITY RSB 222,591 336,973

The consolidated financial statements on pages 95 to 301
were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of
Directors on 11 May 2020 and are signed on its behalf by:

So David Tat Man
BRIE
Director

EF

China Eco-Farming Limited FEIB ¥ £ REFRA 7
Annual Report 2019 == — AL FF R

£OSEI0EMGANKREMEFEEN -
—TERA+—AIEREETE  LETH

ALTRE:

Ng Cheuk Fan, Keith
RERN
Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

RERRBER

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z-—NF+-_A=1+—HLTFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

FRAEEARE
Equity
component  Investment Share Non-
Share Share  Contriouted  of convertible  revaluation options ~~ Translation Specal Other  Accumulated controling
aptdl  premium surplus bonds resene fesene fesene resene fesene [osses Total interests Totdl
TARES  REER B FER
RE RBEE  BARR  #EDA ] BB BEEE  RIBE  ARBE  2HER & RREE 5
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tin Tin Thr Tin Tin Fin T Tin Fin Thn Tin Tin Thn
Note (3) Note (b)
Hital Hitib)
At1 January 2018 R=%-N§-F-8 mm 416,409 - 5,699 (3.76) 18827 333 6,026 (764) (296,900) 264329 35,29 299,625
Loss {profit) for the year TEREE (B7) - - - - - - - - - (68,428) (68,428) 9m (60,506)
Other comprehensive expense for the year: TEEEMRARY
ltem that will ot be BTREHSRZERIEE
reclassified to profit or loss:
Fair value loss on nvestments in equity RATEHALBREREL
instruments at far value through ERTARENDTERR
other comprehensive income - - - - (12,288) - - - - - (12,288) - (12,288
tem that may be subsequently ARTEFIREERGES
reclassified to profit or loss:
Eichange diferences aising on transation of BB EREL 2 EREZE
foreiqn operations - - - - - - (5371) - - - (5371) (6,602) (11,973)
Other comprehensive expense for the year TERAM2ARY - - - - (12288) - (5371) - - - (17,659 (6,602) (4261)
Total comprehensive (expense) income FEERE (A% hELE
for the year - - - - (12,288) - (5371) - - (68428) (86,087) 1320 (84,767)
Placing o new shaes (Note 39(0) EEFRG (Mio0) 24000 75,600 - - - - - - - - 9600 - 994600
Placing expenses n relaton to BERIRNZEERR
the ssuance of shares Note 39b)) (PEE390)) - 269 - - - - - - - - (269 - (2691
Issue of shares upon settlement of contingent - EHSARERETRR
consideration (PHE£39(a)Rd)
(Notes 39(a) and 47) % 305 - - - - - - - - 360 - 360
Expiration of conversion option of convertible TR (% # AERERS
bonds (Note 37) (Hak37) - - - (5,699) - - - - - 5,699 - - -
Acquiston of assts through acquistion of FARENELANEEE
subsiciaries (Notes 39(c and 45) (IEE39(0Rds) 9300 13,000 - - - - - - - - 230 - 230
Recogniton of equity-ettied share based EUEREERIRNA
payments (Note 43) ERAREH () - - - - - 2526 - - - - 2526 - 2526
Share option lapsed during the year EREEHERE (Hi6)
(Note 43) - - - - - (6,737) - - - 6,731 - - -
Release of investment revaluation resenve upon R ERATE AL ARG R
disposals of equiy nstruments LARRREEEREE
at fair value through other (Hz22)
comprehensive income (Note 22) - - - - (192) - - - - 79 - - -
Capital reorganisaton (Note 39() RAE4 (M) (147655 (02643 650298 - - - - - - - - - -
At 31 December 2018 RZE-NFTZA=1-B m - 650,298 - (16,796) 14616 (8,694) 6,026 (764) (352,100) 300,357 36,616 336,973
— — — — — — — — — — — — —
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

MERREE R
For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z—NF+-_A=1+—HLEFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ANEHEARE
Investment
Share Share  Contributed revaluation  Share options  Translation Special Other  Accumulated Non-controlling
capital premium surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests Total
F2R
B RAER BABE RREMRER  RRARR BHER KRER KB RitE# i BREE i
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'00
Tin ThR ThR Thn ¥ 7 k7 Tin Tin Tin Fin Thn ThR
(Note a) (Note b)
Hii(a) K ()

At1 January 2019 m - 650,298 (16,79) 14,616 (8,694) 6,026 (764) (352,100) 300,357 36,616 336,973

Loss or the year AEEEE - - - - - - - - (99411) (99.411) (67) (99478)

Other comprehensive expense for the year:

ltems that will not be redlssified to

oroft or oss:
Fair value loss on investments in equity
instruments at fair value through other
comprehensive income - - - (15410) - - - - - (15,410) - (15,410)
ltems that may be subsequently redéssified fo
oroft or oss:
Exchange differences arising on tranlation of
foreign operations - - - - - (7,900) - - - (7,900) (57) (7957)

Other comprehensive expense for the year FEREMRARY - - - (15,410) - (7,900) - - - (23310) (57) (23,367)

Total comprehensive expense for the year TEFRARRAE - - - (15410) - (7,900) - - (99,411) (12121) (124) (122,845)

Placing of new shares (Note 39(e)) [13£39%)) 1,554 6,9% = = = - - - - 8,548 - 8,548

Placing expenses n relaton to the isuence o~ AEEIRM 2 EEH

shaes Note 39(e) - ) - - - - - - = (83) - (8)

Acquisition of interest in a subsidiary without

change of control (Note 48) - - - - - - - 18 - 18 (18) -
Share option [apsed during the year

(Note 43) = = = - (14,616) - - - 14,616 - - -
Release of investment revaluation resenve upon

disposals o equty instruments at fair value

through other comprehensive income 33

(Note 22) - - - 3,260 - - - - (3,260) - - -

At 31 December 2019 RIB-METZAZ1-8 9325 6,909 650,298 (28946) - (16,59) 6,026 (146) (840,155) 186,117 3474 m5

Notes: ML :

(a) The special reserve represents the difference between the (a) R R e N A Bl ATH B A B I (D EE &%
nominal amount of shares and share premium of the former DEBERE ST _FEEEAMETY
subsidiary of the Company and the nominal amount of the AARBRGHEEZEHNESE-

Company's shares issued pursuant to a group reorganisation
in 2002.
(b) The other reserve has been set up and dealt with in (b) H b TR — M B A B A RS

accordance with the accounting policies for the changes
in ownership interests in a subsidiary that do not result in
a change of control. Details of changes in ownership in
interests in a subsidiary is set out in Note 48.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

MERERER
For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z—hF+-_A=1+—HLEE

2019 2018
—E-AF —T)\F
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
B 7 FEx FHE T
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REHEK
Loss before tax BrERIEE (106,147) (59,522)
Adjustments for: S TFIIEEEL AR
Finance costs RPN 11,945 9,251
Depreciation for plant and equipment &= & & E T E 2,017 2,356
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERAEEENE 360 -
Share-based payments VARR A7 /3 E R 69 15 3K 43 - 2,526
Loss (gain) on fair value changes of KEYERNFEE
investment properties, net EE () 558 29,207 (16,249)
Loss from changes in fair value of BRAFEFABRZ
financial assets at fair value TREEATFEES
through profit or loss &8 10,077 20,486
Impairment loss, net of reversal BEEE - MERED
— goodwill —HE 3,547 -
— interests in associates — B E R EE
R 2,619 -
— financial assets and other items — &R E E NI
under expected credit loss EEEERERX
model THEMIEE (3,536) 1,315
Gain on fair value change of BN IARERTE
contingent consideration payable Bl - (152)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—FHE AR
Wz (100) (1,065)
Loss on written-off of plant and W SE R B & 5% 1 B 1B
equipment 1,301 -
Loss on written-off of trade receivables il $5& 5 JE Uk 7 18 5 18 821 -
Loss on written-off of other receivables il #5 £ {th & U 7018 2.
&8 - 13,290
Loss on settlement of loan and EEER N EW
interest receivables T2 EE 191 -
Write-down of inventories FEMHE - 83
Share of results of associates DIREE N B LS 17,263 2,382
Interest income B HA (4,028) (4,481)
Dividend income from financial assets 32 A F{EzT AB 25
at fair value through profit or loss TREENRERA (284) (1,369)
Operating cash flows before AREEESEHA 2
movements in working capital REFERE (34,747) (31,149)
Decrease in financial assets BAFEFARGZN
at fair value through profit or loss TRLEE R D - (520)
Decrease (increase) in inventories FERA () 13 (2)
Increase in trade and other receivables & U4 BR F & H 4t & W 3k 38
bl (3,036) (14,639)
Decrease in loan and interest receivables & 2 & F& U F) 255 4 7,287 4,777
Increase (decrease) in trade and other &~ BR F K2 H 4th 8 <+ 2R 38
payables #0 CRd) 6,497 (28,197)
(Decrease) increase in contract liabilities & #18&& (4 ) &0 (1,940) 605
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
GERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z—NF+-_A=1+—HLEFE

2019 2018
—E-hFE ZZT-)N\F
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5T FERT FHET
Cash used in operations XBFRARS (25,926) (69,125)
Income tax paid B PER (186) (607)
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING REXBTARTFE
ACTIVITIES (26,112) (69,732)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BEEE
Proceeds on disposal of equity HERAFERT AEAM
instruments at fair value through PEHWE ERTEDN
other comprehensive income Fri8 s A 6,772 5,370
Proceeds on disposal of financial assets H&E A FET AEBZA
at fair value through profit or loss TRVEERFSHIA 2,600 -
Proceeds on disposal of asset classified HEDIEAFIELE 2
as held for sale BEMEHRIE 20,313 -
Proceeds on disposal of investment HEREMENMSES
properties 1,740 7,591
Interest received 2 1A 8 2 3
Deposit paid for acquisition of W iE — I E AR
a subsidiary BEffEE (1,000) -
Deposit paid for acquisition of further it U B& — REIBH B A & HY
equity interests in a subsidiary BINRIEFT SR & (8,990) -
Net cash inflow from acquisition of a ~ Wi —FEH BRG] 2
subsidiary WEMANFEE 45 - 4
Dividend income from financial assets 2 A F(ET ABFH £ &l
at fair value through profit or loss BEMRSKA 284 1,369
Loan advance to an associate BT -HBERFZ
BN - (20)
Purchase of plant and equipment BEWE MEE (142) (560)
Payments for right-for-use assets e REEENRE (182) -
Net cash inflow from disposal of PE—HEHBAFZ
a subsidiary BERAFHE 46 100 15,755
NET CASH FROM INVESTING RETHELEBESFE
ACTIVITIES 21,497 29,512
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BMEEE
New borrowing raised MEREX 48,807 75,386
Decrease in margin loans payables e RE 2 BERUR D (12,187) (11,878)
Repayment of borrowings EEBX (42,477) (96,621)
Repayments of lease liabilities ERHERE (73) -
Proceeds from issue of new shares BATH IR 2 1S5/ I8 8,548 99,600
Transaction costs attribute to Al & 3 19 FE (5 22 5 B AR
placing of new shares (85) (2,691)
Interest paid BAFE (7.856) (7,438)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
GRERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z—hF+-_A=1+—HLEE

2019 2018
—®-hE -—ZT)N\F
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
B 3T FET FHE T
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM BEEE (FrA) B
FINANCING ACTIVITIES R FE (5,323) 56,358
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH H4&RBELZE (L)
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ¥R E (9,938) 16,138
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT S#{z2BERBEL%E
THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 17,870 5,111
Effect of foreign exchange rate SMEE=ZSB 2HE
changes (5,516) (3,379)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT S AXZHERBELZE-
THE END OF THE YEAR, LASRTT & 88 3R € %1 7=
represented by bank balances
and cash 2,416 17,870
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z—NF+-_A=1+—HLEFE

1.

GENERAL

China Eco-Farming Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated as an exempted company with limited
liability in the Cayman Islands under the Company Law
of the Cayman Islands on 30 November 2000.

The shares of the Company were listed on GEM of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) since 5 February 2002.

During the year ended 31 December 2007, the
Company re-domiciled from the Cayman Islands into
Bermuda by way of de-registration in the Cayman
Islands and continuation as an exempted company
under the laws of Bermuda. The change of domicile
was approved by the shareholders of the Company on
15 October 2007 and the Company was continued
into Bermuda with limited liability with effect from 29
October 2007.

The addresses of the registered office is Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda
and the principal place of business of the Company
is Room 2002, 20/F, Overseas Trust Bank Building,
160 Gloucester Road, Hong Kong. The directors of
the Company (the “Directors”) do not consider any
company to be the ultimate holding company and
parent company of the Company.

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) are principally engaged in the
business of one-stop value chain services, property
investment, trading of consumables and agricultural
products, trading of grocery food products, provision
of money lending services and provision of financial
services.

The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is also the
functional currency of the Company. Other than those
subsidiaries established in the People’s Republic of
China (the "PRC") and incorporated in Taiwan whose
functional currencies are Renminbi (“RMB"”) and New
Taiwan dollars (“NTD") respectively, the functional
currency of the Company and its subsidiaries is HK$.
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kP A NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

il —
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BASIS OF PREPARATION

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group
reported loss attributable to owner of the Company of
approximately HK$99,411,000 and net operating cash
outflows of approximately HK$26,112,000 during
the year ended 31 December 2019. These conditions
indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that
may cast significant doubt about the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern.

Although the Group has been continuously incurring
losses in these years, the Directors are of the opinion
that the Group will have sufficient working capital to
meet its operating cash flows as and when they fall
due for the next twelve months from the end of the
reporting period given that:

(i) the Directors will continuously review the
cost structure of the Group and formulate
appropriate cost saving measures to improve
the performance and the cash flows of the
Group's operations;

(i) the Directors are also considering streamlined
the Group's asset base by realising some of
its investment properties, selling the Group's
equity interests in PRC and interest in associates
in PRC to strengthen the Group’s cash flows
and utilise the existing standby facility granted
to the Company whenever appropriate.

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z—hF+-_A=1+—HLEE

2. mEHEE

HE-T—NWF+ZA=+—AHLHF
B AEBERADAEE ARIGERE
#999,411,0008 TRHBE T —NLF
TZAZT+—HLEFEELAEERESR
 H %8 4926,112,000/8 7T © #% &k o @
TEERTHEMEMNTE IEAEE
FELEMBE BN EREERM -

BEAKRBNOFRBEELER A2
EERR ARERBERHEEESE
NEB®REHRERK AR
ZRBEBRER M IER

() EFEHEFHAEEOHKAN
e LK A EMETE AT
Mo AREAEE L BEHNRER KL

A2
REmRE"

(i) EFTEEZEBBERITIR
EME HEAKERHTEMNAK
RHE M R BB R R B 2
@ ARBASENEERER
SRAE AN SR B IR &7 WA AR
TARBRMBERASRE (HE
) e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2019

HE-_Z—NF+-_A=1+—HLEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Accordingly, the Directors are of the opinion that it
is appropriate to prepare these consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2019
on a going concern basis. The consolidated financial
statements do not provide for further liabilities which
might arise, and do not include any adjustments
relating to the carrying amount and reclassification of
assets and liabilities that might be necessary should
the Group be unable to continue as a going concern.

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs")

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

The Group has applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
for the first time in the current year:

HKFRS 16 Leases

HK(IFRIC)- Uncertainty over Income Tax
Interpretation Treatments
("Int") 23

Amendments to Prepayment Features with Negative
HKFRS 9 Compensation

Amendments to Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Hong Kong Settlement
Accounting
Standard
("HKAS") 19

Amendments to Long-term Interests in Associates and
HKAS 28 Joint Ventures

Amendments to Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(continued)

Except as described below, the application of the
new and amendments to HKFRSs in the current year
has had no material impact on the Group's financial
positions and performance for the current and prior
years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

3.1

HKFRS 16 Leases

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 for the first
time in the current year. HKFRS 16 superseded
HKAS 17 Leases ("HKAS 17"), and the related
interpretations.

Definition of a lease

The Group has elected the practical expedient
to apply HKFRS 16 to contracts that were
previously identified as leases applying HKAS
17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 Determining whether
an Arrangement contains a Lease and not
apply this standard to contracts that were not
previously identified as containing a lease.
Therefore, the Group has not reassessed
contracts which already existed prior to the
date of initial application.

For contracts entered into or modified on or
after 1 January 2019, the Group applies the
definition of a lease in accordance with the
requirements set out in HKFRS 16 in assessing
whether a contract contains a lease.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2019

HE_Z—hF+-_A=1+—HLEE
3. ERAHNITERUBHREEARA

AR (EEYHHREER])
(&)
RAEFERFERNIHTEEBUHBRE
EAIRHEBT A (F)

FBRATF BN RAFEERBHE
B ISR E R R BB RT AN AN R R
REE SBEFE NP BN B RIR K
SEZE AW BRI REFER
WEEBRZE -

31 EEUBEREERFI6HHEE
AEEERAEEBEREREE
B 15 & RSB 1655 - BB B %
BEEIF1FEMA T B G E
AE17TRHE] ([BBEE
AIS175%])) RAAR 2

HEREZE
AEEDEBUTRENE B
SEHERER G ERFE17HR
kEE (BRUWEREREZE
T) REFIRETLHED
BEHE#NRHENGHER
FEMBHREENF 165 M
EHERTRBRAEEREED
BREMZER - Ht - NEEYL
BEEHTERERERAHAC
FERNEH -

AR _F-NEFE-A—HHZE
RIMHRETNEHMS  NEE
RAEEHNREESHERRE
BRI REERF165RPTE A
RERABEENTES -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z—NF+-_A=1+—HLEFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(continued)

3.

3.1

HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

As a lessee

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 retrospectively
with the cumulative effect recognised at the
date of initial application, 1 January 2019.

As at 1 January 2019, the Group recognised
additional lease liabilities and right-of-use assets
at amounts equal to the related lease liabilities
by applying HKFRS 16.C8(b)(ii) transition. Any
difference at the date of initial application is
recognised in the opening accumulated losses
and comparative information has not been
restated.

When applying the modified retrospective
approach under HKFRS 16 at transition,
the Group applied the following practical
expedients to leases previously classified as
operating leases under HKAS 17, on lease-
by-lease basis, to the extent relevant to the
respective lease contracts:

(i) elected not to recognise right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities for leases with
lease term ends within 12 months of the
date of initial application;

(i) excluded initial direct costs from
measuring the right-of-use assets at the
date of initial application; and

(i) used hindsight based on facts and
circumstances as at date of initial
application in determining the lease term
for the Group’s leases with extension
and termination options.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z—hF+-_A=1+—HLEE

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO 3. ERA¥FIEAMKEREEARHE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS BETA ([BEBEHEEL )
(“HKFRSs") (continued) (48)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are RAEERHERNHTTEBYBRE

mandatorily effective for the current year EBHREHEETA (&)

(continued)

3.1 HKFRS 16 Leases (continued) 3.1 BBUBKHKEEAFIGEHE

()

As a lessee (continued) TEAERTAN ()
When recognising the lease liabilities for leases ERATEIEAKEHEEZHEE
previously classified as operating leases, the HREEAGEN KXEFERE
Group has applied incremental borrowing rates FAEETENYIGIERHH 2 1%
of the relevant group entities at the date of EREER - ERAVEEEERA
initial application. The incremental borrowing 15% e

rate applied is 15%.

At 1 January

2019
i
—E2-NF
—HA—H
HK$'000
FAT
Operating lease commitments disclosed as RZZT—\F+ZA=+—HEEDH
at 31 December 2018 R E AR 3,006
Lease liabilities discounted at relevant REREEERMNEMENHEERR
incremental borrowing rates 2,854
Add: Extension options reasonably certain  fiil : A IS A5 1T BT IR IERE
to be exercised 65
Less: Practical expedient — leases with lease J& : Al 1T#E s 7= —HEHR B IR
term ending within 12 months MR HR T+ @A AKRILE
from the date of initial application WHE (2,830)
Lease liabilities relating to operating leases & A & /8 8 15 M & £ R 165712
recognised upon application of HKFRS 16 ~ FTRERELEHER R T — I F
and lease liabilities as at 1 January 2019 —A—HHWNEEAEEENEE
B1E 89
Analysed as: Pk Iv=%
Current & 68
Non-current FET &N 21
89
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2019

HE_ZT-NGF+-_A=+—HLFE

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs") (continued)
New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(continued)
3.1 HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

As a lessee (continued)
The carrying amount of right-of-use assets as at

ERAHTEEMBHREEARA
ERIA ([ERMBHREER])
(&)
REFEREERNFTEBUBERE
ERREBRTA (&)

3.1 EBEHUBHREZERAEIHHEE
(4&)
ERAFN (&)
FHRBREEN_ZT—Hhh&—A—

1 January 2019 comprises the following: BEHEEmMEm T
Right-of-use
assets
ERAREE
HK$'000
FET
Right-of-use assets relating to operating ~ JER & B B MEERF1657& AT
leases recognised upon application of BRELLHETBAN
HKFRS 16 EREEE 89

The transition to HKFRS 16 has no impact on
the accumulated losses at 1 January 2019.

The following adjustments were made to
the amounts recognised in the statement of
financial position at 1 January 2019. Line items
that were not affected by the changes have not
been included.
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B A NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

%’w‘ mEMBHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z—hF+-_A=1+—HLEE

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO 3. FERNTIEEBHREEARE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS BEIR ([BEBEHREET])
(“HKFRSs") (continued) (48)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are MNAREERFENNVFTESEBEIERSE
mandatorily effective for the current year ERNREEETAR (F)
(continued)
3.1 HKFRS 16 Leases (continued) 31 ZBEEEIFELEREIHEHE
()
As a lessee (continued) TEAERTAN ()
Carrying Carrying
amounts amounts
previously under
reported at HKFRS 16 at
31 December 1 January
2019 Adjustments 2019
R-ZE-h#F
Z AR —A—H
—E-NF REBT®
+=A ¥ 2 A
=+—BE%& 1657 T /Y
W EREE TR fREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
Non-current assets FREBEE
Right-of-use assets FREEE - 89 89
Current liabilities REBEE
Lease liabilities MEAE
— current portion —nBE D - 68 68

Non-current liabilities FEREIAGE

Lease liabilities HEAR
— non-current portion —ERBE S - 21 21
Note: For the purpose of reporting cash flows from MizE: BEBEEZETEZRZ2REEZ=
operating activities under indirect method F-AF+ZA=+—HL
for the year ended 31 December 2019, FERELEDMERER

B ZEESEHDR W
BZR-_FT—NF—HF—H
Z MM BAR KRG E

movements in working capital have been
computed based on opening statement of
financial position as at 1 January 2019 as
disclosed above.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z—NF+-_A=1+—HLEFE

3.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(continued)

3.1

HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

As a lessor

In accordance with the transitional provisions
in HKFRS 16, the Group is not required to
make any adjustment on transition for leases
in which the Group is a lessor but account for
these leases in accordance with HKFRS 16 from
the date of initial application and comparative
information has not been restated.

Before application of HKFRS 16, refundable
rental deposits received were considered as
rights and obligations under leases to which
HKAS 17 applied under trade and other
payables. Based on the definition of lease
payments under HKFRS 16, such deposits are
not payments relating to the right-of-use assets
should be adjusted to reflect the discounting
effect at transition. Based on the assessment by
the management of the Company, the amount
of the adjustment is insignificant and therefore
no adjustment to refundable rental deposits
received has been made.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z—hF+-_A=1+—HLEE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new
and amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but
are not yet effective:

3. ERAFEEMBEREENRE

BRI ([ERMBREER])
(%)

EEMAEESRERNHT TRV BERE

ERREBRT A

A g 3 3R 5 A DA E B 448 14 R
R AT B A TR R B RS ET

7K

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts' EEMBREED  REBAL
E175
Amendments to Definition of Business? EEMBREED EKzER
HKFRS 3 FIRZBIA
Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets B SR KEEEEBENA
HKAS 10 and between an Investor and its B0 REE BENEVRNEE
HKAS 28 Associate or Joint Venture? e &Y E 285 HEgTE?
ZIEFTAR
Amendments to Definition of Material* BERGHENE IR EXZTEE
HKAS 1 and REBEG D
HKAS 8 FRZBETA
Amendments to Interest Rate Benchmark Reform?* EHEMBRMEER  FRE R

HKFRS 9, HKAS 39
and HKFRS 7

Fo% BB G
K RIIFE395% R
BREMBHREE
RISTIR BRI A

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 1
January 2021.

R-T-—F—F—Bs®ZE&ERKZ
FEMBREER-

2 Effective for business combinations and asset 2 W E RS AN S T4 —H—
acquisitions for which the acquisition is on or after etz 2B EEEBEEEEx
the beginning of the first annual period beginning on BRERASHEEERETS VES
or after 1 January 2020. B o

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a 3

RFFE B #isk 2 12 R ta 00 F [ H3fE A

o

date to be determined.

&

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 4 R-ZBE-_ZTF—A—HIXZEABZ
January 2020. FREEBMER-
In addition to the above new and amendments to B EXZFEI EAM B SREED REHE

HKFRSs, a revised Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting was issued in 2018. Its consequential
amendments, the Amendments to References to the
Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards, will be
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2020.

RIARON —F— \FRM T RIEFTH
HEZBMDER - HIREER] BB
BHEER 2 B NERIES] 2 EET
R-B_TF—- A —HAZEFRNF
[EEA R
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z—NF+-_A=1+—HLEFE

3.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective (continued)

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs
mentioned below, the Directors anticipate that
the application of all other new and amendments
to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable
future.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition
of Material

The amendments provide refinements to the definition
of material by including additional guidance and
explanations in making materiality judgments. In
particular, the amendments:

o include the concept of “obscuring” material
information in which the effect is similar to
omitting or misstating the information;

o replace threshold for materiality influencing
users from “could influence” to “could
reasonably be expected to influence”; and

o include the use of the phrase “primary users”
rather than simply referring to “users” which
was considered too broad when deciding
what information to disclose in the financial
statements.

The amendments also align the definition across
all HKFRSs and will be mandatorily effective for the
Group's annual period beginning on 1 January 2020.
The application of the amendments is not expected
to have significant impact on the financial position
and performance of the Group but may affect the
presentation and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements.
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;::_-1 {; e NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A P & B SRR M

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs") (continued)

Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
2018 (the “New Framework”) and the
Amendments to References to the Conceptual
Framework in HKFRS Standards

The New Framework:

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z—hF+-_A=1+—HLEE

3. ERAFIEEMBEREENRE

BRI ([ERMBREER])
(%)

ZE-NNFHBHREUZELR ([FHE
2 ]) R 12k & BRI 3 & R B2 AESR
RIS ET

SFIE2E

o reintroduces the terms stewardship and o ENSIAEREREELEMNE:
prudence;
o introduces a new asset definition that focuses . SINEZEERNNFTEEERZEAR

on rights and a new liability definition that
is likely to be broader than the definition it
replaces, but does not change the distinction
between a liability and an equity instrument;

o discusses historical cost and current value
measures, and provides additional guidance
on how to select a measurement basis for a
particular asset or liability;

o states that the primary measure of financial
performance is profit or loss, and that only in
exceptional circumstances other comprehensive
income will be used and only for income
or expenses that arise from a change in the
current value of an asset or liability; and

o discusses uncertainty, derecognition, unit of
account, the reporting entity and combined
financial statements.

Consequential amendments have been made so that
references in certain HKFRSs have been updated to
the New Framework, whilst some HKFRSs are still
referred to the previous versions of the framework.
These amendments are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2020, with earlier
application permitted. Other than specific standards
which still refer to the previous versions of the
framework, the Group will rely on the New Framework
on its effective date in determining the accounting
policies especially for transactions, events or
conditions that are not otherwise dealt with under the
accounting standards.

#E A BELL TR E & B BT
BEER EITSNEAGEE
m THEZ B

. A E SRR IR ERT 8 W
mEARX—BEEXABERETE
ERERHRBEINGSD

. BHMBRREBFERELRE
@ HRFREBER TN T eEmE
fhrEbsE BERNEENE

K

. Am A EERR KRILER &
FHEA MEER LA TR
%O

EFLARER BEEEETEERM
B EEAR RN D B ERT A HIE
RO BB B REENNSEZ
ERHEARAN - ZFEFITNR T _F
F-A-BHZRARNEERHEE
M W AR - RIS EZAER AT
ARAS )7 TE RSN RERBAG R E AR
BEZRAERR TSR LEREE
AHEARARENR S - SRR -
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z—NF+-_A=1+—HLEFE

4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM
of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) and
by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for
investment properties and certain financial instruments
that are measured at fair values at the end of each
reporting period, as explained in the accounting
policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of
the consideration given in exchange for goods and
services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price
is directly observable or estimated using another
valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of
an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account
the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/
or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial
statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within
the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing
transactions that are accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 16 (since 1 January 2019) or HKAS 17
(before application of HKFRS 16), and measurements
that have some similarities to fair value but are not
fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2
Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 /mpairment of
Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset
takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its
highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and
best use.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
For financial instruments and investment properties
which are transacted at fair value and a valuation
technique that unobservable inputs is to be used
to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the
valuation technique is calibrated so that at initial
recognition the results of the valuation technique
equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair
value measurements are categorised into Level 1,
2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs
to the fair value measurements are observable
and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities
that the entity can access at the measurement
date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted
prices included within Level 1, that are
observable for the asset or liability, either

directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the
asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries.
Control is achieved where the Company;

o has the power over the investee;

o is exposure, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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B35 SRR MY RE

For the year ended 31 December 2019

HE

4,

—E-NF+TZA=T—RHILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstance indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting
rights of an investee, it has power over the investee
when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the
practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee unilaterally. The Group considers all relevant
facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not
the Group's voting rights in an investee are sufficient
to give it power, including:

o the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights
relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of
the other vote holders;

o potential voting rights held by the Group, other
vote holders or other parties;

o rights arising from other contractual
arrangements; and

o any additional facts and circumstances that
indicate that the Group has, or does not
have, the current ability to direct the relevant
activities at the time that decisions need to be
made, including voting patterns at previous
shareholders’ meetings.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control of the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group
gains control until the date when the Group ceases to
control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group's equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

4,

For the year ended 31 December 2019
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that
do not result in the Group losing control over the
subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions.
The carrying amounts of the Group’s relevant
components of equity and the non-controlling
interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in
their relative interests in the subsidiaries, including
re-attribution of relevant reserves between the
Group and the non-controlling interests according
to the Group’s and the non-controlling interests’
proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the
non-controlling interests are adjusted, and the
fair value of the consideration paid or received is
recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners
of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the
assets and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-
controlling interests (if any) are derecognised. A gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated
as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair
value of the consideration received and the fair value
of any retained interest and (ii) the carrying amount
of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of
the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the
Company. All amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary
are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e.
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another
category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable
HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained
in the former subsidiary at the date when control is
lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition
for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9 or, when
applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or a joint venture.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses, other than business
combination under common control, are accounted
for using the acquisition method. The consideration
transferred in a business combination is measured
at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred
by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to
the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair
value, except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets
or liabilities related to employee benefit
arrangements are recognised and measured in
accordance with HKAS 12 /ncome Taxes and
HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

o liabilities or equity instruments related to share-
based payment arrangements of the acquire
or share-based payment arrangements of the
Group entered into to replace share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree are
measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-
based Payment at the acquisition date (see the
accounting policy below);

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified
as held for sale in accordance with HKFRS
5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations are measured in
accordance with that standard; and
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations (continued)

o lease liabilities are recognised and measured
at the present value of the remaining lease
payments (as defined in HKFRS 16) as if
the acquired leases were new leases at the
acquisition date, except for leases for which (a)
the lease term ends within 12 months of the
acquisition date; or (b) the underlying asset is
of low value. Right-of-use assets are recognised
and measured at the same amount as the
relevant lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect
favourable or unfavourable terms of the lease
when compared with market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the
fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net amount
of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed as at acquisition date. If, after re-assessment,
the net amount of the identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair
value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the
acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately
in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the
event of liquidation are initially measured at the
non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets or at fair value. The choice of measurement
basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Business combinations (continued)

When the consideration transferred by the Group
in a business combination includes a contingent
consideration arrangement, the contingent
consideration is measured at its acquisition-date
fair value and included as part of the consideration
transferred in a business combination. Changes in the
fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify
as measurement period adjustments are adjusted
retrospectively. Measurement period adjustments are
adjustments that arise from additional information
obtained during the “measurement period” (which
cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date)
about facts and circumstances that existed at the
acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for the contingent
consideration that do not qualify as measurement
period adjustments depends on how the contingent
consideration is classified. Contingent consideration
that is classified as equity is not remeasured at
subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent
consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability
is remeasured to fair value at subsequent reporting
dates, with the corresponding gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss.

Acquisition of a subsidiary not constituting a
business

When the Group acquires a group of assets and
liabilities that do not constitute a business, the Group
identifies and recognises the individual identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed by allocating
the purchase price first to financial assets/financial
liabilities at the respective fair values, the remaining
balance of the purchase price is then allocated to the
other identifiable assets and liabilities on the basis of
their relative fair values at the date of purchase. Such
a transaction does not give rise to goodwill or bargain
purchase gain.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Goodwiill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is
carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition
of the business (see the accounting policy above) less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units
(or group of cash-generating units) that is expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination, which
represent the lowest level at which the goodwill is
monitored for internal management purposes and not
larger than an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment annually or more frequently when
there is indication that the unit may be impaired.
For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting
period, the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-
generating units) to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment before the end of that
reporting period. If the recoverable amount is less than
its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based
on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or
group of cash-generating units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or
any of the cash-generating unit within the group
of cash-generating units, the attributable amount
of goodwill is included in the determination of the
amount of profit or loss on disposal. When the Group
disposes of an operation within the cash-generating
unit (or a cash-generating unit within a group of cash-
generating units), the amount of goodwill disposed
of is measured on the basis of the relative values of
the operation (or the cash-generating unit) disposed
of and the portion of the cash-generating unit (or the
group of cash-generating units) retained.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Goodwill (continued)

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the
acquisition of an associate is described in
associates” below.

“interests in

Interests in associates
An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee but is not control or joint
control of those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates
are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting.
The financial statements of associates used for equity
accounting purposes are prepared using uniform
accounting policies as those of the Group for like
transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under
the equity method, an investment in an associate
is initially recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter
to recognise the Group's share of the profit or loss
and other comprehensive income of the associate.
Changes in net assets of the associate other than
profit or loss and other comprehensive income are not
accounted for unless such changes resulted in changes
in ownership interest held by the Group. When the
Group’s share of losses of an associate exceeds the
Group's interest in that associate (which includes any
long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the
Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses.
Additional losses are recognised only to the extent
that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Interests in associates (continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted for using
the equity method from the date on which the
investee becomes an associate. On acquisition of the
investment in an associate, any excess of the cost of
the investment over the Group's share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the
investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included
within the carrying amount of the investment. Any
excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of
the investment, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate may be
impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the
entire carrying amount of the investment (including
goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with
HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable
amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs
of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment
loss recognised is not allocated to any asset, including
goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount of
the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss
is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the
extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Interests in associates (continued)

When the Group ceases to have significant influence
over an associate, it is accounted for as a disposal
of the entire interest in the investee with a resulting
gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. When
the Group retains an interest in the former associate
and the retained interest is a financial asset within the
scope of HKFRS 9, the Group measures the retained
interest at fair value at that date and the fair value
is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition.
The difference between the carrying amount of the
associate and the fair value of any retained interest
and any proceeds from disposing the relevant interest
in the associate is included in the determination of the
gain or loss on disposal of the associate. In addition,
the Group accounts for all amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation
to that associate on the same basis as would be
required if that associate had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
by that associate would be reclassified to profit or loss
on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the
Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit
or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/
partial disposal of the relevant associate.

The Group continues to use the equity method when
an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture. There is no remeasurement to fair
value upon such changes in ownership interests.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Interests in associates (continued)

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an
associate but the Group continues to use the equity
method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the
proportion of the gain or loss that had previously been
recognised in other comprehensive income relating to
that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal
of the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate
of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the
transactions with the associate are recognised in the
Group's consolidated financial statements only to the
extent of interests in the associate that are not related
to the Group.

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their
carrying amount will be recovered principally through
a sale transaction rather than through continuing use.
This condition is regarded as met only when the asset
is available for immediate sale in its present condition
subject only to terms that are usual and customary
for sales of such asset and its sale is highly probable.
Management must be committed to the sale, which
should be expected to qualify for recognition as a
completed sale within one year from the date of
classification.

Non-current assets classified as held for sale are
measured at the lower of their previous carrying
amount and fair value less costs to sell, except for
financial assets within the scope of HKFRS 9 and,
investment properties which continue to be measured
in accordance with the accounting policies as set out
in respective sections.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when
“control” of the goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is transferred to the
customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service
(or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct
or a series of distinct goods or services that are
substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria
is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

o the Group's performance creates or enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the
Group performs; or

o the Group's performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group and
the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the distinct
good or service.
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4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

A contract asset represents the Group's right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not
yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in
accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable
represents the Group’s unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to a
contract are accounted for and presented on a net
basis.

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group
adjusts the promised amount of consideration for
the effects of the time value of money if the timing
of payments agreed (either explicitly or implicitly)
provides the customer or the Group with a significant
benefit of financing the transfer of goods or services
to the customer. In those circumstances, the contract
contains a significant financing component. A
significant financing component may exist regardless
of whether the promise of financing is explicitly stated
in the contract or implied by the payment terms
agreed to by the parties to the contract.

For contracts where the period between payment and
transfer of the associated goods or services is less than
one year, the Group applies the practical expedient of
not adjusting the transaction price for any significant
financing component.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z—hF+-_A=1+—HLEE
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 4. BEAETHE(H)

Leases BE

Definition of a lease (upon application of HKFRS HEWTE (RIENFE3F2 8B ETE
16 in accordance with transitions in note 3) FE BB EERE165#)

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract e BRI EmES TE —BREERN
conveys the right to control the use of an identified B R EESBAMERN ALY
asset for a period of time in exchange for ERsBEsHEE-

consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising R BEXERB sk 2 BT Bk
from business combinations on or after the date BEBAHELENAYTS  ~EEIR
of initial application, the Group assesses whether a BEBMBRELEANS 165N TEERNH
contract is or contains a lease based on the definition 5 EETHEAS NBE BB (R BB
under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or FHEZAYRETERN B ESHEE-
acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not MRIESAIGER MIEHEEZHIR S )
be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the LEIEBEALBT T EFEG -

contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS KEFELSRBA (RIER F3079E2 18
16 in accordance with transitions in note 3) EMERE B EIREERE165#)
Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets FHHERIKEEEEHE
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition REFHHEBAERB B EEI12(EA
exemption to leases of offices that have a lease term KEERAB B SEEEEEN AT
of 12 months or less from the commencement date EERCHAENTEDRN R HIFEHE
and do not contain a purchase option. It also applies BEEEMERERZIBERI® 55 H
the recognition exemption for lease of low-value HEREEBEESERENHEENZIER
assets. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases HIARABRS LR EMEZ (LI E®DR
of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a BER-
straight-line basis or another systematic basis over the
lease term.
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e M RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z—NF+-_A=1+—HLEFE

4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS
16 in accordance with transitions in note 3)
(continued)

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

o the amount of the initial measurement of the
lease liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received,

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group;
and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the

Group in dismantling and removing the
underlying assets, restoring the site on which
it is located or restoring the underlying asset
to the condition required by the terms and
conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful
life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated
useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS
16 in accordance with transitions in note 3)
(continued)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments ("HKFRS 9”) and
initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair
value at initial recognition are considered as additional
lease payments and included in the cost of right-of-use
assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid at
that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing
rate at the lease commencement date if the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an
index or a rate, initially measured using the
index or rate as at the commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z—NF+-_A=1+—HLEFE

4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS
16 in accordance with transitions in note 3)
(continued)

Lease liabilities (continued)

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.

The Group as lessee (prior to 1 January 2019)

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other
leases are classified as operating leases.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group as lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as
finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the
lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All
other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term
of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset, and
such costs are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term except for investment
properties measured under fair value model.

Rental income which are derived from the Group's
ordinary course of business are presented as revenue.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at
fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date
when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the
Group's foreign operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) using
exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Income and expenses items are translated at
the average exchange rates for the year. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
under the heading of translation reserves (attributable
to non-controlling interests as appropriate).
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z—NF+-_A=1+—HLEFE

4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currencies (continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a
disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control over
a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or a
partial disposal of an interest in a joint arrangement or
an associate that includes a foreign operation of which
the retained interest becomes a financial asset), all
of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in
respect of that operation attributable to the owners of
the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a
subsidiary that does not result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of
accumulated exchange differences are re-attributed
to non-controlling interests and are not recognised in
profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial
disposals of associates that do not result in the Group
losing significant influence), the proportionate share of
the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to
profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable
assets acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign
operation are treated as assets and liabilities of that
foreign operation and retranslated at the rate of
exchange prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in
other comprehensive income.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Borrowing costs

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefits scheme contributions
Payments to the defined contribution plans in Hong
Kong, the PRC and Taiwan are recognised as an
expense when employees have rendered service
entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid as and when employees rendered the services.
All short-term employee benefits are recognised as an
expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits the
inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries, annual leave
and sick leave) after deducting any amount already
paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term
employee benefits are measured at the present value
of the estimated future cash outflows expected to be
made by the Group in respect of services provided by
employees up to the reporting date. Any changes in
the liabilities” carrying amounts resulting from service
cost, interest and remeasurements are recognised in
profit or loss except to the extent that another HKFRS
requires or permits their inclusion in the cost of an
asset.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Share-based payment

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the
fair value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of services received determined by
reference to the fair value of share options granted at
the date of grant without taking into consideration
all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a
straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on
the Group's estimate of equity instruments that will
eventually vest, with a corresponding increase in
equity (share options reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises
its estimates of the number of equity instruments
expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant
non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the
revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised
in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense
reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding
adjustment to share options reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in share options reserve will be
transferred to share premium. When the share options
are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred
to accumulated losses.

Share options granted to consultants

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
with parties other than employees are measured at
the fair values of the services received, except where
that fair value cannot be estimated reliably, in which
case they are measured at the fair value of the equity
instruments granted, measured at the date the entity
obtains the goods or the counterparty renders the
service. The fair values of the services received are
recognised as expenses.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from loss before
tax because of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group's liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries and associates, except where the Group is
able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax
assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and interests are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to
utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and
they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Taxation (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of
the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the carrying amounts of such properties
are presumed to be recovered entirely through sale,
unless the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is
rebutted when the investment property is depreciable
and is held within a business model whose objective is
to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment property over time, rather
than through sale.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-
of-use assets and the related lease liabilities, the
Group first determines whether the tax deductions
are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Taxation (continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group
applies HKAS 12 Income Taxes requirements to the
leasing transaction as a whole. Temporary differences
relating to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are
assessed on a net basis. Excess of depreciation on
right-of-use assets over the lease payments for the
principal portion of lease liabilities resulting in net
deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they
relate to income taxes levied to the same taxable entity
by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit
or loss, except when they relate to items that are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax
are also recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or
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accounting for the business combination.

Plant and equipment BERRE

Plant and equipment are tangible assets that are
held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services, or for administrative purposes. Plant and
equipment are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of assets less their residual values over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement
of an item of plant and equipment is determined as
the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in
profit or loss.

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn
rentals and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are measured at their fair values.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value
of investment properties are included in profit or loss
for the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal
or when the investment property is permanently
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits
are expected from its disposal. Any gain or loss
arising on derecognition of the property (calculated
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in
profit or loss in the period in which the property is
derecognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Impairment on plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets to determine whether there
is any indication that these assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated
in order to determine the extent of the impairment
loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets are estimated individually. When
it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
individually, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (“CGU") to which
the asset belongs.

In addition, the Group assesses whether there is
indication that corporate assets may be impaired.
If such indication exists, corporate assets are also
allocated to individual CGUs, when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be identified, or
otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of
CGUs for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset or a CGU
for which the estimates of future cash flows have not
been adjusted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z—NF+-_A=1+—HLEFE

4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Impairment on plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets (continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or the CGU) is reduced
to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or
portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated
on a reasonable and consistent basis to a CGU, the
Group compares the carrying amount of a group of
CGUs, including the carrying amounts of the corporate
assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that
group of CGUs, with the recoverable amount of the
group of CGUs. In allocating the impairment loss, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the
other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying
amount of each asset in the unit or the group of
CGUs. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced
below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated
pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of
CGUs. An impairment loss is recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or the CGU or a group
of CGUs) is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset (or the CGU or a group
of CGUs) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Costs of inventories are determined
on a first-in, first-out method. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price for inventories
less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has
a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a
result of a past event, it is probable that the Group
will be required to settle that obligation, and a
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle
the present obligation at the end of the reporting
period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present
value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time
value of money is material).

Restoration provisions

Provisions for the costs to restore leased assets to
their original condition, as required by the terms and
conditions of the lease, are recognised at the date of
inception of the lease at the directors’ best estimate of
the expenditure that would be required to restore the
assets. Estimates are regularly reviewed and adjusted
as appropriate for new circumstances.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument. All regular
way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a settlement date
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the market place.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z—NF+-_A=1+—HLEFE

4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are
initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"))
are added to or deducted from the fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or
financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset
or financial liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial
asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

Interest/dividend income which are derived from the
Group's ordinary course of business are presented as
revenue.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is to collect contractual
cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

o the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by both
selling and collecting contractual cash flows;
and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured
at FVTPL, except that at the date of initial application
of HKFRS 9/initial recognition of a financial asset the
Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in fair value of an equity investment in other
comprehensive income if that equity investment is
neither held for trading nor contingent consideration
recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to
which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z—NF+-_A=1+—HLEFE

4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of

financial assets (continued)
A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose

of selling in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual
pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and
effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that are required to be measured at
the amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL
if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an

accounting mismatch.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest
income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a
financial asset, except for financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired
(see below). For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the
financial asset from the next reporting period.
If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial
asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of
the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination
that the asset is no longer credit impaired.

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI
are subsequently measured at fair value with
gains and losses arising from changes in fair
value recognised in OCl and accumulated in
the investment revaluation reserve; and are
not subject to impairment assessment. The
cumulative gain or loss will not be reclassified
to profit or loss on disposal of the equity
investments, and will be transferred to
accumulated losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z—NF+-_A=1+—HLEFE

4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (continued)

(ii) Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

(continued)

Dividends from these investments in equity
instruments are recognised in profit or loss
when the Group's right to receive the dividends
is established, unless the dividends clearly
represent a recovery of part of the cost of
the investment. Dividends are included in the
“other gains or losses” line item in profit or

|oss.

(iii) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or
designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period, with
any fair value gains or losses recognised in
profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in
profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest
earned on the financial asset and is included in

the “other gains or losses” line item.

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject

to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL") model on financial
assets (including trade receivables, loan and interest
receivables and loans to associates) and financial
guarantee contract which are subject to impairment
under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since

initial recognition.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)
Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of
the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
("12m ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at
the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables without significant financing component.
The ECL on these assets are assessed individually for
debtors with significant balances and/or collectively
using a provision matrix with appropriate groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there
has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL.
The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z—NF+-_A=1+—HLEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

4,

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at
the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at
the date of initial recognition. In making
this assessment, the Group considers both
guantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk
has increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external
market indicators of credit risk, e.g. a
significant increase in the credit spread,
the credit default swap prices for the
debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes
in business, financial or economic
conditions that are expected to cause
a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations;
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of
the debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse

change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease
in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the
credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are
more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes
that the credit risk on a debt instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition
if the debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk
if i) it has a low risk of default, ii) the borrower
has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term and iii)
adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower
to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.
The Group considers a debt instrument to
have low credit risk when it has an internal or
external credit rating of ‘investment grade’ as
per globally understood definitions.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR BRRME
For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z—hF+-_A=1+—HLEE
4, BRSFHBE(HE)
e®MIA (&)
EHEE ()
6 B BRI 2B R E 9 BT BBl (8
G A EERAMIE R AE (&
iy EERBREZEEMN(E)
. BEBEANKEREDKR
ERICHFEABFEAZE
1t

e BEBAHBRNEERSR
RERBIBRMBRRFE

b BBRELBEBAN
{E7% B KI5

Nim Bt P A& R A& E
HA RIFRAEERESBAN
BB R BEAWIEALL - BRI
BRI TR HA30KR A £ - B
B #1168 HER & 1015 A A b i &1
e

BEBMMATE BWNERSH
BEEBTIANEARBRRK:
A AEERR BVHBERE
EETANEARRKRIT REZE
hnewnim BNE LR EIE ifE
FEEHANERENZSEITES
AR TEBIR & E & I A K
RERE KB REEEGHT
FELENERTE BEhRpE
REEFHEOATERERER
BRAENFENS ABRES
TAMERARBEIRE - RIFEZIK
NRZES BN ERTRK
HNEME T AR A TIRE R R B -
NEBHREETANEARR
K

China Eco-Farming Limited FEIBE L REFR AT
Annual Report 2019 == — AL FF iR

153



154

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)
For financial guarantee contracts, the date that
the Group becomes a party to the irrevocable
commitment is considered to be the date of
initial recognition for the purposes of assessing
impairment. In assessing whether there has
been a significant increase in the credit risk
since initial recognition of financial guarantee
contract, the Group considers the changes in
the risk that the specified debtor will default on
the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk and
revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount
becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor
is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Definition of default (continued)

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial
asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial
asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the
issuer or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

(0 the lender(s) of the borrower, for
economic or contractual reasons relating
to the borrower’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would
not otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the
borrower will enter bankruptcy or other
financial reorganisation; or

(e)  the disappearance of an active market
for that financial asset because of
financial difficulties.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SAMBRERMT
For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z—hF+-_A=1+—HLEE
4, BRSFHBE(HE)
e®MIA (&)
EHEE ()
6 B BRI 2B R E 9 BT BBl (8
G A EERAMIE R AE (&
iy BANEE(B)
Tim LR E A W B E E
B HIRR0K IR EERADE
BHEEN BRIERXEEBEEER
AIREERERANENZRHE SR
BHEBENREESHE-

(i) FEERENEZREE
EREHSRMEEMNMHIARKER
TREBETHEEN—HLZIA
BHOEMHR 2REELREER
A2 EEELREEREDN
ERBEEN TR ARER A&
EHUE -

(@) BIARBHILBEBEEY
PR 2

(b) EREXH WMELNEB
S

© BINEFTHAREEBTH
MBRREABNEELA
HRACRETREHE
ARTEGEREHED

d EBHBEAERESETH
A5 EA 3

@ ZEREENTEMSHE
B IR IR 6 1 0K 2K

China Eco-Farming Limited FEIBE L REFR AT
Annual Report 2019 == — AL FF iR

155



156

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e

B35 SRR MY RE

For the year ended 31 December 2019

HE

4,

ZE-NEFTZA=T—BHLFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject

to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(iv)  Write-off policy
The Group writes off a financial asset when
there is information indicating that the
counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
for example, when the counterparty has
been placed under liquidation or has entered
into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case
of trade receivables, when the amounts are
over two years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still
be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group's recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. A
write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit
or loss.

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount
that is determined with the respective risks of
default occurring as the weights.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL
(continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and
the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition.

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group
is required to make payments only in the event
of a default by the debtor in accordance with
the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed.
Accordingly, the expected losses is the present
value of the expected payments to reimburse
the holder for a credit loss that it incurs less
any amounts that the Group expects to receive
from the holder, the debtor or any other party.

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts for
which the effective interest rate cannot be
determined, the Group will apply a discount
rate that reflects the current market assessment
of the time value of money and the risks that
are specific to the cash flows but only if, and to
the extent that, the risks are taken into account
by adjusting the discount rate instead of
adjusting the cash shortfalls being discounted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z—NF+-_A=1+—HLEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

4,

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL
(continued)

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or
cater for cases where evidence at the individual
instrument level may not yet be available,
the financial instruments are grouped on the
following basis:

o Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the
Group's trade and other receivables, are
each assessed as a separate group. Loan
and interest receivables and loans to
related parties are assessed for expected
credit losses on an individual basis);

° Past-due status;
o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure the constituents of
each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless
the financial asset is credit impaired, in which
case interest income is calculated based on
amortised cost of the financial asset.
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;::_-1 {; e NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A P & B SRR M

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject

to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL
(continued)
For financial guarantee contracts, the loss
allowances are recognised at the higher of the
amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9; and the amount
initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amount of income recognised over
the guarantee period.

Except for financial guarantee contracts, the
Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss for all financial instruments
by adjusting their carrying amount, with the
exception of trade and other receivables, loan
and interest receivables and loans to associates

For the year ended 31 December 2019
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where the corresponding adjustment is BI|BR oh
recognised through a loss allowance account.
Derecognition of financial assets BN RS G S E

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained
interest in the asset and an associated liability for
amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues
to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019

HE

4,

—E-NF+TZA=T—RHILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration

received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity
instrument which the Group has elected on initial
recognition to measure at FVTOCI, the cumulative
gain or loss previously accumulated in the investments
revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss,

but is transferred to accumulated losses.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity

instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued
by the Company are recognised at the proceeds

received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments
is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase,
sale, issue or cancellation of the Company's own

equity instruments.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)
Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using effective interest method or at
FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables,
amounts due to non-controlling interests, borrowings
and margin loans payables are subsequently measured
at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that
requires the issuer to make specified payments to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a
specified debtor fails to make payments when due
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.
Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured
initially at their fair values. It is subsequently measured
at the higher of:

° the amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9; and

o the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, cumulative amortisation
recognised over the guarantee period.

Convertible bonds containing liability and equity
components

Convertible bonds issued by the Company that contain
both the liability and conversion option components
are classified separately into respective items on initial
recognition in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument. Conversion
option that will be settled by the exchange of a fixed
amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed
number of the Company’s own equity instruments is
classified as an equity instrument.

4,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z—NF+-_A=1+—HLEFE

4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)
Convertible bonds containing liability and equity
components (continued)

On initial recognition, the fair value of the liability
component is determined using the prevailing
market interest of similar non-convertible debts. The
difference between the gross proceeds of the issue of
the convertible bonds and the fair value assigned to
the liability component, representing the conversion
option for the holder to convert the bonds into equity,
is included in equity (equity component of convertible
bonds).

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the
convertible bonds is carried at amortised cost using
the effective interest method. The equity component,
representing the option to convert the liability
component into ordinary shares of the Company, will
remain in equity component of convertible bonds until
the embedded option is exercised (in which case the
balance stated in equity component of convertible
bonds will be transferred to share premium). Where
the option remains unexercised at the expiry date, the
balance stated in equity component of convertible
bonds will be released to the accumulated losses.
No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss upon
conversion or expiration of the option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the
convertible bonds are allocated to the liability and
equity components in proportion to the allocation
of the gross proceeds. Transaction costs relating to
the equity component are charged directly in equity.
Transaction costs relating to the liability component
are included in the carrying amount of the liability
portion and amortised over the period of the
convertible bonds using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised
in profit or loss.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting
policies, which are described in Note 4, the Directors
are required to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions are
based on historical experience and other factors that
are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the
estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period, or in the period of the revision and future
periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from
those involving estimations (see below), that the
Directors have made in the process of applying the
Group’s accounting policies and that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

Going concern and liquidity

The assessment of the going concern assumptions
involves making judgement by the Directors, at a
particular point of time, about the future outcome of
events or conditions which are inherently uncertain.
Please refer to Note 2 in relation to the going concern
assumptions adopted by the Directors.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z—NF+-_A=1+—HLEFE

5.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty
at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year.

Impairment of interests in associates

In view of significant loss made by the associates,
the Group performed impairment assessment on
associates. Determining whether impairment loss
should be recognised requires an estimation of the
recoverable amount of the relevant associate which
is the higher of value in use and fair value less costs
of disposal. The recoverable amount of interests in
associates requires the Group to estimate the future
cash flow expected to arise from the associates and a
suitable discount rate including the risk adjustment in
order to calculate the present value. The assumption
includes management’s best estimate of the set of
economic condition in the future.

As at 31 December 2019, the carrying amount of
interests in associates is approximately HK$53,549,000
(2018: HK$73,431,000). Impairment loss on interests
in associates of approximately HK$2,619,000 (2018:
Nil) was recognised for the year ended 31 December
2019.

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires
an estimation of the recoverable amount of the CGU
to which goodwill has been allocated, which is the
higher of the value in use or fair value less costs of
disposal. The value in use calculation requires the
Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to
arise from the CGU and a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value. Where the actual
future cash flows are less than expected, a material
impairment loss may arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z—hF+-_A=1+—HLEE

5.  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND 5. EARETHERGETFTEERZEZ
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY FEFRE(F)
(continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty AT REREZ2ETENRE (&)
(continued)
Impairment of goodwill (continued) EEEE (&)
As at 31 December 2019, the carrying amount of N-_ZE—-—NWhF+_A=+—H BH=E
goodwill was approximately HK$725,000 (2018: B BRI 1E A #9725,0008 L (ZZE— N\
HK$4,272,000), net of accumulated impairment F:4,272,000/87T) B 23 BEE
loss of approximately HK$22,869,000 (2018: 1B 4922,869,0008 T (& — N\ F:
HK$19,322,000). Impairment loss of approximately 19,322,000 0) - R ZE—hFE+=
HK$3,547,000 (2018: HK$Nil) was recognised during BF=+—BLFER MEBEYD
the year ended 31 December 2019. Details of the 3,547,000 70 ( & NF :EHE L) E
recoverable amount calculation are disclosed in Note R n W AR T E S WHERM
20. F¥20 ¢
Fair value of investment properties REYEZ L FHE
Investment properties are carried in the consolidated WEYETHAE A {EA959,183,00055
statement of the financial position at 31 December 70 (= Z — )\ 4 : 169,800,000 7T ) 5t
2019 at their fair value of approximately ARZZE-AFE+=—RA=+—B2Z%&ES
HK$59,183,000 (2018: HK$169,800,000). The fair FBRRAK - RAFEDER—HABILA
value was based on a valuation on these properties RIZEFEMBATERYEGEEL A
conducted by an independent firm of professional (BIREEFTREBERZBR) HizEyk
valuers using property valuation techniques which PrETHHEMELY - ZEBE2EF
involve certain assumptions of market conditions. LN EF W ARERNDEKRE Z
Favourable or unfavourable changes to these NEERAGESEZEEMEENEE
assumptions would result in changes in the fair 2R IBSE AEREERE -

value of the Group’s investment properties and
corresponding adjustments to the amount of gain or
loss reported in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income.

Fair value measurement of financial instruments SHETAZ AN FEFE

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s unlisted R-_E—HLhE+_A=+—H8 &&
equity instruments amounting to approximately ENETemiéE -EFMERTE.
HK$9,571,000 (2018: HK$21,842,000) were # 5T #99,571,0008 T (ZF — \F:
measured at fair value with fair value being 21,842,000 7T) JTHiR A EEE  MA
determined based on significant unobservable inputs EETYERBHES ERE ARERTE
using valuation techniques. Judgment and estimation MABEBT - BIYHABEEEAELRE
are required in establishing the relevant valuation MR ASE R = B A R (hEt o B
techniques and the relevant inputs thereof. Changes EREEENBEZE A ERZE
in assumptions relating to these factors could result TEANFENENAZR FEE—SH
in material adjustments to the fair value of these Z - R4 -

instruments. See Note 41(c) for further disclosures.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019

HE

5.

—E-NF+TZA=T—RHILFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

Provision of ECL for trade receivables

Trade receivables with significant balances and
credit impaired are assessed for ECL individually. In
addition, the Group uses provision matrix to calculate
ECL for the trade receivables which are individually
insignificant. The provision rates are based on industry
credit ratings as groupings of various debtors that
have similar loss patterns. The provision matrix is
based on the Group's historical default rates taking
into consideration forward-looking information that is
reasonable and supportable available without undue
costs or effort. At every reporting date, the historical
observed default rates are reassessed and changes in
the forward-looking information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in
estimates. The information about the ECL and the
Group's trade receivables are disclosed in Note 41(b).

Provision of ECL for loan and interest receivables
The Group estimates the estimated loss rates of loan
and interest receivables based on historical credit loss
experience of the debtors as well as the fair value of
the collateral pledged by the customers to the loan
and interest receivables. At every reporting date, the
management assesses the collateral and credit quality
of each customer based on customer’s background
information, financial position, past experience and
relevant factors.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in
estimates. The information about the ECL and the
Group's loan and interest receivables are disclosed in
Note 41(b).
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gk WEMBMRME

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

Provision of ECL for financial guarantee contract
The determination of the present value of the
expected payments to reimburse the holder for
a credit loss that it incurs requires an estimation
of discount rate. The discount rate is based on
management best estimate of the current market
assessment of the time value of money and the risks
that are specific to the cash flows.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in
estimates. The information about the ECL and the
Group’s financial guarantee contract are disclosed in
Note 41(b).

Estimated impairment loss on deposit paid
for acquisition of further equity interests in a
subsidiary

The impairment loss on deposit paid for acquisition
of further equity interests in a subsidiary was based
on the assessment of the recoverable amount of such
deposit, which requires an estimation of the fair value
of the net assets of the subsidiary at the date of the
acquisition. The assumption includes management’s
best estimate of the set of economic condition in the
future.

Impairment loss is recognised where events or changes
in circumstances indicate that such deposit is higher
than the estimated fair value of the net assets of the
subsidiary at the date of the acquisition. Where the
actual is different from the original estimate, such
difference will impact the carrying value of deposit
paid for acquisition of further equity interest in a
subsidiary and impairment loss in the period in which
the actual outcome is known or such estimate has
been changed.

For the year ended 31 December 2019
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z—NF+-_A=1+—HLEFE

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND 5. EAETUERAS T EEEZZ
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY FEFRE(F)
(continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty G TFTEEEZEZTERE (&)
(continued)
Estimated impairment loss on deposit paid B E— R B A ] By EE S R EE A1 15
for acquisition of further equity interests in a DR EES (&)
subsidiary (continued)
As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the recoverable RZE—NhER-_ZE—-—NEFE+=A4
amount of deposit paid for acquisition of further =+—8 gk —EMHE D T &I
equity interests in a subsidiary is higher than the REF e RS ESRE iR
carrying amount of the deposit paid. No impairment SHEmE #HEEEEED N (E
loss has been recognised for both years. Details are FEER - HEWENRM 23 -
disclosed in Note 23.
6.  REVENUE 6. W=
(i Disaggregation of revenue from contracts ) EESHWNENEN
with customers
Trading of
consumables
One-stop and  Tradingof  Provision of
value chain  agricultural  grocery food financial
services products products services Total
=33 HERRR
BEERYE BERES BARREZ RUSERH @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TERT THER
For the year ended 31 December 2019 BE-E-10%
T-B=t+-HLEE
Geographical markets B TS5
Hong Kong B 7,282 11,674 5,182 3,196 27,334
Timing of revenue recognition WABERHER
At point in time FEEEY 7,282 11,674 5,182 3,196 27,334
Sales channel/type of customer HERE/EFER
Wholesale iRy 7,282 11,674 5,182 - 24,138
Corporate % - - - 3,196 3,196
Total by 7,282 11,674 5,182 3,196 27,334
168 China Eco-Farming Limited FEIB ¥ £ REFRA 7
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z-—NF+-_A=1+—HLTFE

6. REVENUE (continued) 6. W (8)
(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts (i) EESHINENET (&)
with customers (continued)
Trading of
consumables
One-stop and Trading of ~ Provision of
value chain agricultural  grocery food financial
services products products services Total
— ikt BREER
BEERE RERES BHRRES RESERH @
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL FiEn FiEn FiEn ThEL
For the year ended 31 December 2018 BEZE-N\%
TZA=t-BLFE
Geographical markets B TS5
Hong Kong B 28,380 6,045 5,769 4,002 44,6%
Timing of revenue recognition WAERHNER
At point in time EEREE 28,880 6,045 5,769 4,002 44,696
Sales channel/type of customer HERE/EFER
Wholesale i3 28,830 6,045 5,769 - 40,694
Corporate o - - - 4,002 4,002
Total @t 28,880 6,045 5769 4,002 44,696
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z—NF+-_A=1+—HLEFE

6. REVENUE (continued) 6.

(i Disaggregation of revenue from contracts
with customers (continued)
Set out below is the reconciliation of the
revenue from contracts with customers with the
amounts disclosed in the segment information.

Wz (&)
() FFEYWHENEN (F)

ITXEINEFAOKmEDHE
M REN BN K-

Segment revenue

Pl
2019 2018
=E-AF TN\ F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FET
One-stop value chain services ~— — U\ (BB RS 7,282 28,880
Trading of consumables and HEMEREREDRE

agricultural products

— Reusable bags —IRIRER 5,030 6,045

— Resin plastics and — R RE 2R R B 2 M B

polyethylene plastics 6,644 -
Trading of grocery food BHRmE

products ek S ESES ]

— Ramen and udon 5,182 5,769
Provision of financial services RIS FRSE 3,196 4,002
Revenue from contracts with B F & &k

customers 27,334 44,696
Leases HE 3,222 5,153
Interest under effective interest 12 E B F| L A E M FI B

method 1,280 1,568
Total revenue G 31,836 51,417
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6. REVENUE (continued)

(i)

(iii)

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers

Provision of one-stop value chain services
The performance obligation is satisfied when
services are rendered and the credit period
granted to the customers is normally due upon
completion of the service.

Sales of reusable bags

The performance obligation is satisfied upon
delivery of the reusable bags and payment is
generally due within 30 days from delivery.

Sales of resin plastics and polyethylene
plastics

The performance obligation is satisfied upon
delivery of the resin plastics and polyethylene
plastics and payment is generally due within 30
to 60 days from delivery.

Sales of ramen and udon

The performance obligation is satisfied upon
delivery of the ramen and udon and payment
is generally due within 30 to 60 days from
delivery.

Provision of financial service

The performance obligation is satisfied upon
completion of the service. Financial services
contracts are billed when stated milestones in
the contracts are reached.

Transaction price allocated to the
remaining performance obligation for
contracts with customers

All revenue contracts are for period of one
year or less. As permitted by HKFRS 15, the
transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied
contracts is not disclosed.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE MR M
For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-Z-AF+_A=t—AILEE
6. W= (&)
(i) FEFAEANBARY

BRI EERER
BREBRREHRREKEZSE
T MRTEFPNEENATEHE
ARFS ST X T 21 H o

RRERROHEE
BHBEBTRINRARREZSE
17 M SREGRE & A T30
KA e

HWIEEHNRBEZFEHFEE

BHBETRIMEELEHREZRL
BRI 2 ST MAS AR A
BRBRXMEIOKRECOKRA °

AR S LAY 3 &
R OE S Y SORNETE SIS L
¥RET MNRYPBELSER
T AE30RE60R A ©

& B AR 75 59 18 14
1 MERREEHREHNAT
TR B RER R IE -

REBEIBMEEFEHNZHTRE
WEE

(iii)

HRABRBEEONERHR—
FHIAT - RB BB G LR
FISRIRE WEFENRL
REHEHNZRHERE-
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z—NF+-_A=1+—HLEFE
6. REVENUE (continued)

(iv) Leases

6. Uz (&)
(ivy HE
2019
—ZE-hEF
HK$'000
FHExT
Total revenue arising from leases HEWREHR
For operating leases: B EHE:
Lease payments that are fixed E A E N R 3,222
2018
—E-N\F
HK$'000
FHET
Total revenue arising from leases HEWEEE
Operating lease income — properties KERERA - 5,153
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z—hF+-_A=1+—HLEE

7.  OPERATING SEGMENTS 7. BEHE
Information reported to the board of Directors BETEARIREED BRI EAES
(the”Board”), being the chief operating decision @ ([EF5e | TBLEREE ([
maker ("CODM"), for the purposes of resource BRGENEE ) VREMERZERNAT
allocation and assessment of segment performance A S IRHENE BRI EE R - 7N E
focuses on types of goods or services delivered or HAEEMNT 2RO I T ELIE R
provided. No operating segments identified by the FEWEAGPTE RIS E D ZPIE4E o

CODM have been aggregated in arriving at the
reportable segments of the Group.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable segments under TER NEFERES BT ERE AL
HKFRS 8 are as follows: FE8YEE S A 2O I ¢
a. One-stop value chain services - provision of total solution services including trading,
packaging and logistics solutions
— N EEERDS - RHPEMRITRRG (BEES BEK
W) ERIRT7 B )
b. Property investment - generated rental income from operating leases of Group's
investment properties
MERE - REEREMELEHEELNHHES WA
C. Trading of consumables and - trading of consumables and agricultural products
agricultural products
HEGMEERE - HREMMAREMED

d. Trading of grocery food products

trading of grocery food products

BhEmE S - BhHEmES

e. Provision of money lending - provision of money lending services
services

R E RS - RAERERS

f. Provision of financial services - Provision of financial and investment advisory and
corporate financial services
RH 2 RARS - REM B R EBAARPERE RS
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z—NF+-_A=1+—HLEFE

7.  OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued) 7. RE IR (4E)
Segment revenues and results DI U R EE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue LT AEBREFRIZZ|MLEELEDIE S
and results by reportable and operating segments: TR EE ST
For the year ended 31 December BEZE+-BA=+—BHLEE
One-stop value Trading of consumables and Trading of grocery Provision of money Provision of
chain services Property investment agricultural products food products lending services financial services Total
-hAEERES NERE HERRRERESR BHRRES RUHRER RUSHER it
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
“E-AE RN ZE-AE CT\F ZR-AE SR\ ZR-AE SR ZR-AE ST\ CR-ME CF-0E ZR-RF ST
HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
TER FER TR FER TR FER TER FER FEn FER TER FER FEn FER
REVENUE i
External sales Wi 728 28,880 3 5193 11,674 6,045 5182 5,769 1,280 1,568 3,1% 4,002 31,836 51417
Seqment profit (loss) AR (58) LY u (36,126) 16957 (114) (3675 (143) (394) 3389 (131) (4,456) @179 (37,403) 7519
Unallocated corporate
other gain ([oss), net 3,159 75587

Unallocated corporate expenses
Decrease i fair value of
financial assets at FVTPL

Share of results of associates

Impairment loss on goodwill

Impaimment loss on interests in
associates

(Reversal of) impairment loss
on loans to associates

Impairment loss on other
receivables

Provision for financial
quarantee contract

Loss on written-off of other
receivables

Finance costs

Loss before tax BAEHE

The accounting policies of the operating segments are
the same as the Group’s accounting policies described
in Note 4. Segment profit (loss) represents the profit
earned by (loss from) each segment without allocation
of central administration costs, directors’ emoluments,
other gains or losses, decrease in fair value of financial
assets at FVTPL, share of results of associates, (reversal
of) impairment loss on goodwill/interests in associates/
deposits paid/loans to associates/other receivables,
provision for financial guarantee contract, loss on
written-off of other receivables and finance costs. This
is the measure reported to the CODM for the purposes
of resource allocation and performance assessment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B BRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z—hF+-_A=1+—HLEE

OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued) 7. REQI(EFE)
Segment assets and liabilities PTHEERERE
The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and AT RAEERAIZHR L LLEDHE D
liabilities by reportable and operating segments: CEEHEABESW:
2019 2018
—E-AF —\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT TET
Segment assets DHEE
One-stop value chain services — i B E RS 471
Property investment MERE 61,553 182,718
Trading of consumables and HEMREERE
agricultural products 7,916 6,039
Trading of grocery food products BHRRE S 876 1,961
Provision of money lending services R MERS 21,148 34,215
Provision of financial services RS RRS 43 883
Total segment assets NEHEEHE 92,007 225,816
Unallocated corporate assets DEARIEE 185,864 223,603
Assets classified as held for sale DHERFELHENEE 77,610 -
Consolidated assets HEEE 354,864 449,419
Segment liabilities DEHEE
One-stop value chain services —uh B E RS 478 5
Property investment MEKE 16,852 5,172
Trading of consumables and BHEMRERERE
agricultural products 3,210 1,174
Trading of grocery food products BHRRE S 252 732
Provision of money lending services R RERS 742 403
Provision of financial services RES /AR 667 2,047
Total segment liabilities NHEEER 22,201 9,533
Unallocated corporate liabilities APBEARBE 110,072 102,913
Consolidated liabilities mEars 132,273 112,446
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2019

HE

7.

ZE-NEFTZA=T—BHLFE
OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued)
Segment assets and liabilities (continued)
For the purposes of monitoring segment performances
and allocating resources between segments:

o all assets are allocated to operating segments
other than certain plant and equipment,
certain right-of-use assets, goodwill, interests
in associates, equity instruments at fair value
through other comprehensive income, deposits
paid, certain other receivables, loans to
associates, financial assets at FVTPL and bank
balances and cash; and

o all liabilities are allocated to operating segments
other than certain other payables, amounts
due to non-controlling interests, margin loans
payables, borrowings, certain lease liabilities,
financial guarantee contract, income tax
payable and deferred tax liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z—hF+-_A=1+—HLEE

7. OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued) 7. ReEHH(A)
Geographical information i B &R
The Group's operations are located in Hong Kong, the NEEBMEBRURESLE ARG E E-

PRC and Taiwan.

Information about the Group's revenue from external AREFKBEINTZERFTEKZERER
customers is presented based on the location of TVIREPMEEY] - KREBIETRHEE
customers. Information about the Group’s non-current TR EBEFEMR 25

assets is presented based on the geographical location
of the assets.

Revenue from

external customers Non-current assets
RENBEF 2 i ERBEE
2019 2018 2019 2018
“B-nFE T \& ZB-nF —T)\F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TERT TET FET TET

Hong Kong Bk 28,614 46,264 64,875 55,857
The PRC th 3222 5,153 96,932 213,072
Taiwan =) - - 17,916 19,982
31,836 51,417 179,723 288,911
Note: Non-current assets excluded financial instruments. MizE: ERBEETBESRIA
Information about major customers FBEEXEEFNEHR
Revenue from customers of the corresponding years HEFEREEP ZBMAGARERZK
contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the AHBB10% 2 BERMT

Group is as follows:

2019 2018
—E-AF —ZT)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Customer A’ BERA N/A ~ER2 24,025
Customer B2 = B2 3,222 N/A 36 3
! Revenue from one-stop value chain services segment. i RE— R EEERS D B2 -
2 Revenue from property investment segment. 2 REMEREDEL 2 W s -
3 The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 8 HEPE U 2 A5 A 5 [ 4B W 2 R iR
10% of the total revenue of the Group. 10% °
China Eco-Farming Limited FEIBE L REFR AT 179
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z—NF+-_A=1+—HLEFE

8.  OTHER GAINS OR LOSSES 8. HukxmEE
2019 2018
—E-hEFE ZZZETN\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET FHET
Bank interest income RITH B A 2 3
Loan interest income on loans to M B & A BEH B 5
associates BRF B A 4,026 4,478
Dividend income from financial assets &2 AFEFTABZN S BEEN
at FVTPL M B A 284 1,369
Sundry income B A 48 520
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HEH B AR AR (Fiskde)
(Note 46) 100 1,065
Gain on fair value change of ERIARELATFEEH KW
contingent consideration payable - 152
Loss on written-off of plant and HsH M M AR R 1E
equipment (1,301) -
3,159 7,587
9.  FINANCE COSTS 9. BMEBERAE
2019 2018
ZE-NAE —ZE-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Interest on borrowings BT E 6,798 3,770
Reimbursement of finance costs borne (&1 & 75 FrAdE 2 g & A AR
by lenders (Notes 33(b) and 33(c)) (Bt 5F33(b)AA33(c) ) 1,515 -
Interest on other payables H b &S IR F B - 277
Interest on lease liabilities HEBENE 88 -
Interest on margin loans payables FET R 7E @ BERAE 852 3,391
Interest on balancing payment for DHL # ik EEE# T2 F &
Acquisition (as defined in Note 23) (E& R MEE23) 2,692 -
Effective interest expense on MR ES BB EEA
convertible bonds (Note 37) (PFs£E37) = 1,813
11,945 9,251
180 China Eco-Farming Limited FEIB ¥ £ REFRA 7
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10.

11.

IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER EXPECTED CREDIT 10.

LOSS MODEL, NET OF REVERSAL

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE MR M
For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-Z-AF+_A=t—AILEE
RHEEFEREAE FNRERS
B NREo

2019 2018

—E-hEFE ZZ-)N\F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Impairment losses recognised AT ZIEER (FE) [
(reversed) on: A EIE

— Trade receivables — 8 5 WA 100 (53)
— Other receivables — H b fE U SR IE 61 27
— Loan and interest receivables —ER K ERFE (4,049) 620
— Loans to associates —MEE RREHER (397) 721
— Financial guarantee contract —BEREH 749 -
(3.536) 1,315

Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note

BB R A B IEE SO FE41(b) ©

41(b).
INCOME TAX (CREDIT) EXPENSE 11. FEH (ER)BEX
2019 2018
—BE-hAE —ZT—N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Hong Kong Profits Tax: EBNIEH -
Current tax: BIHEARR 1A - 140 143
(Over) under-provision in prior years BAFE (BEEE)
BB\ R (333) 178
(193) 321
Deferred tax (Note 38): IEEFLTA (KI5E38) -
Current year KEE (6,476) 663
(6,669) 984

China Eco-Farming Limited FEIBE L REFR AT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2019

HE

1.

—E-NF+TZA=T—RHILFE

INCOME TAX (CREDIT) EXPENSE (continued)

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council
passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill
2017 (the "Bill”) which introduces the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime. The Bill was signed into law
on 28 March 2018 and was gazetted on the following
day. Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the
first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying group
entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2
million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group
entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax
rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of

16.5%.

Accordingly, the Hong Kong profits tax of the
qualifying group entity is calculated at 8.25% on the
first HK$2 million of the estimated assessable profits
and at 16.5% on the estimated assessable profits

above HK$2 million.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax
(the "EIT Law") and Implementation Regulation of the
EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25%
from 1 January 2018. No EIT is provided for the years
ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 as the Group did

not derive any assessable profit subject to EIT.

The Taiwan Profit-Seeking Enterprise Income Tax is
calculated at 17% of the estimated assessable profits
for both years. No Profit-Seeking Enterprise Income
Tax is provided for the years ended 31 December 2019
and 2018 as the Group did not derive any assessable

profit subject to Profit-Seeking Enterprise Income Tax.

China Eco-Farming Limited FEIB ¥ £ REFRA 7
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1.

INCOME TAX (CREDIT) EXPENSE (continued)
The tax (credit) charge for the years can be reconciled
to the loss before tax per the consolidated statement

=== NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

'_r & YRR

; y ,91 uiE E":"

SAMBRERMT
For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z—hF+-_A=1+—HLEE

1. % (%) B (4)
ZEFEABIE (H2) A AlKEGES
1B N H 2 U a5 BB T AT B R

of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as BEN T :
follows:
2019 2018
—E-hEFE ZZ-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Loss before tax BR 15 Bl S 1B (106,147) (59,522)
Tax at the domestic income tax LB AT %£16.5%
rate of 16.5% (2018: 16.5%) (ZZ—N\F:165% )T EH
18 (17.514) (9,821)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible A FOFE 5 2 B B 75 o &
for tax purpose 4,715 6,297
Tax effect of income not taxable for HERB WA TR E
tax purpose (790) (970)
Tax effect of share of results of DEBE AR EENT BT E
associates 2,848 393
Tax effect of deductible temporary RERANRERERE L
differences not recognised M2 920 870
Tax reduction A T HUR (40) (40)
(Over) under-provision of income tax ~ BEFEFEFH L (BREEE)
expense in prior years BETE (333) 178
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 7 f 525 18 /5 18 B9 FH 75 77 £ 6,291 3,444
Utilisation of tax losses previously AL RER HIEEIR
not recognised (48) -
Effect of different tax rates of REMBNEREELER
subsidiaries operating in other MEAR TR K2
jurisdictions (2,718) 633
Income tax (credit) expense FIeHi (e )Ax (6,669) 984

China Eco-Farming Limited FEIBE L REFR AT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019

BE
12.

—E-NF+TZA=T—RHILFE

LOSS FOR THE YEAR 12. XFEEEHE
Loss for the year has been arrived at after charging: REZEBNRNBR T ESEEEY:
2019 2018
—E-hEFE ZZ-)N\F
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Directors’ emoluments (Note 13) EE2ME (H:E13) 3,176 4,444
Other staff costs HAh 8 TR
(excluding directors’ emoluments) (T"BEEEZ M) 13,634 13,423
Share-based payments VARR A /3 1 2 15 3K
(excluding directors) (T"BiEEE) - 1,059
Retirement benefits scheme RIKEFET B
contributions (excluding directors) (T"BFEESE) 632 696
17,442 19,622
Auditors’ remuneration: ZERTN €
— Audit services —ZE R 1,034 800
— Non-audit services — IEZ AR TS - 125
Amount of inventories recognised BRARI 2FENIEA
as an expense 20,638 35,245
Depreciation for plant and equipment & M & & 2,017 2,356
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 360 -
Loss on written-off of i iH 2 5 e R A B 1B
trade receivables 821 -
Loss on written-off of other receivables i $5 £ b & U Z0 I8 1 &5 18 - 13,290
Loss on settlement of loan and interest 455 & 20 K & I 51| B A fE5 18
receivables 191 -
Write-down of inventories FE M - 83
Share-based payments to consultants S FEEBH AR (D BERE 2
(NE - 631
Foreign exchange losses, net ME W B )55 703 2,499
Minimum lease payments paid under BEBRAEMENLEHEN
operating leases in respect of ENHEHRERIE
office premises 3,137 4,215

China Eco-Farming Limited FEIB ¥ £ REFRA 7
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13.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B BRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z-—NF+-_A=1+—HLTFE

DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS 13. EEz#e
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the five BHE_Z—hhEhR_ZEZ—N\E+_-A4
(2018: six) directors and the chief executive of the =+ —BIFEERAATAMNES (=
Company for the years ended 31 December 2019 and T— \E N RITHReHE [ e
2018 were as follows: FERB ST
For the year ended 31 December 2019 BE-_E—NE+-A=1+—HILEE
Executive directors Independent non-executive directors
HITES BUFHTES
So Tat Man Ng Cheuk Yick Ting Fai,
David Fan, Keith Zhang Min  Yuen Wai Man Jeffery Total
BEX RER &R RER SEE o
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TEx TER TR FET FET
Fees e = = 180 180 180 540
Other emoluments kA 1,300 1,300 - - - 2,600
Retirement benefits scheme contributions BB B 18 18 - - - 36
Total emoluments Hegs 1318 1318 180 180 180 3,176
For the year ended 31 December 2018 BE-E—N\E+=-A=1+—HLEE
Executive directors Independent non-executive directors
niEE BUHTES
Lai Yick
Fung
SoTatMan  (resigned on Ng Cheuk Yick Ting Fai,
David 30 March 2018) Fan, Keith Zhang Min Yuen Wai Man Jeffery Total
BxE
(RZE-N\E
=R=tH
BEX BE) RER KR RER HEE ozt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FiER TiEr FER ThEL FER FHET TER
Fees He - = = 180 180 180 540
Other emoluments Hiv#i& 1,300 47 1,300 = - - 3,027
Retirement benefits scheme contributions RIBRIEIRR 18 5 18 - - - 41
Share-based payments IR AER 2 3 348 121 268 33 3 3 836
Total emoluments Megg 1,666 553 1,586 213 213 213 4,444

China Eco-Farming Limited FEIBE L REFR AT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z—NF+-_A=1+—HLEFE

13. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued) 13. EEZENE (&)

(@)  The executive directors’ emoluments shown (@) EFYXFARHTESI e ESE
above were for their services in connection with BRANTIEANEBEREEMIE
the management of the affairs of the Company H 7RG T
and the Group.

(b)  The independent non-executive directors’ by  EXFIRBYIERITESZ 2 ME
emoluments shown above were for their MESEETARAARZEEIEH
services as directors of the Company. 2R

(©) No chief executive of the Company was ()  E T NFR_FT—)N\F
appointed for the years ended 31 December +ZA=+—HIFE KT
2019 and 2018. MEZETRAES -

(d)  No Directors waived or agreed to waive d HEZZE—NAFER-_ZE—NF
any emoluments during the years ended 31 +T-AZ+—BLEE #EE
December 2019 and 2018. EREXRBEREEAME -

(e) During the years ended 31 December 2019 and (e) REBEZ_ZE—NFh_T—N\F
2018, no emoluments were paid by the Group +ZA=1+—HILFE KAEE
to the Directors as an inducement to join or WEREEIMNEAME  (EA
upon joining the Group or as compensation for AR E B s A N AR 2 228 -
loss of office. FAE AR (E -

14.  FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 14. AUESHFMES

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments REBRMNSESHFMALTH ML (-

in the Group, two (2018: two) were Directors whose —N\FE W) BEE BEPWELEIHA

emoluments are included in Note 13 above. Details of T HMEF1I3 - BREEBNIEARNATES
the remuneration for the years of the remaining three REETBRAEBZH# T =8 (ZE—N

(2018: three) highest paid employees who are neither F =) EaSNES 2 HENF S0

a director nor chief executive of the Company are as T

follows:

2019 2018

—E-hEFE ZZ-)N\F

HK$'000 HK$'000

THET FHET

Basic salaries and allowances EAXE @ KERL 2,400 3,724
Retirement benefits scheme RRRE A ET B

contributions 54 49

2,454 3,773

186 China Eco-Farming Limited FEIB ¥ £ REFRA 7
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14.

15.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (continued)

The number of the highest paid employees who are
not the Directors whose remuneration fell within the
following bands is as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SAMBRERMT
For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z—hF+-_A=1+—HLEE
14. AuBSHEMES (&)
FWERATHEANNLHEETNRS
FUEENHEBEWT:

2019 2018
—g-hnE —T-N\F

Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ %1,000,0007% 7T 3 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001/ 7T & 1,500,000/ 7T = 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001/ 7T £2,000,000/% 7T = 1

3 3

During the two years ended 31 December 2019 and
2018, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the
highest paid individuals (including the Directors) as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.

DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary
shareholders of the Company during the year ended
31 December 2019, nor has any dividend been
proposed since the end of the reporting period (2018:
Nil).

RBE-_Z-NAFER-_FT-N\Ft+=
A=t—BUEMBAFEAR KNEBEILE
A= HFMAL (BRES)INEM
M ERIMAREB RN INAR 2 82
By S iE RBERAR(E -

15. KR
BE_Z-NF+_A=+—HI*F
JE - BB R AN A A i IR IR RO 1 s 2
FEXEARE - BB ®EHREIE
BEXMNEARE (ZT—N\F &) -

China Eco-Farming Limited FEIBE L REFR AT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2019

HE-_Z—NF+-_A=1+—HLEFE

16. LOSS PER SHARE
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on
the following data:

16.

BRER
RABIEE ARIEEBRER R EEEE
TIERATBEAE

2019 2018
“E-hEF —E-N\EF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FET
Loss 5|
Loss for the year attributable to ARRIEBANBEREEER
owners of the Company (99,411) (68,428)
2019 2018
—E-hE —T-N\EF
Number of shares RHEAE
Weighted average number of ordinary shares & i % i ¥ 159 £
for the purpose of basic and diluted (HEREAREZEFEEMS)
loss per share 803,532,540 710,647,717

The denominators used are the same as those detailed
above for both basic and diluted loss per share.

For the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, the
computation of diluted loss per share does not assume
the exercise of the Company’s options since their
exercise would result in an antidilutive effect on the
basic loss per share for the years ended 31 December
2019 and 2018.

China Eco-Farming Limited FEIB ¥ £ REFRA 7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z-—NF+-_A=1+—HLTFE

17. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. ]ﬁ,ﬁ%&%ﬁﬁ
Computer,
Furniture, network
Leasehold Plantand fixtures and and related Motor

improvement machinery equipment equipment vehicles Total
G %BR EK B&R

RENERE  HERKE #E HERE RE &3

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TERT TERT TER TER TER TER

cosT KA
At 1 January 2018 R-Z-N\E—A—-H 6,833 598 2,635 364 3,290 13,720
Additions NE 23 - 34 3 500 560
Written-off ki (133) - - - - (133)
Exchange adjustment 5 (@7 - (58) 6) 71 (182)
At 31 December 2018 RZE-N\E
+-A=1+-H 6,676 598 2,611 361 3,719 13,965
Additions hE 137 - 5 - - 142
Written-off s (3,751) (598) - - - (4,349)
Exchange adjustment ERBE (17) - (17) - (17) (51)
At 31 December 2019 RZB-h&
+=ZA=t+-8 3,045 - 2,599 361 3,702 9,707
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION RiFE
At 1 January 2018 RZE-\E—-A—H 2,619 598 875 250 1,3% 5,736
Provided for the year FREE 1,156 - 494 50 656 2,356
Eliminated on written-off REEE# (133) - - - - (133)
Exchange adjustment ERTIEEE S (44) - 43) B) (62) (152)
At 31 December 2018 RZE-N\%§
+-A=t-8 3,598 598 1,326 297 1,988 7,807
Provided for the year FhfkE 935 - 45 38 592 2,017
Eliminated on written-off S Gl (2,450) (598) - - - (3,048)
Exchange adjustment 5 AR () - %) - @) (17)
At 31 December 2019 RZE-hE
+=A=+-H 2,077 - 1,771 335 2,576 6,759
CARRYING VALUES BHE
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NE
+=A=+-8H 968 - 828 26 1,126 2,948
At 31 December 2018 RZE-\F
+-A=t-8 3,078 - 1,285 64 1,731 6,158
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z—NF+-_A=1+—HLEFE

17. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 17. BENLHE (&)
The above items of plant and equipment are ity mRE RS EE B RN EGETT
depreciated over their estimated useful lives using the FREREAEGEIRUA T ERTE
straight-line basis at the following rates per annum:
Leasehold improvement  Over the shorter of the TEWEEE RHEEEIRN20%
term of the leases, (A HE 2 A%)
or 20%
Plant and machinery 20% R i 2s 20%
Furniture, fixtures and 20% R EE 20%
equipment BT
Computer, network and ~ 20% B RS 20%
related equipment MiEEEE
Motor vehicles 20% B 20%
18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 18. HHEEE
Lease
properties
HEWH
HK$'000
FHET
As at 1 January 2019 R=-ZB-hE—-A—H
Carrying amount FREE 89
As at 31 December 2019 R=-B-NAEF+=-A=+—8
Carrying amount FREE 3,550
For the year ended 31 December 2019 BE-Z-—N1%F
+tZA=+—BLEE
Depreciation charge HEEHR 360

Expense relating to short-term leases and other

leases with lease terms end within 12 months i

£ =R

HGHIAN REEMRNEB MG
| 1655 P e 2 A AEET

[ A
of the date of initial application of HKFRS 16 REANEROEMBELEBN
53 3,137
Total cash outflow for leases HEMBRe L@ 3,392
Additions to right-of-use assets FREEERNE 3,821
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19.

; y ,91 uiE E":"

—_— e

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

For both years the Company leases various offices for
its operations. Lease contracts are entered into for
fixed term of 1 to 3 years. Lease terms are negotiated
on an individual basis. In determining the lease term
and assessing the length of the non-cancellable
period, the Group applies the definition of a contract
and determines the period for which the contract is
enforceable.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group leases out various premises under
operating leases with rentals payable monthly. The
leases typically run for an initial period of 3 to 5 years,
with unilateral rights to extend the lease beyond
initial period held by lessees only. Majority of the lease
contracts contain market review clauses in the event
the lessee exercises the option to extend.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as
a result of the lease arrangements, as all leases are
denominated in the respective functional currencies
of group entities. The lease contracts do not contain

18.

19.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SAMBRERMT
For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z—hF+-_A=1+—HLEE
EREEE (&)
RMEFE ARAFREEEHESZR
MAE-FTUHESHNNETHR R —
Z=F - HEGRFTRE R E LG -
FREETE AR & HARR K 511 T Rl HUEE BAR A9
RER AEEEBANNERTET
BRI HITEVHARE -

REW=R
AEBEAREHENTALESEY
X HeAS AN -HENVIRBR
—MRAIESF ERAAGBHEBER
EVEHIRASMNO BT E A  KEE Y
HEANHREMHEEHR (WRA
HATTELEEEERE) -

R 6% (B 30 4 1 e XN B BE B B D
KRR ARMAENHNERERS
BN ERFE-HEGHNTEER
BB R &SR AR TE B 45 R B

residual value guarantee and/or lessee’s option to EEYENRIERE
purchase the property at the end of lease term.
2019 2018
—F-hE —Z=—N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FET
FAIR VALUE NYFE
At 1 January n—A—H 169,800 169,173
Disposals e (1,740) (7,591)
Net (decrease) increase in fair value RiERPERNAFE ORD)
recognised in profit or loss HANFRE (29,207) 16,249
Reclassified to assets held for sale BN ERBEHENEE
(Note 29) (P EE29) (77,610) -
Exchange adjustment PE 3 35 (2,060) (8,031)
At 31 December R+-—A=+—8H 59,183 169,800
Net unrealised (loss) gain on property &FFABmMWEEHAEE
revaluation included in profit or loss ~ (E5#8) Wz 7 H 58 (28,328) 16,249
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e

B35 SRR MY RE

For the year ended 31 December 2019

HE

19.
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ZE-NFTZA=T—HLFE
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 19. HBEYE (&)
The fair value of all of the Group's investment REBR - ZE—HLER_ZT—N\EFE+—
properties as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 has A 7+—E|2}5ﬁﬁ&/é§¢@% EETY
been arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out BV E BTG Z AR AT &Ravia
on the respective dates by AVISTA Valuation Advisory Global Appraisal Advisory Limited ( E2Z<
Limited and Ravia Global Appraisal Advisory Limited EEVEBENBE IS EREBEEXGE
(2018: AVISTA Valuation Advisory Limited and Ravia B (ZZ2E—NFE - NERTHZAE
Global Appraisal Advisory Limited), independent PR /A 7] K Ravia Global Appraisal Advisory
qualified professional valuers not connected to the Limited ) RE B BERITETT 2 (HEHE
Group. o
In determining the fair value of the relevant properties, RETHBEBYWENATLER AEBE
the Group engages third party qualified valuers to BE= 88K LHEMETHE-ES
perform the valuation. The Directors work closely HEBRLHEMZYEEUGT A EST
with the qualified valuers to establish the appropriate ERTSENGE T ELIERH & A S
valuation techniques and inputs for fair value o
measurement.
Details of the Group's investment properties and EEAEBRR - ZE—NEER—_ZT—N\F
information about the fair value hierarchy as at 31 +=—A=1+— EIZ&é%%%LA&EE@
December 2019 and 2018 are as follows: FEEZELRERZEBOT
Fair value as at
31 December
R+=-ZA=+—-BWMATE
2019 2018
—E-hE —N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET T
Investment properties located in URBERNIREDE
Hong Kong (categorised as Level 2) (DBERE_FH) 13,000 13,000
Investment properties located in the AL BIRIK E M
PRC (categorised as Level 2) (DHEAEE &R 28,519 137,691
Investment properties located in URBENREME
Taiwan (categorised as Level 2) (DERFE_LR) 17,664 19,109
59,183 169,800




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

“Jo b e ek
For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z—hF+-_A=1+—HLEE

19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 19. REYHE (F)

There has been no change from the valuation
technique used in the prior year. In estimating the
fair value of the properties, the highest and best use
of the properties is their current use. The following
table gives information about how the fair values of
the investment properties as at 31 December 2019
and 2018 are determined (in particular, the valuation

EFEEMERANGED AL EZE -G
AREMEZAFER ZEVERS
R&EREDEBRKRE  TREHRK
BEMER_Z-NFR-FT-N\F+=
A=t —HNRAFEZEETENER
(EERGETENAAE AR

techniques and inputs used):

Fair value Fair value as at Valuation technique and
hierarchy 31 December 2019  key inputs
RZE-AF+ZA=+-8H
AVEER NAVE HEFERIEGAZE
Investment properties located in Level 2 HK$13,000,000 Direct comparison approach — Market unit rate,

Hong Kong (2018: HK$13,000,000) taking into account the recent transaction prices for
similar properties adjusted for nature, location and
conditions of the property

UREENRENE EZRA 13,000,000 7T (ZE—N\F: EBELBEA-THEMER SZEHMENLE.
13,000,00087T) fERMRREHEENEUDZOTARHER
Investment properties located in Level 2 RMB25,520,000 (Equivalent to  Direct comparison approach — Market unit rate,
PRC approximately HK$28,519,000  taking into account the recent transaction prices for
(2018: RMB120,930,000 (Equivalent  similar properties adjusted for nature, location and
to approximately HK$137,691,0000  conditions of the property
RRENRENE FEZHF AR#25520,0007 (ERE BEELBE-THEUER SEZEHMENMLE.
28519,00087) (ZE—N\F: NERRRUELRENEUNENERRHER
AR %120,930,0007C (FE R 4)
137,691,000 ) )
Investment properties located in Level 2 NTD68,600,000 (Equivalent to  Direct comparison approach — Market unit rate,

Taiwan approximately HK$17,664,000  taking into account the recent transaction prices for

(2018: NTD74,500,000 (Equivalent  similar properties adjusted for nature, location and
to approximately HK$19,109,000)  conditions of the property
IR G ENRENE FEZHF #5%68,600,0007 (ERE HEELBE-THEUER SEZEHMENMLE.

There was no transfer into and out of Level 3 during

the year.

17,664,000 L) (ZT—\&:
# £%74,500,0007C (FHERH
19,109,000 7T ) )

i

i RN BEOEUNENT B HER

FRAEE =PRI 2 BA KB -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019

BE
19.

—E-NF+TZA=T—RHILFE

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

As at 31 December 2018, the investment properties
located in PRC with the fair value of approximately
RMB26,121,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$29,742,000) have been pledged to a bank to
secure the bank borrowing granted to the Group,
those properties with fair value of approximately
RMB19,477,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$21,766,000) have been reclassified to assets
classified as held for sale during the year ended 31
December 2019. Details of bank borrowing and assets
classified as held for sale are set out in Notes 33(a) and
Note 29 respectively.

The investment properties located in PRC with the
fair value of approximately RMB5,980,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$6,683,000) as at 31 December
2019 (2018: Nil) have been pledged to a PRC company
("Entity A") to secure a 3-year loan of RMB13,000,000
(the “Loan B") granted to Gold Wide Holdings Limited
("Gold Wide"), an associate of the Group. Loan B
is bearing an interest rate at 8% per annum and
repayable on 14 January 2022. The term of pledge is
from the grant date of Loan B to the date falling three
years after the due date (Note 21). Gold Wide is the
lender of the interest-free unsecured other borrowing
of RMB 13,000,000 as detailed in Note 33(c).

As at 31 December 2019, the investment
property located in Hong Kong with the fair
value of approximately HK$13,000,000 (2018:
HK$13,000,000) has been pledged to a financial
institution in Hong Kong to secure an other borrowing
granted to the Group. Details of the other borrowing
are set out in Notes 33(g) and 33(h).

The investment properties located in Taiwan with
the fair value of approximately NTD68,600,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$17,664,000) as at 31
December 2019 (2018: NTD74,500,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$19,109,000)) have been pledged to
a bank to secure the bank borrowing granted to the
Group. Details of bank borrowing are set out in Note
33(i).

China Eco-Farming Limited FEIB ¥ £ REFRA 7
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19.

REWE (&)

RZE—-NE+_A=+—H8 2F
B A ANR26,121,0000T (HE R
#929,742,000% 7T) WAL AP EI B IR &
MECDEB T —RBITUERAARSE
EEEORITER ZSEWENRT
BEHARY19,477,0007T (HER Y
21,766,000 L) E R EE=ZT — L5
T A=+ —BULEFEHEERSEE
DEABELEEE -RITERRDE
BREFEELEBEENFIE D BIETI M
33(a)MFIEE29 ©

R—_E—h&E+-_A=+—B AF
BE# A AR ¥5,980,0007T (HHE KL
6,683,000 70) (ZF—\F: T )KL
RABEMEENECEFF—KFERQ
A (TEBA]) ERARASE—[EiE
NEE2hEBBRAR([£A])ET
—2 BH =%/ ARK%13,000,0007T#J
EF([EFHB])HER - EFKBAIFF
RE8%  AER-_Z_-_—_F—H+WNH
B GREEEFBRY BHEERE
HAZB=F28 (Mi#F21) - 23LBEE
459 b 5 S A R #613,000,0007T 2
B FBRME330 -

RZE—-ALE+_A=+—8 2F
E#49/413,000,0008 L (=& — )\ &F:

13,000,000/ 70) AL N BB IR E Y
¥EERTEEN - REBLAER
M) 2 £ B 152 HH 9 L 18 K o B 8 SR Y
FEIBE A M FE33(g)F133(h) ©

R-ZE—hAhE+-_A=+—8 2F
B4 B ¥ & #68,600,0007T (FHERL
17,664,000/87C) (ZF—\F:#Hak
74,500,0007T (8 & 7 4919,109,0007%8
TL) R A EMREMEE KR T
—RIBITABERMOAREB R EORITE
o SRITIE KA FF BV P 5E33() ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B BRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z—hF+-_A=1+—HLEE

GOODWILL 20. ﬁj%
2019 2018
—E-nE —TN\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FATT
cosT R
At 1 January and 31 December R—A—HE+ZA=+—H 23,594 23,594
IMPAIRMENT B
At 1 January R—A—H (19,322) (19,322)
Impairment loss recognised FARRNBEEE
during the year (3.547) -
At 31 December ®n+=—A=+—H (22,869) (19,322)
CARRYING VALUES BREE
At 31 December B+=—A=+—H 725 4,272

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill have
been allocated to two individual CGUs, comprising
one subsidiary engaged in the trading of consumables
and agricultural products and one subsidiary engaged
in the provision of financial services. The carrying
amounts of goodwill as at 31 December 2019 and
2018 allocated to these units are as follows:

AETREIR  EXMEmEEES
REMBENENRCEEEN BER
EHEGAEERESN —HHWER
ARMERESHRBN —EHEBE A
AR ZE—NFRZFT-N\F+H
=+ B ESREZZFEMNEERE
HEMT:

2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET FHET
Trading of consumables and HEmEREERE
agricultural products
— Inno-Bag Limited (Note a) —KERRELEBERAA
(PffzEa) 725 3,497
Provision of financial services R R RS
— China AF Corporate Finance —FEREMEERABR AR
Limited (“CAFCF") (Note b) (MPERERR[])
(KtsEb) - 775
725 4,272
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019

BE
20.

—E-NF+TZA=T—RHILFE

GOODW.ILL (continued)

Notes:

(a

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the
recoverable amount of Inno-Bag Limited has been
determined on the basis of a value in use calculation.
The recoverable amount is based on certain similar
key assumptions. The value in use calculations uses
cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by management covering a 5-year period,
and a pre-tax discount rate of 16.58% (2018:
17.88%). The cash flows beyond the 5-year period
are extrapolated using a steady 3% (2018: 3%)
growth rate. The growth rate is based on the general
inflation rate for the year 2019 and the management
of the Group believe that it is reasonable. Cash flow
projections during the budget period for Inno-Bag
Limited is also based on the budgeted sales and
expected gross margins of Inno-Bag Limited.

During the year ended 31 December 2019,
because of the under performance of the
consumables industry, the management assessed
that the aggregate recoverable amount of Inno-
Bag Limited exceeded its aggregate carrying
amount of approximately HK$2,772,000. Goodwill
of approximately HK$2,772,000 arose on the
acquisition of Inno-Bag Limited has been impaired.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the
management believes that any reasonably possible
change in any of these assumptions would not cause
the aggregate carrying amount of Inno-Bag Limited
to exceed the aggregate recoverable amount of Inno-
Bag Limited.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, due
to current market conditions, CAFCF has made an
application to the Hong Kong Securities and Futures
Commission to surrender its licence in September
2019. The goodwill of CAFCF has been fully impaired
upon the cessation of business of CAFCF.

China Eco-Farming Limited FEIB ¥ £ REFRA 7
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BE_Z-NAFT_A=1+—HIF
Eﬁ&%%%“ﬁ%ﬁ@ G
Bl &R EAEETEMEE - Al
Bl ¢RI IRE THRUBRER £
BENTEDEREREREMItE
Zﬂiﬁﬁﬂﬁﬂ(ﬁﬁﬁ@fﬁi/;\LE?E/EU !
KB B AR £16.58% (ZF—N
F:17.88% )  MiEBBEFHANR
MERAREEREI% (ZZ—N
F 3% ) EHER -REEREHHE
#:?*ﬂ¢m*”ﬁﬁw*ﬂ$%
EREEREEBAE -KHERRR
m%ﬁ@ Tﬁﬁﬁﬁmﬁﬁ%ﬁi
FRTMERRK EREREERRA
WIEEHE RIEHERN =

REBEEZZ—hWF+_A=+—H
IEFE - BARBERITERBERE
ERETEREREREERRA

AR el A REBAAKMEY
2,772,000/ 7t o AU HE A B IR (R &%
TEEBRAFTHENEEREY
2,772,0007 7T

REBEEZ-Z—N\F+=-A=+—A8H1t
FE -BEEMEE TRZERREN
AR E BT E PN LIRIF
KREEERAFEEREMERBE I
EREEE-

REBEE_Z-NF+A=+—AL
FE - BAREBANmIGRA FEE
FEEREERZZE—NFLAREEE
SR EEBRERZESHRBNT
T-NFNLARBEER -FEEE
FARMFEBKRILE EEEEHE25R
(ER



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

.’. ’*,I kiﬁg-_a %éﬁjﬁﬁ% M;.I-%I
For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_ZT-NF+_A=+—HLFE
20. GOODWILL (continued) 20. EE(E)
Notes: (continued) sk : (8&)
(b)  (continued) (b) (#&)
During the year ended 31 December 2018, the REE-_Z-N\F+-_A=+—HI

recoverable amount of CAFCF has been determined
on the basis of a value in use calculation. The
recoverable amount is based on certain similar key
assumptions. The value in use calculations uses cash
flow projections based on financial budgets approved
by management covering a 5-year period, and a
pre-tax discount rate of 15.29%. The cash flows
beyond the 5-year period are extrapolated using a
steady 3% growth rate. The growth rate is based
on the general inflation rate for the year 2018.
Cash flow projections during the budget period for
CAFCF are also based on the budgeted sales and
expected gross margins of CAFCF. Management
believes that any reasonably possible change in any

FE- EPIEEEEE:EJE’\JTHSZ@\,%E&
EREEEMEE -7 RE SRR
RRETHRORRRR EREEMNE
B RENEREME 2 BFE
MHIEERRSRETRD - METAT
PFrIRE1529% MBERFHNRE
MERAREEREI%IEHES -
REBEXRDER _Z-N\FH—RK
BRE-PEREEMANEZFHAN
BeREEA TR EEERM
WIREHEREHRENE - EEER
& EMZERZOTASE A LR
BHIreERHERERANEEREE
BRTEREEMAIKREASE-

of these assumptions would not cause the aggregate
carrying amount of CAFCF to exceed the aggregate
recoverable amount of CAFCF.

21.  INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 21. RESE AT R
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET FHET
Cost of unlisted investments in B AT 2 I ETIRE AR
associates 69,212 69,212
Share of post-acquisition (loss) profit G Uk &% (518 )% F &
and other comprehensive (expense) Emam (AX) W=
income (13,044) 4,219
56,168 73,431
Less: Accumulated impairment B RETRVE (2,619) -
53,549 73,431
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z—NF+-_A=1+—HLEFE

21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 21.

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Group had
interests in the following associates:

REERNT 2= (E)
RZE—NFERZZE—-—NFE+=A
=+—H - AEERTIEEA G FE
B

At

Proportion of
Place of ownership interests
incorporation/ or participating
establishment/  Class of shares held by Proportion of
Name of entity Form of entity operation shares held the Group voting power held Principal activity
AL/ AL/ FERfEERERRED
EREE B Senk Fii R < 86 saRBzILH Litssed 4] IREH
2018 2019 2018
20 T\ ZB-AFE B\
Direct associates
ERBELT
FDC Limited (Note) Limited liability Samoa Ordinary shares 49% 49% 49%  Inactive
IDC Limited (Ff3) ERAF EEZ Rk Ex%
Zhonghe Huaxia (Beijing) Investment Limited liability PRC Paid up capital 40% 40% 40%  Investment holding
Consulting Co., Ltd.*" ("Beiing HX")
SER(IR)RERAERLA  ARAT hE HRER ALK
(Mtm2E))
Gold Wide Holdings Limited ("Gold Wide") ~ Limited liability HK Ordinary shares 25% 25% 25%  Investment holding
SUEEFRAF (T2]) ERAR 30 EEEL ALK
Indirect associates
BEBELR
Zhonghe Xinnong (Beijing) Investment Limited liability PRC Paid up capital 2% 2% 22%  Investment holding
Co., Ltd.*"("Bejing XN")
AR LR REERAF BRAF Gk HRER REBR
(TERHED)
Fuyu Zhonghe Xinnong Market Real Limited liability PRC Paid up capital 22% 2% 22%  Properties development
Estate Co., Ltd*' ("Fuyu”)
RRRARRTSEEERAA ERAR il HREx Ve
(&1

*  English name for identification only
Sino-foreign joint venture

* Wholly domestic owned enterprise

Note:

FDC Limited was inactive since its incorporation, the carrying
amount attributable to the Group is not significant.
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Eos NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 21.
Summarised financial information of material

associates

Summarised financial information in respect of each of
the Group’s material associates is set out below. The
summarised financial information below represents

amounts shown in the associate’s financial statements

prepared in accordance with HKFRSs.

All of these associates are accounted for using
the equity method in these consolidated financial

RE MR M
For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-Z-AF+_A=t—AILEE
REBEQT 2Bz (&)
FTEBREQARNZMBERBE

AEBEZETEMENRZTHEERRE
BRI PXAaM B ER R EIR
BB MK ImEERRELNE SRR
WRPTRE R

INTES oY M&&% FIEZEHER

Bl E A 2R DI AR

statements.

Beijing HX and its subsidiaries TREERENE AT 2019 2018
(the “Beijing HX Group”) (TtmEEEHE]) —E-hE —Z-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHIT
Current assets mENEE 383,346 319,190
Non-current assets IERBEE 117 156
Current liabilities mBEE (254,265) (153,210)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (11,250) (11,462)
Net assets BEFE 117,948 154,674
2019 2018
—E—hEF —E—NEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHIT
Revenue Uz - -

Loss and total comprehensive AEEEEIREZERI AR
expense for the year (36,726) (6,846)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2019

HE_ZT-NGF+-_A=+—HLFE

21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 21.
The reconciliation of the above summarised financial
information to the carrying amount of the interests in
associates are set out below:

REE QT 2 &z (F)
EX2MBEMRZERNBE QR Z
AR (E < B AR T -

2019 2018
—E-NEF —E—-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Net assets of the Beijing HX Group TREBEENEEFE 117,948 154,674
Non-controlling interests of Beijing I REBWB AR
HX's subsidiaries FE1E IR AR R A = (55,350) (56,266)
62,598 98,408
Proportion of the Group’s 40% AEERIEREERANB AR
ownership interest in Z40%FR B R L 1
Beijing HX and its subsidiaries 25,039 39,363
Goodwill & 855 855
Carrying amount of the Group's AEERIEREEEE Y
interest in Beijing HX Group = REE 25,894 40,218
2019 2018
Gold Wide 3k —E-hAFE —Z-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FAT
Non-current assets IERBNEE 125,570 122,649
Current assets mENEE 1,032 19
Current liabilities (Note) mEEE (M) (15,983) (294)
Net assets BERE 110,619 122,374
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z—hF+-_A=1+—HLEE

21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 21. REE N 2R (FE)

Note: Bt 5

As at 31 December 2019, included in the current liabilities is R-ZE—AFEF+-_A=+—RB BE#ZB(F
the Loan B (as defined in Note 19) of RMB 13,000,000, which # R MIzE19) AR ¥13,000,0007T 51 A7 &)
is bearing an interest rate of 8% per annum, secured by BE IRFE8%ITE HAFEHARK
the investment properties of the Group located in PRC with 5,980,0007T ( 48 P 496,683,00058 7T) (B
the fair value of approximately RMB5,980,000 (equivalent H1O MR P RN AEFERE Y E R AE
to approximately HK$6,683,000) (Note 19) and financial E24 T B RS E(R (MIEE36) fEHLIR B AR
guarantee provided by the Group (Note 36), and repayable —E-—F—HF+NAEE-AREEE
on 14 January 2022. Since Gold Wide has breached the loan EHRE BEHBNARENRES Biltn
covenants, the Loan B became repayable on demand and A REAaE-

was therefore classified as current liabilities.

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HKS$’000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Revenue Weem - -
(Loss) profit for the year and total REFE (EE) &N KR
comprehensive (expense) income AEE2H(FHY) KSR
for the year (11,755) 1,428
The reconciliation of the above summarised financial Ui AR AT 2 S R E(E M B
information of the carrying amount of the interests in BRI EHEMT
associates are set out below:
2019 2018
—E-AF —ZT-)N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT AT
Net assets of Gold Wide A EEFE 110,619 122,374
Proportion of the Group’s 25% REBERE5L225% A #E
ownership interest in Gold Wide FEZS L 27,655 30,594
Goodwill S 2,619 2,619
30,274 33,213
Less: Accumulated impairment R REHRE (2,619) -
Carrying amount of the Group's REEREA 2 ERREE
interest in Gold Wide 27,655 33,213
China Eco-Farming Limited FEIBE 4L EEFR AT 201
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z—NF+-_A=1+—HLEFE

22.  EQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 22, RATEI AE#b2 EUES R
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME TR
2019 2018
—EBE-RF ZZET)N\F
HK$000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Listed investments: EHRE:
Equity securities listed in Hong Kong A &E _E M KRR A TE 5
(Note a) (Bizta) - 10,142
Unlisted investments: ELEMIRE :
Equity securities (Note b) RAZES (Kistb) 9,571 21,842
9,571 31,984
Notes: s
(a) The listed equity investments represent ordinary (a) FTRAKERERBBELTHNE

shares of an entity listed in Hong Kong. As at 31
December 2018, the equity investments listed in
Hong Kong with the fair value of approximately
HK$10,142,000 have been pledged to a financial
institution for margin loans granted to the Group.
Details of margin loans payables are set out in Note
34.

(b) The unlisted equity investments of approximately
RMB8,565,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$9,571,000) (2018: RMB19,184,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$21,842,000)) represent
investments in unlisted equity securities issued by one
(2018: two) private entity incorporated in the PRC.

As at 31 December 2019, the unlisted equity
securities were pledged to Entity A (as defined in
Note 19) to secure a 3-year loan of RMB4,550,000
("Loan A") granted to a private company (“Lender
A"). Loan A is bearing an interest rate at 8% per
annum and repayable on 14 January 2022. The term
of pledge is from the grant date of Loan A to the
date falling three years after the due date. Lender A
is an independent third party and is also the lender
of the interest-free unsecured other borrowing of
RMB4,550,000 as detailed in Note 33(b).
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BOHLTER-R-_FT-NF+-A
=+—HRFEX10,142,000/8 7T 2
REELTZBRARERE T AEE
ZRBEERMER TS RME - JE
NREEERFBHNMEI4

(b) #4k NR#8,565,0005t (FE R
#79,571,000%8 L) (ZE— N\ F:
AR #19,184,0007T (HHE ML
21,842,000/ 7T ) ) &) 3F £ IR A 4%
AREHRPBEEMA I —RE (=
T N\F WE)ABTBEITHIE
FTRAFESHFNIRE -

R-B—AE+-—A=+—08 3r
MRAFHFEEBETEREA (EER
BizE19) fEAM—XRFILARE ([E
FANBEF—2RH="FHARE
4,550,000t W E K ([EFRA L) B9
R-BERANFR L AE8%  BERZ
T —FE-A+MBEE -GHBEA
BERARHBSEZHAR=F
ZH-BHARBYE= BliAR
B H 5 5 A R #4,550,000
TLHE R B R W E33(b)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B BRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z—hF+-_A=1+—HLEE

EQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 22. BAFEFAEMEERIESHERS
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (continued) TH (&)
The above investments are not held for trading, U EREWIEAEEMEE MEAE
instead, they are held for long-term strategic purposes. HIEBBE M mMSAE EHEDIRIBYZE
The Directors have elected to designate these TEETAEAFETS AEME2EK
instruments at FVTOCI as they believe that recognised = EARERAELERENAEER
short-term fluctuations in these investments’ fair BT ERANCHESTNFEANEE A
value in profit or loss would not be consistent with EHENEE SR ENERIT IR E
the Group's strategy of holding these investments for REHRBERE S -
long-term purposes and realising their performance
potential in the long run.
During the year ended 31 December 2019, in order REZ-—S—hE+_A=+—81
to strengthen the cash position of the Group, the FEERN ANBEANEBRNER SN KN
Group disposed all of the listed and certain unlisted £ EI76,772,0005 TTHIEKE (AR
equity investments at an aggregated consideration of HEREHMAFEE)EERBEE TR
HK$6,772,000, which represent the fair value as at EFREFTHIEAREE - HE S5 EE
the date of disposal. A cumulative loss on disposal of 3,260,0008 0 B EE L FHEEE I
HK$3,260,000 has been transferred from investment ERAEERAFESFAEMEEKE Y
revaluation reserve to accumulated losses upon T HBEAZHEER-
disposals of equity instruments at FVTOCI.
During the year ended 31 December 2018, in order REZE-_ZE—N\F+_A=+—HILF
to strengthen the cash position of the Group, the EA BIRAEFRNRSMN  KEH
Group disposed of certain listed equity investments at 325,370,000/ TR E (AR EER
a consideration of HK$5,370,000, which represent the HOAEE) HEETF FHEAEE -
fair value as at the date of disposal. A cumulative gain £ 25 I2E792,0008 TE B EE
on disposal of HK$792,000 has been transferred from FEEELVE R EERAFEATAHEM
investment revaluation reserve to accumulated losses PEWEZERTEBE A 2=tEiE-
upon disposals of equity instruments at FVTOCI.
DEPOSITS PAID 23. oOftEe
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\EF
HKS$°000 HK$'000
FHT T
Deposits paid for: M TRISE RS :
— acquisition of further equity interests — I g — R B 8 & R BE AN
in a subsidiary (Note a) Ax#E (MizTa) 44,240 35,250
— acquisition of a subsidiary (Note b) — i — M B AR
(BffzEb) 1,000
— acquisition of a property (Note c) — Y iE — 1B (MiaEc) 14,528
59,768 35,250
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z—NF+-_A=1+—HLEFE
DEPOSITS PAID (continued)

23.

(a)

Deposit paid for acquisition of further
equity interests in a subsidiary

On 17 July 2017, Skyline Top Limited (“Skyline
Top"”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, and Yardley Wealth Management
Limited (“Yardley”), the non-controlling
shareholder of Delightful Hope Limited
("Delightful Hope"”), a subsidiary of the
Company, entered into a sales and purchase
agreement pursuant to which Yardley had
agreed to sell and Skyline Top had agreed to
purchase 50 ordinary shares in Delightful Hope,
representing 50% of the entire issued share
capital of Delightful Hope, at a consideration
of HK$55,000,000 (the "DHL Acquisition”).
Upon the completion of the DHL Acquisition,
Delightful Hope will be wholly-owned by
Skyline Top and will become an indirect wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company.
During the year ended 31 December
2018, Skyline Top and Yardley entered a
supplementary agreement pursuant to which
the balance payment of the DHL Acquisition
will accrue interest at 8% per annum. As at
31 December 2018, deposit of approximately
HK$35,250,000 has been paid.

On 19 March 2019, Skyline Top and Yardley
entered into another supplemental agreement,
pursuant to which the deadline of the
completion of the DHL Acquisition has been
extended from 17 January 2019 to 31 March
2020 and Skyline Top shall pay interest to
Yardley at 8% per annum on the remaining
balance payment during the period from 18
January 2018 to the date of completion. During
the year ended 31 December 2019, a further
deposit of HK$8,990,000 has been paid.
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(@) FUE— BB RNENRE

&
RZE—tFtEA+EH KK
=2ARAR ([RKES!) (K27
ZEENMBAR) BEFGTEE
BAERAR (MHEF] - AR A
BRralsmaRAw ([F8))2
FEFERRAR R ) ET L —THE B -
Bt B EREEHE BXRES
EREESS0R A K2 EEK
HARMEFEEITRAZ50% -
R (B A55,000,00078 7T ( [ 7tk
BEIE]) REXFHBKESE
% mRERRXEE2E%ER
BRAERRRZEEZEWBA
ET °

REBEZEZT—N\F+ZA=+—
HIEFER K ® B8R FE] 2
e Bt ARBEEE
BR T G IRF I E8% AT B o I
—E-N\F+ZA=+—H'B
%4 #935,250,00058 7T °

RZFE—AF=ZA+hB XK
S EREFEI S — DT
B TE R B8 2 AR
EE-E-NF—-A+tRAEE
—E-EF=-A=+—8 kX
REAR_ZE—-N\FE—HA+/\AH
RETTKH B IEEE SR T8
IRMEMNZIARNE  FRMER
8% REZ-_ZE—NE+=A
=t+-RIEFEHE EXNE
ANZ 48,990,000/ 7T
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23. DEPOSITS PAID (continued)

(a)

(b)

Deposit paid for acquisition of further
equity interests in a subsidiary (continued)
Since Yardley has agreed and has no right
to share the result of Delightful Hope and
its subsidiary during the transitional period
(i.,e. from 1 January 2019 to the date
of completion), the Group assessed the
impairment loss on the deposit paid based on
the carrying amount of the 50% of net assets
of Delightful Hope as at 31 December 2018. As
at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the carrying
amount of the 50% of net assets of Delightful
Hope as at 31 December 2018 was higher than
the carrying amount of the deposits paid, no
impairment loss of has been recognised for
both years.

On 31 March 2020, Skyline Top and Yardley
entered into another supplemental agreement,
pursuant to which the deadline of the
completion of the DHL Acquisition has been
further extended from 31 March 2020 to 30
September 2020.

The details of the DHL Acquisition were
disclosed in the announcement of the
Company dated 17 July 2017, 31 July 2017, 17
January 2018, 14 January 2019 and 31 March
2020.

Deposit paid for acquisition of a subsidiary
On 5 November 2019, Fantastic Alliance
Investments Limited (“Fantastic Alliance”),
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
and Topmass Trading Limited (“Topmass”), an
independence third party, entered into a sales
and purchase agreement pursuant to which
Topmass had agreed to sell and Fantastic
Alliance had agreed to purchase the entire
issued share capital of L&T Development
(HK) Limited (“L&T Development”) at a
consideration of HK$1,000,000 (the “L&T
Acquisition”).

L&T Development is a limited company
incorporate in Hong Kong and is holding a
motor vehicle equipped with a Mainland licence
plate.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE MR M
For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z—hF+-_A=1+—HLEE

23. B8RS (&)

(a) HWEBE—ENELNEMRE
& (&)
HRENRNBERE(BZF
—hWF-—A—RBEZKBH)E
REBEEEIERNRENE
NAEINEE NEBREBEN-F
—NEFE+_A=+—HAWMEE
FESO% M REEN HENES
WBREBE R_T—hhFRk=
Z-NEFE+_A=+—H8 Fh
RZE-NF+_A=+—HH
BEFMES0%ERESNEN
RENREE RZMEFES
BRI EEE -

R-ZE-_ZEF=ZA=+—H X
RS EE AT B — D R
BRI AlaEEETKER
HHEA - ET-TF=F=1+—
BE—HEE_FT_FTFNA
=+tH-

HEREEE L FBEREERAR
AR A-—Z—+tE+A++
H —Z—+&%+/A=+—H =
EZ-NF—A++tH - ZZE—N
F-A+NHEE-_ZT-_TF=A8
=+—BzAfe

(b) HUWE—EHBLARAEHZER
RZE—NAF+—HAARB X
A A2 &E &M B R AlFantastic
Alliance Investments Limited
([Fantastic Alliance ] ) E2%5 7
% = FTopmass Trading Limited
([Topmass ] )FI L —HE B #%
Bk TopmassE R & H &
HFantastic Alliance® R = &
B {8 A&1,000,0007 7T HL&T
Development (HK) Limited ( [L&T
Development | ) & & B 2 {TAR A
(ML&THEEIE]) -

L&T Development B E B A
M EBRA R FFA — A MR
MRy T EE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z—NF+-_A=1+—HLEFE
DEPOSITS PAID (continued)

23.

(b)

(c)

Deposit paid for acquisition of a subsidiary
(continued)

Upon the completion of the L&T Acquisition on
20 March 2020, L&T Development became a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Fantastic Alliance
and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had paid
HK$1,000,000 to Topmass as deposit.

Deposit paid for acquisition of a property
During the year ended 31 December 2019,
Chengwang Investment Consulting (Shenzhen)
Co., Ltd.("Chengwang Investment”), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
had agreed to purchase and a debtor of the
Group (“Debtor A”) had agreed to sell a
property located in the PRC at a consideration
of RMB13,000,000. The property was
originally pledged to China AF Finance Limited
("CAFFL"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, by Debtor A to secure the loan lent
to him.

On 21 March 2019, Chengwang Investment,
CAFFL and Debtor A entered into a settlement
agreement pursuant to which the consideration
of RMB8,500,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$9,499,000) would be settled through the
loan and interest receivables of CAFFL due from
Debtor A. As the carrying amount of the loan
and interest receivables due from Debtor A
was approximately RMB8,669,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$9,690,000), a loss on
settlement of loan and interest receivables
of approximately RMB169,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$191,000) was resulted.
During the year ended 31 December 2019,
the remaining balance of RMB4,500,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$5,029,000)
was settled by other receivables due from
Debtor A.

As at 31 December 2019, as the legal title
of the property has not been transferred to
the Group, RMB13,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$14,528,000) has been
recognised as deposit paid.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z—hF+-_A=1+—HLEE

24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 24, FEWARF R Hth B W FKIE
2019 2018
—E-hAE Z—ZE—N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FATT
Trade receivables arise from contracts B AHEAMNE 5 EWRFIE
with customers 5,414 3,045
Less: Allowance for credit losses B E BRI (142) (355)
5,272 2,690
Prepayments to suppliers ) 44 & R ) TR 5 RRIE 354 2,354
Deposits Ze 5,176 11,242
Other receivables H b fE Yo Fk18 13,564 11,067
18,740 22,309
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEEERE (122) 61)
18,618 22,248
24,244 27,292
As at 1 January 2018, trade receivables from contracts RZZFE-NF-—HA—HB BFEHNEAL
with customers amounted to HK$5,268,000. 8 5 U FTE A5,268,0005# TT ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2019

HE-_Z—NF+-_A=1+—HLEFE

24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)
The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables
net of allowance for credit losses presented based on
the invoice dates.

FE W B K e ELAth FE W SRR (4R
AT RENEERHHNE HEUGIEN
RIEEEEBENRE DT

2019 2018

—E-hE —ZT-N\F

HK$'000 HK$'000

THET FHET

0 to 30 days 0£30H 3,536 1,514
31 to 90 days 31£290H 1,730 70
Over 90 days @90 H 6 1,106
5,272 2,690

As at 31 December 2019, included in the Group's
trade receivables balance were debtors with aggregate
carrying amount of approximately HK$464,000 (2018:
HK$1,221,000) which were past due at the end
of the reporting period. As at 31 December 2019,
no outstanding trade receivable has been past due
90 days or more. As at 31 December 2018, trade
receivables of HK$1,453,000 have been past due 90
days or more and considered as in default.

As at 31 December 2019, included in the Group's
other receivables balance of RMB7,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$7,823,000)
(2018: RMB7,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$7,970,000)) represented consideration receivables
in relation to the disposal of the entire issued shares
of Shenzhen City Jintaiyuan Investment Development
Company Limited* (”“Shenzhen City Jintaiyuan”).
Details of the disposal are disclosed in Note 46. The
amount has been fully settled in April 2020.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other
receivables are set out in Note 41(b).
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R-E—-hAE+-_A=+—0 8§A
BIEX464,0008 T (2T — NF:
1,221,000/ 7T ) 2 FE Y BR 3k (7 3R 5 BF
RE@H)FALREE 2 E 5 EIFKIE
BEH-RZE-—hhF+=ZA=+—8"
BMEKREEE S EWKIAD @0 %
RNE-RZZ—-N\F+=—_A=+—8"
& 5 e W FIE 1,453,000 7T B 8 Hi90
P AL WIRBIFEEL -

R_ZE—NAF+_A=+—8 pHE
wImeREREZERER AR (FEY
MeER]) 2HEBTRMDMEKRRE
AR ENHMERFIEEHRARE
7,000,0007T (48 & P 497,823,000/ 7T )
—Z—N\%F: AR#¥7,000,0007T (4
B 47,970,000 7)) BB HE S
BRI B ERK 46 - ZEFEERN
—E-TFNARELEE -

B 28 e A R SR N B At R MR IRUR (B AT AR
R IBEIIN M E41(b)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B BRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z—hF+-_A=1+—HLEE

LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES 25. BERRERFE
2019 2018
—E-nE —TN\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Fixed-rate loan and interest receivables [& & F| = 59 & 2 & & U 71| &
— Secured —FE 25,792 38,942
— Unsecured —E R 2,345 6,311
28,137 45,253
Less: allowance for B EEEERE
credit losses (6,989) (11,038)
21,148 34,215
Analysed as: o R:
Current asset (within one year) mEEE(—FN) 21,148 34,215

As at 31 December 2019, included in the Group's
loan and interest receivables balance are debtors
with aggregate carrying amount of approximately
HK$19,616,000 (2018: HK$17,596,000) which has
been past due 90 days or more as at the reporting
date. Among those past due more than 90 days, the
Directors consider the credit risks of approximately
HK$17,271,000 (2018: HK$17,596,000) have
increased significantly and are considered as credit-
impaired. The Directors are in the view that there have
been no significant increase in credit risk nor default of
the remaining HK$2,345,000 (2018: Nil) based on the
repayment history and creditworthiness of that debtor.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note
41(b).

R-ZE—AF+_A=+—8 FEEL
BER%19,616,0008 7L (=& — \&F:
17,596,000/ 7T ) #) & W AR AT AR &
H o B R ERF SR & ERER
HRMEBBHE BHEA0H KA £ 1
ZEBMHIORU EZREF BEFR
A #917,271,0008 T (ZF — )\ F:
17,596,000/ 70 ) 2 12 E &k B 78 & 18
MR ABEEREBE - REZEBAN
BRCHEIEE ESRA FERR
I FEE L 0 B #22,345,0008 7T (=
T-N\F \E)TEBRIER-

B RSB E IR M E41(b)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019

BE
25.

—E-NF+TZA=T—RHILFE

LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES (continued)
The exposure of the Group's fixed-rate loan receivables
to interest rate risks and their contractual maturity
dates are as follows:

25.

ERRERRNE (&)
7R E2 B 7E B Wi B K P D e ) R R L B
KREAGHHREIINT :

2019 2018
—E-NEF —E—-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Fixed-rate loan receivables: EEEWER:

Within 1 year —FR 21,148 34,215
The ranges of effective interest rates (which are equal AEBERKERNERNE (EERR
to contractual interest rates) on the Group's loan BHRNE) ZEENT
receivables are as follows:

2019 2018
—EB-hEFE —ZE-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET

Effective interest rate: B =
Fixed-rate loan receivables
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z—hF+-_A=1+—HLEE

25. LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES (continued) 25. BEXRREWFNE (&)
The Group's loan and interest receivables that are KREBENHBEBRTENEEEUINE
denominated in currencies other than the functional EOENETLEIRF BE T :
currencies of the relevant group entities are set out
below:
2019 2018
—E-hEFE ZZ-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T FHET
RMB AR 10,575 16,621
The secured loan and interest receivables are secured EEMAER R EKF S HIELTRND
by the unlisted shares and properties of the borrowers. REFTOMERBEER R_ZE—LF
As at 31 December 2019, the fair value of collaterals +-_A=+—8 AEEEENIEES
held by the Group is approximately HK$27,456,000 NFEH A27,456,0008 T (ZF— N\
(2018: HK$62,070,000). 62,070,000/ 7T) °
As at 31 December 2019, included in the unsecured N—ZE—NF+_A=+—8 st A&
loan of approximately HK$2,247,000 was a loan to I E 42,247,000 T (Z T — N
the non-controlling interests of the Group (2018: 13,417,000 70) A& B IEE R 1
HK$3,417,000). The amount is secured by personal mZER-ZeBEmEARBRERR
guarantee and subject to a fixed interest rate of 7% BEFEMELET% (ZE—N\F:7%)
(2018: 7%) per annum.
26. LOANS TO ASSOCIATES 26. MEEATEHER
2019 2018
—BE-hAE —ZT—N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Unsecured fixed-rate loans EIRREERERER 32,318 29,020
Less: allowance for credit losses B EEBERE (759) (1,156)
31,559 27,864
Analysed as: R Iv=
Current asset (within one year) mBEE(—FN) 31,559 27,864
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019

BE
26.

—E-NF+TZA=T—RHILFE

LOANS TO ASSOCIATES (continued)

As at 31 December 2019, Union World International
Group Holdings Limited, an indirectly wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, had a loan balance
of RMB2,400,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$2,682,000) (2018: RMB2,400,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$2,667,000)) to Beijing HX and
the accrued interest is approximately RMB960,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$1,073,000)
(2018: RMB672,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$764,000)). The amount was unsecured, interest
bearing at a fixed rate of 12% (2018:12%) per annum
and repayable on demand.

As at 31 December 2019, Shenzhen Shengshi Fugiang
Technology Co., Ltd.*, an indirectly wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, had a loan balance
of RMB18,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$20,115,000) (2018: RMB18,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$20,530,000)) to Fuyu and the
accrued interest is approximately RMB7,560,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$8,448,000 (2018:
RMB4,320,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$5,059,000)). The amount was unsecured, interest
bearing at a fixed rate of 18% (2018: 18%) per
annum and repayable on demand.

Details of impairment assessment of loans to
associates are set out in Note 41(b).

The Group's loans to associates that are denominated
in currency other than the functional currencies of the
relevant group entities is set out below:

26.

ML ARELHER (&)
RZE—hAF+_A=1+—8 A2Q7A
FE2EWEB AR BB ERERER
ARAMLEREBERHOERLEHRAA
R #2,400,0007T (#HE 7 492,682,000
Br) (ZZF—N\F: AR®2,400,000
7T (A& R 492,667,000/8 7T) ) » FEH
F B %) A A RK960,0007T (HE RH
1,073,000 ) (—ZE—\F: AR
672,000t (FHE 7 49764,0007%8 L) ) °
ZREBERKE REEFMNEI2%
ZE-N\F:12%)5 B BAEEX

g -

R-E—AFF+_A=1+—H A2QA
MEE2EMBARIFY IR ZRREA
RABIMEKARREHROEREHRABAR
#18,000,0007T (#HE 7 4920,115,000
Br) (ZZT—)\F : AR¥ 18,000,000
7T (F88 7 4920,530,000%8 7T ) ) » fE&H
B4 B ANRET7,560,0000C (FHE R
#98,448,0008 L) (ZE—N\F: AR
#4,320,0007T (48 E R £95,059,000%
JL) ) e BB EER  RE T FF
E18% (ZZT—N\F:18% )18 BA

EESREE
JEESREE-

A= R BEL B R R EEFITER
K EE41(0) ©

—

NRSEEEEIFMEEREIAS
AR E R BIEL 2 ERESAT

2019 2018

—E-hE —ZT—N\F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FExT FET

RMB AR & 3,667 3,296

*  English name for identification only
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27.

28.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (“FVTPL")

27.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE MR M
For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-Z-AF+_A=t—AILEE
RAFEFABRZEHEE
(RAFEFABEZZEHE
El

2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FHET
Listed securities: EHES:
— Equity securities listed in —BRATFEINEZRBEE LT 2
Hong Kong, at fair value % 2 55 5 7,685 20,362

As at 31 December 2019, the listed equity
investments listed in Hong Kong with the fair value of
approximately HK$7,458,000 (2018: HK$20,362,000),
have been pledged to financial institutions to secure
the margin loans payables granted to the Group.
Details of margin loans payables are set out in Note
34.

For the valuation method of the financial assets at
FVTPL, please refer to Note 41(c).

BANK BALANCES AND CASH
Bank balances carry interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates.

For the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018,
the Group performed impairment assessment on
bank balances and concluded that the probability of
defaults of the counterparty banks is insignificant and
accordingly, no allowance for credit losses is provided.

28.

R—_ZE—-—AFE+-_A=Z=+—8"
REBLETHETRAEKRE (AT
B 47,458,000 L (=& — N\ F:
20,362,000/ 70) B 30 F — fH & Bh
B UEArAEEEREMRESE K.
B IRBEEFHFFIEEIINMIE34 -

ABARAFEFABRZZEREEN
BET L B2 RMEA0C) -

RITEHRREAS
RITHEBNRREE HRTTE 7 A

BHE_ZT—NWFEZT-N\F+ZAH
=+—BIEFE RAEEHRITERE
TRENE SENERA RHHF
IRITENMBRWAEX - Bt E5T
REEEBERE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019

BE
28.

29.

—E-NF+TZA=T—RHILFE

BANK BALANCES AND CASH (continued)
Included in bank balances and cash are the following
amounts which are subject to foreign exchange
control regulations or not freely transferrable:

28.

RITEHRRRE (&)
AT HRIA ARITHEH MRS BAXE
SMNEE BIERMRRK AR B hEE:

2019 2018
—E-NEF —E—-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FHET

Amounts denominated in: AT & EHER A |
RMB AR 735 7,192
United State Dollars (“USD") EL(IZ%EmT]) 120 160

Under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale
and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations,
the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other
currencies through banks authorised to conduct
foreign exchange business.

ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

On 29 October 2019, the Group entered into a sales
and purchase agreement with Mr. Cai Weiyuan (the
“Buyer”), an independent third party, to dispose
of eight of the investment properties held by the
Group which located in the PRC (the "Properties”)
at a consideration of approximately RMB69,450,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$77,610,000). As
at 31 December 2019, the Properties with carrying
amount of approximately RMB69,450,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$77,610,000) which are expected
to be sold within twelve months are classified as
assets held for sale and are presented separately in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The net proceed of disposal is expected to exceed the
net carrying amount of the Properties and accordingly
no impairment loss has been recognised.

Deposit of approximately RMB18,177,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$20,313,000) had been received
from the Buyer and included in trade and other
payables as at 31 December 2019 (Note 30).
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29.

REBEF B AR GMEEERD) & &
[ EENEEERE)  AEERE
BRERELEINERR 2 RITHARE
R EMER -

THEABETHEENEE
R-ZE—ALFE+A-_TILhB A&EH
HBYE=ARMREE([EF])ET
V-IHEERE LEHARERERN
URHPENNRREDE(IME]) -
KRB H AR #69,450,0007C (HEREL
77,610,0007T) c A ZZE—NF+=H
=+—H EHERMEAANLEMNZ
EMEMRMELH ARE9,450,0007T
(&R #4977,610,00087T) * H 1B A#H
EREEE URERAMBERARAD
FZ5 e

HESHZARFRFERRBEZS
Y% 2 BREDFHE - Bk I K FE AR AR FER
BEE-

A FR¥18,177,000 M2 & (FEE R
#920,313,000/% 7o) B 1 B 75 WA IF 74
—E-NAE+-A=1+—Bit AENE
PR E A FE (BRE30) o



29.

ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE
(continued)

Included in the Properties,
properties located in PRC with the fair value of
approximately RMB19,477,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$21,766,000) as at 31 December
2019 have been pledged to a bank to secure the
bank borrowing granted to the Group. Details of bank
borrowing are set out in Note 33(a).

certain investment

On 13 February 2020, the Buyer of the Properties
Disposal notified the Group that he has assigned all of
his rights in relation to the Properties Disposal to Mr.
Chen Chunhui*, being the new purchaser.

As at the report date, the Properties Disposal has
not been completed because not all the conditions
precedents have been fulfilled.

The details of the Properties Disposal were disclosed in
the announcement of the Company dated 29 October
2019, 24 February 2020, 9 April 2020 and the circular
of the Company dated 23 March 2020.

29.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE MR M
For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z—hF+-_A=1+—HLEE

TEABFEAHRLENEE (&)

—h&E+-_A=+—H8B %%
MEFR NRFBENRAFEHARE
19,477,0007T (485 7 #921,766,0007%
TIME TREVECERTRITESR
BRI AEBRITHEROER - RITER

Y RE B R 5E33(a) ©

R-ZZE-_TE_F+=R MELEZ
BERBAAEE HORKBRYELE
ZHBRENERETHENREESEL

RS BB AR IEPTE R RIS
BEK RO ESFHERTK

M E 2 HIERERAR DA B
—F-hEFt+A-thB —E-FF
—A=tmE —E-TFMAAEY

7,

NERARRD Tﬂﬂﬁ_g_giiﬂ
—t=Hz@®
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z—NF+-_A=1+—HLEFE
30. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

BN ERRREtESRE

2019 2018

—BE-hE —ZT—N\F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FH T FET

Trade payables (Note a) B S EMNZIE (MsFa) 3,803 30
Other payables (Notes b and ¢) E fth BT FE (MY sEb M B atc) 36,559 31,021
40,362 31,051

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables
presented based on the invoice date at the end of the
reporting period:

TERBRBEHURBREBEHZAHNZ2HR L
T BRI Z AR AT

2019 2018

—E-hnEFE —Z-N\F

HK$'000 HK$'000

THET FET

0 to 30 days 0Z230H 2,096 30
31 to 90 days 31£90H 1,587 -
Over 90 days 90H KA E 120 -
3,803 30

Notes:

The average credit period on purchases of goods is
21 days (2018: 15 days). The Group has financial
risk management policies in place to ensure that all
payables are settled within the credit time frame.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the
unsettled amount payable to the bondholder of CB-
Il (as defined in Note 37) of HK$23,500,000 was
reclassified to other payables. As at 31 December
2018, HK$21,500,000 remain unsettled. The amount
was unsecured and interest-free.

On 25 January 2019, the amount was novated to a
financial institution and reclassified to borrowings.
Details of which are set out in Note 33(e).

As at 31 December 2019, included in other
payables is a deposit received of approximately
RMB18,177,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$20,313,000) in relation to the disposal of
Properties Disposal (Note 29).
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BEERCTHEERAR1A(ZE
—N\F:158) - AEERBRER
EBECR  REIRATE B BRFAE
BEHRLEE-

REzE—2—\F+_A=+—H1t
FE-BATFAIRBRESZ (EER
M&37) c EHERBBAZKRGEEEN
FXIE23,500,0008 T E D EE E M fE
NEE-RZE-N\F+ZA=+—
H - 21,500,000/ JT &) 7K &5 08 ° 5% X
HIhBEERERE

R-ZE—-NF—A-+HHB %A
WERT—REMER WEHHE
AR FFIBEHI A M FE33() °

R-—ZE—-hE+-A=+—8" 5
AEMENREAEBRHEZSD
EHEZBHEREZSHARE
18,177,0007T (48 & M 4920,313,000
&or) (FIFE29) -



30.

31.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B BRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z—hF+-_A=1+—HLEE

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued) 300 BENBERFREMENSTE (F)
The Group’s other payables that are denominated in REFAHBEETZINEE® 2N
currencies other than the functional currencies of the B ENEMEMNZESHY O
relevant group entities are set out below:
2019 2018
—E-hEF — )\
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
RMB AR 1,493 -
CONTRACT LIABILITIES 31. AHAE
2019 2018
—E-hE —N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Current Bl &8
Provision of financial service RIS ERE - 1,940
As at 1 January 2018, contract liabilities amounted to R-ZFE-N\FE—-A-R AKEER
HK$1,335,000. 1,335,000/ 7T -
Contract liabilities, that are not expected to be HERAREBREF#EE Fﬁuu‘iﬁﬁ“ﬁﬁ?
settled within the Group’s normal operating cycle, FEB AHIERNAEENEERLS
are classified as current and non-current based on ﬁ,ﬁﬁW%ﬁﬁ’ﬂé%@%%%iﬁﬁﬁﬂ%&#
the Group’s earliest obligation to transfer goods or e
services to the customers.
The following table shows how much of the revenue TRINTRAFERRBHZ DU s B
recognised in the current year relates to carried- EEANBREERARE VBB HfR
forward contract liabilities and how much relates to BITHRAEREERE-
performance obligations that were satisfied in prior
periods.
Provision of
financial service
RESBR%E
2019 2018
—E-hEF —N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Revenue recognised that was included st AF YA LB EEHE
in the contract liability balance at the B R Uz
beginning of the year 1,940 710
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019

BE
31.

32.

33.

—E-NF+TZA=T—RHILFE

CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued) 31. B EE(H)
Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of FTEMRNENBES MR K
contract liabilities recognised are as follows: B INE
Provision of financial services BHSRER®E
When the Group receives a deposit before the EARERREETHEL Y BTWEIES
production activity commences, this will give rise to B kRS ORERELASNEE &
contract liabilities at the start of a contract, until the EEBAE RN KEB BRSNS
revenue recognised on the relevant contract exceeds o AEB MNP ESTERINEBE3I%
the amount of the deposit. The Group typically B50% M REBILS -
receives a deposit ranged from 33% to 50% of service
fee on acceptance of the engagements.
AMOUNTS DUE TO NON-CONTROLLING 32. ENFERBRRERNE
INTERESTS
The amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and BERZmE v EIER . 48 RARERE
repayable on demand. o
BORROWINGS 33. BN
2019 2018
=E-AF T N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTHET TET
Bank borrowings, secured RITIEF - BEA 18,766 19,616
Other borrowings, unsecured E it fE 50 | 34,212 10,000
Other borrowings, secured EHiE R A 10,000 6,000
44,212 16,000
Total borrowings BER 62,978 35,616

China Eco-Farming Limited FEIB ¥ £ REFRA 7
Annual Report 2019 == — AL FF R




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z—hF+-_A=1+—HLEE

33. BORROWINGS (continued) 33. EFH(8\)
Carrying amount repayable (based on scheduled EEEFEEREE (RRBRE I
repayment dates set out in the loan agreements): WIBTEZEE) :
2019 2018
—E-hEFE ZZT-)N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
THET FHT
The carrying amounts of the bank AR A TN A A B E A RTT
borrowing is repayable*: BERHREE
Within one year —F LR - 11,386
The carrying amounts of the other AR T B R AEES
borrowings are repayable*: EMERNEEE" :
Within one year —FE AR 24,600 16,000
After one year but within two years —EMF 19,612 -
44,212 16,000
The carrying amounts of bank HBEREERERIEREBEER T
borrowings that contain a repayment B & A8 2 MR 1T &K
on demand clause (shown under (RmBEREETIIR)H
current liabilities) but repayable: ARTHE(A -
Within one year —FLAA 661 639
After one year but within two years —EMF 674 639
After two years but within five years MZEAF 2,118 1,916
After five years FEE 4,155 5,036
7,608 8,230
The carrying amount of bank borrowings B iz & 5% 3 % M
that are repayable on demand due BREREEZRITER
to breach of loan covenants (shown (RREBBEETIIR) A
under current liabilities) RmEE 11,158 -
18,766 8,230
Total borrowings B 62,978 35,616
Less: Amounts due within one year B —FREENESE
shown under current liabilities (RRBAEETIIR) (43,366) (35,616)
Amounts shown under non-current FEMBAEB T TR
liabilities 19,612 -
* The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment * BB R E R BEMEMN T RTE
dates set out in the loan agreements. A ARHEEE.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Qﬂ-t-_A
wh 9
For the year ended 31 December 2019

T-NF+ZA=+—HLFE

BEZ
33.

B35 SRR MY RE

BORROWINGS (continued) 33. EFH(8\)
Borrowings comprise: BZaE:
Effective
Maturity date interest rate 2019 2018
| BB F= _
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHEL
Fixed- Tate borrowmgs
)E % = /TA
6.525% secured bank borrowing 19 December 2019 6.525% 11,158 11,386
of approximately RMB9,985,000
(2018: RMB10,000,000) (Note a)
M E &b, 525%Z7ﬁ}ﬂﬁ3§imam —hE+=ZA+NH
#) AR #9,985,0007 ( = — \&F :
AR #10,000,0007t) (Pf3ta)
Interest-free un?ecured other 31 December 2021 Interest-free 5,084 -
borrowing of RMB4,550,000
(Note b
SR EEMEMER —e-—& %8
AR #4,550,0007T (FizEb) +-A=+-—-8
Interest-free un?ecured other 31 December 2021 Interest-free 14,528 -
borrowing of RMB13,000,000
(Note ¢)
GRZEEALMER —e-—& %8
AR #13,000,0007T (HfzEc) +-A=+-—-8
18% unsecured other borrowing of 22 November 2019 18% 5,000 5,000
HK$5,000,000 (Note d) (2018: 22 March 2019)
MR 318% < 15 H i & 50 —E-NF
5,000,000 7t (Ffi#Ed) +—HAZ+=H
(_g NE:
b M
—A=-+=RH)
18% unsecured other borrowing of 7 December 2019 18% 5,000 5,000
HK$5,000,000 (Note d) (2018: 7 June 2019)
MR 318% < S5 H i B 50 “Z-hF+-AEH
5,000,000/ 7T (Pf3Ed) :2 N
—NERAER)
15% gnsecured other borrowing of 28 December 2019 15% 3,500 -
HK$21,500,000 (Note e)
FIE B 15% 2 3 0 {2 30 e
21,500,00078 7T (Fizte) +ZAZ+N\H
10% gnsecured other borrowing of 28 February 2020 10% 1,100 -
HK$1,100,000 (Note f)
I 5310% 2 SR 2 A £5 50 —E-TE-_A-+N\R
1,100,000 7T, (BT &ESF)
12% s$ecured other borrowing of 22 April 2019 12% - 6,000
HK$6,000,000 (Note g)
FIFA12%2 B o3 _hEmA=+-A
6,000,000 7t (Fif3Eg)
12% s$ecured other borrowing of 27 April 2020 12% 10,000 -
HK$10,000,000 (Note h)
ﬂzﬁu%zﬁg%gM%ﬁ —E-TENA-++1A
10,000,00075 7T (HizEh)
55,370 27,386

NEFH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B BRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z—hF+-_A=1+—HLEE

BORROWINGS (continued) 33. B (#&)
Borrowings comprise: (continued) EReiE: (&)
Effective
Maturity date interest rate 2019 2018
58 A EBAZ g ;2 =z s
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FET
Floating-rate borrowing:
LY -8
Saving deposit rate plus a fixed spread 9 April 2030 2.05% 7,608 8,230
rate secured bank borrowing
of NTD29,546,000 (2018:
NTD32,088,000) (Note i)
REREFFMNEMETSZFEZ ZFT=FFMANA
BERBRITEFI K
29,546,000 (= F — /14 ¢
1 2%32,088,0007T) (P&
62,978 35,616
Notes: i
(a) The secured bank borrowing is secured by two (a) ZBEBRRITER D ARNEE LR

investment properties of the Group located in the
PRC. As at 31 December 2019, those investment
properties are classified as assets held for sales
as disclosed in Note 29 and with fair value of
approximately RMB19,477,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$21,766,000). As at 31 December
2018, those investment properties were with fair
value of approximately RMB26,121,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$29,742,000) as disclosed in
Note 19. The secured bank borrowing is bearing an
overdue interest rate at 9.7875% per annum and has
been fully repaid on 6 January 2020.

(b) The unsecured other borrowing was obtained from
Lender A as defined in Note 22(b). According to
the loan agreement, the Group has to reimburse
Lender A for its costs of financing, which includes
the interest rate of 8% per annum borne by Lender
A. Those reimbursements have been recognised as
financial costs of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2019 (Note 9).

FENRBEEMEEER RZZ
—NWF+ZA=+—8 0 E29F7
B 2SREVESBERIFELE
BE NFEHNAARE19,477,000
7T (FHE 1 4921,766,0008 7T) ° 1Y
—“E-NF+-B=+—8" Wk
19T E ZSREVENAFE
A H A R%26,121,0007 (HER4
29,742,000/ L) -z B R IRIT 5
REV B EF R 59.7875% BB R =
T-TE-ANNAHEE-

(b) EIEBEMERTREFA(EER
B 5E22(b) ) BN/ - IR IE B 5K e
SEABNEAFARERAE  BNBE
B AEES% M EFE - ZFEMNE
WHERAAEEFE_T—LFt+=
A=+—BHLFEZBMEKAE (KT
9)°
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z—NF+-_A=1+—HLEFE
BORROWINGS (continued)
Notes: (continued)

33.

()

(f)

The unsecured other borrowing was obtained from
Gold Wide, an associate of the Group. According
to the loan agreement, the Group has to reimburse
Gold Wide for its costs of financing, which includes
the interest rate of 8% per annum borne by Gold
Wide (Note 21). Those reimbursements have been
recognised as financial costs of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2019 (Note 9).

Pursuant to the deed of settlement dated 31
December 2019, the Group and Gold Wide
canvassed amongst themselves that, instead of the
Group repaying this borrowing to Gold Wide, the
Group shall repay to Entity A (as defined in Note 36).
Any sums paid and/or to be paid by the Group to
Gold Wide pursuant to this borrowing shall be paid
and discharged in accordance therewith.

The unsecured other borrowings were obtained from
a financial institution in Hong Kong. The unsecured
other borrowing has been fully repaid on 11 February
2020.

On 25 January 2019, other payable of
HK$21,500,000 was novated to a financial institution
and reclassified to borrowings. The amount is
unsecured, carries interest at 15% per annum and
repayable in 10 installments from 28 March 2019 to
28 December 2019.

The unsecured other borrowing was obtained from
Mr. So David Tat Man, executive director of the
Company.

The secured other borrowing is obtained from a
financial institution in Hong Kong and is secured
by an investment property of the Group located
in Hong Kong with fair value of approximately
HK$13,000,000 as disclosed in Note 19.

The secured other borrowing is obtained from a
financial institution in Hong Kong and is secured
by an investment property of the Group located
in Hong Kong with fair value of approximately
HK$13,000,000 as disclosed in Note 19.
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&= (8&)
Py aE - (48)

(©

EEMEMERTINE L (KEE—
BEERBDRG -REERG#
AEEABRNESLAERERAN G
HE WA YE8% M A X (FHEE21) -
ZEENERER/AEERE_F
“NF+ZA=+—BIFEZRME
AA (KEEE9) o

BREAPR-Z-NF+_A=1+—
RHBERE AEBREARE
AEBEEARNSMEEZERR B
AEBEEAMEBAMEEE @A (E
HAMIEE36) - TAAKREREZE
fEREN R,/ S & AR EAIRIA
R AR B S SRR BR

ZEREMEMERINEE MR
HWERG ZEEREMERER S
T_TF_At+—HEHEE-

R-E-NE—A-+HA HibfE
~5I821,500,000/8 7L E EH =S 7l
BB EF D BEEER - ZRBTHE
AR R EFRI5% B BR T
—NFZAZ+N\BRRE-_FT—NF
+— A+ NELTHIEE-

AR ELA B ST B SR AR ER
B HEXEERTRRNITES

AP EE 9T R BR - s A IR A M 1E
RIRBERSREBIG  BURE
B REENREMEEERT EQ
E{E#) 413,000,000/ 7T ©

AP FE 9T R BR - s A IR A M 1E
RIRBERSREBIG  BUARE
B REENREMEEERT EQ
E{E#) 413,000,000/ 7T ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B BRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z—hF+-_A=1+—HLEE

BORROWINGS (continued) 33. R (&)

Notes: (continued) PHsE: (4&)

0) The secured bank borrowing is secured by an 0) BN FE19FT K FE - iZ B ERIRITE
investment property of the Group located in HAREBAR G ENREYENE
Taiwan with carrying amount of NTD68,600,000 IR HEREEE A & 68,600,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$17,664,000) 7T (MER 417,664,000/ 1) (=
(2018: NTD74,500,000 (equivalent to approximately T — )\ 4 : ¥ & ¥74,500,0007T (1
HK$19,109,000)) as disclosed in Note 19. The bank S A4919,109,000/8 7T ) ) < SRITER
borrowing is repayable in 180 monthly instalments AR ZE—RAFRAANLBRE-ZT=
commencing on 9 May 2015 to 9 April 2030. It EFEMABNHEDISEAB D HIEE -
carries a saving deposit rate plus a fixed spread rate SHESSEREEREZNEZINE
of 0.62% per annum in the first year, 0.87% per TEEEHE FHNEREEAE062%:
annum in the second year and 0.97% per annum E_FABOSTNNE=ZZTHFAE
from the third to fifteen year. 0.97% °

The Group's borrowings that are denominated in AEENABEEBRERNEEE 2N

currencies other than the functional currencies of the EEAENERE BT

relevant group entities are set out below:

2019 2018
—E-hAEFE —Z=-)N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET

RMB AR 19,612 -

As at the end of the reporting period, the Group has REEHRK NEBBAENASHAEZE

the following undrawn credit facilities: HEWMT:

2019 2018
—®-nE ZZT)\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
Fi# T
Fixed rate (& 7E ) 2=
— expiring beyond one year ——F A EHIE 60,000 -
MARGIN LOANS PAYABLES 3. ENEHREEE

As at 31 December 2019, the margin loans payables
were secured by the listed equity securities placed in
financial institutions as disclosed in Notes 22(a) and
27 under the margin accounts, with fair value of
approximately HK$7,458,000 (2018: HK$30,504,000).

The margin loans payables were repayable on
demand as they were subjected to margin call from
the financial institutions and interest rates ranging
from 6.50% to 10.25% per annum (2018: 10% per
annum).

R-FE—h&E+-_A=+—8 Ef
RESEREHFRM 220 X W =
IBENCREENRESEFNA
AEBBEELTRABSERTE A
F{E#7,458,0008 T (—ZF — )\ F:
30,504,000/ 7T) ©

HREMRESERELRZSREEN
RESER WEBKEREE BF
FZEE6.50%%10.25% (ZF— )\ F:
FRRI10% ) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019

BE
35.

36.

—E-NF+TZA=T—RHILFE

LEASE LIABILITIES 35. HEAE
2019
—E-NF
HK$'000
TET
Lease liabilities payable: ENHEEaE:
Within one year —FR 1,107
Within a period of more than one year —FEMFHER
but not more than two years 1,402
Within a period of more than two years MEEZRFHER
but not more than five years 1,234
3,743
Less: Amount due for settlement with 12 months & : E’\/m@JE\T,\IETﬁ‘JT\ZEA‘T'_ﬂH
shown under current liabilities NEBFEE 2R (1,107)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months RIERBBEE TR 2R TR AR
shown under non-current liabilities Al ,\Eﬁz%(lﬁ 2,636
FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACT 36. HIBIEREHY
As at 31 December 2019, the Group issued financial N-_ZE—-NF+-_A=+—H K"&EH

guarantee to Entity A (as defined in Note 19) as to
secure the Loan B granted to Gold Wide, an associate
of the Group. The term of the financial guarantee
contract is from the grant date of Loan B to the date
falling three years after the due date (Note 21). Gold
Wide is the lender of the interest-free unsecured other
borrowing of RMB13,000,000 as detailed in Note
33(0).

If the guarantees were called upon in entirety, the
aggregate amounts that could be required to be
paid amounted to approximately RMB13,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$14,528,000). As at
31 December 2019, the financial guarantee have not
been utilised by Gold Wide.

At the end of the reporting period, total carrying
amount of approximately HK$727,000 has been
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position. Details of the loss allowance for financial
guarantee contract are set out in Note 41(b).
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37.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

Convertible bonds | and Convertible bonds Il

On 29 May 2015, Delightful Hope, Yardley and Rich
Best Asia Limited, an entity owned by the shareholder
of the Company, entered into a sale and purchase
agreement pursuant to which Rich Best Asia Limited
("Rich Best Asia”) has agreed to sell and Delightful
Hope has agreed to purchase 1 ordinary share in
China Smart Asia Limited, which representing 100%
equity interest, at a consideration of HK$93,000,000,
which shall be settled and discharged by Delightful
Hope in accordance with the time, mode and manner
set out under the sale and purchase agreement.

The aggregated consideration of HK$93,000,000,
of which (i) HK$46,500,000 shall be satisfied by
Delightful Hope and Yardley by cash or cashier order
upon the completion of acquisition; and (ii) the
remaining balance of the consideration in the sum of
HK$46,500,000 shall be settled and discharged by
the issuance of the Company’s convertible bonds to
the Chinese Strategic Holdings Limited, the ultimate
holding company of Rich Best Asia, and as follows,
(i) the Convertible bonds A (“CB-1") in the principal
amount of HK$23,000,000; and (ii) the Convertible
bonds B (“CB-II") in the principal amount of
HK$23,500,000 upon the completion of acquisition.

Upon exercise of conversion rights attaching to the
CB-lI and CB-Il, 92,000,000 and 94,000,000 new
shares shall be issued.

The completion of the acquisition involving the issue
of CB-I and CB-Il as a consideration took place on 20
August 2015.

For the year ended 31 December 2016, transaction
costs directly attributable to issue of the CB-I and
CB-Il amounted to approximately HK$702,000 are
allocated to liability and equity components on initial
recognition.

37.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PNt AR
For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_ZT-—hF+-_A=1+—BLFE
ARRES
ARRES -—RABRRKRES =
R-ZE—RAFRA-t+HLB Fh &
F| KRich Best Asia Limited (—E B &
NREIRREENER)FILEE ek
¥ It - Rich Best Asia Limited ([Rich Best
Asia)EREBEEE MEMERERE
ERDMNERARMBRERARKR(ER
100%# %5 ) » X {& /593,000,0007% 7T -
I % R A AR IR B F 1 5% P &SI 0 R
i R R BB E -

4R {8 293,000,000 7T £ (i)
46,500,000/ 7T 78 F 7 1) M g ) B LB
EEEXNEABRSHBITEAELMN K
(VR B 54 H 546,500,000 7T 0 78
FB 72N A &) 5A Uk B =5 T8 ST AK s [ Rich Best
Asiafx SRYERE N A1 EE ASRBS IR B R A
7] 2 77())7N % %8 423,000,000/ 7T H) A
BIEEFA (TARESF—]) KA
< %A /23,500,0007 7T & 7] 32 % & 5B
([T ES — | IER T REE -

KA ESF— B ES [
B EEITE % 0 92,000,000 &
94,000,0000% %7 B (7 #5 T LA B 17

W RETAMA R E S — R A BRERES
ERRENKESER -F—1F\A
—t+H®EKe

BE-Z—RNE+-A=+—8HI1%F
BT BRES — N BRRES -
JEMR B 12 X 5 A A #9702,00058 JT 12 1)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z—NF+-_A=1+—HLEFE

37. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued) 37. WBRES (&)
Convertible bonds | and Convertible bonds Il ERESE—RUBRRKRESE = (&)
(continued)
As disclosed in the Company’s circular dated 27 July HWAANTHEAE -_ET—HE+ A
2015 (the “Circular”), the principal terms of the CB-I —t++BzEH([BX])REE . ok
and CB-Il are as follows: BiEH— RARRES — 8 B HRA
T
CB-I CB-lI
ARRES— ABRES=
Principal amount : HK$23,000,000 HK$23,500,000
REHE © 23,000,000/ 7T 23,500,000/ 7T
Conversion price : HK$0.25 HK$0.25
BAE © 02587 0.258 7T
Interest . The Convertible Bonds shall not The Convertible Bonds shall not
bear any interest. bear any interest.
A D ABRRESLEEAE - AR E 2 I AL A8 -
Maturity date : 31 March 2017 30 September 2018
FIER . ZE—+tF=A=+—H —E-N\FHhA=TH
Transferability . Subject to compliance with the GEM Listing Rules and regulatory

requirements, the convertible bonds may be transferred to any
person provided that where the convertible bonds is intended to be
transferred to a connected person (as defined in the GEM Listing
Rules) (other than the associates of the holders of the convertible
bonds), such transfer shall comply with the requirements under
the GEM Listing Rules and/or requirements imposed by the Stock
Exchange, if any. Any transfer of the convertible bonds shall be in
respect of the whole or any part (in multiples of HK$500,000) of the
outstanding principal amount of the convertible bonds.

AIEE M D RETGEMETRAINEERTENBERT  AIBRES T EZE T
AL HRASRRESREZET —2EEA LT (ERERGEMETR
A) (AIREFHAEAZBEARIN)  BHEEANSGEMLET
MAIZHRE R I XN HRE (10F) o ATRRE SR 2 EHE
EARFBRES MABRLR AN 2P AEMEBH (500,000 7T
A QI
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CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

Convertible bonds | and Convertible bonds Il
(continued)

Conversion

Each holder of the CB-I and CB-Il shall have the right,
exercisable during the Conversion Period (as defined
in the Circular) to convert the whole or any part (in
multiples of HK$500,000) of the outstanding principal
amount of the CB-I and CB-Il held by such holder
of CB-I and CB-Il into such number of conversion
shares as will be determined by dividing the principal
amount of the CB-I and CB-Il to be converted by the
conversion price in effect on the date of conversion.
No fraction of a share shall be issued on conversion
of the CB-l and CB-Il. The Company shall pay a cash
amount in HK$ equal to such amount of CB-I and CB-
Il that are not converted.

Redemption

All CB-I and CB-Il which have not been redeemed or
converted in accordance with the terms and conditions
of the CB-I and CB-Il instruments by their maturity
dates shall be redeemed by the Company on their
maturity dates at a redemption amount equal to
100% of the principal amount of such CB-I and CB-Il.

37.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE MR M
For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z—hF+-_A=1+—HLEE
AR ESs (&)
TRRES -—RITBERES = (&)

B8
BuABRRES - EKRBRESF-_FE
ABERBERB(TEERBR)EZE
MR ES —RABRRES ZFE AR
BRI RRES —KABRRESFZ-ZNHZ
=5k {E{a] 265> (500,00078 7T 2 1= £ 1
RELOASHEER A —TEHERRKR
M ZEESRETERNITBRKRES
— R BB ES A ERAERE B
BRNBRREETE BTSSR ERITR
BfEH— AR ESF M7 -
RARVENB T RSN R EER Y
ARRESF —RIBRRESF —SBE2R
-

=)

FrA R BIER B A A RAR R S R R AE
H— RAMARRAE 5 — SR Z R R &1
Bk Eg ik s RIS 5 — M Al RS
FZABMARRRZFHHBERBZER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e

B35 SRR MY RE

For the year ended 31 December 2019

HE

37.

—E-NF+TZA=T—RHILFE

CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

Convertible bonds | and Convertible bonds Il
(continued)

Redemption (continued)

The CB-l and CB-Il contains the following components
that are required to be separately accounted for:

(i) Liability component for the CB-l and CB-
Il represented the present value of the
contractually determined stream of future
cash flows discounted at the rate of interest
at the date of issue with reference to the
market rate for instruments of comparable
credit status taking into account the credit
risk of the Company as well as the amount of
the CB-I and CB-Il without conversion option,
plus allocated transaction costs. The effective
interest rate of the liability component for CB-I
and CB-ll is 8.82% and 9.27%, respectively.

(ii) Equity component represents the difference
between the fair values of the CB-I & CB-
Il and the fair values assigned to the liability
components less allocated transaction costs.
The fair values of the entire CB-I and CB-
Il are HK$23,000,000 and HK$23,500,000
respectively, were valued by Asset Appraisal
Limited.

(iii) CB-I was matured on 31 March 2017 and
reclassify to other payable with principal
amount of HK$23,000,000 and accrued
penalty interest calculated at the fixed rate
of 5% per annum as agree with CB-l bonds
holder. The amount was fully settled during the
year ended 31 December 2018.

(iv) CB-Il was matured on 30 September 2018
and reclassify to other payable with principal
amount of HK$23,500,000. Details of which
are set out in Note 30(b).
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RZANBERRRERRE
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EF—ZRAFEEASETARE
%ﬁz FEZEZBERE DR
R Al IR E T — KAl
BREF-ZOE2HMRFED NS
23,000,0007% 7T £223,500,000/8
T RERAFEDAPHERE
HEBRARIPTEE.

(i) FABMBRESF-R_FT—tF=H
=+t—BEH Ié%ﬁ’“*ﬁi’%ﬁ
& %8 /523,000,000 7T #) H ) fE
NROR - A EI £ F BIR AT X
BHE—WESFHEARBENE
Eiﬂ 5%t E o X RO NE
—E-N\Ft+-A=t+—H1t
ﬂzﬁiﬁgzn/ﬁ

(iv) FAIBEEF-_R_ZE—NFNA
—THIH YEHIEALS
%8 /523,500,000 JT H E b & <
FIE - B IEE N M EE30(b) ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z—hF+-_A=1+—HLEE

37. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued) 37. AERES (E)
Convertible bonds | and Convertible bonds Il R EE—RIBRRBRES = (&)
(continued)
Redemption (continued) [E] (4F)
The movements of the CBs are set out below: AR ELSZEFHELMT
Liability Equity
component component Total
EERS Emdo it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET TET
At 1 January 2018 R-ZZE—N\FE—H—H 21,687 5,699 27,386
Effective interest expense (Note 9) BERFA B (MFF9) 1,813 - 1,813
Lapse of CB-ll AHRRESR K - (5,699) (5,699)
Reclassify to other payable (Note 30) B ¥ %) %8 & H th &+
IA (M13E30) (23,500) - (23,500)
At 31 December 2018 R=-ZB-—N\F
+=ZB=+—H - - -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019

BE
38.

—E-NF+TZA=T—RHILFE

DEFERRED TAXATION

The followings are the major deferred tax liabilities
recognised and movements thereon during the current
and prior reporting periods:

IESEBL I
AT RARS R RBE

HEHREE

ERRBTEHAR BEREBRD:

Fair value
Accelerated changes of
tax investment
depreciation properties Total
REMEN
MEBBTE ATEEH @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TEX
At 1 January 2018 RZE-NF—H—H 327 21,206 21,533
Credited to consolidated statement ~ FEHRABZKEM2EKER
of profit or loss and other i)
comprehensive income for the year (130) 793 663
Exchange differences arising from the B & ELRER Z5
balances - (174) (174)
At 31 December 2018 RZZE-\$+-A=+—H 197 21,825 22,022
Credited to consolidated statement ~ FEGRABERIEMEZEANKER
of profit or loss and other Bk
comprehensive income for the year (197) (6,279) (6,476)
Exchange differences arising from the B#&HELMELZHE
balances - (334) (334)
At 31 December 2019 R-ZB-N&E+ZA=1-H - 15,212 15,212

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has
unused tax losses of approximately HK$181,147,000
(2018: HK$143,311,000) available for offsetting
against future profits. No deferred tax has be
recognised in respect of such losses (2018: Nil) due to
the unpredictability of future profit streams. The losses
may be carried forward indefinitely.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has
deductible temporary differences of approximately
HK$8,350,000 (2018: HK$2,775,000). No deferred tax
asset has be recognised in respect of such deductible
temporary difference as it is not probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences can recognise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B BRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2019

BE-T-NF+-A=t+—HIEE

39. SHARE CAPITAL 39. HﬁZ‘K
Nominal
value Number of
per share shares Amount
EREE RAEE X ]
HK$ HK$'000
BT FTAET
Authorised ordinary shares: EE R
1 January 2018 RZZE-\F—A—H 0.02 9,130,434,785 182,609
Share consolidation (Note d (i)) Bt A B (BTEEda)) NATER  (8,217,391,307) -
Share sub-division (Note d (iii)) Bin 5 5 (M EEd(i)) NAT@ER  17,347,826,092 -
At 31 December 2018, “E-N\E+ZA=1+-8"
and 31 December 2019 “E-NFtZA=T- 0.01 18,260,869,570 182,609
Issued and fully paid ordinary shares: Eﬁ&ﬂ&ﬂ%‘%@ CER
At 1 January 2018 Z—\&—H—H 0.02 6,103,552,488 122,071
Placing of new shares (Note b) EE%%ﬁWﬁ (Fi7EDb) 0.02  1,200,000,000 24,000
Issue of shares upon settlement of REE SRR ERETRN
contingent consideration GEL)
(Note a) 0.02 2,771,813 55
Issue of shares in consideration %1 ?H&LW’FEHQH% B
for the acquisition of subsidiary RE (P
(Note ¢) 0.02 465,000,000 9,300
Share consolidation (Note (i) B B (BEEdG)) NATER  (6,994,191,871) -
Capital reduction (Note d(ii)) REAE A (B REdi) ) N/A 7 - (147,655)
At 31 December 2018 RZE—-\F+ZA=+—H 0.071 777,132,430 7,771
Placing of new shares (Note e) B &R (Hike) 0.01 155,420,000 1,554
At 31 December 2019 R=ZB-NE+=ZA=+-H 0.01 932,552,430 9,325
Authorised convertible preference FEARRELR:
shares:
At 1 January 2018, W_Z-\F-A—8"
31 December 2018, “E-N\ETZA=1-
and 31 December 2019 —“T-AFtTZRA=1— 0.1 173,913,043 17,391
Issued and fully paid convertible ERTRESCMARKRELR:
preference shares:
At 1 January 2018, “Z-\¥-A—-R
31 December 2018, “E-\FtZA=1—
and 31 December 2019 ZE-NETZA=T— 0.1 = =
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z—NF+-_A=1+—HLEFE
SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

39.

Notes:

(a)

On 29 July 2016, a wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company, Treasure Max Investment Holdings
Limited (the “Purchaser”) and Ms. Kwok Shuk Kam
(the “Vendor”) entered into a sale and purchase
agreement (the “Sale and Purchase Agreement”),
pursuant to which the Vendor has agreed to sell
the Sale Shares (as defined in the Company's
announcement dated 29 July 2016) to the Purchaser
and the Purchaser has agreed to acquire the Sale
Shares from the Vendor. The Consideration in the
sum of up to HK$4,212,000 (subject to adjustment)
shall be satisfied by cash of HK$2,600,000 and up to
HK$1,612,000 by issue of not more than 12,400,000
consideration shares at HK$0.13 per consideration
share under the General Mandate granted to the
Directors at the Company’s annual general meeting
held on 4 May 2016.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the
Company issued 2,771,813 ordinary shares at par
value of HK$0.02 per share on a pro rata basis to
the Vendor since only 45% of the target profit after
tax have been met. Details are set out in Note 47. As
a result of this transaction, share capital and share
premium have been increased by approximately
HK$55,000 and approximately HK$305,000
respectively.
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RZE—ARFELAZ+NB KRQF
2EMBAREERELERBRA
(B BEspR=ELaL ([EFH))
SIVEEWE ([EEHE]) Bt
EHERBRESZLEHERD (F
ERARABMA_ZT—RFtAH
ZtHtABRMAH)MEAERERE
FUREBHEERD REAGEXESZ A
4,212,000% 7T (A] FHE) - WIAR
2,600,000 T2 1 + A RIR IR —/%
B (RBERAATRZZE—X"FHA
MEHBTZBRRERAFAE LB TE
) IRBRARERD0AIBITLETH
HBi812,400,0000x B D AT &
%1,612,0007 7T °

E T \FE+-_A=1+—HItE
B ARERLH1E572,771,813F
REE0.02B T EmR TE S A
EED B RBRBEENA5% - 5515
B2 AT cEHRULAR S R
KR mEE 2 51 H14955,0007 7T
T #9305,0005% 7T



39. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)
Notes: (continued)

(b)

(0

On 9 March 2018, the Company and Kingston
Securities Limited (the “1st Placing Agent”) entered
into the placing agreement, pursuant to which the
Company has conditionally agreed to place, through
the 1st Placing Agent, on a best effort basis a
maximum of 1,200,000,000 ordinary shares of the
Company at a placing price of HK$0.083 per placing
share (the “2018 Placing”).

The completion of the 2018 Placing took place on
29 March 2018 and 1,200,000,000 shares have
been allotted. The gross proceeds from the 2018
Placing were HK$99,600,000. The net proceeds after
deducting the placing commission and other related
expenses were approximately HK$96,909,000.
Further details of the 2018 Placing are set out in the
Company’s announcements dated 9 March 2018 and
29 March 2018.

On 27 August 2018, King Noble Holdings Limited
("King Noble"”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company and an independent third party
Mr. Guo Weifu (“Mr. Guo”) entered into a sale and
purchase agreement, pursuant to which Mr. Guo has
agreed to sell to King Noble 100 ordinary shares of
Max Joint Asia Pacific (China) Limited (“Max Joint”),
representing 100% of the entire issued share capital
in Max Joint at the consideration of HK$46,500,000,
settled by the issuance of 465,000,000 ordinary
shares of the Company to Mr. Guo.

The transaction was completed on 25 October 2018.
Further details of the acquisition are set out in the
Company’s announcements dated 27 August 2018
and 25 October 2018 (Note 45).

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE MR M
For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-Z-AF+_A=t—AILEE

39. RA& (&)

BfeE: (#8)

(b) RZE—NF=ZAhLB - AAFH
eHEEFESHFBRAF([E—EER
BDATVEEHSE Bt XAA
EBERGORAZEERE —EENRE
EEABNREEETSRESKRD
0.083/ JL it & £ %1,200,000,000%
AAREBR ([ ZE—N\FEES
H]) o

TE-NFREESENR=-Z—AN
F=ZAZF+NLHEHZEK " B K%
1,200,000,000% f% 10 « —F — )\ & A
£ EIH R/ ATIS 3RIA 4258 599,600,000
BT MR SRS R EM IR
¥ 1& - P15 3R I8 5 RE 49 596,909,000
B BT \FRESENE
—SHBEHRARRHHAZZ—N
FZANBRZZE—N\F=A=+h
= Brd/N i

(0) RZZE-—NEFENA=-++tH"
King Noble Holdings Limited ([King
Noble | * AR A —REEEZENE
DA RBIEZHBERILE ([
EEDTIEE R KL 24
2 A E AKing Nobled & 1008% 2% [&
DR (RE)BRAR ([BEE]) LT
B AEERBREZHEETRAN
100% * K18 %46,500,0007% 7T (LA
20 9 4 25 17465,000,0000% AN 2 &) &
B HRER) -

RGERZZE—N\EFET+AZ+HAR
o BRARERNE - THBINAR
BAIESMATE- N\ENAF+LER
—E-NE+AZ+RBZAMH (M
F145) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z—NF+-_A=1+—HLEFE
SHARE CAPITAL (continued)
Notes: (continued)

39.

(d)

Pursuant to a special resolution passed in the special

general meeting held on 15 November 2018, the
Company proceed with capital reorganisation (the
"“Capital Reorganisation”) involving, among others,
the following:

ii)

iii)

iv)

V)

share consolidation whereby every ten shares
of the Company's issued and unissued shares
with par value of HK$0.02 per share have
been consolidated into one share with par
value of HK$0.2 (the “Consolidation Share”).
The Consolidated Shares rank pari passu in all
respects with each other;

capital reduction whereby the issued share
capital of the Company will be reduced
by cancelling the paid up capital of the
Company to the extent of HK$0.19 on each
of the then issued Consolidated Shares
such that the par value of each issued
Consolidated Share will be reduced from
HK$0.2 to HK$0.01;

share sub-division whereby each of the
authorised but unissued Consolidated Shares
will be divided into twenty adjusted shares of
HK$0.01 each (the "Adjusted Share”);

Share Premium Reduction whereby the entire
amount standing to the credit of the Share
Premium Account will be reduced to nil; and

transfer of all the credits arising from the
Capital Reduction and the Share Premium
Reduction to the contributed surplus account
of the Company.
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39.

R (&)

By aE: (#8)

(d)

RER-_F—-NF+—HATRAET
ZBREH ARG BB ZERIRE
ARRETER (EPEE) AT
BHEZBRAEAR ([IRAEA]) :

ii)

iii)

iv)

V)

B & 6f - Bt B 10 AR R R
BIXE(E0.02/ETLZ BT
RETERHEAHR—KE
RE{E0.27E T2 Ietn ([A B
Beinl) o & 6 Bt IR 1R 1k
EETHZEERFHA:
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39. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)
Notes: (continued)

(d)

(continued)

Further details of the Capital Reorganisation are set
out in the Company’s Circular dated 23 October
2018.

Implementation of the Capital Reorganisation will
not, of itself, alter the underlying assets, business
operations, management or financial position of
the Company or the proportionate interests of the
shareholders, except for the payment of the related
expenses.

On 15 November 2018, all the conditions precedent
of the implementation of the Capital Reorganisation
had been fulfilled and the Capital Reorganisation had
become effective on 16 November 2018.

On 20 September 2019, the Company and Head
& Shoulders Securities Limited (the “2nd Placing
Agent”) entered into the placing agreement,
pursuant to which the Company has conditionally
agreed to place, through the 2nd Placing Agent,
on a best effort basis a maximum of 155,426,486
ordinary shares of the Company at a placing price of
HK$0.055 per placing share (the “2019 Placing”).

The completion of the 2019 Placing took place on
31 October 2019 and 155,420,000 shares have been
allotted. The gross proceeds from the 2019 Placing
were approximately HK$8,548,000. The net proceeds
after deducting the placing commission and other
related expenses were approximately HK$8,463,000.
Further details of the 2019 Placing are set out in the
Company's announcements dated 20 September
2019 and 31 October 2019, respectively.

All new shares rank pari passu with other shares in
issue in all respects.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019

BE
40.

—E-NF+TZA=T—RHILFE

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through
the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The
Group's overall strategy remains unchanged from prior
year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net
debts, which includes amounts due to non-controlling
interests, borrowings, margin loans payables and
lease liabilities as disclosed in Notes 32, 33 and 34
and 35 respectively, net of cash and cash equivalents
and equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising issued share capital and reserves.

The Directors review the capital structure on a regular
basis. As part of this review, the Directors consider
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each
class of capital. Based on the recommendations of
the Directors, the Group will balance its overall capital
structure through the new share issues as well as the
issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debts.
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® L = NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B BRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z-—NF+-_A=1+—HLTFE

41.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 41. £mTHE
(@) Categories of financial instruments (@ 2@MIBEZHER
2019 2018
—E-hEFE ZZ-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Financial assets TREE
Financial assets at amortised REHEKAYRZ 2 BEE
cost 79,013 104,887
Financial assets mandatorily REEA T EFABRTEZ
measured at FVTPL TRIEE
— held-for-trading —FHEEE 7,685 20,362
Equity instruments at FVTOCI A FEFAEMEZEYZEZ
BmTH 9,571 31,984
Financial liabilities ol =L
Amortised cost 5 P AR 112,347 87,861
Financial guarantee contract HBEREH 727 -
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z—NF+-_A=1+—HLEFE
41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)  Financial risk management objectives and

policies

The Group’s major financial instruments
include equity instruments at FVTOCI,
to associates, trade and other receivables,
loan and interest receivables, financial assets
at FVTPL, bank balances and cash, trade and
other payables, amounts due to non-controlling
interests, borrowings, margin loans payables,
and financial guarantee contract. Details of the
financial instruments are disclosed in respective
notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk (currency
risk, interest rate risk and other price risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on
how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
The Directors manage and monitor these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk
(i) Currency risk

The Group has certain subsidiaries
operate in the PRC and Taiwan, and the
functional currency of these subsidiaries
established in the PRC and Taiwan are
RMB and NTD respectively. The RMB
is not freely convertible into other
currencies. However, under Mainland
China’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of
Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other
currencies through authorised banks to
conduct foreign exchange business.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b)  Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)
Market risk (continued)

()

Currency risk (continued)

The Group currently does not have
a foreign currency hedging policy.
However, management of the Group
monitors foreign exchange exposure and
will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.

The Group have foreign currency bank
balances and cash, loan and interest
receivables, loan to associates, other
payables and borrowings which expose
the Group to foreign currency risk.

The carrying amounts of the Group's
foreign currency denominated monetary
assets and monetary liabilities at the end
of the reporting period are as follows:

BE

e B BRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2019

“T-NFTA=T—RHILFE

41. €WMIAE(H)
CRERETEEERBE (&)

(b)

w5k (&)

0

Liabilities
af

2019
—E-NE
HK$'000
TER

2018
—N\F
HK$'000
THT

B (&)

R ER B B AL £ SN
KR R - NEEEEIEE
SERIIMERR BN
BREREZEHPEAI
R

AREBEBRITINE 87 N
B BEREWRFIE [
%E@Tﬁﬁ%ﬁm
N RIBRER <

R [BFCSE SN LR o

AREBENINEREMNE
BHEEEMEBHERER
BEMRZEEENAT:

Assets
&E
2019
—E-NF
HK$'000
TET

2018
—N\F
HK$'000
THT

ARE
X

RMB
usb

The Group is mainly exposed to RMB
and USD.

21,105

- 14,977
- 120 160

27,109

AEETEZABARE R
E TR RER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z—NF+-_A=1+—HLEFE
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

41.

41. £WI A (EF)

(b)  Financial risk management objectives and (b) SEEMREEBEZREE(E)
policies (continued)
Market risk (continued) TR (&)
() Currency risk (continued) 0] B (&)
Sensitivity analysis BRRE DT

The following table details the Group’s
sensitivity to a 5% (2018: 5%) change
in HK$ against the respective foreign
currencies. 5% (2018: 5%) is the
sensitivity rate used when reporting
foreign currency risk internally to key
management personnel and represents
management’'s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in foreign
exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis
includes only outstanding foreign
currency denominated monetary items,
and adjusts their translation at the end
of the reporting period for a 5% (2018:
5%) change in foreign currency rates.
A positive number below indicates a
decrease in post-tax loss where HK$
strengthen against the respective
foreign currencies. For a 5% (2018:
5%) strengthening of HK$ against the
relevant currency, there would be an
equal and opposite impact on the post-
tax loss and the balances below would
be negative.

TREAVIAEBE BTN
1B A IS Y [ R )5 %
ZE-\F:5%)H&K
RE 5% (ZFE—N
F:5%) KB IAERR
EEBEIE A 8 E R
e [ B B FIT {56 FR A B 3R
IR 3R B 1R B $ NS BB
A HBABE SN T
e BBEDITERIEN
INEETEZ MRS HE
BeIE B - W RS B RS
LA S s [ R & B)5% (=
T— )\ :5% ) E[E K 5
BTN IEHRETREE
TCH B BINE B E R B
BEBRER BT
HIAEEEERAES%
—ZT—NF:5%) g
HBRBEBEBBEKRASZ K
BREFE T 54 8%
“eas-

RMB impact USD impact
ARBZE Eya 2
2019 2018 2019 2018
“E-NFE —T-)\F ZB-hF —T)\F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FET TERT THET
(Increase) decrease in FrFR 12 E5 1R (3540)

post-tax loss B (256) 1,132 5 7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

(b)

(ir)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value
interest rate risk in relation to fixed-
rate loan and interest receivables, loans
to associates, borrowings and lease
liabilities, as set out in Notes 25, 26,
33 and 35 respectively. The Group is
also exposed to cash flow interest rate
risk in relation to its variable-rate bank
balances and borrowings as detailed in
Notes 28 and 33. The Group currently
does not have an interest rate hedging
policy. However, the management
monitors interest rate exposure and will
consider hedging significant interest rate
exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have
been determined based on the exposure
to interest rates at the end of the
reporting period. The analysis is prepared
assuming the financial instruments
outstanding at the end of the reporting
period were outstanding for the whole
year. A 100 basis points (2018: 100 basis
points) increase or decrease in variable
rate borrowings is used when reporting
interest rate risk internally to key
management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in interest
rates. Bank balances are excluded from
sensitivity analysis as the Directors
consider that the exposure of cash flow
interest rate risk arising from variable
rate bank balance is insignificant.

e B BRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z—hF+-_A=1+—HLEE

41. €WMIAE(H)
(b) LREMRTEEEREE (&)

TS EE (&)
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Tl 7 e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R M aE

For the year ended 31 December 2019

)
HZE

41.

—=
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—NF+ZA=+—HILFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

(b)

(ir)

(i)

Interest rate risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis (continued)

If interest rates had been 100 basis
points (2018: 100 basis points) higher/
lower and all other variables were held
constant, the Group’s post-tax loss for
the year ended 31 December 2019
and 2018 would increase/decrease
by approximately HK$64,000 (2018:
HK$69,000). This is mainly attributable
to the Group's exposure to interest rates
on its variable-rate bank borrowings.

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price
risk through its investments in equity
securities measured at FVTPL and
FVTOCI. For equity securities measured
at FVTPL quoted in the Stock Exchange,
the management manages this exposure
by maintaining the investments with
appropriate level. In addition, price risk
was monitored by the management of
the Group who will consider hedging
the risk exposure should the need arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b)  Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)
Market risk (continued)

(ifi)

Other price risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses have been
determined based on the exposure to
equity price risk at the reporting date.
Sensitivity analyses for unquoted equity
securities with fair value measurement
categorised within Level 3 were
disclosed in Note 41(c). For sensitivity
analysis of equity securities with fair
value measurement categorised within
Level 1, the sensitivity rate is increased
to 10% in 2019 as a result of the
volatile financial market.

If the price of respective equity
instruments held had been 10% (2018:
10%) higher/lower,

- post-tax loss for the year
would decrease/increase by
approximately HK$642,000
(2018: HK$1,700,000) as a result
of the changes in fair value of
held for trading investments.

- investment revaluation reserve
would increase/decrease by
approximately HK$Nil (2018:
HK$1,014,000) for the Group
as a result of the changes in fair
value of equity instruments at
FVTOCI.

RE MR M
For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-Z-AF+_A=t—AILEE
e@MIA (&)
(b) =c2REREEBZERBCK (#)

TS EE (&)
(iii)  EERER (&
BRRE DT

BREDTENHRE B
BARBREARETE - RF
B ERAFE =RHOER
BRAEZF ) RRE DT
WENM A1) AT
B ERAS —RHOBAR
EFHNBEREINME
BN E R ™ 5K E - S
ELhER_ZT—-NAFLH

210% °

PSR R T A Z(E
1% Bk TE10% (ZF

—\F:10%)
- HREBEEERE

B WA FERE
BEBEBRLD
#AN#I642,0007%8
T(ZB—\F:
1,700,000/ 7T ) °

- HREAFERTA
Htwz2mKEz
Bz TAEZRQF
Eg8 AEE2
REEGHRER
DI RO
T(ZE—N\&F:
1,014,000 7T) °

China Eco-Farming Limited FEIBE L REFR AT

Annual Report 2019 —Z — H &5 4§

243



244

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R M aE

For the year ended 31 December 2019
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s
counterparties default on their contractual
obligations resulting in financial losses to the
Group. The Group’s credit risk is primarily
attributable to trade and other receivables, loan
and interest receivables, loans to associates
and bank balances. The Group does not hold
any collateral or other credit enhancements to
cover its credit risk associated with its financial
assets and financial guarantee contract, except
that the credit risks associated with loans and
interest receivables is mitigated because they
are secured over properties/securities.

Trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the
management of the Group has delegated
a team responsible for determination of
credit limits and credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-
up action is taken to recover overdue debts
(including trade and other receivables). In
addition, the Group performs impairment
assessment under ECL model upon application
of HKFRS 9 on trade balances individually or
based on provision matrix. In this regard, the
Directors consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

Trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers (continued)

The Group's concentration of credit risk by
geographical locations is mainly in Hong Kong,
which accounted for 99% (2018: 99%) of the
total trade receivables as at 31 December 2019.

The Group has concentration of credit risk
as 0% (2018: 20%) and 14% (2018: 66%)
of the total trade receivables were due from
the Group's largest customer and five largest
customers respectively, all within segments
of one-stop value chain services, trading of
consumables and agricultural products and
trading of grocery food products.

In addition, the Group performs impairment
assessment under ECL model on trade balances
individually or based on provision matrix.
Except for credit-impaired balances, which
are assessed for impairment individually, the
remaining trade receivables are grouped under
a provision matrix based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the historical observed
default rates adjusted by forward looking
estimates. Impairment loss of approximately
HK$100,000 (2018: reversal of impairment loss
of approximately HK$53,000) was recognised
during the year. Details of the quantitative
disclosures are set out below in this note.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

Other receivables

For other receivables and deposits, the
Directors make periodic individual assessment
on the recoverability of other receivables and
deposits based on historical settlement records,
past experience, and also quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportive forward-looking information. Except
for past due amounts that the Group provided
impairment based on lifetime ECL (not credit-
impaired), the Directors believe that there are
no significant increase in credit risk of other
receivables since initial recognition and the
Group provided impairment based on 12m ECL.
Impairment loss of approximately HK$61,000
(2018: HK$27,000) was recognised during the
year. Details of the quantitative disclosures are
set out below in this note.

Loan and interest receivables

The Group’s management manages and
analyses the credit risk for each of their
new and existing customers before standard
payment terms and conditions are offered. The
management assesses the collateral and credit
quality of each customer based on customer’s
background information, financial position, past
experience and relevant factors. The Group also
reviews from time to time the financial position
of the customers.
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

Loan and interest receivables (continued)

The Directors estimate the estimated loss
rates of loan and interest receivables based on
historical credit loss experience of the debtors
as well as the fair value of the collateral
pledged by the customers to the loan and
interest receivables. Reversal of impairment
loss of approximately HK$4,049,000 (2018:
impairment loss of approximately HK$620,000)
was recognised during the year. Details of the
quantitative disclosures are set out below in this
note.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as
28% (2018: 26%) and 81% (2018: 80%) of
the total loan and interest receivables as at 31
December 2019 were due from the Group's
largest borrower and five largest borrowers
respectively.

Loans to associates

The Group regularly monitors the business
performance of the associates. The Group's
credit risks in these balances are mitigated
through the value of the assets held by
these entities and the power to participate
the relevant activities of these entities. The
Directors believe that there are significant
increase in credit risk of these amounts since
initial recognition and the Group provided
impairment based on lifetime ECL (not credit
impaired). Reversal of impairment loss of
approximately HK$397,000 (2018: impairment
loss of approximately HK$721,000) was
recognised during the year. Details of the
quantitative disclosures are set out below in this
note.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE MR M
For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-Z-AF+_A=t—AILEE

41. £®IA (&)
(b) =c2REREEBZERBCK (#)

= E R B EF G (&)

EXRENFE (&)
EERBEBANBEEEEE
KREEPERTERKLERF
BMEHRAFERTERK
FEW A BB fEET BB R -RFA
e 52 Rk (B &S 18 % 121 494,049,000
BL(ZE—N\F BEEBELD
620,000/ 70) - E{L T 2 FF1B
AN 2 3 N e

RZZE-NF+HA=+—8"
rEESEFEERRR28% (=
T—\F:26%) HLETEN81%

—T—N\F:80%)EFRNMEK
FMEDRIREAREZKER &
ARETR -

[ E L AIEH B3
REETFHERBE QR ZEL
KB -ASRERZEHEBNEE
Rl mAZEERBMBEENE
BER2EZSEEBEBEES 2
BAMESUBREK ESHEEZS
58 B VIR FE R AR ARG N -
BAREBEREZHEHEES
B(EEERBE)FRAEBE -RF
P i 52 #8 [B] R 1B /&5 18 £9397,000
BL(ZE—N\F BEBELD
721,000 7T) c 2L B2 FIF
AN 2 3 N e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z—NF+-_A=1+—HLEFE
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

41.

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

Bank balances and cash

Credit risk on bank balances is limited because
the counterparties are reputable banks with
high credit ratings assigned by international
credit agencies. The Group assessed 12m ECL
for bank balances by reference to information
relating to probability of default of the
respective credit rating grades published by
external rating agencies. The 12m ECL on bank
balances is considered to be insignificant.

Financial guarantee contract

For financial guarantee contract, the maximum
amount that the Group has guaranteed under
the guarantee contract was RMB13,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$14,528,000)
as at 31 December 2019. At the end of the
reporting period, the Directors have performed
impairment assessment, and concluded that
there has been significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition of the financial
guarantee contract. Accordingly, the loss
allowance for financial guarantee contract
issued by the Group is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired).
Impairment loss of approximately HK$749,000
(2018: Nil) was recognised during the year.
Details of the financial guarantee contract and
quantitative disclosures are set out in Note 36
and this note.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ik e M HRR M
For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_ZT-NF+_A=+—HLFE
41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 41. €@I A (/)
(b)  Financial risk management objectives and (b) SREMREEEEZEREE(H)

policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

The Group's internal credit risk grading
assessment comprises the following categories:

= E R B EF G (&)

AEBHAEEE R ART A

BT DM

Internal credit Other financial

rating Description Trade receivables assets
A E TR 8 W B HitemER
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and does Lifetime ECL 12m ECL
not have any past-due amounts - not credit-impaired
GEL REUFNENRRRELYREMBHEE 2HREEERE NERENGESA
-BEENER
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but usually Lifetime ECL 12m ECL
settle in full - not credit-impaired
BRERE EBARERBES ERESRUEN PHEREEEE 1N2EAEHEEER
—EBEERE
Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit risk Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
since initial recognition through information - not credit-impaired - not credit-impaired
developed internally or external resources
i ABELFIRBIBRRNEHBRCEERREY L2HEHEEHE 2HRYEEER
FHREBEZEM -EEERE -EEERE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is credit- Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
impaired — credit-impaired — credit-impaired
iR BREBETAECHREERE rHRBEERE 2HREHEEER
—EERE —EERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in Amount is written-off ~ Amount is written-off
severe financial difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery
HisH ERERETEBEABABRENGRELRFAEEY T  2BEEHE SEEMI

2T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z—NF+-_A=1+—HLEFE

41.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

41. £WI A (F)

Financial risk management objectives and (b) <EEMEEBEREE (&)
policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment EERERR G EFE (&)
(continued)
The table below details the credit risk exposures TEHIANREFEZEETEEEE
of the Group's financial assets and financial BRI G SR EE R EER
guarantee contract, which are subject to ECL AN ZIEEERRK -
assessment.
External Internal 12mor 2019 Gross 2018 Gross
Note credit rating credit rating lifetime ECL carrying amount carrying amount
) TZEANEH “E-hE —Z-N\#
st SR ETR AEEETR BHEEER REHAE REAE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
TR TET TEL  THEx
Financial assets at
amortised costs
RS BR A
SREE
Bank balances 28 Aa2-Baa3 N/A 12m ECL ) 2,386 17,849
RITEH 28 Aa2-Baa3 A RMEREHEEER
Trade receivables 24 N/A (Note 3) Lifetime ECL 5414 2,723
(Provision matrix)
B 5 RKHE 24 TEA (PEE3) 2BEREEEE
(BfEER)
Loss Lifetime ECL - 5414 322 3,045
- credit-impaired
B#E PHEBEEESR
-EERA
Other receivables 24 N/A (Note 2) 12m ECL ) 15,927 22,309
Hi KR 24 TEA (MsE2) REAEBEEES
(Note 2) Lifetime ECL 2,813 18,740 - 22,309
(not credit-impaired)
(PEE2) %ﬁﬁ?ﬁi%ﬁ%f@f@é
(EEEHE)
Loan and interest 25 NA Low risk 12m ECL 8,521 12,072
_ receivables )
ERRERRHE 25 NEA ERR NEREHEEER
Doubtful Lifetime ECL 2,345 5714
(not credit-impaired)
N %?ﬁ?ﬁ%ﬁ%%@é
(EEEHE)
Loss Lifetime ECL 17,271 28,137 27,467 45,253
- credit-impaired
B#E PHEBEEESR
—EERA
Loans to associates 26 N/A (Note 2) Lifetime ECL 32,318 29,020
! (not credit-impaired)
MEERFELER 26 THEA (P3E2) PHBRAEERE
(EEERE)
Other item
Httig A
Financial guarantee 36 NA Loss Lifetime ECL 14,528 -
contracts (Note 1) - not credit-impaired
HBEREA 36 TER B#E 2HEBEERSR
(Bzx1) -BZERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e N e ELOE:
For the year ended 31 December 2019
HeE_Z—NF+-A=+—HULFE
41.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 4. @I A (&)
(b)  Financial risk management objectives and (b) SREMREEEEZEREE(H)

policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment

= E R B EF G (&)

(continued)
Notes: MisT -
1) For financial guarantee contract, the gross 1) HIEIERAYNMmE  AER

2)

carrying amount represents the maximum
amount the Group has guaranteed under the
guarantee contract.

For the purposes of internal credit risk
management, the Group uses past due
information to assess whether credit risk

BERAKERERAOTHR
BEROKSEHE-

2) HABEERARERME K
SEEAIMERFEEE
B\ 2 S B VIR R IARA

has increased significantly since initial g 1 111 o
recognition.
Not past
due/No
fixed
repayment
Past due terms Total
KEH/
e mETEEBER w@st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THT FET
2019 —E-hE
Other receivables Hot REWERIR 2,813 15,927 18,740
Loans to associates mEEDAELRER - 32,318 32,318
2018 —EN\F
Other receivables H ot R ERIR - 22,309 22,309
Loans to associates mEE RRELER - 29,020 29,020
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z—NF+-_A=1+—HLEFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

Notes: (continued)

41.

(b)

3)

For trade receivables, the Group has
applied the simplified approach in HKFRS
9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime
ECL. Except for debtors with significant
outstanding balances or credit-impaired, the
Group determines the ECL on these items
by using a provision matrix, grouped based
on shared credit risk characteristics and the
historical observed default rates adjusted by
forward looking estimates.

As part of the Group's credit risk
management, the Group uses debtors’ aging
to assess the impairment for its customers
in relation to its businesses of trading of
consumables and agricultural products,
trading of grocery food products and
provision of financial services operation. Their
customers consist of a large number of small
customers with common risk characteristics
that are representative of the customers’
abilities to pay all amounts due in accordance
with the contractual terms. The following
table provides information about the
exposure to credit risk for trade receivables
which are assessed based on provision matrix
within lifetime ECL (not credit impaired).
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(b)

TREREERERBE (H)

=B R EF G (&)

B : (4&)

3) HESHEKKEAMS  NEH
EEBEAMBREELSE
95k LT AR E 2 HATA A
EREBEZERBE -BRAEX
BEREERBIFERFEER
BN EEIRRIN - REBE E A
RETREEEZEREZE
HEEER REXBEER
BREFLERBEERINED
K AT M RHRETT

Do

ERAKBEER

R BT R 1

BEEZ
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RikPEAREERER LR
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% ‘; S NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
gk WEMBMRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z—hF+-_A=1+—HLEE

41.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 4. @I A (&)
(b)  Financial risk management objectives and (b) SREMREEEEZEREE(H)
policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment EERERBEE (&)
(continued)
Notes: (continued) MisE: (&)
3) (continued) 3) (%)
Gross carrying amount RE#AE
2019 2018
ZB-NF “E-N\F
Estimated Trade Estimated Trade
loss rate receivables loss rate receivables
{5t BESEK ) ZAEW
BEE HE iR IR
HK$'000 HK$'000
THEx FiET

One-stop value chain services — X EE#ERY
Current to 30 days past due B ATE @308 2.01% 476 0.59% -

Trading of consumablesand HHERREEREZS
agricultural product

Current to 30 days past due BRI E @308 2.711% 3,784 0.59% 451

Trading of grocery food BHRMES

products
Current to 30 days past due B AT E# 308 2.71% 1,136 0.59% 971
31 to 90 days past due WE31AE90R 5.5% 18 - -
Over 90 days past due #ER90H A £ - - 5.76% 570

Provision of financial services REERBEER

operation
Current to 30 days past due B AT E 8308 - - 0.15% 170
Over 90 days past due #ER90H M £ - - 2.13% 561
5414 2,723
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z—NF+-_A=1+—HLEFE

41.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b)  Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

3) (continued)

The estimated loss rates are estimated based
on industry credit benchmarking studies on
the industry-wide probability of default term
structure over the expected life with forward
looking adjustment that is available without
undue cost or effort and empirical study on

loss given default rate.

During the year ended 31 December
2019, the Group provided approximately
HK$142,000 (2018: HK$355,000)
impairment allowance for trade receivables
based on the provision matrix. Impairment
allowance of approximately HK$Nil (2018:
HK$347,000) were made on credit-impaired

debtors.
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(b)
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3)
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At EEENGE DERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

v 18 IS 3R K ST
For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE—"T—NF+-_A=+—HILFE
41.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 4. @I A (&)
(b)  Financial risk management objectives and (b) SREMREEEEZEREE(H)

policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

The following table shows the movement in
lifetime ECL that has been recognised for trade

= E R B EF G (&)

TRETREGLETARESE
WikIRER 2 = IR HEE R

receivables under the simplified approach. EHf o
Lifetime ECL Lifetime
(not credit- ECL (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
2HEH 2HRES
FEER FEER
(BREERE) (EEHE) @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THIT THT TR
As at 1 January 2018 RZZE-/\5—H—H 23 385 408
Changes due to financial instruments N =Z—\F—A—H
recognised as at 1 January 2018: HREBMIAM©LR
— Impairment losses recognised -BRREER 11 - 11
— Impairment losses reversed —BERESR (26) (38) (64)
As at 31 December 2018 RZZE—-\F
+=ZA=+—H 8 347 355
Changes due to financial instruments  R=Z—1F—A—H
recognised as at 1 January 2019: BREMIAMLR
— Impairment losses reversed - BEREER (8) (34) (42)
- Write-offs — i85 - (313) (313)
New financial assets originated RENFERMEE 142 - 142
As at 31 December 2019 RZT-NEF
+ZA=+—A 142 - 142
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z—NF+-_A=1+—HLEFE

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

41. £WI A (F)

(b)  Financial risk management objectives and (b) SEEMREEBEZREE(E)
policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment EERBERBEZE (&)
(continued)
The following tables show reconciliation of loss TEMARAD It EH b el B
allowances that has been recognised for other R B BB ER -
receivables:
Lifetime ECL (not Lifetime ECL
12m ECL  credit-impaired) (credit-impaired) Total
NEAESE 2HBHGEEFE 2HRENCEFR
51 (BREERE) (E&RE) @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHL FHL T FHEL
As at 1 January 2018 RZZ2-\$—-F—H 34 - 1,006 1,040
Changes due to financial instruments j EAG: sl =|
recognised as at 1 January 2018: ﬁﬁﬁimﬂlﬂﬁﬁﬁfﬁ
#g)
— Impairment losses recognised —ﬁEl)}'X EESB 27 - - 27
- Write-offs — - - (1,006) (1,006)
As at 31 December 2018 RZE-\F+ZA
=t—H 61 - - 61
Changes due to financial instruments ﬁ/‘*f NE—A—R
recognised as at 1 January 2019: REBTAMBR
E@J
— Transfer to lifetime ECL -BREZ2HEHEE
(not credit-imparied) BB (B /FME) @) 4 - -
~ Impairment losses reversed - BEREFE (51) - - (51)
— Impairment losses recognised ~HAREEE 5 107 - 112
As at 31 December 2019 RZB-nE
+= E‘I‘ 1 1 - 122

Changes in the loss allowance for other
receivables are mainly due to:

Hip AN BB REES T

ERHERN:

2018

—E-N\F

Decrease in

lifetime ECL
(credit-impaired)
HEHEESERSD
(E8RE)

HK$'000

FHET

No realistic prospect of recovery of W [a] E b fE UL

other receivable
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B BRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z—hF+-_A=1+—HLEE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 41. €@I A (/)
Financial risk management objectives and (b) <EEMEEEEREE(E)
policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment EEE R EFE (&)
(continued)
The following tables show reconciliation of loss TERRAEMERNLIEWF 1
allowances that has been recognised for loan 22N S 18 B 4 T ER
and interest receivables:
Lifetime ECL Lifetime
(not credit-  ECL (credit-
12m ECL impaired) impaired) Total
2HEN  2HEH
12EARA EEESE FEFR X
FEFR (BEEHE) (EEHE) @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL THEL TEL TR
As at 1 January 2018 RZE-N\E-A-H 211 3,154 11,202 14,567
Changes due to financial instruments %2 = F—/\%— A — A#7
recognised as at 1 January 2018: SRIAMLRL
- Transfer to credit-impaired -BEEEHE - (3,154) 3,154 -
~ Impairment losses recognised -BRREER 11 - 1711 1,722
~ Impairment losses reversed -BORESR (39) - (1,063) (1,102)
- Write-offs —HisA - - (4,149) (4,149)
As at 31 December 2018 RZZ-\E+_A=1—H 183 - 10,855 11,038
Changes due to financial instruments X =F— A%~ — &R
recognised as at 1 January 2019: SRIAMLRLY:
- Transfer to lifetime ECL -BEZ2IRNCEER
(not credit-impaired) (EEERE) (49) 49 -
- Impairment losses reversed -BERERR - - (4,159) (4,159
- Impairment losses recognised -BRREER 61 49 - 110
As at 31 December 2019 RZZ-AF+ZA=1-H 195 98 6,696 6,989
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z—NF+-_A=1+—HLEFE

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 41.

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

EWTA (&)
(b) SRMEREEEBERIE (K)

=B R EF G (&)

(continued)
Changes in the loss allowance for loan and ERRERT B RERESES) T
interest receivables are mainly due to: BFEHMN:
2019
—B-nF
Decrease in lifetime ECL
2HRREEERAY
Increase Not credit- Credit-
in 12m ECL impaired impaired
128 R A
FEER
£ BEEHE FERE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THER THERT
Settlement in full of loan and BHLEEERRELFE
interest receivables - - (989)
Change in parameters 281 - = (3,170
2018
—T-N\E

Increase (decrease) in lifetime ECL
2HEBEEEREN YD)

Decrease in Not credit- Credit-
12m ECL impaired impaired
EARES
FEBE
o BEERE EERE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET TET
Loans defaulted and transferred to HRBONERREZEERE
credit-impaired loans £ - (3,154) 3,154
Further impairment made for SEEREESRELLN
credit-impaired loans E—FRE - - 1,71
Settlement received from loan debtors Wi B EFBEHANEE (39) - (1,063)
No realistic prospect of recovery of KEEFRRERT SFTER
loan and interest receivables - - (4,149)
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- NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
4 ik e SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z—hF+-_A=1+—HLEE

41.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 4. @I A (&)
(b)  Financial risk management objectives and (b) SREMREEEEZEREE(H)
policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment EERERBEE (&)
(continued)
The following tables show reconciliation of loss TEREIRAGAERSARELE
allowances that has been recognised for loans RRER 2 BB E R -

to associates:

Lifetime ECL

(not credit- Credit-

12m ECL impaired) impaired
2HRE

12{8 A A EEESR
BEER (EEEAE) FERE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT FHT FAT
As at 1 January 2018 RZZ-N§—H-H 312 123 435
Changes due to financial instruments ~ R =F—\F—A—A%ER
recognised as at 1 January 2018: PRIAMLRES:
~ Transfer to lifetime ECL -BREXHRNEEER
(not credit-impaired) (BEERE) (312) 312 -
— Impairment losses recognised -HRREER - 721 721
As at 31 December 2018 R-F-N\F+-A=1—H - 1,156 1,156
Changes due to financial instruments R =ZF—F—F—B#R
recognised as at 1 January 2019: SRIAMMRE
— Impairment losses reversed —~BERESE - (397) (397)
As at 31 December 2019 R=B-NE+=A=1+-H - 759 759
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z—NF+-_A=1+—HLEFE

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 41. @I A (E)

(b)  Financial risk management objectives and (b)
policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)
Changes in the loss allowance for loans to
associates are mainly due to:

TRAREZEERRICEK (&)
EEE R EEFE ()

R 2 AR e AR
BHEETIAR

2019

=t

Increase in lifetime ECL
(not credit-impaired)

2HEREEEREM

(BEERE)

HK$'000

FHET
Change in parameters 285 g (397)

The following tables show reconciliation of
loss allowances that has been recognised for
financial guarantee contract:

TRARBERM GRS A
RO ERBRENLERK:

Increase in lifetime ECL
(not credit-impaired)

HRMEEEEEM
(BEERE)
HK$'000
FHTT

As at 1 January 2019 R_ZE—-—hhF—H—H -
New financial guarantee provided — +2 it & %7 B 7§ £ 1% 749
Exchange adjustments BE 5, 38 B (22)
As at 31 December 2019 R=ZB-AF+=A

=+—H 727
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the
Group monitors and maintains a level of cash
and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the
Directors to finance the Group’s operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows.

The Group is exposed to liquidity risk as the
Group had continuously incurring operating
losses. The liquidity of the Group primarily
depends on the future funding being available
and the ability of the Group to meet its
financial obligations as they fall due. Details of
which are set out in Note 33.

The following table details the Group's
remaining contractual maturity for its financial
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based
on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which
the Group can be required to pay. Specifically,
bank borrowings with a repayment on demand
clause are included in the earliest time band
regardless of the probability of the banks and
the financial institutions choosing to exercise
their rights. The maturity dates for other non-
derivative financial liabilities are based on the
agreed repayment dates.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE MR M
For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-Z-AF+_A=t—AILEE
41. £®IA (&)
(b) =c2REREEBZERBCK (#)

MEBE R
ERBESRAREENHE K&
BEEREREERRBEEZ
RekREFEKFE ABEAE
EeERTES WAKRER
NE) 2 FE

HRAEBEFERFELER
BAKBHERBE SRR K
SENRPHE ST BEURNAK
AFHE & AR AR BB HIRS
BITHMBEEENE S - GR
BN FE33 -

TRAVNAEEEHBEZIRT
BRHR -ZRDIRESREAE
ZIRFT RN MEN AR E Al 5E
BTUAXNZ&ZEBHHET A
BME AARBREREXH
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e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z—NF+-_A=1+—HLEFE

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

41. £WI A (F)

(b)  Financial risk management objectives and (b) <EEMEEBEREE (&)
policies (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) REELER (&)
The table includes both interest and principal EeREMNERRESERELRS
cash flows. To the extent that interest flows oA BB EEE 8
are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is RITIR S REIRPE AR 7 F| R ET
derived from interest rate curve at the end of o
the reporting period.
Within ~ More than  More than
Weighted 1 year oneyear  two years Total
average oron less than less than undiscounted Carrying
interest rate demand  twoyears  fiveyears  cash flows amounts
miE —FR5 SR—F SRME FER
THAE REREE EIREE BIREE RERAE REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TET TET TER TET
2019 “B-nE
Trade and other payables JERBRT R E A AT 3R - 40,362 - - 40,362 40,362
Amounts due to non-controlling interests [ f JFi% IR IR R i 25 748 - 2,995 - - 2,995 2,995
Borrowings f& 7% 43,786 19,612 - 63,398 62,978
Margin loans payables ERRELER 10% 6,012 = - 6,012 6,012
Leases liabilities HEEE 15% 1,586 1,704 1,315 4,605 3,743
Financial guarantee contracts BHBERED - 14,528 = - 14,528 727
109,269 21,316 1,315 131,900 116,817
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B BRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z—hF+-_A=1+—HLEE

Bank borrowings with a repayment on
demand clause is included in the “within 1
year or on demand” time band in the above
maturity analysis. As at 31 December 2019
and 2018, the aggregate undiscounted
principal amounts of these bank borrowings
amounted to approximately HK$7,608,000 and
HK$8,230,000 respectively. Taking into account
the Group's financial position, the Directors do
not believe that it is probable that the bank will
exercise their discretionary rights to demand
immediate repayment. The Directors believe
that such bank borrowings will be repaid after
the end of the reporting period in accordance
with the scheduled repayment dates set out in
the loan agreements, details of which are set
out in the table below:

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 41. €@I A (/)
Financial risk management objectives and (b) <EEMEEEEREE(E)
policies (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) REETEE (&)
Within More than More than
Weighted 1 year one year two years Total
average oron less than less than  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate demand two years five years cash flows amounts
mE —FR% HER-F SREF FER
ToONE  REXRE BIRRF BIRDF RERER REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL TEL FHEL FEL TEL
2018 —B-N\F
Trade and other payables ENERREMEMNE - 31,051 - - 31,051 31,051
Amounts due to non-controlling interests & {1 FFi I IR R i 25 508 - 2,995 - - 2,995 2,995
Borrowings EEA 5% 37,315 - - 37,315 35,616
Margin loans payables ERRERER 10% 18,199 - - 18,199 18,199
89,560 - - 89,560 87,861

A B R ERERIEIRITER
FFA LB B TE [ —F ARk
RER ] MEEEE - R —1
FRZE-NF+ZA=+—
H ZERTEFRORGEREAE
BEE D R %) 57,608,000 7T &
8,230,000/ T £ & R A £ B Y
kR EEMEE - RITETE
THEEMBRERANENR =
EHEE ZERITERUERE
RIBEMEAE R E R B BN R
HEHRCBER B@AFBHY
MTEk:
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e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z—NF+-_A=1+—HLEFE

(b)

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 41. @I A (E)
Financial risk management objectives and (b) <EEMEEBEREE (&)
policies (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) REESEE (&)
Maturity Analysis — Bank loans with a B — IR IETE 7 iZ 2 5 2
repayment on demand clause based on Bt B SRS B IR HIIRTT B
scheduled repayments
More than ~ More than
one year two years Total
Within less than less than Over undiscounted Carrying
1year twoyears fiveyears  fiveyears  cash flows amounts
SH-F  SRWF 3]
-£k BORME EOREE  TENE BHEREE REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FhEL FHT Fin FhEL FHT Fitn
31 December 2019 R=Z-AE+ZA=1-H 826 830 2,489 4,424 8,569 7,608
31 December 2018 R=Z-\F+-A=1-H 815 822 2,479 5,234 9,350 8,230

The amounts included above for financial
guarantee contract are the maximum amounts
the Group could be required to settle under the
arrangement for the full guaranteed amount
if that amount is claimed by the counterparty
to the guarantee. Based on expectations at
the end of the reporting period, the Group
considers that it is more likely than not
that no amount will be payable under the
arrangement. However, this estimate is subject
to change depending on the probability of the
counterparty claiming under the guarantee
which is a function of the likelihood that the
financial receivables held by the counterparty
which are guaranteed suffer credit losses.

The amounts included above for variable
interest rate instruments are subject to change
if changes in variable interest rates differ to
those estimates of interest rates determined at
the end of the reporting period.
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41.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B BRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z—hF+-_A=1+—HLEE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 4. @I A (&)
(o) Fair value measurements of financial (c) SRTENAEESE
instruments

Some of the Group's financial instruments are NEENILH S/ T AR BHR

measured at fair value for financial reporting EEMIRATEEAE-EEDR

purposes. The Board is responsible to determine EET A ATEAEZEZEEHER

the appropriate valuation technique and inputs 15 K B A BiE o

for fair value measurement.

In estimating the fair value, the Group uses PEFTAFER  REEFEAA

market-observable data to the extent it BH e EEgE - NE—&

is available. Where Level 1 inputs are not AR NEEZEE
available, the Group engages third party EHAEBERGERETHE-Z
qualified valuers to perform the valuation. The Eo L BRI EGERZZ

Board works closely with the qualified external Ve B BmEMEAENLERD

valuers to establish the appropriate valuation A EE o

techniques and inputs to the model.

(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial (i) KB [F IR AT e B 2E B )
assets and financial liabilities that FHEAECLHEERS
are measured at fair value on a BEENFHE
recurring basis
Some of the Group's financial assets REBRESECREER
and financial liabilities are measured at SRBEIINESRE
fair value at the end of each reporting REIRAFETE T X
period. The following table gives B EBETEE%ES
information about how the fair values mEELSREEZ AT
of these financial assets and financial B(ERE2REBRGE
liabilities are determined (in particular, T g AZE ) 2 &% o
the valuation technical(s) and inputs
used).

Fair value hierarchy AR =F ¥
Level 1 Level 3 Total
£-R E=/ st
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
ZE-NE ZT-\& ZB-hE _—T-\E ZEB-hE Z—Z-)\F
HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
TRT TAT TEL TR TRET ThAx
Financial assets SREE
Finandial assets at FVTPL BAFEHABER
SREE 7,685 20,362 - - 7,685 20,362
Equity instruments at FVTOCI AT EHAEMEE
BHMERTA - 10,142 9,571 21,842 9,571 31,984
7,685 30,504 9,571 21,842 17,256 52,346
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z—NF+-_A=1+—HLEFE
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

41.

(o)

()

41. £WI A (F)

Fair value measurements of financial (c) SRTENDAEEE (B)
instruments (continued)
Fair value of the Group’s financial (i) K B B 15 4 o B 2E B )
assets and financial liabilities that FEHECECHESER T
are measured at fair value on a BEENFEE (&)
recurring basis (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continued) RNEEEBR ()
Fair value as at Fair value Valuation technique(s) Significant
Financial assets 31 December 2019 hierarchy and key inputs unobservable inputs
RZE-NE
SREE +ZA=+-B2A¥fE NTERR HERTRERBARE EATUBRBAHE
Listed equity securities at FVTPL HK$7,685,000 Level 1 Quoted closing prices in N/A
(2018: HK$20,362,000) an active market
BATEABRZ LARAES 7,685,000/ 1T - RAERTS LHRE TER
(ZZ—\F:20,362,000%7)
Listed equity securities at FVTOCI Nil Level 1 Quoted closing prices in N/A
(2018: HK$10,142,000) an active market
BAFEGAEMZERG ETRAES T(ZF-N\%F: £-& FREEMS LNEE TER
10,142,000/ L)
Unlisted equity investments at FVTOCI HK$9,571,000 Level 3 Market approach - Price to-book value
(2018: HK$21,842,000) multiple
- Discount of lack of
marketability (Note)
BRATEGAEMZERG 2 LTRARE 9,571,000 E£=8 aE -MRERH
(ZZ—\F:21,842,000% ) —RETERELAR
(PzH)
Note: An increase in price-to-book value MizE: BEBFRMMERERE

multiple used in isolation would
result in an increase in fair value
measurement of the unlisted
equity investments at FVTOCI, and
vice versa. For the year ended 31
December 2019, a 10% increase/
decrease in price-to-book value
multiple and holding all other
variables constant would increase/
decrease the carrying amount of
the unlisted equity investments at
FVTOCI HK$857,000/HK$857,000
(2018: HK$1,919,000/HK$1,919,000)
respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c) Fair value measurements of financial

instruments (continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial
assets and financial liabilities that
are measured at fair value on a
recurring basis (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continued)

()

Note:

(continued)

An increase in discount for lack
of marketability used in isolation
would result in a decrease in fair
value measurement of the unlisted
equity investments at FVTOCI, and
vice versa. For the year ended 31
December 2019, a 1% increase/
decrease in discount for lack of
marketability and holding all other
variables constant would decrease/
increase the carrying amount of
the unlisted equity investments at
FVTOCI HK$94,000/HK$94,000
(2018: by HK$211,000/HK$211,000)
respectively.

There were no transfers between levels
of fair value hierarchy during the years
ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.

e B BRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z—hF+-_A=1+—HLEE

TR I A (&)

ERMTANDVETE (&)

() FEEEREFZHEELUR

FEIAEZEZHMEERE

HEELFE (F)

RFEER (E

BfaE: (%)
EREANRZMS
mBESRENEE
BUR N T EFAEM
EHE R IF LT

RN EH R FER
LORZINKHE
ZE-AF+=ZA
=t+—HLEFE B
TS RBEITE L
FTB1% WA
HmE2HFTE.
AR A FE AHA
2R R IE AR
NG EHEREED B
LD/ H#E hn94,0007%
7T % 94,0005 T (—
T — )\ : 211,000/
JCK211,0005T) °

BHE-_Z-NLFRk=F
—N\FE+=-—A=+—H1
FE - AFEEHRZMEIL
MmEEiR o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z—NF+-_A=1+—HLEFE

41.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 41. @I A (&)
()  Fair value measurements of financial (0 S£@MIENAFEE(E)
instruments (continued)
(i)  Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value (i) F=ZRAFETEZHE
measurements

Assets-
Unlisted Liabilities-
equity Contingent
securities at consideration

FVTOCI payable
BEE-
BRAOTETA
Hih 2wk =L
Z¥LEH B
% A 3% 35 RRE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
At 1 January 2018 W-Z—N\F—F—H 32,837 512
Addition in relation to acquisition £2 U5 & 2% [ FH RS HY
of the Max Join (Note 45) wE (PiFsE45) 30,138 -
Disposal through disposal of a  F i1 E —
subsidiary MEARILE (30,221) -
Fair value changes NEEE (9,736) (152)
Issue of shares upon settlement 4 & 217D
(Note 47) (Ky5E47) - (360)
Exchange adjustment PE W, A (1,176) -
At 31 December 2018 RZZE—N\F
+=ZA=+—H 21,842 -
Disposal & (14) -
Fair value changes NFEE (12,026) -
Exchange adjustment PE W, S (231) -
At 31 December 2019 RZE—NFE+=AH
=+—H 9,571 -
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£ S NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

\Sit/

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(c) Fair value measurements of financial

instruments (continued)

(i)  Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value
measurements (continued)
Of the total gains or losses for the year
included in profit or loss, HK$152,000
relates to change in fair value of
contingent consideration payable at the
end of the year ended 31 December
2018.

Included in other comprehensive
income is an amount of approximately
HK$12,026,000 (2018: HK$9,736,000)
fair value loss relating to the unlisted
equity securities classified as equity
instruments at FVTOCI held at the end
of the current reporting period and is
reported as changes of “investment
revaluation reserve”.

The Directors consider that the carrying
amounts of other financial assets and financial
liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the
consolidated financial statements approximate
their values.

RE MR M
For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-Z-AF+_A=t—AILEE
e@MIA (&)
(0 EWMIENAFETE (&)

(i) ZE=RLAFHETEZHE
(%)
REtABZBO AT E K=
Sk EIBAREES + 152,00078
THEE-T-N\F+=
AR=+—HIEFERER
KARERZAFEEHE

REAREHRBFEDEAR
BRAFEFAEMZEK
mHELTRAZFSRZ
BB 412,026,000
B (ZF — N\ F
9,736,000/ 7T ) 5F A H A
2ENE W2HRA[RE
BBl 288

EER/ REAWBRERTRR
BIERAIRMEM S REER
TRAEMNEDERLEENR
go
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019

BE
42.

—E-NF+TZA=T—RHILFE

OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Group as lessee

The Group had commitments for future minimum
lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases
which fall due as follows:

42.

REHEANRRE

REBEREBAA
REBERE AT EAM R EI 2 AT i
RERA PR R 2 IR £ IR AR
T

2018
—E-N\F
HK$'000
FAET

—FR

Within one year

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by
the Group for certain of its office premises. Leases are
negotiated for terms of one to three years and rentals
are fixed over the terms of the leases.

The Group as lessor
The properties leased out have committed tenants for
the next two years.

Minimum lease payments receivable on leases are as
follows:

3,006

(BT T (OB R BB o
ATMEEN A BOBTARS
—E=fF SRR NEE R

FEEEREAA
EHHEMERREMEIERS -

B EEERENKNT

2019
—2-h#E
HK$'000
FERT

—FR

Within one year

The Group had contracted with lessees for the
following future minimum lease payments:

3,175

AEBE DT B 1R &K S 508 HE A
HARTH

2018
—E-N\F
HK$'000
FET

—FR

Within one year
In the second to fifth years inclusive
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43.

SHARE OPTIONS

The Company has adopted a share option scheme on
24 January 2002 (the “Scheme 2002"). Pursuant to
an ordinary resolution passed at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 6 May 2011, the
Scheme 2002 was terminated and a new share option
scheme (the “Scheme 2011") was adopted.

Under the Scheme 2002, the Company may only grant
share options to the Directors or any person who is an
employee of members of the Group or any entity in
which the Group holds any equity interests. However,
the Scheme 2011 provides a broadened basis of and
scope of eligible participation and enables the Group
to reward the employees, the Directors and other
selected participants for their contributions to the
Group. The Scheme 2002 was expired on 23 January
2012 and the Directors consider that it is appropriate
to adopt the new scheme.

The purpose of the Scheme 2002 and Scheme 2011
is to enable the Company to grant options to selected
employees to subscribe for shares of the Company
as incentives or rewards for their contributions to
the Group. The board of directors of the Company
may, at its discretion, invite any full-time or part-time
employees of the Company or any member of the
Group, including any executive and non-executive
directors of the Company, advisors and consultants
of the Company or any subsidiary of the Company
to take up options to subscribe for shares of the
Company. The total number of shares of the Company
available for issue under the Scheme 2002 and
Scheme 2011 was initially 10% of the issued share
capital as at the date of adoption of the Share Option
Scheme.

43,

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SAMBRERMT
For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z—hF+-_A=1+—HLEE
BRE
RARR_ZEZ_F— A +MBRH
BREAE ([T _F&t8l]) -1
BRARBHE_T——FAANBAET
BREBFAEG LBBHEBRER —
ST _FEEIE R mArERET 2
(IZZF——F58l]) D EKR-

RIE-_FT_FFE AAREAAAX
SEKRERARISAKERBEEaNER
ZEFYEARERLERE AWM =
T-—FFERAERERHERZ
MERNEE  EAKE ZEES -
%%&E@Wﬁi/ﬂﬁ'uﬁ?&%
HBAKEWNER  —TT_FFHEIE
“E-—F-A-t=HEMm MEZF
RTINS TIEEE -

5&

—EE_FHIR T —FHEEE
EAR T%ﬁTm%$®7h@Z$h
BYTRIERE  UMERRFHAEE
EHEMZ BB A B - ARFEFS
ARBREBARBRKAEETMXER
Az TR RBES (BREIMAA
RARTEERFNTES ARAHK
ARBUEFRHEB AR ZEREREAAN)
EMBRE URBARBRMD - A2

ARE T —FiE R =T ——Fit
2] F 31T 2 D BE B E R RN EE
MAEEE B 2 BT A10% °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e

B35 SRR MY RE

For the year ended 31 December 2019

HE

43.

—E-NF+TZA=T—RHILFE

SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

The total number of shares of the Company available
for issue under the Scheme 2002 and Scheme 2011
(including both exercised and outstanding options)
in any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of the
shares of the Company in issue from time to time.
An option may be exercised at any time during a
period to be determined and notified by the Board to
each participant. Upon acceptance of the option, the
employee should pay HK$1.00 to the Company by
way of consideration for the grant. The subscription
price for the shares of the Company will be a price to
be determined by the Board and will be the highest of
(i) the closing price of the shares on the GEM as stated
on the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the
date of granting of the options; (ii) the average closing
price of the shares on the GEM as stated on the Stock
Exchange's daily quotations sheet for the five trading
days immediately preceding the date of granting of
the options; and (iii) the nominal value of a share.

During the year ended 31 December 2016,
437,000,000 share options had been granted under
the Scheme 2011. The Group recognised the total
expense of approximately HK$2,526,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2018 in relations to share options
granted by the Company. No share options was
granted by the Company during the year ended 31
December 2019.

Details of specific categories of options are as follows:

43,

B RE (&)
BE—ET _FrE8I T ——F5 &l
(BREEITE R ARITERFERE) o]
FEITHARRERMEE - N ER12E
AR SBBAARRTEREETRG
1% BRETNRESCSETINE S
S 8E 7 R ABERITE - EMNER
R EBARAR Ti&ﬂo@%ﬁﬁf
AEEBRECRE - AQFRNZR
BEBHESSET WA (RHMN
BRERLEACHIMESARER L
FTHIRAGEMZ Wi & : (AR I BB
REFLEBMAER S BEBIME
HRER EFTPIRGEMZ U (B
K EE=EFRe & °

HEZZ—R"F+ZA=+—HLHF
r_$Ajmﬁ_T**¢ﬁﬂ&ﬁ%
fi% #£437,000,00017 ° AN & B 5t A QD
ﬁﬁ%%%%%@é—?—h¢+—
A=+ RALFERRAZRLELY
2,526,000 L - REBEZE T —NF+=
A=Z+—BLEFE ARAIEREE
o] B AR 4EE o

BN EEBFBNT

Date of grant Vesting period  Exercise period Exercise price

REBE FEAE THEEE TRER

HK$

BT

Scheme 2011 12/9/2016 - 13/9/2016 12/9/2019 1.10

—T——F5E “E-R"FNA+ZH - E-R"ENAT=HE 1.1

ZE-hAEARtCA

Scheme 2011 12/9/2016 1 year 13/9/2017-12/9/2019 1.10

5 “E-REAATZR 1F “2—+ERATZHE 1.10
“T-NAFAATZH

Scheme 2011 12/9/2016 2 years 13/9/2018-12/9/2019 1.10

—T——F5tE “E-REARTZR 2% —Z-\FAA+=RZE 1.10
—T-NFARTZH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z—hF+-_A=1+—HLEE

43. SHARE OPTIONS (continued) 43. BB (E)

The estimated fair value of the options lapsed during REE-_ZE—hAhFEF+-_A=+—H
the year ended 31 December 2019 was approximately TEEELAAEREGST AFEEY
HK$14,616,000 (2018: HK$6,737,000) which has 14,616,000 0 (=ZF — \F:
been transferred from share options reserve to 6,737,000/ 7T) - EC BB EFEEE
accumulated losses. BEZREEE-

The following table discloses the movement of the TREZEE BRI NMEERFANETA
Company’s share options held by the Directors, BN TR S E)

consultants and employees during the year:

For the year ended 31 December 2019 BE-_E—NE+=-BA=1+—HLEE

Outstanding at Outstanding at

1 January Lapsed Exercised 31 December

Grantees Option grant date 2019 during the year during the year 2019

R-B-h# R-ZB-NF

—A—H +t=ZA=t-H

ERA BRERLAH e R AT 6E RERKK RERTE e RATHE

‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000

T4 T T T6

Directors 12 September 2016 10,700 (10,700) - —
T ~E-AEAATCR

Consultants 12 September 2016 7,625 (7,625) - -
| “T-RFEAATCH

Employees 12 September 2016 12,000 (12,000) - -
] —E-REAATZH

Total 30,325 (30,325) - -

st

Exercisable at the end of
the year -

RERAITE

Weighted average exercise price 1.100 1.100 N/A ~EA N/A 7 A
(HKS$ per share)
MEFHITEE BTER)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z—NF+-_A=1+—HLEFE
SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

43.

For the year ended 31

December 2018

43. B FE (4E)
BE-2—\FT-A=+-BLFE

Outstanding at Adjustment  Outstanding at
1 January Lapsed Exercised due to share 31 December
Grantees Option grant date 2018 during the year  during the year consolidation 2018
RZZ-N\&F RZE-N\F
—A-H ARAatt TZA=+—H
ERA SRR 1 B HARITHE RERKR RERXH fEh R i ATTEE
(Note)
(%)
‘000 '000 ‘000 '000 '000
T4 Fin T4 Fin T
Directors 13 July 2015 32,375 (32,375) - - -
% “E-RFtAt+=R
12 September 2016 141,000 (34,000) - (96,300) 10,700
“Z-REAATZHE
Consultants 13 July 2015 - - - - -
B “Z-RFtAT=H
12 September 2016 76,250 - - (68,625) 7,625
—Z-RFARATZRH
Employees 13 July 2015 - - - - -
E& “Z-RF+A+=H
12 September 2016 154,000 (34,000) - (108,000) 12,000
ZR-RENATZHE
Total
st 403,625 (100,375) - (272,925) 30,325
Exercisable at the end of
the year
RERAITE 30,325
Weighted average exercise price
(HKS per share)
IEFHTHEE
(BTER) 0.124 0.143 N/A T3 N/A i A 1.100
Note: Following the Capital Reorganisation on 16 s RZZE-NF+—ATRBETR

November 2018, the exercise price of the
outstanding share options was adjusted from
HK$0.11 to HK$1.10. The numbers of outstanding
share options were also adjusted from 303,250,000
shares to 30,325,000 as a result of the Capital

Reorganisation.
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43.

SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2016,
437,000,000 share options were granted on 12
September 2016. The estimated fair value of the
options granted on this grant date is approximately
HK$20,146,000.

The fair value was calculated using the Binomial
model. The inputs into the model were as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE VB RRMEE
For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_ZT-—hF+-_A=1+—BLFE
43. Bi#E (&)

HE_Z-—RF+A=+—HL*F
J€ » 437,000,00013 AR IR — T —RF
NA+TZBERE -RHE BB RE

Z b Et A F{EX) /320,146,000 7T ©

AFETE IR B - R
BABEIT

Maturity date: 12 September 2019
Weighted average share price
Exercise price

Expected volatility

Expected life

Risk-free rate

Expected dividend yield

Maturity date: 12 September 2019
Weighted average share price
Exercise price

Expected volatility

Expected life

Risk-free rate

Expected dividend yield

Maturity date: 12 September 2019
Weighted average share price
Exercise price

Expected volatility

Expected life

Risk-free rate

Expected dividend yield

Expected volatility was determined by using the
historical volatility of the Company’s share price over
the previous 4 years. The expected life used in the
model has been adjusted, based on management’s
best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability,

AR . —E—-hFhhA+=H

AR (E HK$0.1107 7T
IEER HK$0.11078 7T
T8 HA O 1@ 65.88%
TEHA{E FA A 3 years F
2 [ B M) 26 0.608%
T8 HA AR B B 3R R Nil &

FHE - —E—-NFEAA+=H

iR (E HK$0.1107 7T
1T B HK$0.11078 7T
T8 HA R 1@ 65.88%
TEHA{E AR HA 2 years F
4 [3 b 1) 0.608%
TEHARL B Bl 3R X Nil =
A —E—-hAhFEAA+=H

nwEFHRE HK$0.11078 7T
TR ERE HK$0.1107 7T
TE R R 65.88%
TEHA (S A HA 1 year
2 [3 b 1) 0.608%
TEHANR B Bl ] % Nil =

exercise restrictions and behavioural considerations.

TEHPRIE IR A AR R RERNBEMNESF
LSRR T IAKEE - 2B RA 21’
HaE AEHERIEEEE 2 REME
Wit AR RN TTERSI RTRARE
LEEELHE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019

BE
43.

44,

—E-NF+TZA=T—RHILFE

SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

The Binomial model has been used to estimate the fair
value of the options. The variables and assumptions
used in computing the fair value of the share options
are based on the directors’ best estimate. The value
of an option varies with different variables of certain
subjective assumptions.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The Group operates a MPF for all qualifying employees
in Hong Kong. The assets of the schemes are held
separately from those of the Group, in funds under
the control of trustees. The Group contributes
5% of relevant payroll costs capped at HK$1,500
(2018: HK$1,500) per month to MPF, in which the
contribution is matched by employees.

Pursuant to the regulation of the relevant authorities
in the PRC, the subsidiaries of the Group in this
country participate in respective government
retirement benefit schemes (the “Schemes”) whereby
the subsidiaries are required to contribute to the
Schemes to fund the retirement benefits of the
eligible employees. Contribution made to the Schemes
is calculated bases on the certain percentages of
the applicable payroll costs as stipulated under the
requirements in the PRC. The relevant authorities
of the PRC are responsible for the entire pension
obligations payable to the retired employees. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the Schemes
is to pay the ongoing required contribution under the
Schemes.

Under the Labour Pension Act of Taiwan, Employees
may choose a scheme where the rate of contribution
by an employer should not be less than 6% of the
employees’ monthly salaries and the employees may
also voluntarily contribute up to 6% of the monthly
salaries to the provision fund account under the
Labour Pension Act of Taiwan.

China Eco-Farming Limited FEIB ¥ £ REFRA 7
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44,

45,

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES (continued)

The total expense recognised in consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of approximately HK$668,000 (2018:
HK$737,000) represents contribution payable to
MPF and the Schemes by the Group in respect of the
current financial year.

ACQUISITION OF ASSETS THROUGH ACQUISITION
OF SUBSIDIARIES

Max Joint

On 27 August 2018, King Noble Holdings Limited
("King Noble"”), an indirect wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company, the Company and Mr. Guo Weifu
(an independent third party) entered into a sales
and purchase agreement pursuant to which Mr.
Guo Weifu had agreed to sell and King Noble had
agreed to purchase 100 ordinary shares in Max Joint,
representing 100% of the entire issued share capital
of Max Joint, at a consideration of HK$46,500,000,
which shall be satisfied by issue of 465,000,000
ordinary shares of the Company at HK$0.10 per
share (the “Max Joint Acquisition”). The Max Joint
Acquisition was completed on 25 October 2018.

Max Joint is an investment holding company
incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability,
which holds 15% equity interest in Bengbu Higreen
Agricultural Product Logistics Company Limited*
(EREBHERERWRABRZAR) ("Higreen
Agricultural™). Higreen Agricultural operates a
largescale agricultural products logistics center in
Bengbu of Anhui Province, PRC for wholesale of
agricultural products, which also handles processing,
packaging, storage, direct selling, delivery, auction,
e-commerce, food safety testing and central
settlement.

The assets acquired and liabilities assumed did not
constitute a business combination as defined in
HKFRS 3 Business Combinations and therefore, the
acquisition was accounted for as assets acquisition.

i English name for identification only

44,

45,

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SAMBRERMT
For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z—hF+-_A=1+—HLEE
RKEFNTE (F)
RixE B RHE A 2 U iR A R
X 4R FE#668,0008 T (ZF — )\ &F
737,000/ 7T ) HE AR SR B AN B U TR
EyRE S R

EBWENBEARWBEE

123

M=ZF—)\FN\A=++H 'King Noble
Holdings Limited ([King Noble ] * 2N
Al—HEEZ2EWNBRAR) A2QdA
RBEXEE(BILE=ZA)FIVLEE
Wk IR - 205 A B R E & K&King
NobleE A E B 1002 B (£ &) & % -
MENRERF D EITRAN100%
KA1 &46,500,0008 7T - H 5 A 1T
465,000,000/% 7~ 2 & & I H {50.107%
TZEBR 2 ANEN (TERERES
H]) BRERBEFEER-_Z—N\F+
AZ+HABAREK-

BES—RNEBEMALWREZER
BERAF HEERESTEREMDR
ERAB(IBEEREM])MI5%K
B-BEERERNTEZHE HFEEL
E—EAXERERMRTOAETRE
mEHEE - MR NT B85 2.
ERHE XN HE EFRHE RS
RERBINRRREH -

PR IB & E MNP AR BEL TEXEE
IS EREIREF S G TR EN
XEBat At WBFEREEREE
- YN
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019

BE_F—NF+-A=+— AR
45,

ACQUISITION OF ASSETS THROUGH ACQUISITION 45, ZEBWEKBASIWEBSE (&)

OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
Max Joint (continued)

The assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the

Bifg (M)

RUEE B BIFT IR & & M P ATE R E L

date of acquisition as follows: T
HK$'000
FHET
Equity instruments at FVTOCI BEAVEFAHEMEAKE 2
BT H 30,138
Other receivables H th f& WK IE 3
Bank balances and cash RITHABRRIRE 4
Trade and other payables JE {<F AR 3R B EL A JE A< 5K IR (7,825)
Fair value of net assets acquired P EEE 2 A TE 22,320
Total consideration satisfied by: BREBNUTHESE:
HK$'000
FHET
Consideration shares (Note) RERS (M) 22,320

Note: The fair value of the 465,000,000 ordinary shares of
the Company, determined using the published price
available at the date of the acquisition, amounted to

HK$22,320,000.

Net cash inflow on acquisition of Max Joint:

BRERBEHZRDM

fifsr . ZXA 71465,000,0000% & i AR & A 7
WEE R EAR EBS B TIRERET Y
NF1E /22,320,000 7T °

R

HK$'000
FTAT

Cash consideration

Less: Bank balances and cash acquired

Details of the transaction are set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 27 August 2018 and 25

October 2018.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B BRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z—hF+-_A=1+—HLEE

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 46. HEMHEA A
Champion Front Limited Champion Front Limited
On 12 September 2019, the Group disposed of the N-ZE—hWFHNAT+_A AEFHILE
entire issued share capital of its direct wholly-owned £ R{E100,0008 THEEBEEZEE2EMN
subsidiary, Champion Front Limited and its subsidiary, B2 &]Champion Front Limited & E 1 &
at cash consideration of HK$100,000. The disposal NAZ RO BTH/R AN ZEEZTER
was completed on 12 September 2019. Champion —E—AFNA+ =B > Champion
Front Limited and its subsidiary are inactive. The Front Limited 2 E /B A T & & % -
carrying amount of the assets and liabilities over which ELGcEERABBEZREBEASS
control was lost is HK$Nil. T
HK$'000
FAETT
Cash received B UWR e 100
Net asset disposed of EHEEEFE -
Gain on disposal &z 100
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEEAMBSRAFE:
Cash consideration received BUERENRE 100

Shenzhen City Jintaiyuan

On 29 November 2018, the Group disposed of the
entire issued share capital of its indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary, Shenzhen City Jintaiyuan, at cash
consideration of RMB21,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$23,635,000). The disposal was
completed on 29 November 2018. Shenzhen City
Jintaiyuan is an investment holding company which
holds 15% equity interest in Higreen Agricultural.

FIHERE

RZE-—NF+—AZ+NLAB &&E
BErEH ME2EWBAR—FIT
SREzE2HEBHITRA - BeRE
#45 AR #21,000,0007T (MEERL
23,635,000/ 7T) c ZEEER =T —N
F+—AZthBEK - FYTE&EE
AR EERAR EHBEEEEEER
2 15 % IR o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z—NF+-_A=1+—HLEFE

46. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 46. HEWBAT (&)
Shenzhen City Jintaiyuan (continued) FITERE (F)
Analysis of asset and liabilities over which control was EhindliE s EERBES T
lost:
HK$'000
FETT
Equity instruments at FVTOCI BEATFEFAEMEZEKES
EmTA 30,221
Other receivables H b e SRR 2
Bank balances and cash IRITHEB EIRE® 2
Other payables E {th i 708 (7,655)
Net assets disposed of BEHEEEFE 22,570
HK$'000
FETT
Consideration 1B 23,635
Net assets disposed of BEHEEEFHE (22,570)
Gain on disposal k= 1,065

Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEEENRESRAFE:

Cash consideration received (Note) BUIR & R(E (KIE) 15,757
Less: bank balance and cash disposed of B IRITEMEFTEER e (2)
15,755
Note: RMB14,000,000 (equivalent to approximately Misr: AR ¥14,000,000 (FHERY
HK$15,757,000) has been received during the 15,757,000 L) ERBE=ZZT— N\
year ended 31 December 2018. The final payment F+-_A=+—HIEFEKR &
of RMB7,000,000 (equivalent to approximately AT A R #7,000,0007T (HHE R
HK$7,823,000) (Note 24) has been included in 7,823,000 7T) (Mfi24) B 5 A
other receivables as at 31 December 2019 (2018: RIZE-AF+ZRA=+—HHE
RMB7,000,000 (equivalent to approximately EKZFE(ZE—N\E: ARK
HK$7,970,000)) and has been fully settled in April 7,000,0007T (4B 7 497,970,000
2020. TC) )WR B BF AEELEE
Detail of the transaction are set out in the Company’s TEHEBEHFERAATBEHEA-—ZT—N
announcements dated 29 November 2018 and 14 F+—A-+NHEZZE—N\F+_A

December 2018. +IrBEZ A e
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CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION PAYABLE

Inno-Bag Limited

The contingent consideration arrangement has the
following requirements:

(i)

(ii)

the Group will allot and issue the 6,200,000
Company's shares to the Vendor if the profit
after tax of Inno-Bag Limited for the year ended
31 March 2017 is higher than HK$ 1,200,000 or
if the profit after tax of Inno-Bag Limited is less
than HK$1,200,000, the shares to be allotted
and issued will be reduced on a pro-rata basis.
No allotment and issuance will take place if
Inno-Bag Limited suffers loss for the year ended
31 March 2017.

the Group will allot and issue the 6,200,000
Company's shares to the Vendor if the profit
after tax of Inno-Bag Limited for the year ended
31 March 2018 is higher than HK$1,200,000 or
if the profit after tax of Inno-Bag Limited is less
than HK$1,200,000, the shares to be allotted
and issued will be reduced on a pro-rata basis.
No allotment and issuance will take place if
Inno-Bag Limited suffers loss for the year ended
31 March 2018.

The contingent consideration payable is classified as a
level 3 fair value measurement.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SAMBRERMT
For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z—hF+-_A=1+—HLEE
47. ENHIARRKE
RERREJEERRAT
IARRELHAEBLATHE:

(i) THRERERJLEERQANE
E-F—+HF=A=+—HIF
€ 2 B #i 1% s 1 = 781,200,000
B AEEFRERET
6,200,000/% &2 A D F & /5
RZMEKERANRCEGR AR
2 B B 18 % K 2 581,200,000
oAl TRERETIRDE
R B AR - A BIRIR B %
BRATNREE-_ZE—+H=H
—t—BHLEFESXER AR
BRI TGHEITo

(i) (WK EIRRIBLEER A FRE
2T N\F=ZA=+—HUILHF
[ 2 B B 1% % F) = 521,200,000
BT A E A R ET
6,200,0008 R A FIRMD TEF ©
Rz MK BIRIR R EER A A
2 FR B 1% % F 2> 701,200,000
TR FERERETZRNE
R BRI - i BIRR R
BERARINREBEEZE_ZE—NE=A
—t+-HRLEFERZEE AR
BENRBITTEHET

ENAREBEIERE =R FE

i
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019

BE
47.

—E-NF+A=+—HILFE
CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION PAYABLE
(continued)

Inno-Bag Limited (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the
target profit tax as stated in the Sale and Purchase
Agreement was not fulfilled and the respective

47. BAZAKE (&)

HRERRREEBRLAP (F)

contingent consideration payable of approximately B LW RGA
HK$152,000 was written back and recognised in the TR o
consolidated profit and loss and other comprehensive

income.

Movement of the contingent consideration payable for

31 December 2019 and 2018 are as below:

HE_Z—N\F+_A=+—B8BL*HF
B BEEMEAMTHANEEMNEHRAE
IR - MAR R FE S S AR (B 49152,000/ T
BakEMmE2EmREF

RZE—NFE_ZE—NFE+=-A

=t HAZENRAREZZHWT

Total

wmat

HK$'000

FHET

At 1 January 2018 R-ZZE-N\F—H—H 512
Fair value changes NFEEE (152)
Issue of shares upon settlement (Note 39(a)) HEHIREEITIRG (MY5E39(a)) (360)

At 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2019
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CHANGES IN OWNERSHIP INTEREST IN A
SUBSIDIARY

Acquisition of interest in a subsidiary without
change of control

On 29 July 2019, CAFCF has passed a resolution
to allot 600,000 ordinary shares to its immediate
holding company, Award Fortune Limited, and
the share capital increased from HK$1,400,000 to
HK$2,000,000. This resulted in an increase in the
Group’s equity interest in CAFCF from 78.57% to
85%.

On 11 November 2019, the Group acquired 300,000
ordinary shares of CAFCF from Mr. Chan Ka Leung
Kevin, the non-controlling shareholder of CAFCF, at
a consolidation of HK$1. This resulted in a further
increase in the Group’s equity interest in CAFCF
from 85% to 100%. Approximately HK$18,000
representing the amounts of the interest acquired of
CAFCF was recognised in other reserve.

A schedule of the effect of acquisition of interest is in
a subsidiary without change of control is as follow:

48.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE MR M
For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z—hF+-_A=1+—HLEE

MELRRREREEE
WM RIS R AR ER

RZZE—hhF+A-t+IAH -EHEE
BEREEBAR—BEARR mMEEEER
‘A&l Award Fortune Limitedfid 2600,000
I @A - AR AN 1,400,0008 i =
2,000,000/ 7T » WL GRS BN ER
SRR AR HR78.57 %G NZ=85% °

RZZE—h&F+—A+—8 Fx5£EH
EREVBTRFRREEMZIEZER
BEBERREAERETFEEERMZ
300,000/ AR @ AN EERPEEE
FARS 2 A% HE 185 %3 — 2 1 £100% o
#4718,000% 7T (HHE RNIEHE R
BiiEas  858) TR H A B R

WiEE e FEENB AR T RE2E
RMRERIT:

2019
—E-NF
HK$'000
FHET
Carrying amount of BB IE R AR R 2 BRE B
non-controlling interests acquired 18
Less: Consideration paid B ERRE -
Difference recognised in other reserves ERERANNEMFEETERERE
within equity 18
* Amount less than HK$1,000. * KA1,0008 T 2458
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z—NF+-_A=1+—HLEFE
49. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)

China Eco-Farming Limited FEIB ¥ £ REFRA 7

49. BEEALTRS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated (@) BEAVMBHmEMABEREREIN K
financial statements, the Group has entered EFEFERNBEREATEVUATE
into the following significant transactions with KZ 5
related parties during the year:
Name of company Nature of transaction 2019 2018
NEEWE XHEME —E-AF T )N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FET
Beijing HX (Note i) Loan interest income received (352) (337)
EREE (M) B W E KA B U A
Fuyu (Note i) Loan interest income received (3,674) (4,147)
HwAR (M5 B W E A B U A
Bright Kingdom International Consultancy fee paid 800 600
Limited (Note ii)
SRR AR QA (M) TR E R
Chan Kee Holdings Limited Purchases of grocery food 3,200 3,769
(“Chan Kee") (Note iii) products
REEEEBR AT ([BR]) BERHRMD
(B i )
Deposit paid - 333
BERHRMD
Consultancy fee paid 350 318
ETER &R
Interest income (187) (282)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

49. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(a) (continued)

Notes:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Beijing HX and Fuyu are associates of the
Group.

Bright Kingdom International Limited is
connected with a director of the Company.

On 4 February 2016, Maxford Wealth
Limited ("Maxford Wealth”), a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, formed an entity
named Right Ocean Asia Limited (“Right
Ocean”) with an independent third party, Ms.
Yoo (the spouse of Mr. Chan), and which Mr.
Chan is the substantial shareholder of Chan
Kee. Pursuant to the agreements entered into
by Right Ocean and Mr. Chan, Ms. Yoo and
Mr. Chan shall procure Chan Kee to enter
into the trademark licence agreement and
the sole distributorship agreement with Right
Ocean, for the sole and exclusive sale and
distribution of the grocery food products and
right to use the trademark granted by Chan
Kee at nil consideration within Hong Kong,
Macau and Taiwan for the period from 4
February 2016 to 31 December 2018.

On 25 March 2019, the trademark licence
agreement and the sole distributorship
agreement have been renewed for a period
of 3 years.

Upon the formation of Right Ocean, the
equity of Right Ocean is held as to 51%
by Maxford Wealth and 49% by Ms. Yoo.
Therefore, Right Ocean became a non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2016, a
shareholder loan agreement was entered into
between Maxford Wealth and Right Ocean,
pursuant to which Maxford Wealth has
agreed to lend a loan of HK$11,000,000 to
Right Ocean, with a fixed interest rate of 5%
per annum and repayable on demand.

RE MR M
For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-Z-AF+_A=t—AILEE
BEALRS (&)
(@ (&)

b

0] EREERKRBAEEZ
BEBAL-

(ii) EEHERARRQBELRF]
E=AME-

(iii) RZE—R"F-AMA-
Maxford Wealth Limited
([Maxford Wealth ]) (A2
AE2ENBAR)BBILE
=HEaZ T (REEZRB)
(BREERFLDOEZRE)
ML ABAEBEESEMNERA
A (TEVE M ER  RIBEE
BERRAE AT IR R
“E-RNF-_ANMBE=_F
—\F+ZRA=+—HHM"
B &+ R PR A A ZB (R (5 PR AT
BT LR AR
RE—DHEEHEARER
BRES RFIRAEE—R
BREER >HEEBIRG K
BREFARDATE LA IR -

RZZE-NAE=A-+aR"
AR AT R T S B — D g
BHECEER=F-

FRAERKEBE - BUB 2 B
Maxford Wealth$## B51% &
MBI Z TiHH49% ° Bt - B
R BARNFEEMBR
e

BE2E-_ZT—-—~"F+=A
=+ —H 1 FE  Maxford
Wealth B2 5 )8 5] 37 ik 3R B 5K
3 ¥ ltMaxford Wealth
BERERMESEIREMHER
11,000,0007 7T + [& & 4F 7| &
H5% ' BEREKERE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z—NF+-_A=1+—HLEFE

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(continued)

49.

(a)

(b)

Notes: (continued)

(iii)

(continued)

Another loan agreement was entered
into between Right Ocean and Chan Kee,
pursuant to which Right Ocean has agreed
to lend a loan of HK$6,000,000 to Chan
Kee, with Mr, Chan’s personal guarantee,
a fixed interest rate of 7% per annum,
repayable within 36 months after the date of
drawdown for business operation. Details are
disclosed in Note 25.

Details are set out in the announcement
of the Company’s announcements dated 4
February 2016 and 25 March 2019.

Compensation of key management
personnel
The remuneration of Directors and other

49,

BEALXRS (&)
(@ (&)

BisE: (4)

(iy  (48)
BSEMEIIY R —HER
e B EUEE R E R
(LABRSE A B E A FER) &
— % B 506,000,000 TT -
EFEFRAET%  BERIRE
EET % 2 B #i1&36(E A
RNIEE - BRI BERBERN
25 o

FEZHBIEARARABEEA

—E-RF_ANBER=FE

—hWFZA-THAZA M-
(b) FEEEASHMH

FARRREERIZEEEH

members of key management during the year kB 7 EHEm T
was as follows:

2019 2018
—E-hEFE ZZZETN\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT FHET
Short-term benefits %= HAtE A 3,543 6,502
Share-based payments VARR A7 A ERE A 5K - 836
Post-employment benefits & AR A 47 74
3,590 7,412

The remuneration of the Directors and other

members of key management is determined
by the remuneration committee having regard
to the performance of individuals and market

trends.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B BRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z—hF+-_A=1+—HLEE

50. ZAAQFBHBARRE

COMPANY
2019 2018
—E-hE —TNF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5% FET FET
Non-current assets IRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RETB AR 2 E 135 135
Plant and equipment 5 B 55 4 5 -
140 135
Current assets RBEE
Other receivables H b R U FRIR 60 302
Amounts due from subsidiaries  FE Y P E A B FIE 224,882 355,992
Bank balances and cash IRTTEHRERE 30 54
224,972 356,348
Current liabilities RBEE
Other payables H h JE 1~ RIB 5,214 24,090
Amounts due to subsidiaries AL NGI B 38,134 41,344
Borrowing &= 3,500 -
46,848 65,434
Net current assets REBEERRE 178,124 290,914
Total assets less current HEERABAEE
liabilities 178,264 291,049
Non-current liabilities ERBERE
Borrowings &= 19,612 -
Net assets EEFE 158,652 291,049
Capital and reserves BXR#E
Share capital [N 9,325 7,771
Reserves (] (a) 149,327 283,278
Total equity HRE R 158,652 291,049

The Company’s statement of financial position was
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of
Directors on 11 May 2020 and are signed on its behalf

by:

So David Tat Man

BRIEX
Director

EF

EZeN - T_TFRAATH#tER
RETBARRRMBFARE - LA T

EERARAB/EE:

Ng Cheuk Fan, Keith
REN
Director

EF
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
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50.

China Eco-Farming Limited FEIB ¥ £ REFRA 7
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— \ \\ =
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 50. ADTEHERTE (&)
COMPANY (continued)
Reserves (a) f#E
Equity
component
Share Contributed ~ of convertible  Share options Special Other Accumulated
premium surplus bonds reserve reserve reserve losses Total
TERES
Rt i EON:4 5y BRERE RHRE RE RithR Eh
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tiér Tk Tikn Tén TiEn FiEn FEn Tin
(Note 37)
(Afs837)
At 1 January 2018 RZE-\5-A-8 416,409 - 5,699 18,827 28769 (764) (#12,607) 56,333
Loss for the year, representing total
comprehensive expense for the year - - - - - - (9.470) (9,470)
Placing of new shares REMR 75,600 - - - - - - 75,600
Placing expenses in relation to the EBRIRHNEERR
issuance of shares (2,691) - - - - - - (2,691)
Issue of shares upon settlement of BEGAREREARD
contingent consideration 305 - - - - - - 305
Expiration of conversion option of RRTAREFEN
convertible bonds - - (5,699) - - - 5,699 -
Acquisition of a assets through EAKBNEAAKEEE
acquisition of subsidiaries 13,020 - - - - - - 13,020
Recogniton of equity-settled ERNEREERIRN A
share based payments EROAR - - - 2526 - - - 2526
Share option lapsed during RERBEREXH
the year - - - (6,737) - - 6737 -
Capital reorganisation ErkEd (502,643) 650,298 - - - - - 147,655
At 31 December 2018 R=B-NEtZfA=1-8 - 650,298 - 14,616 28769 (764) (409,641) 283,218
Loss for the year, representing total TERER WARERRE
comprehensive expense for the year 7 - - - - - - (140,860) (140,860)
Placing of new shares BEFR 6,99 - - - - - - 6,99
Placing expenses in relation to BEIRANEERR
the issuance of shares (85) - - - - - - (85)
Share option lapsed during ERBRMERE
the year - - - (14,616) - - 14,616 -
At 31 December 2019 RZE-AE+ZA=1-R 6,909 650,298 - - 28,769 (764) (535,885) 149,327




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z-—NF+-_A=1+—HLTFE

51. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 51. MIB A RFHE
Place of
Legal form incorporation/ Paid-up/issued Proportion of ownership interest
Name of subsidiary of entity operations registered capital held by the Company Principal Activities
KEAEAR EREENS HRAL/E54Y  AR/BROEMRE FRRERRERRLA IBEK
Directly Indirectly
E# B
2019 2018 2019 2018

“8-hE ZE\F ZE-AFE CENE

Kama Business Holdings Limited Limited liability BV Ordinary shares of US$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
Kama Business Holdings Limited BREfRE ARERES (E3a 31 REBR
Goodlink Corporation Limited Limited liability Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$1 - - 100% 100%  One-stop value chain
services
BEARAA BRELLA 20 BT ERR —iABEERE
Anson Development Limited Limited liability Hong Kong Ordinary shares of 100% 100% - - Inactive
HK$100
REFRERAA BRERAR Bk 100872 &R 5%
Grand Protection Holdings Limited Limited liability BV Ordinary share of US$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
ERERERAA BREALA ERRREE 34351 RERR
Kaley Development Limited Limited liability BV Ordinary share of US$1 - - 100% 100%  Inactive
ERERERLT BRELLA ABRAES ETLERR 5%
Hoi Fan Investment Limited Limited liability BV Ordinary shares of US§ 1 - - 100% 100%  Inactive
INREERAT BREALA ERRREE 34351 X%
Wide Graceful Holdings Limited Limited liability BV Ordinary shares of US$1 100% 100% - - Securities holding
Wide Graceful Holdings Limited BREfRE ARERES (E3a 31 ZERE
Cyberpress Limited Limited liability Hong Kong Ordinary shares of - - 100% 100%  Inactive
HK$100
FHERRA BRELLA 20 100272 B8R 5%
Treasure Yield Investment Limited Limited liabilty HK Ordinary shares of HK$1 - - 100% 100%  Inactive
BEREERAA BREALA 30 TETZER X%
Joy Gold Trading Enterprises Limited Limited liability BV Ordinary shares of US$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
Joy Gold Trading Enterprises Limited ~~ AREAAR AREES (E3a:3:1s REBR
King Health Trading Limited Limited liability Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$1 - - 100% 100%  Trading of consumables
RRESERAA BRERLA EA BT B8R HERED
Udog Petechnology Company Limited ~ Limited liability HK Ordinary shares of HK$1 - g 100% 100%  Inactive
FHABENEERAT BRAELT 20 BT ERR 5%
Luster Shine Limited Limited liability BV Ordinary shares of US$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
Luster Shine Limited BREAAR ABRUES Erz LBk RERR
Ever Chance Management Limited Limited liability Hong Kong Ordinary shares of - - 100% 100%  Group administration
HK$10,000
EEERARAR BREELA B 10,000 72 38R SEER
All Ready Holdings Limited Limited liability BV Ordinary shares of US$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
Al Ready Holdings Limited BREfAE AREHS 1FT2 BBk REBR
Ease Chance Investment Limited Limited liability Hong Kong Ordinary shares of - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
HK$10,000
EERERRAR BREELT 20 10,000 7.2 S8R RE#SR
Sky Success International Investments — Limited liability Hong Kong Ordinary shares of - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited HK$100
AREBREERAA BRERAR Bk 100872 &R REBR
China Eco-Farming Limited P E B X4 EHR QA 289
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z—NF+-_A=1+—HLEFE

51. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 51. MBATEE (&)
Place of
Legal form incorporation/ Paid-up/issued Proportion of ownership interest
Name of subsidiary of entity operations registered capital held by the Company Principal Activities
WEAEAR EREERA HMAT/ EE4E  HR/BRAEMRA ARRERAERRLA IBEK
Directly Indirectly
E# B
2019 2018 2019 2018

“8-hE ZE\F ZE-AE RN

Taiwan Eco-Farming Technology Limited liability Taiwan Paid up capital of - - 100% 100%  Trading of agricultural
Development Co, Ltd. NTD10,000,000 products
RERXEEMBRERAARAT  BREMLA Al #747%10,00000072 BERZD
BRERE
Skyline Top Limited Limited liability BV Ordinary shares of US$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
REEERAE BREELA ZBRLES 1ETERR RERR
Wise Success Holdings Limited Limited liability BV Ordinary share Of - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
U5§50,000
Wise Success Holdings Limited BREALT ABRSEE 50000% 72 £BR RERR
On Good Investment Limited Limited liability HK Ordinary share of - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
HK$10,000
BRREERAR BREELA 30 10,000 72 38R RERR
Ye Lei Investment Consulting (Shenzhen)  Limited liability PRC Registered capital of - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
(o, Ltd* RMB100,000 (Note b)
EERERA (M) BRAT BREELA hE ARE100,0007 23 RERR
R (Hib)
Shenzhen Shanglei Agricultural Products  Limited liability PRC Registered capital of - - 80% 80%  Inactive
Investment Co., Ltd.** RMB10,000,000 (Note b)
RmHZEERRERRAT  AREELT Gl AEH10,000,00072 E25
A (Kizb)
Fujian Seton Investment Co,, Ltd.** Limited liability PRC Paid up capital of - - 100% 100%  Property holding
RMB50,000,000
RERRREARRLT BREELR ke AR#50,000,0007.2 RARHK
YRER
King Noble Holdings Limited Limited liability BV Ordinary share of - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
1S§50,000
King Noble Holdings Limited BREfRE ARELES 50000572 Lidfk REBR
Max Joint (Note a) Limited liability HK Ordinary share of - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
HK$100
B (Mfita) BRELLT 20 10072 Bk RESR
Shenzhen Dehao Trading Co,, Ltd. ** Limited liability PRC Registered capital of - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
(Formerly known as Shenzhen City HK$100,000 (Note b)
Chengqj Enterprise Consultancy
Management Company Limited*?)
(Note a)
MITEREFERAR (HERIT AREEAR hE 100,000702 RERR
ARCERHERERR) FMRA (Hith)
(Hfita)
Fine Champion Holdings Limited Limited liability BV Ordinary share of - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
550,000
Fine Champion Holdings Limited BREALH ABRSEE 50000% 72 £BR RERR
* English name for identification only * BN HTBEEBR
# Wholly foreign owned enterprise. # INEBERE
' Wholly domestic owned enterprise. ' 2ENEDRE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B BRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z-—NF+-_A=1+—HLTFE

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 51. MIB QTS (&)
Place of
Legal form incorporation/ Paid-up/issued Proportion of ownership interest
Name of subsidiary of entity operations registered capital held by the Company Principal Activities
KEAEAR EREENS AR/ gE%Y  MR/BRMERRE FRRERRERRLA IBEK
Directly Indirectly
E# B
2019 2018 2019 2018

“8-hE ZE\F ZE-AFE CENE

Total Famous Investment Limited Limited liability HK
2RREBRAA BREELA B
Chengwang Investment Limited liability PRC
EERE BREALA HE
Shenzhen Chuanshi Shengbang Limited liability PRC
Investment Co., Ltd.**
ATELEARERRAR BRERAR Gile
Konson Global Investment Limited Limited liability BV
Konson Global Investment Limited BREELT ZBRLES
Union World International Group Limited liability Hong Kong
Holdings Limited
BRERZRERLA BREALA 30
Delightful Hope Limited (Note ¢) Limited liability BV
FRERAA (M) BREALA ERRREE
China Smart Asia Limited (Note ) Limited liability HK
EAENERAR (M) BRELLA 20
Shenzhen Shengshi Fugiang Technology  Limited liability PRC
Co., Ltd**(Note ¢)
At E R R ERAA BRERAR HE
(M)
Guangyi Southwest Alliance Wood Limited liability PRC
Industry Co., Ltd.** (Note ¢)
FARRBEAMERERAT  AREELR ik
(t3kc)
Skyline Best Limited Limited liability BV
REEBRAH BRERLA ABRUES
Top Yield Properties Limited Limited liability Hong Kong
HBEXERAT BRERAR 0
Hongkong Shangligao Properties Limited liability Taiwan
Co., Ltd. - Taibei Branch
BERTIRELARAAALARNE AREELR aE
(Great Hero Global Limited Limited liability BV
[EERHRERAR BRERAR EBRAES
* English name for identification only
# Wholly foreign owned enterprise.
f Wholly domestic owned enterprise.

Ordinary share of - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
HK$10,000
10000702 i RARK
Paid up capital of - - 100% 100%  Inactive
RMB100,000
ABE100,000 28R X%
Registered capital of - - 80% 80%  Inactive
RMB10,000,000 (Note b)
AR#10,000,0007.2 E25
A (Fiib)
Ordinary shares of - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
US$50,000
50,000% 72 E B RARK
Ordinary shares of - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
HK$10,000
10000702 i RARK
Ordinary share of - - 50% 50%  Investment holding
Us$100
1005702 £l RERR
Ordinary shares of HK$1 - - 50% 50%  Investment holding
BT ERR RESR
Ordinary share of - - 50% 50%  Property holding
1S§5,000,000
5,000, 000570 2 ik FELCRIES
Registered capital of - - 255% 255%  Inactive
RMB10,000,000 (Note b)
ARE10,00000072 33
A (Fizh)
Ordinary share of US$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
[E3PA:3:1 RERR
Ordinary shares of HK$1 - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
BT ERR RESR
Paid up capital of - - 100% 100%  Property holding
NTD1,000,000
HAH1,000000728 BELCRIES
BRBA
Ordinary shares of US$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
ETLERR RE#SR

* R B EEHRER
* SMEEE DR
! 2ERNEDRE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z—NF+-_A=1+—HLEFE

51. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 51. MBATEE (&)
Place of
Legal form incorporation/ Paid-up/issued Proportion of ownership interest
Name of subsidiary of entity operations registered capital held by the Company Principal Activities
WEAEAR EREERA HMAT/ EE4E  HR/BRAEMRA ARRERAERRLA IBEK
Directly Indirectly
E# B
2019 2018 2019 2018

“8-hE ZE\F ZE-AE RN

Global Brands Management Limited Limited liability Hong Kong Ordinary shares of - - 51% 51%  Inactive
HK$500,000
RRRRERERAA BREELA &R 500000872 Bk XK
Splendor Health Holdings Limited Limited liability BV Ordinary shares of US$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
PRERERAT BRELLT EBRAES ETLERR RESR
Harmony Alliance Holdings Limited Limited liability BV Ordinary shares of US$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
Harmony Allance Holdings Limited BREALT ABRSEE Erz L8R RERR
Kingtop Asia Investment Limited! Limited liability HK Ordinary shares of HK$1 - - 100% 100%  Inactive
BERERRAR BRELLT 20 BT ERR 5%
Glory Luck Holdings Limited Limited liability HK Ordinary shares of - - 51% 51%  Trading of agricultural
HK$10,000 products
HEEEARAR BRELLT 20 10,0007 2 B8R BERRS
Gold Goal International Limited Limited liability BV Ordinary shares of US$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
Gold Goal Inernational Limited BREALT ABRSEE Erz LBk RERR
Success Royal Investment Limited Limited liability HK Ordinary shares of HK$1 - - 100% 100%  Property holding
SFRERRAR BRELLT 20 BT ERR RENE
Fantastic Alliance Investments Limited ~ Limited liability BV Ordinary shares of US$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
Fantastic Allance Investments Limited 5B EMAF ABRSEE Erz LBk RERR
Sino Eco Green Limited Limited liability HK Ordinary shares of HK$1 - - 100% 100%  Inactive
PERRERLA BRERAR B BTz SR 5%
YIHE Enterprise Holding Limited Limited liability BV Ordinary shares of - - 0% 70%  Investment holding
1S§50,000
FALEERERAA BRELLT EBRAES 50000% 72 S8R RESR
Huge Famous Corporation Limited Limited liability HK Ordinary shares of - - 0% 70%  Trading of grocery food
HK$10,000 products
H#BERAA BRERAR B 10,000 7.2 S8R RARGES
Maxford Wealth Limited Limited liabilty BVI Ordinary shares of US$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
Maxford Wealth Limited BREALT ABRSEE Erz LBk RERR
Right Ocean Asia Limited Limited liability HK Ordinary shares of - - 51% 51%  Trading of grocery food
HK$10,000 products
HEEHERAR BREELA A 10,000 7.2 & &R RHRRES
Ever Rich International Trading Limited ~ Limited liability HK Ordinary shares of - - 51% 51%  Inactive
HK$100
XEERBSERLA BREELA BE 100E T2 E @R XK
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z-—NF+-_A=1+—HLTFE

51.  PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 51. MIB QTS (&)
Place of
Legal form incorporation/ Paid-up/issued Proportion of ownership interest
Name of subsidiary of entity operations registered capital held by the Company Principal Activities
KEAEAR EREENS AR/ gE%Y  MR/BRMERRE FRRERRERRLA IBEK
Directly Indirectly
E# B
2019 2018 2019 2018

“8-hE ZE\F ZE-AFE CENE

Kingview Master Limited Limited liability BV Ordinary shares of US$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
Kingview Master Limited BREfRE ARERES (E3a 31 REBR
Wider Profit Investment Limited Limited liabilty HK Ordinary shares of HK$1 - - 50% 50%  Investment holding
(Noted d)
BEREERAR (Mid) BRELLA 20 BT ERR RESR
Excelso Limited (Note d) Limited liabilty HK Ordinary shares of HK$1 - - 50% 50%  Inactive
Excelso Limited (fif3¥d) BREELT B VBT B8R B2
Balini Limited (Note d) Limited liability HK Ordinary shares of HK$ 1 - - 50% 50%  Inactive
Balini Limited (F¥d) BRERAR Bk BTz SBR 5%
Glory Delights Investment Limited Limited liability HK Ordinary share of - - 50% 50%  Investment holding
(Note d) HK$10,000
RITRERRAA (Hid) BRELLA 20 10,000 7.2 S8R RESR
Shenzhen Xuyao Corporate Consultancy  Limited liability PRC Paid up capital of - - 50% 50%  Property holding
and Management Co., Ltd.* (Note d) RMB100,000
FIMERLXAHERERLT  ARRELT il AR 10000072 FELCRIES
GEL) SRBEK
Shenzhen Inteligent Future Investment — Limited liability PRC Registered capital of - - 40% 40%  Inactive
Co, Ltd*" (Note d) R\B10,000,000 (Note b)
RImEERRREERAA BREELA T AE10,00000072 X%
(titd) FMBRA (Hith)
Supreme Faith Investment Limited Limited liability HK Ordinary shares of HK$1 100% 100% - - Securities holding
ERREARAR BREALA 30 BT B8R FEER
Treasure Max Investment Holdings Limited liability BV Ordinary shares of US$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
Limited
EXREBBRERAR BRERAA ZBRLES 34351 RERR
Inno-Bag Limited Limited liability HK Ordinary shares of - - 60% 60%  Trading of recycle bag
HK$2,000
RERRECFERAA BRERLA EA 2000872 ERR RR&EH
Allied Realty Limited Limited liability BV Ordinary shares of US$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
Allied Realty Limited BREMAH RERAEE X EBR REER
Champion Front Limited (Note f) Limited liability BVI Ordinary shares of US$1 - 100% - - Inactive
Champion Front Limited (¥{£f) BREMAR RERAHEE 1ETZEBR BEH
China Agricultural Finance Group Limited liability BV Ordinary shares of US$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
Limited
hEERERERERAR BREALA HBRUES 34351 RERR
* English name for identification only * B A EEMED
# Wholly foreign owned enterprise. # INEBERE
i Wholly domestic owned enterprise. ' 2ENEDRE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z—NF+-_A=1+—HLEFE

51. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 51. MBATEE (&)
Place of
Legal form incorporation/ Paid-up/issued Proportion of ownership interest
Name of subsidiary of entity operations registered capital held by the Company Principal Activities
WEAEAR EREERA HMAT/ EE4E  HR/BRAEMRA ARRERAERRLA IBEK
Directly Indirectly
E# B
2019 2018 2019 2018

“8-hE ZE\F ZE-AE RN

Powerline Gain Limited Limited liability BV Ordinary shares of US$1 - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
Powerine Gain Limited BRERAR ARELES 1ZT2 SR REBR
China AF Securities Limited Limited liability HK Ordinary shares of - - 100% 100%  Inactive
HK$5,000,000
MEARETSERAR BRELLT 20 5,000,000 72 S8R 855
Luxury Regal Limited Limited liability BV Ordinary shares of US$1 - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
Luxury Regal Limited BREMAE RERLHEE 1ETZEBR RALR
CAFML (Note g) Limited liability HK Ordinary shares of - - 100% 100%  Asset management
HK$4,970,000 (2018:
HK$2,800,000)
PEEEEE (i) BREMfRE B3 4970,000E 7.2 LEEE
(ZF-N%&:
2,800,00077c)
Award Fortune Limited Limited liability BV Ordinary shares of US$1 - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
Award Fortune Limited BRERAR ARELES 1ZT2 SR REBR
CAFCF (Note h) Limited liabilty HK Ordinary shares of - - 100% 7857%  Advising on corporate
HK$2,000,000 (2018: finance
HK$1,400,000)
PEERER (Mih) BREELA 30 2,000,000E72 PERERH
Lk
(ZB-NE:
1400,0007%7T)
Success Future Holdings Limited Limited liability BV Ordinary shares of US$1 - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
Success Future Holdings Limited BREALT ABRSEE Erz L8R RERR
China AF Capital Limited Limited liability HK Ordinary shares of - - 100% 100%  Financial consultancy
HK$1,000,000 (2018: Inactive)
HEREAAERAR BREELR 3 1,000,000 72 £8fk FHEA(CE-N
EXH)
China AF Technology One Investment  Limited liability HK Ordinary shares of 100% - 100% - Inactive
Limited (Note ) HK$100
China AF Technology One Investment AR E A7) B 100872 £k BER
Limited ([f¥e)
Main Supreme Limited Limited liability BV Ordinary shares of US$1 - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
HEARLA BRELLT EBRAES ETLERR RESR
CAFFL Limited liability HK Ordinary shares of - - 100% 100%  Money lending Services
HK$10,000
ERERE BRELLT 20 10,000 7.2 S8R HERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z-—NF+-_A=1+—HLTFE

51.  PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 51. MIB QTS (&)
Place of
Legal form incorporation/ Paid-up/issued Proportion of ownership interest
Name of subsidiary of entity operations registered capital held by the Company Principal Activities
KEAEAR EREENS AR/ gE%Y  MR/BRMERRE FRRERRERRLA IBEK
Directly Indirectly
E# B
2019 2018 2019 2018

“8-hE ZE\F ZE-AFE CENE

Deluxe Noble Holdings Limited Limited liability BV Ordinary shares of US$1 - - 100% - Investment holding
(Note g)

Deluxe Noble Holdings Limited BREELT ABRSEE Erz LR RERR
(Htste)

China AF Investment Limited Limited liability HK Ordinary shares of - - 100% - Investment holding
(Note ¢) HK$10,000

PERERERRAR (Mite) BRELLA 20 10,000 72 £8 RESR

Philippines Investment Holdings Limited  Limited liability BV Ordinary shares of US$1 - - 100% - Investment holding
(Note i)

Phiippines Investment Holdings Limited ~ AR E A AREES (E3a 31 REBR
(Ht3ti)

China-Phiippines Human Resources Limited liability HK Ordinary shares of - - 51% - Inactive
Services Limited (Note i) HK$10,000

PEATRRRBERAA (M)  ARERLA 30 10,000 72 £BR - - 51% - BEE

Alliec Wisdom Investment Holdings Limited liability BV Ordinary shares of US$1 - - 100% 100%  Inactive
Limited

HERERBRERAR BREALA ERRREE 34351 X%

Hong Kong Grain and Oil Manufacturing  Limited liability HK Ordinary shares of - - 100% 100%  Inactive
Company Limited (Formerly known HK$10,000

as SL Financial Technology Company

Limited) (Note a)
FERMARNEERAA (MREEE 5

BRRAHERRAT) (Hita)

RAELT 35 10,0007 EB EXE

Cheer Up Global Limited (Note €) Limited liabilty BVI Ordinary shares of US$1 - - 100% - Securities holding

Cheer Up Global Limited (Fi e ) BREELT ABRSEE Erz LR FEEF

None of the subsidiaries has issued any debt securities REzMmEFER BHEMNBATZET

at the end of both years. ERIESEFF o

Notes: Pt 5T

(a) Those subsidiaries are acquired or incorporated @) ZEMBRAAREBEZ=ZE—N\F+=
during the year ended 31 December 2018. For AR=+—B1EFE RISt
acquisition of subsidiaries, details are set out in Note A-BHEZEHNBE RN BEFBER
45. FAH 545 o

(b) The registered capital has not been paid up at 31 (b) RZZBE-NFRZZ-NEF+=A
December 2018 and 2019. =+—R8 FMERERE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z—NF+-_A=1+—HLEFE
PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
Notes: (continued)

51.

(9]

The Group owns 50% equity shares in Delightful
Hope Limited, China Smart Asia Limited and
Shenzhen Shengshi Fugiang Technology Co.,
Limited* (“Shengshi Fugiang”) respectively, and
Shengshi Fugiang owns 51% equity interest in
Guangxi Southwest Alliance Wood Industry Co., Ltd.
(collectively the “Delightful Hope Group”). Based
on the shareholder’s agreement between the Group
and other investors, the Group has the power to
appoint 2 out of 3 directors of the board of directors
of the Delightful Hope Group. Since the relevant
activities of the Group are determined by the board
of directors of the Delightful Hope Group based on
simple majority votes, the Director concluded that the
Group has control over the Delightful Hope Group
and accordingly, they are classified as subsidiaries.

The Group owns 50% equity shares in Wider
Profit Investment Limited, Excelso Limited and
Balini Limited, Glory Delights Investment Limited
and Shenzhen Xuyao Corporate Consultancy
and Management Co., Ltd. (“Xuyao Corporate”)
respectively and Xuyao Corporate owns 80% equity
interest in Shenzhen Intelligent Future Investment
Co., Ltd. (collectively the “Wider Profit Group”).
Based on the shareholder’s agreement between
the Group and other investors, the Group has the
power to appoint 3 out of 5 directors of the board
of directors of the Wider Profit Group. Since the
relevant activities of the Group are determined by
the board of directors of the Wider Profit Group
based on simple majority votes, the Directors
concluded that the Group has control over the Wider
Profit Group and accordingly, they are classified as
subsidiaries.

Being the subsidiaries incorporated during the year
ended 31 December 2019.

It was disposed of during the year ended 31
December 2019. Details are set out in Note 46.

On 3 September 2018, CAFML has passed a
resolution to allot 900,000 ordinary shares to its
immediate holding company, Luxury Regal Limited,
and the share capital increased from HK$1,900,000
to HK$2,800,000.
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51.

MEARFE (&)

B eE: (#8)

(©

AEERFWMERAR ERTME
RARRRYTEEERHMRAR
AR ([EttEE]) D B A50%A
T 2t 58 A B 7O VA R e R KM
EXERDR (G Aol )k
B51%H) B HE - BN A S B A b 4%
BEZRANBERBZ A REERE
EFMEEREFET =REETHM
HEF MR AKEERESHF R
SEEFEERNEEAZHESA
B ExmmiAKECENFRHE
CMEAERESERMEAT -

REBRNTEEIRE BRG] - Excelso
Limited * Balini Limited * Glory Delights
Investment Limited &ox 31 T B ZE 1> 2
BHEEBRAF([TBEEZAE] D
R FEBS0%ME R B EER R
YT EBRIIZEBR A F80%MAE
(R EEHER]) ERAEKE
HHEMEEE 2RR R NEEE
EETIRHEBE EFENRERES
FH=2EF -HRAEEEELHY
HEREECEFeRMERSUE
BT -EESHAR AEEHIER
SEEAEGIE MEMEEESER
iy

WBE-F-NAF+=A=+—BL
FEMRERA T B AT -

ZEMBRRBERBE_T—NF
TZA=T—ALFEHRMHE -FF
TEHEFI R 746 -

RZE-—NFALA=ZRA HEHE
FEAEE BB —BRER MA
H A F]Luxury Legal Limited
% 17900,000% & @ % - i AR K |
1,900,000/% JT3g 2,800,000/ 7T ©
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51. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
Notes: (continued)

(9

(continued)

On 31 January 2019, CAFML has passed a resolution
to allot 500,000 ordinary shares to its immediate
holding company, Luxury Regal Limited, and the
share capital increased from HK$2,800,000 to
HK$3,300,000.

On 28 May 2019, CAFML has passed a resolution
to allot 500,000 ordinary shares to its immediate
holding company, Luxury Regal Limited and the
share capital increased from HK$3,300,000 to
HK$3,800,000.

On 5 August 2019, CAFML has passed a resolution
to allot 600,000 ordinary shares to its immediate
holding company, Luxury Regal Limited and the
share capital increased from HK$3,800,000 to
HK$4,400,000.

On 4 November 2019, CAFML has passed a
resolution to allot 400,000 ordinary shares to its
immediate holding company, Luxury Regal Limited
and the share capital increased from HK$4,400,000
to HK$4,800,000.

On 31 December 2019, CAFML has passed a
resolution to allot 170,000 ordinary shares to its
immediate holding company, Luxury Regal Limited
and the share capital increased from HK$4,800,000
to HK$4,970,000.

On 29 July 2019, CAFCF has passed a resolution
to allot 600,000 ordinary shares to its immediate
holding company, Award Fortune Limited, and
the share capital increased from HK$1,400,000 to
HK$2,000,000. This resulted in an increase in the
Group's equity interest in CAFCF from 78.57% to
85%.

On 11 November 2019, the Group's equity interest
in CAFCF increased from 85% to 100%. Details are
disclosed in Note 48.

Philippines Investment Holdings Limited and
China-Philippines Human Resources Services
Ltd were inactive at the date of acquisition
and hence the Directors considered that the
considerations paid were approximately to their
fair value at the acquisition date.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B BRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z—hF+-_A=1+—HLEE

51. MIBARFE (&)

P aE - (48D

@  (#&)

B A BLuxury Legal Limited
fid #£500,000/% & A AR - M1 AR A &
2,800,0007% JT 3% £ 3,300,0007 7T °

R-ZE—AERA=-+NB &
BEFEAECRB—BAZR ME
B A BLuxury Legal Limited
fid #£500,000/% & A AR - M1 AR A &
3,300,0007% JT 3% £ 3,800,0007 7T °

RZZE—AFNARA +EHE
EEECDRB—HAZRE ME
B MR A BLuxury Legal Limited
fid #600,000/% & A AR - M1 AR A &
3,800,0007% st 1% £4,400,0007 7T °

RZE—NF+—AWA FHE
EEECDRB—HARAZRE ME
B MR A BLuxury Legal Limited
B2 2£400,0000% & 3B A - M A< &
4,400,000/ JT 3% 24,800,000/ 7T ©

RWZZ—-—A&E+-_F=+—H &
EREEAECRR—ERAER @
HE AL A FLuxury Regal Limited
A2 8£170,0000% & B A - M A< &
4,800,000/%8 JT 1 24,970,000/8 7T ©

(h) RZE—hAFLtA=-+hA =+
EEEBERBE—ErAZR ME
B A T Award Fortune Limited
fi2 #600,0000% & i I% - M A% X &
1,400,000 7T # Z2,000,000/% It °
I B R R (B A R B R A ] M R
F78.57%E INZE85% °

R-ZE—hFE+—A+—8 A%£E
R E 2B AR E B85 %IEE
100% © #F1E# BT 348 ©

(i) Philippines Investment Holdings
Limited }&2 China-Philippines Human
Resources Services LtdiA Uk s B HAE
mea AUNESRADARERE
RERB 2 AT ERS -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z—NF+-_A=1+—HLEFE
MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

52.

(a)

(0

During the year ended 31 December 2018,
convertible bonds incurred an imputed interest
of approximately HK$1,813,000.

During the year ended 31 December 2018,
convertible bonds of HK$23,500,000 was
reclassified to other payables. Details are
disclosed in Note 30.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the
other payable of HK$21,500,000 was novated
to a financial institution and reclassified to
borrowings. Details are disclosed in Note 33(e).

During the year ended 31 December 2018,
2,771,813 shares of the Company with par
value of HK$0.02 each were issued as the
consideration shares for the settlement of the
contingent consideration. Details are disclosed
in Note 39(a).

During the year ended 31 December 2019,
Chengwang Investment, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, had agreed
to purchase and Debtor A had agreed
to sell a property located in the PRC at a
consideration of RMB13,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$14,528,000). RMB8,500,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$9,499,000)
of the consideration payable to Debtor A was
settled by the loan and interest receivables due
from him. As the carrying amount of the loan
and interest receivables due from Debtor A
was approximately RMB8,669,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$9,690,000), a loss on
settlement of loan and interest receivables
of RMB169,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$191,000) was resulted. The remaining
balance of RMB4,500,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$5,029,000) was settled by
other receivables due from Debtor A. Details of
the deposit paid for acquisition of the property
are disclosed in Note 23(c).

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the
Group entered into a new lease arrangement
for the use of leased properties for 3 years.
On the lease commencement, the Group
recognised approximately HK$3,821,000 of
right-of-use asset and HK$3,639,000 lease
liability.
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(a)

(e)

HE2_2—\FE+_A=1+—H
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E‘go
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R FE33(e) ©
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=t+—HIEFE ARAISETT
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ZARRERDIERRER D AL
B ARE - F B M 5E39(a) i
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z-—NF+-_A=1+—HLTFE

METHELENEEYHER

53. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM 53.
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group’s TEXI A AEERETHELENEEE
liabilities arising from financing activities, both B BIERS NIER S g e E
cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from EHBEARS REYRKIRESRERN
financing activities are those which cash flows were, EANERE EBRAERESRETR
of future cash flows will be, classified in the Group's EXRPESEAMESTHNIRNESRE -
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flow

from financing activities.

Finance costs

Liability payable
component (included
Margin loans Lease  of convertible in other
Borrowings payables liabilities bonds payables) Total
Ak EARERL
B B5z (FFAEA
B RELER HEERE 2ERS EARE) @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL FET FET FET FET FET
At 1 January 2018 RZE-\&—A-A 57,189 30,077 - 21,687 95 109,048
Changes from cash flows:
New borrowing raised 75,386 - - - - 75,386
Repayment of borrowings (96,621) - - - - (96,621)
Repayment of margin loans - (11,878) - - - (11,878)
Interest paid - (3,391) - - (4,047) (7,438)
(21,235) (15,269) - - (4,047) (40,551)
Non-cash changes: HEEEE:
Foreign exchange movement JNEZE) (338) - - - - (338)
Reclassify to other payables ENABEAMENTE - - - (23,500) - (23,500)
Finance cost BEMK - 3391 - 1813 4,047 9,251
(338) 3,391 - (21,687) 4,047 (14,587)
At 31 December 2018 RZE-N\§+-A=+—-A 35,616 18,199 - - 95 53,910
Adjustment upon application of RERB BB REER
HKFRS 16 E167EARE - - 89 - - 89
At 1 January 2019 (restated) RZZE-N5—-A—H
(& &31) 35,616 18,199 89 - 95 53,999
Changes from cash flows: bk 8
New borrowing raised HERER 48,807 = = - - 48,807
Repayment of borrowings BEER (42,477) = = = - (42,477)
Repayment of margin loans BERELER - (12,187) - - - (12,187)
Repayments of lease liabilities BEREAE - - (73) = - (73)
Interest paid BHFIE - (852) - - (7,004) (7,856)
6,330 (13,039) (73) - (7,004) (13,786)
Non-cash changes: HHE2 58
Reclassified from other payables HEMENFEENHE 21,500 - - - - 21,500
Foreign exchange movement SNEZH) (468) = = - = (468)
New leases entered AluHiEs - - 3,639 - = 3,639
Finance cost HENK - 852 88 - 11,005 11,945
21,032 852 3,727 - 11,005 36,616
At 31 December 2019 R=B-AF+=A=t-8 62,978 6,012 3,743 - 4,096 76,829
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2019

BHE_ZT-NEt+-_A=+—RHItEE
54. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 54. BANKIE
2019 2018
=B-hE —T)\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Contracted for but not provided in the T EI#MEH AN EGEA B EHE S
consolidated financial statements: SRR -
Unpaid registered capital for KM B A BB s E A
subsidiaries (Note 51(b)) (FF7E51(b)) 44,822 45,668
Capital expenditure in respect of BLUEE — M B A R BRI
acquisition of further equity interests ~ HY&E AR 3 (M 5£23(a))
in a subsidiary (Note 23(a)) 10,760 20,000
55,582 65,668
55. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 55. WEHREER
(a) Update of the Properties Disposal (@) YEHEZEH

As disclosed in Note 29, on 13 February 2020,
the Buyer of the Properties Disposal notified the
Group that he has assigned all of his rights in
relation to the Properties Disposal to Mr. Chen
Chunhui*, being the new purchaser. The details
of the change of purchaser was disclosed in
the announcement of the Company dated 24
February 2020 and the circular of the Company
dated 23 March 2020.

The Properties Disposal has been approved by
shareholders at the special general meeting of
the Company held on 9 April 2020 as disclosed
in the announcement of the Company dated 9
April 2020.

(b) Variation to terms of DHL Acquisition

As disclosed in Note 23, on 31 March 2019,
Skyline Top and Yardley entered into a the
supplemental agreement, pursuant to which
the deadline of the completion of the DHL
Acquisition has been further extended from
31 March 2020 to 30 September 2020. The
detail of the variation to terms was disclosed in
the announcement of the Company dated 31
March 2020.

* For identification purpose only
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z—hF+-_A=1+—HLEE

56. COMPARATIVE FIGURES 56. HEE®EHE
During the year ended 31 December 2019, for enhancing Nz - ZE—-—hE+_A=+—81
the relevance of the presentation of the consolidated FEHE ARGV BRERAZY)
financial statements, reclassifications have been made to BEROMEBEY EHEFEESMBHRE
certain comparative figures presented in the consolidated FrE25MNE THREFTEFRHE (FH
financial statements in respect of the prior year to achieve TERNEEREYHNER GMELE -
comparability with the current year's presentation. As a W A TEBEEESEERNIEE - ER B
result, the following line items regarding comparative figures BAMT T T &EET R A& B RIE
have been amended and adjusted, together with the related 0

notes to conform to the current year's presentations:

Previous
reported Reclassification As restated
PR ENNE RE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET
Consolidated statement of meBa kAt ERER
profit or loss and other
comprehensive income
Impairment losses under expected TBHi{Z B EBE N TH
credit loss model, net of HEEE MERER
reversal - (1,315) (1,315)
Administrative expenses GG (63,626) 1,315 (62,311)
Consolidated Statement of A BN R
Financial Position
Deposit paid for acquisition of WiE— KB A RTS8
a subsidiary o 35,250 (35,250) -
Deposits paid BEfEe - 35,250 35,250
*  For identification purpose only * B
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MBEBE

The following is a summary of the published results and
assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial

AT 32 O P sl R R A S BB T
hEMBEE 2 TIEXENEELA BN

years prepared on the basis set out in the notes below. 2o
Year ended 31 December
BE+-R=+—-HLEE
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
“E-nE —ZE-N\& Z—E2—+F Z—E-RHF ZT-A1F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FEL FTEL FEL TET
Continuing operations HEREER
Turnover EEE 31,836 51,417 63,028 72,470 59,748
Loss before taxation BB 18 (106,147) (59,522) (77,347) (34,357) (55,837)
Taxation I 6,669 (984) (365) 308 (2,863)
Loss after tax from continuing ~ REFBELLEBHOKRHE
operations g (99,478) (60,506) (77,712) (34,049) (58,700)
Discontinued operations BRIEREER
Loss after tax from discontinued 7R B B 42 IF 22 ¥ 78
operations BRiEER - - - - (1,051)
Loss for the year FRER (99,478) (60,506) (77.712) (34,049) (59,751)
Non-controlling interests R R S 67 7,922 6,064 4,094 537
Loss attributable to ARAEREEAEGLER
equity shareholders of
the Company (99,411) (68,428) (71,648) (29,955) (59,214)
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-CONTROLLING EE BERFERERRER
INTERESTS
Year ended 31 December
BE+-A=1+—-HILEE
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
“E-hE -\ Tt T ZT-1%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FTET TAT FET FTAET
Total asset BEE 354,864 449,419 490,881 517,906 387,399
Total liabilities BEE (132,273) (112,446) (170,648) (155,779) (113,534)
Non-controlling interest FERR R R (36,474) (36,616) (35,582) (43,998) (46,235)
Equity attributable to ADEHA AERER
owners of the Company 186,117 300,357 284,651 318,129 227,630

The summary above does not form part of the audited
financial statements.
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+ *& S INVESTMENT PROPERTY
e g 35 )

At 31 December 2019
RZE—NF+=-A=+—H

Location Type Lease Term Effective held
i 2 BE HEH BERES
Hong Kong

BB

Unit 8D, TML Tower, 3 Hoi Shing Road, Industrial medium-term lease 100%
Tsuen Wan, New Territories, Hong Kong

BB AL EBREIRTMLESSDE T A 100%
PRC

i

Fulong Garden, Houhai Village, Commercial and long-term lease 100%
Baigi Country, Quanzhou Residential

Taiwanese Impediment Zone,
Fujian Province comprising

flats 3008 of

commercial and

residential building

No.1 and flat 2905

of commercial and

residential building No.3
FEEREERMNEERER B KH 100%
BlIEEENEEER R EE
300855k B 7 &

355 B (£ 12290557 B iz

Unit 104, Block 4, Shijimingzhu, No.245 Residential long-term 100%
Hualin Road, Chayuan Sub-district, Jin'an
District, Fuzhou City,Fujian Province, PRC.

TEEZEEMNTELR (E 2313 100%
RE T EE IR 24558
tAZBRERAIE 1048 7T
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INVESTMENT PROPERTY
BREYE

At 31 December 2019
RZE—hF+=-A=+—H

Location Type Lease Term Effective held
i B B HEMS BERESR
Suites A to H on the 33rd Floor of Commercial medium-term lease 50%
Shidai-Caifu Building, Futian District,

Shenzhen City, Guangdong Province,

the PRC

PRERE R mERR [GES B 50%
KBS KE3IEAZHE

House on Land Lot No. G17102-16 Residential medium-term lease 50%
Shuitousha Village, Nanao Town,

Longgang District, Shenzhen City,

Guangdong Province, the PRC

FEERE RN = o HR 50%
R SEOK BRI A

G17102-16R 5% 2 Bl 22

Taiwan

=]

Flat A3, 12th Floor, Block A with two car Residential free hold 100%
parking spaces in the building numbered 166

and 167 at Zenith City, Lane 235, Jingmaoer

Road, Nangang District, Taipei City, Taiwan

altmmBRELER2358 A A AEXNE F=E KA 100%

ATRA3F12#E @ b R 21E166 ~ 167E L
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